A dissertation submitted to the Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy of Central European University in part fulfilment of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Re-cognising the role of commercial buildings in the production of a meaning and practice of energy saving: A radical interpretation of EU policies and four exemplars in Barcelona

Sergi MOLES-GRUESO

March, 2019

Budapest

Notes on copyright and the ownership of intellectual property rights:

(1) Copyright in text of this dissertation rests with the Author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the Author and lodged in the Central European University Library. Details may be obtained from the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) of copies made in accordance with such instructions may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the Author.

(2) The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this dissertation is vested in the Central European University, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the University, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.

(3) For bibliographic and reference purposes this dissertation should be referred to as:

MOLES-GRUESO, S. 2019. Re-cognising the role of commercial buildings in the production of a meaning and practice of energy saving: A radical interpretation of EU policies and four exemplars in Barcelona. Doctoral dissertation, Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy, Central European University, Budapest.

Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Head of the Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy, Central European University.

Author's declaration

No portion of the work referred to in this dissertation has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning.

Furthermore, this dissertation contains no materials previously written and/or published by another person, except where appropriate acknowledgment is made in the form of bibliographical reference, etc.

Sergi MOLES-GRUESO

THE CENTRAL EUROPEAN UNIVERSITY

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION submitted by:

Sergi MOLES-GRUESO for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy and entitled *Re-cognising the role of commercial buildings in the production of a meaning and practice of energy saving: A radical interpretation of EU policies and four exemplars in Barcelona.* Month and Year of submission: March 2019.

This dissertation addresses the under-researched role of commercial buildings in coproducing the everyday meaning and practice of energy saving. Manifold governments and corporations represent their commercial buildings as concrete evidence of their engagement with socially accepted values of energy saving, which buildings are thus assumed to contribute to fostering public awareness and the replication of related practices. This would contribute to bridging the *gap* between the actual adoption of practices and the potential for this, the latter claims based on techno-economic grounds and the widespread acceptance of energy saving values. However, there is limited scholarly and policy reflection about these assumptions. Such appears to be the case with the EU "exemplary" requirements for commercial buildings.

My purpose is to contribute to "re-cognising" commercial buildings as coproducing the meaning and practice of energy saving, thereby contributing to bridging the epistemological gap between policies and everyday life. Tackling this requires a radical critique of the knowledge and interests underlying the marginal recognition of buildings as mediating the (re)production of practice.

In acknowledging critical reviews of energy saving conceptualisations and practices as decontextualising instruments which have a legitimating function and a depoliticising effect, this study was inspired by Lefebvre's theory about the production of space. For Lefebvre, commercial buildings rely on positivist epistemologies to *represent* a practice and contribute to the illusion that an *appropriate* practice is being produced, ultimately legitimating the status quo. This illusion can be countered through an appraisal of the contradictions between the conceptual, material and social dimensions of practice through a radical critique of everyday (1991). Empirically supporting such a critique requires the use of interpretive methodologies that are able to assess practices as an act of reframing. These are rare in applied policy-making and research.

The research design involved four buildings in Barcelona that were selected for empirical analysis based on their energy saving credentials, as publicized by their respective commissioning organisations. Interpretation relied on a review of official narratives; observation; pre-arranged interviews with experts and officials (n=62), and on-the-spot interviews with users and passers-by (n=67).

My findings reveal a divide between official and everyday framings. The study of official representations shows the prevalence of a framing of innovation and singular

exemplars, whereby organisations are veiled from public scrutiny. Everyday meaningmaking refers, instead, to the context of the organisation (its values, practices, and social relations) and of public replication. An appraisal of the contradictions in this context of practice counters the credibility of official claims and practices, providing a novel explanation for gaps in applied policy and research.

The policy, political, epistemological and methodological contributions of this research are intertwined as they empirically support the claim that producing a practice of energy saving requires acknowledging: a) the difference between "practice" and "reductionist representations"; b) the legitimating function of commercial buildings; c) the limits of positivist knowledge and post-structuralist critique; and, d) the potential for interpretive methodologies and orientations. Re-cognising buildings appears to be an operable mechanism for re-politicising official practice and for reframing the energy saving problem. I have reflected these contributions in a series of policy recommendations for EU policies that should foster the exploration of the potential of commercial buildings to recontextualise energy saving practice.

Keywords: Commercial buildings, energy saving policy, EU Directives, interpretive policy assessment, Lefebvre's radical critique of everyday, practice theory

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my dissertation committee members for having enthusiastically engaged with this project. I am indebted to Prof. Michael LaBelle for his friendly and effective supervision, and to my Internal Committee Member Prof. Alexios Antypas for his humane support and pragmatic inspiration. Full appreciation also goes to Prof. Lee Pugalis from UTS who joined the Committee at a later stage but immediately empathised with my philosophical preoccupations prior to flooding me with scholarly guidance and constructive advice. It has been a pleasure collaborating with you all, and I hope to maintain our friendship and scholarly collaboration in the future.

Special recognition goes to the many participants of this research who selflessly responded to my questions, enlightening me in my path through this research and other areas of life. You all gave me permission to use your names and words. However, the meaning we make of buildings turned to have more implications than I – and probably many of you – expected. Although I was careful to interpret your words in the context you phrased them – and this interpretation is my sole responsibility –, I would not want you to be found liable for the critiques that I have put forth in this dissertation. Hence, I decided to preserve your anonymity. I look forward to further discussion with you all.

My appreciation is extended to the faculty members of the Environmental and Science and Policy Department at CEU for entrusting me with a Doctoral Scholarship; especially to Prof. Diana Ürge-Vorsatz for her initial supervision, as well as to Prof. Guntra Aistara, Prof. Tamara Steger and Prof. Alan Watt for guidance. I am also grateful to Györgyi Puruczki and Krisztina Szabados for their unfailing assistance throughout these years. Thank you also to the Central European University for nurturing critical scholarship that goes beyond partisanship, because without critique we cease to exist. We hope to see you back in Hungary soon, along with democracy and scholarly freedom.

I express my special gratitude to Prof. Kasper Kok, Eng. Carlos Aquino, Eng. Efraín Tecú, and Benigna Boza-Kiss for awakening my preoccupation in putting people first – an innovation that has the greatest potential for positive change but which remains hard to grasp for us engineers and policy analysts. Also, during this PhD I have had the pleasure of collaborating with Prof. Ralph Horne and Dr. Megan Nethercote of RMIT, who believed in me as a yet-to-graduate researcher. I look forward to continuing our fruitful relationships.

During these years I have had the opportunity and pleasure to discuss life and research with a few generations of fresh and budding graduates. Thanks to Dr. Sergio Tirado-Herrero and to Dr. Souran Chatterjee for those laugh-thru lunches; to Dr. Mariann Molnár for her friendship growing in and out of this experience; to Noémi, Ari, Csaba, Vadim, Szilárd, Vivek, Steffen, Natasha, Anya, Márta, Anna, Milos, and the others with whom I enjoyed sharing lab time.

Finally, I would like to express my appreciation to my family and friends from Budapest and Barcelona for their love, care and understanding. Thank you, Andrea, Feri and József for your interest in my work. Thank you mama and papa for encouraging my curiosity. Thank you Sofia, Leo and Lola for being my everyday joy. My greatest sorrow is that Nano, the great-grandmother of my kids, could not make it to see this happy day.

Thanks to all of you for the encouragement!

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1. Scientific and policy relevance	4
1.2. Purpose and research questions	8
1.3. Overview of research design	9
1.4. Dissertation Structure	10
Chapter 2. Review of theoretical and disciplinary approaches	12
2.1. The dominance of an economic framing	13
2.2. Residential building models	15
2.3. Government building policies	18
2.4. Practices reduced to technologies	20
2.5. Buildings reduced to their form	23
2.6. Leveraging legitimacy to re-politicise energy saving	26
2.7. Reproducing practice through repeated exposure	30
2.8. Learning from consistent practice	34
2.9. Pluralist engagement in flanking disciplines	36
2.10. Chapter summary	40
Chapter 3. Re-cognising the epistemological and political roots of the problem	45
3.1. The unicity of practice	47
3.2. The political function of representations	50
3.3. Commercial buildings as monuments	57
3.4. Conceptual and analytical implications	59
Chapter 4. Methodology for studying official and everyday framings	63
4.1. Interpretive (policy) analysis	63
4.2. Implications of the analytical approach and methodological reflections	69
4.3. Case studies	73
4.3.1. Selection process	74
4.3.2. Final selection	77
4.4. Accessing sources of evidence	83
4.5. Documents	85
4.6. Observation	87
4.7. Interviews	90
4.7.1. Selection and number of interviewees	90
4.7.2. Conversational interviews: prearranged and on-the-spot	93
4.7.3. Research ethics and the management of evidence sources	96
4.8. Processing and analysing sources of evidence	97
4.8.1. Note-taking and transcription	98

4.8.2. Reviewing evidence sources	
4.8.3. Coding thematic and procedural information	100
4.8.4. Review of coded passages	101
4.8.5. Writing and rewriting of narratives	103
4.9. Chapter summary	
Chapter 5. Policy discussions and reflections	107
5.1. EU exemplary requirements	107
5.2. Spanish-Catalan implementation and politics	115
5.3. Barcelona Council policies	122
5.3.1. Legitimating framing of innovative and singular exemplars	124
5.3.2. Caring framing of integration	128
5.3.3. Learning framing of replication	
5.4. Chapter summary	139
Chapter 6. Official representations	143
6.1. Endesa: integral caring and limited communication	146
6.2. Fabrica del Sol: conflicting activist and Council framings	156
6.3. <i>Media-ICT</i> : the monumental production of the smart city	
6.4. Efficient Block: coherence is not consistency	
6.5. Chapter summary	
Chapter 7. Everyday meaning-making	187
7.1. An alienating conceptual consensus	189
7.2. A radical critique of experts	192
7.3. Endesa: invisible efficiency & user engagement	199
7.3.1. Radical critique of passers-by	200
7.3.2. Engaged and co-responsible users	203
7.4. Fabrica del Sol: visible renewables in an educational building	206
7.4.1. Passer-by demand for integration	207
7.4.2. "Overrating" by laymen and critique by energy-aware users	209
7.5. <i>Media-ICT</i> : a smart façade	
7.5.1. Acceptance and optimism regarding the EFTE façade	
7.5.2. User discomfort and incredulity	
7.6. The <i>Efficient Block</i> : the social limits to practice	219
7.7. Chapter summary	226
Chapter 8. Interpretation and relevance of findings	232
8.1. Public alienation in the everyday appraisal of buildings	
8.2. Legitimation of the status quo through reductionist representations	
8.3. Significance of the findings	

8.4. Theoretical contribution	243
8.5. Methodological reflections	248
8.6. Policy contribution	252
Chapter 9. Reflection and engagement	256
9.1. Wider policy and political significance	257
9.2. Recommendations for exemplary building policies	261
9.3. Avenues for further research	266
9.4. Final reflections	268
References	270
Appendices	b
1. Public events attended: local workshops, conferences and guided visits	b
2. Protocol pre-arranged interviews	f
3. Protocol on-the-spot interviews	i
4. Interviews conducted	k
4.1. Pre-arranged interviews	k
4.2. On-the-spot interviews	0
5. List of initial codes	s
6. Government periods in Spain, Catalonia and Barcelona (1983-2017)	u
7. Composition of the Barcelona Council Government and major policies duri period 1991-2018	ng the

List of Figures

Figure 1. The epistemological and ontological (re)production of practice. Inspired by Lefebvre (1991)
Figure 2. Incorporation of the elite production of practice into Lefebvre's triadic dialectics. Inspired by Lefebvre (1991)
Figure 3. The Agbar Tower (left) and the Marenostrum Tower (right)77
Figure 4. The Endesa building, as publicized in the press
Figure 5. Fabrica del Sol
Figure 6. The Media-ICT building
Figure 7. Interior yard of the Efficient Block
Figure 8. Location of the four case-study buildings in Barcelona
Figure 9. Summary of the selected buildings in Barcelona
Figure 10. Examples of energy labels in Spain and the UK
Figure 11. Example of an Energy Performance Certificate in the UK
Figure 12. Protests in front of the headquarters of PP in Madrid
Figure 13. Protest in front of a branch of the BBVA Bank in Barcelona118
Figure 14. The Park of the Forum (2004) with thermal and photovoltaic plants
Figure 15. Singular projects in international communications
Figure 16. The Council and the City Program, as represented in the Plan for Energy, Climate Change and Air Quality of Barcelona
Figure 17. The Novissim Council Hall, whose photovoltaic rooftop not visible from the street, nor signposted to passers-by
Figure 18. Solar thermal panels installed at the Olympic pool (2004)
Figure 19. Stickers in the offices of the Council Department of Urban Habitat promoting the climbing of stairs and saving of water
Figure 20. Campaign posters promoting appropriate thermostat use in Council offices.137
Figure 21. Scheme of the electric grid, highlighting Endesa Educa amidst processes of generation, distribution and consumption
Figure 22. Facade of the Endesa building and entrance from Carrer de Vilanova152
Figure 23. Computer screenshot showing that an Endesa official blocked me during an ongoing conversation in Linked in
Figure 24. Image of Fabrica del Sol showing the photovoltaic and solar panels157
Figure 25. Detail from the exhibition in Fabrica del Sol (as of August 2014) which reflects on the use of insulation walling and roofing
Figure 26. Solar thermal infrastructure on the rooftop of Fabrica del Sol, and information board indicating how this contributes to heating and cooling the building162
Figure 27. The Media-ICT façade and entrance167
Figure 28. Central pages of a brochure promoting Media-ICT169
Figure 29. Cover of a booklet about the Council's Business Support Office located in Media-ICT

Figure 30. Display of the EU Energy Performance Certificate along with o recognition of Media-ICT.	ther forms of
Figure 31. Aerial image of the block addressed by the Efficient Block project indicate the three government buildings.	t. The circles
Figure 32. Promotional poster for the Efficient Block.	177
Figure 33. Energy renovation plans of the Catalan Housing Agency and Residencia Francesc Layret.	the Council's

List of Tables

Table 1. Types of policy programs in government buildings. 20
Table 2. Analytical framework, research questions, methods, and sources of evidence68
Table 3. Activities conducted when accessing sources of evidence through an iterative and recursive process.
Table 4. Steps involved in the iterative processing and analysis of evidence sources98
Table 5. The 'what', 'who', 'why', 'how', and 'to whom' of the exemplary function in EU Directives. 110
Table 6. "List of current politicians hired by companies from regulated sectors"117
Table 7. Reviewed strategic, energy saving and procurement policies of the Barcelona City Council. 123
Table 8. Summary of the energy savings of Endesa as described in a press release of the company. 149

Chapter 1. Introduction

This study addresses the under-researched role of commercial buildings in co-producing the everyday meaning and practice of energy saving. By commercial buildings I refer to sites of bureaucratic, exchange and public service activities, commonly commissioned and occupied by government agencies and corporations. This terminological choice aligns with recognised classifications of buildings in applied energy saving research, such as that used by the IPCC (Lucon et al. 2014), whereby "commercial" is considered to be mutually exclusive in relation to "residential" and "industrial buildings". The use of "energy-saving practices" responds to the need to include a diversity of - often siloed - conceptual and practical strategies that involve the deployment of efficient, renewable, and smart technologies, as well as behaviour, lifestyle, and relational changes. Inspired by Lefebvre's theory about the production of space (1991) and contemporary applied practice theory, I differentiate between "practices" and "practice". The latter incorporates the conceptual, material and social dimensions of everyday meaning-making, understood as mediating the reproduction of practices. I study the inconsistencies between these dimensions of practice as appraised in everyday life to formulate a radical critique of energy saving practice by studying its "production". Methodologically, I apply an interpretive mode of analysis that acknowledges the role of buildings in *re-framing* practice and mediating its reproduction (Yanow 2009; van Hulst and Yanow 2014) to study the dialectics between the official *representations* and the *everyday appraisal* of energy saving practice in and through four commercial buildings in Barcelona.

The motivation for this research originated in my personal and scholarly concern when working as an energy saving policy analyst about the inconsistency between the official narratives and the practices of scientists, government agencies and corporations. Inconsistencies between policy exhortations for the public to save energy at home and the practices of governments in their buildings jeopardized in my understanding the credibility of energy saving messages. I found this preoccupation about the inconsistencies between policy and practice reflected in the work of Jackson (2006, 2009) and scholarly claims about the fundamental role of commercial buildings in shaping the values, practices and social relations of society (Dutton and Mann 1996). My motivation was further nurtured by the EU requirement for government leadership, and in particular for commercial buildings, to demonstrate an exemplary function (EU 2010, 2012). A most high-profile case involves the solar panels on the White House, which most presidents from Carter to Obama either had installed or removed, sending strong messages about the government's positioning on renewables (Parr 2009). Similar policies have been implemented by Barcelona City Council, which has deployed renewable and smart technologies on its buildings.

However, there is limited recognition and reflection in policy and research about the exemplary role of government buildings. The policy and research focus since the 1973 oil crisis (e.g. Levine, *et al.* 2007; IEA and OECD 2009) has addressed the relative consumption of energy in these buildings and the techno-economic potential for saving energy therein. Government procurement, demonstration, and leadership programs, respectively, rely on commercial buildings to reap economic benefits, to inform the public about techno-economic potential, and to foster the supply of technologies for energy saving (Borg et al. 2006; Harris et al. 2005; Höfele and Thomas 2011; Thomas et al. 2013). The role of commercial buildings in compelling the public to save energy has been restricted to informing the latter about the economic benefits of adopting certain technologies, disregarding the complex mechanisms of meaning-making.

The EU requirement for commercial buildings to exert an "exemplary role" (EU 2010, 2012, 2018) constitutes a sign of novel policy interest in the consistency between what governments do and what they require of the public.¹ Consistency is hinted at as being necessary for the public to consider energy saving policies as credible and thus acting accordingly.² Conceptual limitations are supported by the absence of: a) a term that encompasses the buildings thus obligated – "commercial" in this research; b) a definition of "exemplary"; and c) implementation and assessment that addresses public appraisal. An exemplary function also justifies the adoption of voluntary labels and standards (such as LEED) devised within the building sector as a means of publicizing the energy saving of (mostly) commercial buildings, and fostering the public adoption of energy-saving practices (GBCE 2018; USGBC 2018). These instruments, like EU exemplary requirements, fail to explain how commercial buildings mediate the reproduction of energy saving values and practices. As I will show in Section 1.2, these conceptual limitations reflect insufficient recognition of everyday meaning-making due to the dominance of positivist epistemologies in the domain of energy saving (Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007; Sovacool et al. 2014). The dominance of these epistemologies, along with a focus on residential buildings, results in the vilification of the public for its behavioural mismatch

¹ The EU directives on the Energy Performance of Buildings (2010/31/EU) and on Energy Efficiency (2012/27/EU), jointly amended in Directive 2018/844, refer to "public bodies' buildings" and those "frequently visited by the public".

² The preliminary formulation of exemplary requirements in the SAVE Directive of 1993 refers to the need of governments to "also" abide by the same principles required of third-parties (Council of the European Communities 1993). The unclear rationale for the EU's "exemplary" requirements commonly arises in precursory policy attempts aimed at fostering the social dimension of saving energy, as in the case of the German Energy Transition of 2010 (Gailing and Moss 2016).

with expert models, instead of leading to the questioning of expert knowledge (Lutzenhiser 2014), thereby constituting a political problem.

Having described the topic, scope and motivation for this research, in the remainder of this introductory chapter I show how the related policy problem is entangled with epistemological, political and methodological problems and hence requires a radical critique that re-appraises everyday meaning-making. Engaging with such a radical critique furthers the relevance of this dissertation. I also outline the purpose of the research and research questions, and summarize the research design.

1.1. Scientific and policy relevance

For four decades, energy saving policies have failed to exploit proclaimed technological and economic potential, resulting in a "gap" between the *expected* – according to expert knowledge and socially-accepted values – and *actual* adoption of practices, i.e. the "energy efficiency gap" and the "value-action gap" (Jaffe and Stavins 1994; Blake 1999; Sovacool et al. 2014). The official narratives framed in positivist epistemologies continue to blame the public for its irrational behaviour, instead of engaging with social-constructivist approaches and qualitative methodologies (Lutzenhiser 2014; Moezzi and Janda 2014; Wilhite and Norgard 2004; Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007). Technologically reductionist framings of energy saving practice legitimate organisations and expert knowledge, alienating the public from saving energy (Janda and Topouzi 2014; Lutzenhiser 2014).

The same argument has been applied to the EU reliance on conceptualisations of building efficiency and performance (EU 2010, 2012) which serve to legitimate its institutions whilst failing to achieve significant savings and furthermore de-politicising energy saving practice (Talus 2013; Kanellakis et al. 2013). This argument provides a

plausible explanation for the unclear recognition of everyday epistemologies in the EU formulation of exemplary requirements for commercial buildings, recently reproduced in the amending Directive 2018/844, adding to the timeliness of this research. Amidst concerns about the dominance of scientific and expert knowledge, and about citizen alienation in the making and assessment of energy saving and environmental policies in the EU (Talus 2013; Torfing 2006; Jordan 2005; Habermas 2012) re-appraising everyday meaning potentially constitutes a window of opportunity. Thus, the policy problem that motivates this research is a contemporary one, the epistemological and political roots of which must be addressed.

The epistemological and political problems that are presented have been approached from the constructivist grounds of applied practice theory. According to practice theorists, energy use is embedded in the socio-material context of practice, which needs to be transformed to make significant energy savings (Shove and Walker 2010, 2014; Wilhite 2013). Cultural reviewers of practice also proclaim that buildings are fundamental in shaping the values and social relations of society (Dutton and Mann 1996). However, social-constructivist theory has been marginalized due to its insufficient empirical grounds and its incompatibility with dominant positivist epistemologies, which inform shortsighted and reductionist policies (Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007). In particular, practice approaches that proclaim the need to transform social relations have been considered inoperable (Stern 2000). So far, the role of meaning-making in mediating the reproduction of practice remains under-theorized (Warde 2011, 11; Wilhite 2014, 2010; Guy and Moore 2005a, 2005b; Dutton and Mann 1996). These problems reflect the need for empirical contributions from qualitative research (Sovacool *et al.* 2015, Stern 2017), for pragmatic and pluralist research (Guy and Moore 2005b), and for studying the discursive dimension of commercial buildings (Lutzenhiser 2014).

This research espouses contemporary interest in consistent narratives that compel the public to save energy (Bushell et al. 2017; Shove and Walker 2014) and explains the need to re-appraise the message conveyed by non-narrative practices. Novel recognition of the meaning and social relations co-produced by commercial buildings is reflected in the work of Janda and Topouzi. These authors have found that "hero stories" that contribute to legitimating those who commission and are involved in building design dominate official narratives, bringing about the need for "learning" and "caring stories" with greater potential for compelling the public to save energy (2014). However, the former piece of research like many others - has a focus on the official narratives of organisations and experts and fails to acknowledge the ontological potential of buildings. Even scholarly recognition from critical geographers and psycho-geographers of the post-political function of elite practices tends to marginalize the voices of those who make meaning when scrutinizing the mechanisms of legitimation and alienation (see e.g. Swyngedouw 2011; Healy 2014). This focus on the official narrative has been attributed to the dominance of poststructuralist epistemologies and methodologies amongst critical scholars (Guy and Moore 2005a; Farmer and Guy 2005; Dutton and Mann 2006; Lefebvre 1991).

As I will show in Chapter 3, the marginal recognition from sectoral policy, practice and research grounds of everyday meaning-making resonates with Lefebvre's understanding of commercial buildings as *monuments* which, relying on the marginalization of everyday meaning-making, conceal the contradictions of official practices, legitimating the social order (1991, 59-60, 144). Accordingly, research that addresses the policy, political and epistemological problems underlying the marginalization of meaning need to re-engage the public in research, policy making and assessment. An empirical potential arises from contemporary interest in fostering consistency between narratives and practices. It has been empirically demonstrated that scientists' motivation and living according to what they preach fundamentally affects how much credibility the public awards climate change narratives and, accordingly, how much they ultimately engage with action at the individual level (Attari et al. 2016). Similarly, empirical theory serves to ground claims that coherence between government practices and policy narratives are needed for the credibility of policy exhortations (Jackson 2006, 2009). There is thus a potential for re-appraising everyday meaning-making and fostering a critique through the analysis of contradictions. The latter are appraised, in the spatial theory of Lefebvre, through everyday epistemologies (1991).

The present status of the related science, as described above, shows the need for an interpretive critique that relies on the everyday meaning-making of the public. However, interpretive methodologies are rare in policy assessment (Yanow 2009, 2014) and especially in the energy domain (Shove and Walker 2010; Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007; Lutzenhiser 2014; Sovacool et al. 2015; Stern 2017). Such is the case of reports on the implementation of EU exemplary requirements (Czako 2013; Schüle et al. 2013; European Court of Auditors 2014). The application of interpretive analysis in this research is therefore relevant as it potentially contributes to re-directing policy and research towards the ultimate goal of engaging the public in energy saving policy and practice. In potentially contributes to: a) re-politicising policies, practices, thereby questioning the social relations underlying energy consumption, unveiling the legitimating function of buildings, and making practice theory operable; and c) countering the reductionist epistemologies and methodologies underlying the problem. Although my original motivation was to re-

appraise buildings as policy mechanisms for compelling the public to save energy, there is a need to reveal and address the deep-rooted causes that have the effect of countering the recognition of everyday epistemologies. Addressing the contradictions in the practice of energy saving as represented in commercial buildings therefore requires a radical critique of everyday.

1.2. Purpose and research questions

Responding to the limited attention that is paid in energy saving policy and research to the role of commercial buildings in co-producing the meaning and practice of energy saving, the purpose of this dissertation is the following: To "re-cognise" the role of commercial buildings in co-producing the meaning and practice of energy saving. Inspired by Lefebvre's critique of everyday, addressing this goal requires answering the following main research question:

How do official representations of commercial buildings relate to the everyday meaning of energy saving and the (re)production of its practice?

Answering this question implies the study of what contradictions occur amongst official representations of energy saving in commercial buildings, and between these and everyday meaning-making. This study of contradictions enables the creation of a social critique and contributes to understanding the policy and epistemological gap between expert and everyday knowledge. I study these contradictions through three empirical questions which incorporate an analytical approach which equalizes buildings and policy narratives as framing practices (Yanow 2009; van Hulst and Yanow 2014):

- 1. How do official narratives frame energy-saving practices in commercial buildings?
- 2. How do commercial buildings frame energy-saving practices?
- 3. How does the public make meaning of energy saving practice through their experience with commercial buildings?

1.3. Overview of research design

The study focuses on four commercial buildings located in Barcelona, represented by commissioning organisations as exemplars demonstrating energy saving values and practices. I selected the City of Barcelona due to its being celebrated for its sustainability and smart city policies, as well as for the co-occurrence of organisations as self-proclaimed leaders of saving energy in their buildings. The choice of a single city responds to the need to reduce the effect of the research context in comparative research (Schmidt 2008). The case studies comprised the following buildings: Fabrica del Sol, Media ICT, the Endesa Catalan HQs, and the Efficient Block. Together, these buildings are considered appropriate in the study of three issues that resonate with the EU formulation of exemplary buildings (Section 1.1): a) government and corporate ownership, b) diverse degrees of public access, and c) official recognition of a desire to compel the public to save energy. The conceptualisations and practices of the former include support for the principles of "selfsufficiency", "renewable", "smart" and "efficiency". Regarding their commercial use, it should be noted that the *Efficient Block* came about through an energy renovation project involving commercial buildings (government and corporate) and residential buildings (owned mostly by families). Use of the remaining buildings is predominantly commercial. All the former have an administrative use, although Fabrica del Sol serves as the

sustainability museum of the Council, while the *Endesa* building also hosts a company "energy museum".

The research design is intended to foster the development and recognition of interpretive, pluralistic methodologies and epistemologies regarding the topic of energy. Hence, it was fundamental to contrast the official representations – produced by organisations and experts – with the everyday production of meaning. The former were addressed through the study of policies, public communications and interviews with organisation representatives and experts involved in the building design and management. Addressing the latter involved interviews with public users and passers-by. Interviews with external experts, and observation were also part of the study.

The study incorporates the study of local, national and EU policies, to constitute a multiscale research design that combines the depth of case study research with the generalizability necessary in a piece of research designed to inform policy-making, especially from an unorthodox epistemological standpoint. Additionally, to minimize exposure to critique the research relies on a transparent reflective process and triangulation of sources. These features are important in high quality research and for making a scholarly and policy impact on the domains of energy saving and policy assessment that is dominated by quantitative methods and ill-disposed to interpretive and pluralistic contributions.

1.4. Dissertation Structure

Including the current *Introduction*, in which I have outlined the scope, main concepts, problem and methodological approach that guide this research, nine chapters constitute this dissertation.

Chapter 2 expounds the theoretical debates relevant to explaining both how the public makes meaning of commercial buildings, and how applied research addresses or disregards meaning-making. The chapter also justifies the theoretical framework of this dissertation, based on Lefebvre's production of space (1991), which I explain in Chapter 3.

Chapter 4 explains the application of interpretive policy analysis, presents the methodological steps that guided access to the sources of evidence and their interpretation, as well as a set of reflections about the role of the researcher.

Chapters 5 through 7 constitute the analytical core of this dissertation. Chapter 5 analyses how energy saving policies frame energy-saving practices in commercial buildings, with a focus on EU exemplary requirements, their implementation by the Spanish and Catalan governments, and the policies of the Barcelona City Council. Chapters 6 and 7 focus on the building cases. Expert narratives and direct observation of the buildings inform the study of official representations in Chapter 6. Examining public appraisal of the buildings is the object of Chapter 7.

Chapters 8 and 9 wrap up this dissertation with an overview of its contributions to the scholarly knowledge. The overarching argument of this dissertation is that energy saving policies and assessment methods need to engage everyday meaning-making: therein lies an unexplored potential for positive social transformation.

Chapter 2. Review of theoretical and disciplinary approaches

This chapter demonstrates the much-needed engagement with everyday meaning-making in current energy saving research, as well as the potential for addressing commercial buildings in attempts to understand and transform current practice. The insufficient focus of applied research concerning meaning as mediating the reproduction of practice parallels that the insufficient policy reflection about the exemplary role of commercial buildings, presented in Section 1.1. This is problematic because scientific knowledge plays a fundamental role in shaping environmental and energy policies in the EU, and in the depoliticisation of these domains which underlies the alienation of the public (Talus 2013; Torfing 2006; Jordan 2005; Habermas 2012). Hence, such a review of the theoretical approaches to everyday meaning making contributes to understanding official framings, as studied through Questions 1 and 2. It also serves to increase understanding of how applied research engages with the everyday production of meaning, addressed in Question 3, and its role in mediating practice. This involves exploring disciplinary approaches that have the potential to transform the dominant knowledge and the social relations co-produced by official representations of buildings, as addressed in my main research question. Aligned with the research purpose, this chapter contributes to revealing the epistemological roots of the problem and to unsettling them with the support of existing theory, and defining the theoretical grounds for the radical but pragmatic critique that I develop in later chapters.

In the ten sections of this chapter I first introduce the reductionist techno-economic framing (Section 2.1) which I find dominates theorizations about energy consumption that address separately residential and government buildings. These are respectively reviewed

in sections 2.2 and 2.3. Second, I explore the political, epistemological and disciplinary roots of technologically-reductionist practices (Section 2.4) and formalist architecture (Section 2.5), which have in common the marginalization of everyday meaning-making. Third, I discuss the potential for re-appraising meaning to expose and destabilize post-political conceptions and tactics in the crux of the chapter (Section 2.6). This potential is then explored through a review of theories of practice (Section 2.7), learning (Section 2.8), and on the acceptance of renewable infrastructures and of social corporate responsibility practices (Section 2.9). This review serves the purpose of gathering a toolset of empirically-grounded approaches for transforming the official framing of energy-saving practices. Finally, in Section 2.10, I summarize the chapter by reflecting on the transformative potential of recognising the political function of buildings, and incorporating the public through interpretive methods.

2.1. The dominance of an economic framing

Energy saving or conservation policies have their origin in the oil crisis of the 1970s and have gained additional relevance due to the increasing recognition of fossil energy consumption's contribution to climate change (Geller et al. 2006). Energy efficiency is one such approach to saving energy which claims the possibility of "cost-effectively" reducing consumption through improved technologies whilst maintaining or improving the services thereby generated (Stephenson et al. 2010; Lopes et al. 2012). A great deal of policy attention is paid to buildings based on the assumption that their energy consumption contributes to one-third of the greenhouse gas emissions, and that 29% of this consumption could be economically offset through the deployment of technologies (Stern 2006; Levine et al. 2007; IEA 2011). As a result of this techno-economic framing, most policies confront the "energy efficiency gap" between the *potential* and *actual* adoption of energy efficient

technologies (Jaffe and Stavins 1994; Moezzi and Janda 2014), understood as a "largescale underinvestment in more energy-efficient technologies" (Janda and Moezzi 2014). Energy efficiency conceptualisations have failed to make the predicted savings, whilst overall savings have been offset by growth and an increase in demand for services (Wilhite and Norgard 2004; Wilhite 2013, 133; Guy and Shove 2000).³

Nevertheless, "efficiency" has become an "unequivocal good" (Lutzenhiser 2014), thereby relegating the concepts of "energy saving", "conservation" and "reduction" that encompass values, needs, uses and social relations (Wilhite and Norgard 2004). It fosters a reductionist "framing" of the energy saving problem that has also engulfed social researchers (Lutzenhiser 2014, 1993; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014). This reductionist framing is problematic because substantive achievements require not only new technologies but also changes in the cultural meanings and practices of interpretive actors (Geels 2004, 2010). Increasing recognition of the limitations of energy efficiency are reflected in the question posed by the ECEEE – the die-hard energy European efficiency organisation – "Is efficient sufficient?" under the assumption that "we also need to look beyond efficiency improvements towards how we can reduce absolute energy consumption" (ECEEE 2018b). This recognition of the insufficiency of efficiency does not come with a call to question its dominance as a guiding principle.

As a result of the dominance of a techno-economic jargon it has been argued that "sustainable architecture" has been reduced to "energy efficiency" which, together with other empty concepts about progress and innovation, fosters optimism about technological

³ "[T]he policy and research at the centre of the discourse on energy sustainability suffer from a selfdeception, which revolves around the equation of 'efficiency' with 'reduction'....In this case, the deception supports the language of efficiency and the untenable contention that technological efficiency alone will offset continued growth in energy services to the extent that deep reductions in energy use are possible" (Wilhite and Norgard 2004).

and quantifying knowledge whilst marginalizing the political dimensions of change (Guy and Moore 2005a, 5). This de-politicising effect is achieved by the capacity of "empty signifiers" to mean "everything and nothing", hence obscuring contradictions, and fostering public acceptance and social hegemony (Tregidga et al. 2018). Accordingly, the quantitative data that assesses progress towards attaining these conceptual goods serves to present results in positive ways, obscuring absolute savings, overall contributing to the legitimation of expert knowledge and commissioning organisations (Lutzenhiser 1992; 2014; Moezzi and Janda 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015).

The legitimation of organisations is then furthered by greater policy and research attention being paid on energy efficiency grounds to residential buildings than to commercial ones, diverting attention from presumably rational organisations (Lutzenhiser 2014). The political function of efficiency is greater in consideration of ethnographic claims about energy efficiency as a normative precept that subjectifies the citizen as consumer, blamed for its failure to abide by economic prescriptions (Wilhite and Norgard 2004; Wilhite 2010; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014; Lutzenhiser 2014; Moezzi and Janda 2014). In the following two sections, I discuss the siloed approaches to residential and commercial buildings that is guided by the dominance of the energy efficiency framing.

2.2. Residential building models

The dominant model of residential energy consumption explains energy-saving practices as informed and conscious choices. It pays fundamental attention to the provision of information, whilst disregarding the formation of routines and values in a sociallyconstructed and culturally-mediated context (Lutzenhiser 1992, 2014; Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007; Wilhite and Shove 1998; Wilhite 2013). This focus on economic information has not been replaced, even though it has been empirically demonstrated that, by substituting environmental values, economic motivation can result in greater consumption (Moezzi and Lutzenhiser 2010; Slocum 2004). There has been some initial recognition that "substantial behavioural changes are unlikely to result from policies and campaigns that continue to present behavioural change as a consequence of increased awareness" (Barr and Gilg 2007). However, the potential for understanding the complexity of behaviour through social-psychological research is countered by the former being engulfed in the dominant framing. This type of research adds explanatory capacity to the dominant model of energy efficiency, thereby legitimating it and expanding its borders to include the non-technological dimension of behaviour (Lutzenhiser 2014; Moezzi and Janda 2014).

Behavioural economics, technology adoption and socio-psychological models tend to account for context through the effects of "bounded rationality", "heuristic decisionmaking", "situated knowledge" and "experience" (Huijts et al. 2012; Litvine and Wüstenhagen 2011). Processes of social norm "reinforcement", "activation" and "internalization" account for the effects of "visible" practices conducted by similar others (Aarts and Dijksterhuis 2003; Tiefenbeck et al. 2013; Oikonomou et al. 2009; Huijts et al. 2012; Litvine and Wüstenhagen 2011; Bergstrom et al. 1986). Similar others also contribute to "modelling roles", "block leaders", and the formation of a "critical mass" (Abrahamse and Steg 2013; Wiser 2007), becoming sources of tailored information and contributing to the normalization of certain practices. However, these theories fail to account for changing social relations and for the role model of experts and elites in shaping context, norms and routines (Lutzenhiser 1992; Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007). The limited attention paid to the "context" in social-psychological explanations results in an unclear relation between "values" and "behaviours", where the context is referred to ad hoc, lacking the generalization of theory (Blake 1999; Kollmuss and Agyeman 2002; Stern 2000; Upham et al. 2009).

The limited attention that is paid to the context in these models is problematic because it "decontextualises" and "disembodies" the transference of knowledge and practice (Shove 1998), reducing the possibilities for "making meaning" and for practices to reproduce (Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014). Such limited attention to the context has been attributed to the dominance of positivist epistemologies, to the limitations of experimental and semi-experimental research, and the empirical theoretical foundations of these (Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007). The problem is magnified in the case of energy because its "invisibility" limits the perceptual ground for shaking up "tacit knowledge in daily routines" (Wilhite 2010; see also Shove 2003). This invisibility is furthered by efficient products and buildings which are intended to resemble in appearance and use their conventional counterparts (Shove 2003; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014; Shove and Chappels 2001; Lutzenhiser 2014; Shove and Warde 2002), making questionable the very existence of efficiency as practice:

If it were possible for something to be doubly invisible, that something would be energy efficiency – the invisible, unnotable, generally imprecisely estimable phenomenon that did not occur. (Lutzenhiser 2014)

Efforts to make energy efficiency visible have been made through labelling, billing, metering and certification that promote a "routine shaking" (Wilhite 2010) and "rematerializing" effect (Burgess and Nye 2008). However, these efforts do not overcome the flaws inherent in reducing energy saving to quantitative, mostly economic, magnitudes.

The proven long-term effect of these programs is unclear or marginal in the reviewed literature (Darby 2008; Novikova et al. 2011; Allcott 2011; Toke 2011; Strengers 2011). This shows the need to attend to the subjective dimension: the context through which the public makes meaning. Instead, residential policies continue to rely on narrative normative calls to transform behaviours (Jackson 2005, 2006; 2009 Barr and Gilg 2007; Burgess et al. 1998), disregarding the need to transform the context, despite the limited success of the dominant model.

The next section shows how the marginalization of "context" in the research and policies of residential energy-saving practices is reflected in government building policies.

2.3. Government building policies

There are claims from an energy efficiency standpoint that government buildings have been underrated in energy saving policies, and that the latter should play a greater role in the widespread adoption of energy-saving technologies (McGrory et al. 2006). Government buildings are referred to as "serving as example", "having a multiplier effect", "demonstrating the cost-effectiveness of technologies", and "raising awareness and leveraging a market for energy efficient technologies" (Ürge-Vorsatz and Koeppel 2007; Owens and Driffill 2008; Höfele and Thomas 2011; IEA 2011; Wuppertal Institute 2014). These roles are then echoed in some policies.⁴ These programs are also included in miscellaneous categories such as "cross-cutting" (Levine et al. 2007) and "catalysing measures…to facilitate a market breakthrough" (Lund 2007). Supporting arguments tend to primarily address the potential cost effective savings of government buildings and

⁴ Aligining with these scholarly approaches, the European Union directives regulating the "leading" and the "exemplary role" of governments refer to cost-effectively saving energy in government buildings (European Commission 2011), assuming this has a "multiplier effect" (EU 2010, 2012).

include a market rationale: "using targeted government purchasing power to lead the market", referred to as "public sector leadership" (Harris et al. 2005)⁵ and "market leadership by example" (McGrory et al. 2006). An informative economic rationale explains the "early adoption" of energy-saving technologies as informing the public about the possibility of saving energy in a cost-economic way (Jaffe and Stavins 1994). The rationale of these programs is therefore reduced to the potential for making direct savings by adopting efficient technologies, market transformation and rational decision making. The subjective role of buildings in shaping the context of meaning making is either vaguely stated or marginalized. For instance, it is referred to *en passant* as "creating an example that spurs others to act" (Harris et al. 2005). This sort of claims lack an empirical basis, and appear instead – based on common sense – as only tacitly recognising everyday epistemologies, hence lending support to the positivist framework.

Going beyond considerations of cost-effectiveness, the Wuppertal Institute's (2014) categorisation of energy saving programs in Government buildings (Table 1) acknowledges the transformative potential of "innovation" in leading by example, procurement and demonstration programs (references include "(ultra) low-energy buildings" and "very energy-efficient technologies"). There is explicit recognition of market transformation through demand – by leading by example and procurement programs – and improving expert and sectoral decision makers' knowledge and familiarity with innovative technologies through demonstration programs. The attention paid to the need to integrate energy-saving practices through "leading by example" programs is only tacit in calls such as: "[the need] to only build (ultra) low-energy buildings". However,

⁵ Harris estimates as 40% the potential the European Union's city councils to cost-effectively save energy through fostering energy efficiency in buildings and street lighting.

references to the context of practice where meaning is made and practice replicated are vague or non-existent. The contextual aspects of consistency, communication or replicability are not explained.

Lead by example	Procurement	Research development and demonstration
"Lead by example" programmes in the public sector "deeply" retrofit existing buildings to very low energy consumption levels and <i>to only build</i> (ultra) low-energy buildings	Public procurement requiring very energy-efficient building technologies	(definition not detailed in the source)
 Reducing energy bills for public budgets Introducing, accelerating and/or expanding the market for energy-efficient buildings or technologies, through: Raising awareness and investor confidence; Demonstrating cost- effectiveness; Directly providing a market; Economies of scale 		 Accelerate the market introduction of innovative concepts Reduce the incremental costs of energy-efficient solutions

Table 1. Types of policy programs in government buildings.

Source: modified from Wuppertal Institute (2014).

In the following section I demonstrate that the technological optimist framing of practice, along with quantitative conceptualisations (Section 2.1), contribute to emptying energy saving practice of meaning, and have a legitimating function.

2.4. Practices reduced to technologies

Power relations need to be accounted for in any sensible attempt to save energy at a societal level (Moss et al. 2016). However, assuming the rationality of organisations is problematic because it legitimates them, as argued in Section 2.1. Moreover, it disregards complex social motivations. "Bounded rationality" describes the economic interest of organisations in seeking "legitimacy" and "credibility" by leading the adoption of environmental protection- and saving energy measures (Geels 2010; Porter 1998). Accordingly, it is in

the interest of organisations to seek institutional legitimacy. This accounts, as defined by Suchman, for the fitness between individual actions and the accepted values of society:

Legitimacy is a generalized perception or assumption that the actions of an entity are desirable, proper, or appropriate within some socially constructed system of norms, values, beliefs, and definitions. (1995, 574)

Endeavouring to attain legitimacy is found to underlie the leading role of "utility companies, government agencies, business firms, and non-profit advocacy groups in the process of producing energy efficiency as an output" (Lutzenhiser 2014). The former continue to seek legitimacy in a failed techno-economic framing, hindering the development of alternatives, regardless of their alienating effect on citizens (ibid). As a result, citizen alienation is furthered at global, EU, and local scales through the reiteration of populist narratives about the sufficiency of technological practices of organisations ("elites"). These are perceived as better equipped to take action, thereby de-politicising the environmental problem and reducing it to technological one, whilst generating the illusion that sufficient action is being taken to amend current environmental problems (Healy 2014; Swyngedouw 2010, 2011; Talus 2013; Baccarne et al. 2014).

The ecological problem ... does not invite a transformation of the existing socioecological order but calls on the elites to undertake action such that nothing really has to change, so that life can basically go on as before. (Swyngedouw 2010)

Making a contribution to legitimating governments are counted "dramatic' aspirational targets and visions about the role of voluntary action" which contribute to "hero stories"

that send "moralistic" messages that deny the potential of citizens as "creators of improved energy use" (Moezzi and Janda 2014).⁶

The desire to build legitimacy is found to underlie the leading role of governments (Talus 2013; Swyngedouw 2011; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016), and can be necessary for creating credibility for their policies (Jackson 2009, 98). However, the legitimating rationale that underlies the "high-flying targets" defined in EU strategies⁷ have been criticized for lacking scientific grounds (Kanellakis et al. 2013) and responding instead to a legitimacy shortage of EU institutions. These would then self-represent as championing the production of energy saving practice whilst not questioning consumption and production levels – something that energy efficiency conceptualisations permits (Talus 2013). At a local level, "entrepreneurial city" - wherein economic development and interests are placed before citizen needs - has been termed to reflect on the interest of city councils in exhibiting their sustainability values and practices for the purpose of attracting international investors (Harvey 1989, 2005; Jessop 1997). According to these critiques, the "smart city" constitutes an "instrumentalist", "reductionist" and "technologically determinist" mechanism of elite legitimation and social control (Anttiroiko et al. 2014). It conceals obscure agendas and interests (Haarstad 2017), the underachievement of projects, the need for regulation, and the fundamental need for social and institutional changes to

⁶ These authors cite "hero stories" as first being used in Janda and Topouzi "Closing the loop: using hero stories and learning stories to remake energy policy". *In*: Proceedings of ECEEE Summer Study. Presqu'île de Giens, France: European Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy; 2013. The term was further elaborated by the same authors and published in a peer-reviewed journal as Janda and Topouzi, 2015.

⁷ The EU Energy 2020 A strategy for competitive, sustainable and secure energy – COM(2010) 639 final – sets the target of a 20% increase in energy efficiency and renewable energy generation by 2020 – commonly referred as the 20-20-20 targets – to justify the exemplary role of commercial buildings in EU directives (2010 and 2012).

create substantial socio-environmental benefits (Baccarne et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016).

Having reviewed the existence of critical claims about the legitimating rationale and pervasive alienating effects of technologically reductionist practices of energy saving, in the following section I show how commercial buildings serve a similar function.

2.5. Buildings reduced to their form

According to some cultural scholars of architecture, there is a need to shift from studying what official narratives say – assuming their discursive effects –, to study their *doings* (Guy and Moore 2005b, 233), thus assuming that their narratives can be misleading.⁸ Dutton and Mann grant a fundamental role to buildings as *signifiers* in the everyday formation of knowledge and practice:

Much of what we know of institutions, the distribution of power, social relations, cultural values, and everyday life is mediated by the built environment...To make architecture is to map the world in some way, to intervene, to signify: it is a political act. (1996, 1)

However, according to these scholars a series of epistemological, disciplinary and practical reasons underlie a formalist conception and practice of commercial buildings, emptying them of meaning, particularly regarding the positivist-dominated topic of energy saving.

As a result of the post-modern hegemony of "text", "context is textualized" disregarding and hence concealing the subjective and social dimension of meaning. To this

⁸ Paraphrasing Latour (1987), Guy and Moore claim that: "to understand how sustainable technologies are produced and reproduced in the world …don't study what the practitioners of green architecture say, study what they do!" (2006, 233).

has contributed the focus of post-structuralist discourse analysts in text (Dutton and Mann 1996, 19, 190, 196; see also Hart 2001, 3037). Even discourse analysts inspired by Laclau and Mouffe (1985) – such as Tregidga and colleagues (2018), who focus on the official narratives as source of evidence – acknowledge that "linguistic and non-linguistic practices ... structure both thought and action". The explicit recognition on the analytical grounds of Foucauldian discourse that "buildings", in the same way as "texts" and "institutions", are "discursive practices" (symbolic carriers, mechanisms of knowledge formation and power) (Bacchi and Bonham 2014) has not been found in research applied to the topic of this dissertation. Instead, ongoing conceptual debates amongst these scholars about the domain of the "discursive" and the "extra-discursive" (Barad 2007; Bacchi and Bonham 2014; see also (Moss et al. 2016) appear to weigh down their capacity to go beyond the study of official narratives to the study of buildings.

This focus on the text is also common amongst critical anthropologists – traditionally interested in the study of material and social sources of evidence (Hart 2001, 3037). A "cognitivist paradigm" dominates social and cultural research, limiting the recognition of the "subjective" dimension of actions (Ingold 1999, ix); what others refer to as the "materiality of artefacts" and "things" (Verbeek 2005, 2).⁹ In the field of energy saving, reviewers like Janda and Topouzi (2014) bring new interpretive insight to a discipline dominated by quantitative methods, but continue to rely on the official narratives as the core source of evidence, although tacitly acknowledging the everyday meaning of practices for building users and non-users. It appears that a re-appraisal of the everyday meaning of buildings faces the obstacle of reductionist conceptualisations and positivist

⁹ "We have managed to expunge artifacts of their materiality both in our thinking about them and in our design of them. Now that we have survived to the death of God and the death of the subject, we seem to be faced with the death of the thing" (Verbeek 2005, 2).

knowledge, whose discursive challenges (e.g. the baits of empty signifiers) drain critical review from pragmatic engagement.

The dominance of formalism, the same as techno-economic conceptualisations of energy saving (Section 2.1.), potentially draws attention from the complexity of everyday meaning-making as a process based on appraisal of visual and economic information. Treating buildings as obsolescent products reduces the work of the architect to "dress[ing] up the exterior as an object for desirable consumption...framing architecture as the practice of visual gymnastics" (Ward 1996, 49). This dominance of design over practical considerations is enabled by technological development, but especially by faith in new technologies, which are fed by positivist assumptions about their "transparency" (Dutton and Mann 1996, 38; Guy and Moore 2005a, 5; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014).

On the contrary, passive technologies, materials that provide insulation and cooling, as well as vernacular designs and improvements to the urban landscape are often omitted in favour of internationally recognised designs and materials maladjusted to the local conditions (Wilhite 2009, 2010; Moezzi and Janda 2014). Even though these aestheticist designs require greater support from active systems to create comfort – and hence energy supply – than their vernacular counterparts, they receive positive recognition from certification instruments (Wilhite 2010). This is possible because efficiency and sustainability certificates rely on ad hoc simulations that confuse *calculated efficiency* with *actual* savings (Moezzi and Janda 2014; Wilhite 2010; Guy and Moore 2005a; Janda and von Meier 2005). ¹⁰ Certificates tend to reflect the areas in which technical analysis is

¹⁰ Such is the case of the EU Energy Performance Certificates for buildings, promoted in commercial buildings as part of their exemplary function, as well as voluntary standards like LEED and BREEAM.
capable, ignoring the fundamental factors of ownership, use, operation and local conditions (Farmer and Guy 2005) that constitute the context in which meaning is produced every day.

What is important, then, is to consider the multiple possibilities for meaning, the alternative constructions of culture and nature in each case we explore, rather than to limit meaning to narrow calculations concerning efficiency. (Guy and Moore 2005b, 223)

The relevance of the problem extends to producing the risk that energy saving and sustainable practice become identified with the unsustainable practices of organisations (Tregidga et al. 2018; Spence 2007) represented in commercial buildings. Countering the rational economic principles of energy efficiency, the (energy-related) operating costs of these buildings becomes marginalized by the legitimating function of international designs and innovation. However, the official narratives continue to rely on "hero stories" enabled by empty conceptualisations and quantitative models to conceal such failures, jeopardizing the development of socially transformative stories of "learning" and "caring" (Janda and Topouzi 2015).

The claims presented throughout this section, although plausible, lack the empirical basis of incorporating the public appraisal of buildings. In the following sections I discuss the opportunity for the re-appraisal of the everyday meaning of buildings as a part of a repoliticisation process.

2.6. Leveraging legitimacy to re-politicise energy saving

Social-constructivist and interpretivist insights have the potential of explaining how the practices of organisations are interpreted by the public to "sediment into particular

discourses, i.e. ways of talking and thinking about issues" (Geels 2010; borrowing from Hajer 1997). However, these disciplinary approaches fit only with difficulty the quantitative methodologies and positivist epistemologies that inform short-term policy goals (Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007; Wilhite and Shove 1998). Bridging the divide between technical and social knowledge requires alternative scholarly insights (Shove 1998) for reframing the problem: "If we see technical change as an irredeemably social process the notion of non technical barriers is as instantly irrelevant as that of pure technical potential" (Shove 1998). This requires questioning the social and knowledge dominance underlying energy consumption:

[P]olicies that are designed to deliver similar services but with less energy are anything but 'neutral'...they play an important part in reproducing the status quo and in sustaining and legitimizing contemporary material arrangements and practices. (Shove and Walker 2014)¹¹

These social-constructivist critiques tend to be however stigmatized as "radical", making unlikely the adoption of critical theory in a domain like energy saving (Middlemiss et al. 2018). According to Lefebvre, a seminal theorist of practice theory, "radical" needs to be understood as seeking the political and epistemological roots of the problem (1991).

Underlying the limited commitment of organisations to enacting and communicating their sustainable practices is the "shifting" and diverse meaning attached to these practices (Geels 2010). Moreover, organisations may avoid leading the adoption of practices to avoid being perceived as "greenwashing" (Lyon and Maxwell 2011), and

¹¹ Shove and Walker add: "Whilst there is some scope for technological innovation and increased efficiency, it is clear that if climate change policy is to make a difference on the scale and at the rate required, it will have to engage more overtly, and more explicitly, with the bundles and constellations of practice on which energy demand depends" (2014).

prefer not to be in the spotlight to reduce the risk that unexpected negative information could have to their public image (Greenberg 2014). Accordingly, there is a need for increased deliberation about the priorities and goals of sustainability (Geels 2010). Deliberation has been also widely defended as a much-needed way to improve the legitimacy and democratic grounds of both EU policies, and of environmental and energy policies (Habermas 2012; Torfing 2006; Jordan 2005). Claims for more deliberation also confront the social order, since the deliberation necessary to re-engage the public requires less hierarchical relations. In addition to these socio-political considerations, there are also arguments that relate deliberation to increased adoption of energy-saving practices. There are empirically supported claims about the learning that can occur within participation processes (Bull et al. 2008). The "social potential of energy efficiency" has been proposed, following the premise that "[c]itizen participation might help reconfigure the 'knowing' and 'caring' elements of behaviour and technology change, overall supporting a more sympathetic view of people that better meets people where they are" (Moezzi and Janda 2014).

However, the potential for deliberation has limitations. First, there is the risk that the "social potential" of deliberation becomes a new frontier of energy efficiency, whose exploration contributes to further legitimating the dominant model. Second, a focus on participation detracts attention from understanding how people get involved in saving energy in their everyday lives. As Shove and Walker argue:

Instead of figuring out how to involve more or different stakeholders in an externalized process of design, the more substantial challenge is to understand how consumers, users and practitioners are, in any event, actively involved in making and reproducing the systems and arrangements in question. (2010)

Third, elites have a drive for legitimation – fulfilled through empty-of-meaning concepts, practices and commercial buildings – which prevails over the public interest in terms of meaningful, credible and engaging practices. Finally, deliberation and participation will continue to be constrained in their capacity to re-politicise energy saving practice as far as empty conceptualisations "close down" the sustainability debate, precluding the agenda from engaging in pluralist debate (Stirling 2007; see also Mouffe 1999).

To foster the potential for social critique and deliberation, scholarly research needs to overcome the dominance of positivist epistemologies and the limitations of textual critique which are replete with the *baits* of empty conceptualisations (Sections 2.1 and 2.5). Following Oels exhortation:

Instead of assuming that what a programme is doing or supposed to do is known, one must study the visibilities, technologies, knowledges and identities forged by such a programme ...that is not part of its official rationality. (2005)

This requires engaging those targeted by policies and practices of energy saving. As claimed by Guy and Moore, "the challenge of sustainability is more a matter of local interpretation than of the setting of objective or universal goals" (2005a, 1). Recognising the local meaning co-produced by practices as a social good provides an opportunity for organisations to improve their public image, overcoming the problematic nature of engaging with changing sustainability conceptualisations. It implies re-politicising practice, contributing to more inclusive policy-making and deliberation processes.

In the following sections I extract from social and cultural research a toolset of theories and applied empirical explanations of everyday meaning-making processes, and identify the gaps in the literature.

2.7. Reproducing practice through repeated exposure

Acknowledging that "practices make up a part of any social theory with sufficient explanatory structure to grasp complex and coordinated activities, such as science, politics, and economics" (Bohman 1997), I study the capacity of practice theories to inform my research. Practice theory is a "heterogeneous" set of theories that study "embodied, materially mediated arrays, and shared practical understanding" (Schatzki 2001, 2) and "shared meanings" (Shove and Pantzar 2005; Shove 2007, 65; Araujo et al. 2010). In its strict sense, "practice" differs from material arrangements, actions and narratives, which can be referred as practices: "Material arrangements ubiquitously prefigure practices – that is, the continued happening of the doings and sayings that compose specific practice" (Schatzki 2011, 10). According to practice theorists, energy use is embedded in the sociomaterial context of practice, which needs to be transformed to make significant energy savings (Shove 2010; Shove and Walker 2010, 2014; Wilhite 2013).

[E]energy supply and demand are realized through artefacts and infrastructures that constitute and that are in turn woven into bundles and complexes of social practice. (Shove and Walker 2014)

Accordingly, these authors defend the use of "practice" as different from "energy practices", which they understand as behaviouralist and absent of the social dimension of practice (an example being Stephenson et al. 2013). However, some cultural scholars of practice freely use "energy practices" and "practices" to refer to actions, material arrangements and narratives (e.g. Wilhite 2013; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014). Fundamentally, both social and cultural theorists of practice understand "meaning" to be produced *only* in a socio-material context of practice:

[M]aterial arrangements including fuels and configurations of matter and energy only have meaning within, and in relation to, the practices in which they are enfolded and through which they are reproduced. (Shove and Walker 2014)

An action is meaningful once it is inscribed into a practice. (Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014)

In re-appraising the context as mediating the production of meaning and practice, the turn towards practice explicitly addresses the theoretical limitations of reducing practices to economic decisions (Hargreaves 2011; Wilhite 2010), as problematized in Section 2.1.

However, epistemological contradictions occur within practice theory (Bohman 1997), which has a diverse interest in use, symbolic consumption and perception, and furthermore has a limited empirical basis regarding the production of meaning. Some practice theorists focus on user practices to highlight that "tacit knowledge" and the "naturalization" of practice occurs through repetition (Wilk 2009, 150), disregarding non-user engagement. Others study the socially-constructed symbolism of consumption (Shove 1998; Warde 2005) but do not explain how their symbolic value is created, making necessary greater interpretive insight (Warde 2016, 100–101; Hargreaves 2011). Interest in the practices of elites and experts (Shove and Walker 2010; Shove 2003; Janda and Parag 2013; Wilhite 2013) risks further legitimating their narratives and socially dominating roles. Ultimately, these insights have not yet produced an accepted policy model for fostering energy saving amongst citizens (Geels 2010; Stern 2000; Middlemiss et al. 2018; Strengers et al. 2015).

Cultural approaches to practice recognise as mediating the reproduction of practice "the agency possessed by things, routines and context [which] has been referred to, variously, as practical knowledge, practical consciousness, tacit knowledge and embedded knowledge" (Wilhite 2013, 134). The engagement of non-user publics with meaningmaking is recognised by cultural reviewers interested in "the agency of the subjective meaningfulness of action" (Warde 2011, 11; see also Wilhite 2014). Authors like Wallenborn and Wilhite acknowledge the repetition of "immediate exposure to *practices*" as mediating the reproduction of practices through common sense methods of everyday appraisal, including direct and culturally facilitated experience (2014). However, these scholars also recognise that "the agency in things has been undertheorized in all of the research domains which are ostensibly concerned with understanding or influencing home practices" (Wilhite 2010; see also Shove and Pantzar 2005; Ingold 1999, Verbeek 2005). The role of meaning in mediating the reproduction of practice appears to be insufficiently addressed. Potential arises for overcoming the focus on the repetition of exposure to practice, whether through use or other experiential engagement; a claim which I also find common to the works of Wilk (2009) and Wallenborn and Wilhite (2014).

To overcome the limitations of practice theory it is necessary to "push interpretive social science in a more empirically fruitful direction" (Bohman 1997), making it operable. Expectations exist about the work of cultural reviewers in relation to their capacity to inform empirical research regarding how "buildings and tools" co-produce meaning (Lutzenhiser 1992; see also Randles and Mander 2009). However, there is a general lack of thorough ethnographic reviews of official representations in and about commercial buildings through case studies:

The detailed ethnographies required to understand the routine performance of frameworks, narratives, vocabularies, and particular utterances in organisational settings, have never been done in the field of energy efficiency. (Lutzenhiser 2014)

Most ethnographic research about commercial buildings focuses on building users (e.g. Hargreaves 2011; Janda and von Meier 2006). Others, similar to discourse analysts (Section 2.1), rely on the narratives of managers and engineers (e.g. Staddon et al. 2016; Galvin and Terry 2016; Dumitru et al. 2016; Whittle et al. 2015). It appears that in avoiding the dominance of the visual, cognitive, quantitative and textual in dominant disciplinary approaches to saving energy and representing buildings (Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014; Dutton and Mann 1996; Guy and Moore 2005a), practice research has left unattended perception by non-users. Thus, there is potential for incorporating the everyday appraisal of practice by citizens as non-user publics, thereby addressing the under-theorization of meaning-making as mediating the reproduction of practice.

Supporting the argument presented in Section 2.6, there is the potential and need for empirical research to re-appraise meaning, enabling a social critique that pushes organisations to transform their practice, based on their sensitivity to public opinion (Geels 2010); namely, to shame and praise them for the meaning and practice co-produced by their buildings. This argument corresponds with the demand of Janda and Topouzi to frame commercial buildings in "caring" and "learning stories" (2015). This would potentially contribute to countering the current reliance of organisations on – empty-of-meaning – conceptualisations, practices and buildings (Sections 2.3-2.5), fostering a positive social function of buildings, and making operable the social-transformative demands of practice theorists. This implies overcoming the focus of practice theory on the repetition of exposure to practices. Potential arises in recognising the problematic nature of contradictory messages (Shove and Walker 2014).

In the following section I present social learning claims about the potential of government buildings to contribute to the consistency and credibility of the policy message.

2.8. Learning from consistent practice

According to social learning theory, citizens tends to reject contradictory information (Resnick and Chi 1988; Marshall 1995; Upham et al. 2009). A fundamental obstacle to ensuring the credibility of energy saving messages is the multitude of media messages that promote a higher level of consumption and certain lifestyles (Burgess et al. 1998; Wilhite 2013, 69; Jackson 2009, 11). A reliance of governments on a "top-down" "exhortation model" would then generate "public alienation and resistance to environmental communications" and leave unattended the newly recognised potential for their practices to foster transformation in the practices of the public (Burgess et al. 1998).

Building on social learning and social practice theory, Jackson claims that government leadership constitutes "the main means" of transforming "subjective areas of decision-making" to foster more sustainable models of consumption (2006, 40, 54). The effectiveness of the "policy mix" depends upon its procedural "coherence" and ultimate "credibility" (Rogge et al. 2017). Based on the empirical findings of Bandura (1973, 1977) and the work of Murray (2010) on social learning theory, Jackson claims that "[w]e do not learn purely by imitation", thereby acknowledging that governments may be "role model[s]" that enable "learning" (2005, 110–11, 113). This role model position could be confused with the explanation of Jaffe and Stavins about the role of government programs in providing information to economic decision makers (1994). It could be also understood as an appeal to repeated exposure as proposed by some practice theorists (Section 2.7). However, Jackson's assertion has more explanatory capacity, since he also acknowledges the possibility of governments acting as "anti-role models" that generate public rejection (2005, 110–11, 113). The credibility of governments is then shaped by the consistency of their practice:

Simplistic exhortations for people to resist consumerism are destined to failure. Particularly when the messages flowing from government are so painfully inconsistent. People readily identify this in contradiction and perceive it as hypocrisy. (2009, 11)

Further disturbing the ground for the study of the policy role of commercial buildings, Jackson relates "practice" to "discourse" to propose that "pro-environmental behavioural change needs to occur by raising specific behaviours from the level of 'practical consciousness' to 'discursive consciousness'...tackling entrenched routine and habitual behaviours" (2005, 116-117). Social learning, and hence the reproduction of practice, occurs not only through repeated interaction, but through interaction with a consistent practice:

Government behaviour plays a strong functional and symbolic role in social learning processes. Unsustainable public sector behaviour can undermine proenvironmental information and awareness campaigns. But conversely, robust and successful environmental management and procurement programmes send a strong signal to businesses and consumers and demonstrate that the Government is serious about pro-environmental change. (2005, 132)

Although Jackson grants fundamental relevance to the anti-role model produced through inconsistent practice, his explanation leaves unclear what consistent practice is. He is explicit about the relevance of coherence between narratives and practices, and implies – as in the above quote – the need for *integrating* energy-saving practices across different domains of practice, and across different government agencies.

As opposed to the dominant approach to government buildings (Section 2.3), the theoretical claims of Jackson, based on learning and practice theory, grant fundamental relevance to the "consistency" of the government message. This enables a critical review of singular exemplars of demonstration, or isolated procurement programs – like those discussed in Section 2.3 – which, being *coherent* with the narratives of governments are not intended to be *integral* part of their practice.¹² Supporting these arguments, in the following section I describe the empirical engagement with everyday meaning-making in the domains of corporate responsibility and renewable energy acceptance as potentially contributing to increasing the consistency of practice of organisations.

2.9. Pluralist engagement in flanking disciplines

This section describes empirical evidence from two disciplinary approaches to the energy saving practice of organisations, where – as opposed to the case of energy saving in commercial buildings – significant attention is paid to the public appraisal and acceptance of organisations and programs.

The recent deployment of renewable energy infrastructure,¹³ including wind farms and solar parks has faced different degrees of public opposition, making "[p]ublic acceptance...crucial for successful implementation of [these] technologies in society" (van Rijnsoever et al. 2015). Countering the trend with buildings, where most research is either theoretical or based on expert reviews, the relevance of public acceptance has resulted in the empirical engagement of the everyday public: "Most research contributions to the success of RET [renewable energy technology] and related infrastructures focus on the

¹² A similar understanding seems hinted in the Wuppertal definitions (2014) but, as discussed in Section 2.3, lacks a scholarly reflection that explains how government buildings mediate the reproduction of practices. ¹³ Renewable energy deployment is conceptualised as contributing to the energy saving goals of building performance and energy efficiency in EU Directives (2010, 2012).

public, while research on the political elite as decision-maker or stakeholder is less widespread" (Dermont et al. 2017). Similarly, corporate social responsibility scholars focus on how public perception is misled by the practices of organisations represented as socially and environmentally beneficial. The former scholars are concerned that the function of "green buildings"¹⁴ is "reaping legitimacy benefits from gaining symbolic performance" (Bowen 2015, 113), echoing Suchman's (1995) definition of legitimacy (Section 2.4). As a result, "green buildings...often amount to greenwash" (Burnett 2005, 977). This is common in "high profile commercial or institutional clients and legislated standards in larger typologies [of buildings]" (Chan 2008, 12).¹⁵ Understanding how legitimacy is earned through the representation of energy saving values and practices in commercial buildings is therefore important for corporations concerned about public perception. This provides, as in the case of renewable energy acceptance studies, rich empirical grounds for corporate responsibility studies like those of Bowen and Aragon-Correa (2014), Lyon and Maxwell (2011) and Parguel et al. (2011).

A combination of social and social-psychological theories of behaviour has increased understanding about the social context in the acceptance of renewable energy infrastructure, granting relevance to the public perception of "fairness" (Gross 2007), and to the production of "trust" relations (Walker et al. 2010; Devine-Wright and Devine-Wright 2009). Relying on empirical evidence and social representation theory (Moscovici 1976), a review of studies of renewable infrastructure acceptance explains the relevance of

¹⁴ I use the term "green buildings" to honour the preferences of these scholars when referring to those (often commercial) buildings that integrate pro-environmental practices. By using this term throughout this section I also acknowledge the disciplinary distance between corporate social responsibility and energy saving studies. However, I recognise, along with with Guy and Moore (2005a), that green credentials are largely reduced to claims about energy efficiency.

¹⁵ These "larger typologies of buildings" widely account for most commercial buildings that represent organizations, and do not exclude large-scale residential developments, which may also be of symbolic value to developers.

the *contradictions* between "doings" and "sayings", providing grounds for organisations and experts to seek consistent "representations" (Batel et al. 2016; Devine-Wright et al. 2017).¹⁶ Since the ultimate goals are trust, engagement, and acceptance (Devine-Wright et al. 2010; Greenberg 2014), these studies address as a source of evidence everyday meaning making more than the official representation. The production of "trust" can be countered by the "invisibility" of organisations – common in the energy supply industry – which appears as a deterrent to public acceptance, and is problematic because it can be intentional in relation to moderating the potential impact of the image of the organisation regarding salient incidents (Greenberg 2014). This explanation aligns with that of Geels (2010) (presented in Section 2.6) about organisations avoiding engaging with and communicating their practices when concerned that such meaning is not consensual and changing. Social research on renewable infrastructure acceptance recognises everyday epistemologies and the voice of the public in appraising practices of energy saving in the context of the practices of the organisation and its social capital.

Scholars of corporate responsibility also appeal to social theory and empirical evidence in their study of the context of practice, and to help differentiate "legitimate practices" from "greenwashing". Their critique addresses the fitness between green buildings and accepted social values *as* represented in organisational narratives about buildings.¹⁷ This is important because corporations are concerned about the public and

¹⁶ "Critically engaging with relevant knowledge producers — policymakers, academic researchers, NGOs, and so forth — to transform re-presentations of individuals as either passive dupes and/or totally rational beings, into representations of individuals as, in their continuous relation with the Other, both influenced and constrained by the contexts in which they live, and as aware, conscious, and active political actors,... In turn, this will contribute to the creation of more active forms of citizenship that can demand better regulations and policymaking" (Batel et al. 2016).

¹⁷ Greenwashing occurs when "the so-called 'green building' has symbolic and material environmental components regardless of whether the building is actually beneficial for the environment" (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014)

activists recognising "the gap between what firms say and do", which is often enabled by the "scepticism" fed by vocal organisational narratives (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014). Greenwashing also refers to the "selective disclosure of positive information about a company's environmental or social performance, without full disclosure of negative information" about analogous practices and practices pertaining to different domains of activity (Lyon and Maxwell 2011)¹⁸. As introduced in Section 2.8, I refer to these contradictions occurring throughout practices as limited *integration*.¹⁹ A risk of corporate responsibility critiques is that they may deter organisations from conducting legitimate social responsibility and communicating it for fear of attracting the attention of activists (Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014), adding to contempt about shifting understandings (Geels 2010), and the risk of salient incidents (Greenberg 2014).²⁰ One way to armour organisational narratives is through recognised expert assessment of certification (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Parguel et al. 2011). Other symbolic components enter into play, such as engaging famous architects (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014) or adopting internationally accepted designs - as reviewed in section 2.5. Acknowledging the relevance of the context of practice (its consistency), and giving a name to its contradictions ("greenwashing") enables scholarly and social critique, providing an invitation for organisations to re-engage with *legitimate* corporate social responsibility.²¹

CEU eTD Collection

¹⁸ Lyon and Maxwell clarify: "Note that greenwash is not the same as having a poor record of environmental performance... Note also that greenwash is not the same as simply failing to report negative information; greenwash involves the additional step of selectively choosing to report positive information" (2011).

¹⁹ As examples, Lyon and Maxwell cite: a) Royal Caribbean claims about wastewater treatment in their cruise ships that did not disclose that only a few of their ships meet this description, and b) BP's clean fuel initiatives that ignore the impact of extractive activities.

²⁰ The "thorough activist control" of greenwashing that Lyon and Maxwell claim for firms producing consumer goods has not been found to address the symbolic function of commercial buildings.

 $^{^{21}}$ The interest of corporate responsibility scholars in "greenwash" recognises the profusion of a legitimating function which – as in the case of "hero stories" about commercial buildings, building credentials and

Accounting for the meaning of practices and narratives in both disciplinary fields hereby reviewed addresses the issue of the "consistency" needed for government legitimacy and credibility (Section 2.8) and highlights the relevance of both *coherence* between narrative and practice and the *integration* of sustainable practices within buildings and other areas of the activity of organisations. As with Jackson's research on social learning and practice theory, the disciplinary approaches presented in this section bridge social research in topics dominated by expert knowledge of engineering, economics and marketing with the public appraisal of organisational practices. This shows that when specific interests concur, everyday meaning-making is engaged, countering the dominance of reductionist conceptualisations.

By granting a fundamental role to the practices of organisations as co-producing everyday meaning, social research about both corporate responsibility and renewable infrastructure acceptance create an opportunity to ground the endeavour of organisations to legitimacy on their integral engagement (material and social) with saving energy.

2.10. Chapter summary

This chapter has covered a lot of ground, but the following findings are the most crucial. Foremost, as exposed in Section 2.1, there is a predominance of positivist knowledge and methodologies that frame energy saving practice as the economic adoption of technologies. By way of a critical review, in Sections 2.2 and 2.3 I have sought to reveal the disciplinary separation between research on residential and government buildings. The role of the latter in the production of meaning appears to be reduced to providing information about the techno-economic potential for saving energy (Jaffe and Stavins 1994), and is thus aligned

reductionist conceptualisations (Janda and Topouzi 2014) – serves to selectively disclose information (see also Guy and Moore 2005).

with findings from Section 2.1. However, I find common a tacit recognition of everyday epistemologies in the conceptualisations of the socially transformative role of commercial buildings (Borg et al. 2006; Harris et al. 2005; Wuppertal Institute 2014; Thomas et al. 2013). Failure to recognise these non-economic, non-market effects risks further legitimating the dominant positivist framework. The tacit nature of this recognition would be explained by the dominance of techno-economic knowledge and the insufficient theoretical grounds to explain meaning making (Wilhite 2010; Shove and Pantzar 2005; Ingold 1999, Verbeek 2005).

As reviewed in Sections 2.4 and 2.5, the marginalization of meaning in applied research appears related to the dominance of positivist epistemologies, techno-optimistic narratives and formalist architecture. These serve to legitimate the dominant framing, technological practices and their proponents by hailing successes and hiding underachievement, de-politicising the energy saving discourse and contributing to the alienation of the public (Lutzenhiser 2014; Moezzi and Janda 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015).

The potential for engaging organisations in attempts to compel the public to save energy and furthermore for the re-politicisation of the energy saving debate is discussed in Section 2.6 and developed throughout Sections 2.7 and 2.9. These sections show that the pursuit of legitimacy motivates organisations to enact energy-saving practices. However, these may not bring about the necessary recognition, whilst creating risks associated with changing social priorities and the emergence of negative information when companies are in the spotlight (Geels 2010; Greenberg 2014; Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014). Throughout these sections I have also built the case that there is potential for practice and ethnographic research to empirically engage with the meaning made by non-user publics through their experience of buildings. This expands claims by Lutzenhiser (2014) Geels (2010), Guy and Moore (2005b), about the need of a pluralist engagement of the public but which do not specify the nature of the public. The limited research on this topic can be explained by understanding that ethnographic research, particularly as regards the energy saving topic, reacts to positivist dominance by relying on post-structualist explanations of official narratives (Dutton and Mann 1996), and hence overlooks the visual dimension of practice in favour of a focus on use. This appears to be the case of practice theorists like Wallenborn and Wilhite (2014) reviewed in Section 2.7.

Taking into account the findings of pluralist research conducted within the fields of social learning, corporate responsibility and renewable energy infrastructure acceptance (Sections 2.8 and 2.9), I identify the potential for consistent practices to add credibility to the message of organisations, to increase acceptance of their practices, and to improve their public image. Accordingly, I understand that *consistency* implies recognising the need for both coherence between narratives and practices and the integration of practices throughout the activities of the organisation to create credible messages. Since these concepts appear either implicitly or unclearly differentiated throughout the literature that has been reviewed (Jackson 2005, 2006, 2009; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Parguel et al. 2011; Gross 2007; Devine-Wright et al. 2010; Greenberg 2014), they need further theoretical development and empirical grounding. Particularly problematic issues include references to innovation which I find common in government building policies (Section 2.3), because these appear to contrast with the *integration* that is proposed and the eventual *replication* of practices pursued by energy saving policies. In addition to aspects of material integration of practices, aspects of social integration also require further clarification.

Expanding the tacitly recognised role of buildings in co-producing meaning and practice of energy saving, the work of Janda and Topouzi (2015) could serve to foster a radical critique, as well as to push organisations to produce a consistent practice and, ultimately, a consistent message. The findings of these authors are based on a textual review, but tacitly acknowledge the consistency of practice when recommending that organisations shift their narratives from "hero stories" to "learning" and "caring stories" (2015) when shaping their relationship with the public. There appears to be a potential for incorporating the consistency of practice as part of a *caring* and *learning framings* where organisations become accountable for the extent they integrate practice and therefore contribute to the credibility of the energy saving message. This approach would thus involve transforming the practices of organisations, as well as their relations with the public, which may then be enabled to engage in critique based on an appraisal of contradictions and the extent that buildings contribute to the public good. Hence, the former produces a fundamental transformation of social relations necessary to attain significant energy savings – as defended by practice theorists (e.g. Shove 2010, Shove and Walker 2014). It also provides an opportunity to re-politicise energy saving practice – defended by critical reviewers of energy saving and EU policy-making (Section 2.6). Relying analytically on the types of stories proposed by Janda and Topouzi (2015) provides a new opportunity for critique, but also for organisations to shift away from seeking legitimacy through empty-of-meaning conceptualisations, practices, and buildings, and to build social capital through demonstrating the consistency and socially transformative potential of their practices; i.e. their meaning. As shown throughout this chapter, this requires privileging the interpretive study of public appraisal over official representations.

The goal of the following chapter is to formulate a theoretical framework that addresses the role of consistent – and contradictory – practices in the processes of meaning-making and of practice (re)production.

Chapter 3. Re-cognising the epistemological and political roots of the problem

In this chapter I develop a theoretical framework inspired by Lefebvre's work on "The Production of Space" (1991).²² This serves a) to increase understanding that official representations of and about commercial buildings are de-contextualised, b) to re-cognise the everyday production of meaning and practice and, ultimately, c) to critique official representations for their marginalization of the context of meaning-making and practice. It thus contributes to the *study of the* relations between official framings and everyday meaning-making, constitutive of my main research question. I have chosen to engage the production of space because it addresses the roots of how and why meaning is marginalized in contemporary policies, practices, and research; and for granting a fundamental role to commercial buildings in the (re)production of social order. Lefebvre's production of space constitutes a radical critique in the Marxian sense: it seeks to reveal the epistemological and political *roots* of the marginalization of everyday meaning. As shown in Chapter 2, addressing these roots could potentially turn on its head energy saving research and policy-making to address their limitations and political flaws.

Potential arises from Lefebvre's theory of the production of space because it upends political economic approaches by incorporating *Space* as the medium, not just the outcome, of governance processes (Soja 1996, 77). A legitimate question for Lefebvre is "Do the spaces formed by practico-social activity, whether landscapes, monuments or buildings, have meaning?" (1991, 131). This resonates with my interest in the attention being paid to

²² The original edition of "The Production of Space" (in French) dates from 1974. It was first translated into English in 1991. This is the most often cited edition in the English literature. For reasons of brevity, I refer to it as "Lefebvre 1991".

commercial buildings as mechanisms mediating the production of meaning that could potentially compel the public to save energy. The relevance of applying this theory to a study partly motivated by the unclear rationale of EU policies is furthered by its capacity to explain political economic processes that involve a decline in accountability in the EU (Elden 2004).

The ontology and epistemology of Lefebvre, which I present in Section 3.1, constitute a critique of established knowledge that potentially addresses the epistemological barriers to acknowledging *meaning-making* as mediating the reproduction of practice, problematized in Chapter 2. The former appeals to the contradictions that occur between official representations of practice – where meaning-making is marginalized –, and everyday epistemologies – which appeal to the unicity of material, social and conceptual dimensions of practice. These contradictions ground Lefebvre's political critique, as I describe in Section 3.2. Aligned with social practice requires changes that go beyond the technological and conceptual domains and encompass social transformation. The marginalization of meaning serves for elites to mask the enactment of a consistent practice, reaping legitimacy for the established order, and hence diverting attention from the need for social transformation.

The explanation of these epistemological and political roots creates the ground for explaining in Section 3.3 the special attention that Lefebvre pays to the representations enacted in commercial buildings (i.e. "monuments") as countering the production of an "appropriate" practice. This conceptualisation addresses scholarly concerns about the legitimating function and public-alienating effect of energy-saving practices in commercial buildings, as expounded in Chapter 2. It also resonates with my interest in re-cognising the role of buildings in reproducing practices that goes beyond the provision of textual and quantitative information. Section 3.4 closes the chapter with my reflections on the conceptual, political and analytical implications of the theoretical framework that is proposed for the purpose of potentially encompassing siloed critiques and improving interpretive research in relation to theorizing how meaning-making occurs, and mediates the reproduction of practice.

3.1. The unicity of practice

A fundamental epistemological problem for Lefebvre is the separation between "object" and "subject", originating in Cartesian theory: "philosophy stopped dead when it came face to face with the 'subject' and the 'object' and their relationship" (1991, 96). This epistemological separation is perpetuated by epistemological debates between idealists who "fetishize" text and empiricists who "oversubstantiate" the object (Soja 1996, 63; see also Lefebvre 1991, 27-30). These positions and their unsolved debates contribute to "[t]he illusion of a transparent, 'pure' and neutral space — which, though philosophical in origin, has permeated Western culture — [and] is being dispelled only very slowly" (Lefebvre 1991, 292; see also Dutton and Mann 1996, 38; Guy and Moore 2005a, 5, in Section 2.5). This claim is relevant in the scope of this research because, as shown in Chapter 2, most approaches to commercial buildings rely on post-structuralist text analysis and positivist quantification, granting prevalence to official representations, and – as shown in section 2.7 – reducing the role of the public to "user".

Contesting these epistemological positions, the ontological entity for Lefebvre is "social practice", or simply "practice". Lefebvre is particularly interested in re-appraising the lived and social dimension of spatial practices, which he considers to have been marginalized by the dominance of the conceptual knowledge of experts.

Like all social practice, spatial practice is lived directly before it is conceptualised; but the speculative primacy of the conceived over the lived causes practice to disappear. (1991, 35)

Practice is produced in the dialectics between three ontological "moments": the "material" ("Spatial practices"), the "mental" ("Representations of Space") and the "social" ("Representational spaces"); each of which belong *simultaneously* to the epistemological realms of the "perceived", "conceived" and "lived" (1991 33-38; Soja 1996, 65). Meaning is produced through everyday lived experience, thus it is through a "critique of everyday" that the radical philosopher can appraise the consistency of practice in its dialectical production, and through its contradictions formulate a political critique (Lefebvre 1991, 333). The dialectic interaction between the ontological and epistemological modes implies that meaning, as produced in everyday life, accounts for the material, conceptual and social dimensions of practice. Heuristically, I describe the ontology and epistemology of Lefebvre with two large triangles in Figure 1, wherein meaning and practice are produced through the dialectical relation between "moments" (the small triangles) in both modes of production.



Figure 1. The epistemological and ontological (re)production of practice. Inspired by Lefebvre (1991).

Since meaning-making occurs through living interaction with practice, in its material, conceptual and social unicity it resonates with the claims of some practice theorists about meaning occurring only in a context of practice (Shove and Walker 2014; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014), as described in Section 2.7. Lefebvre goes a step beyond this by incorporating "the context" in practice, and to its ontological, epistemological and political modes of production, thereby enabling a critique of its contradictions. Regardless of these contradictions, there are logical mechanisms that explain the everyday appraisal of inconsistent practice as "coherent" – i.e. what I term as "consistent", to differentiate from "coherence" between narrative and practices in Section 2.9:

[T]he lived, conceived and perceived realms should be interconnected, so that the 'subject', the individual member of a given social group, may move from one to another without confusion – so much is a logical necessity. Whether they constitute a coherent whole is another matter. (1991, 40)

Thus, through this logical mechanism the everyday meaning-making of practice relates to the ontological unicity of practice in its mental, material and social domains. A conceptualisation of practice inspired by Lefebvre's production of space contributes to structuring what practice theories refer to as the context of practice. Lived experience needs to be recognised as a mechanism of meaning making, currently dominated by perceptual and conceptual meaning-making, and ultimately concealing the contradictions off practice. These contradictions underlie the political function of practice, which I describe as the political mode of production of elites.

3.2. The political function of representations

According to Lefebvre, socio-political systems need to produce their "own", characteristic practice "to be real". This practice needs to be consistent throughout its spatial dimensions:

[E]very society produces a space, its own space.... Any 'social existence' aspiring or claiming to be 'real', but failing to produce its own space, would be a strange entity, ...and sooner or later disappear altogether, thereby immediately losing its identity, its denomination and its feeble degree of reality. This suggests a possible criterion for distinguishing between ideology and practice ... and for discerning ... what they reveal versus what they conceal). (1991, 53)

As a result, the duality between ontological and epistemological modes of production as introduced at the end of Section 3.1 is incomplete as it fails to address the political utilization of space. Acknowledging that everything has a third dimension in Lefebvre's theory, as claimed by Soja (1996, 61), I decided to explicitly incorporate the mode of production that for Lefebvre *is* a socio-political system (Figure 2). This grants the central role that commercial buildings play as "monuments" in Lefebvre's work – which I review

in Section 3.3. It also serves to resolve fundamental terminological confusion originated in Lefebvre's establishment and denial of dual relations between: a) material and "spatial practices"; b) mental and "representations of space"; and c) social and "representational spaces". Differentiating the two groups of terms permits distinct reference to a third mode of production involving the political utilization of spatial practices by elites through expert knowledge and the forces of state and capital. For Lefebvre this elite mode of production overrides the ontological space. Explicit distinction between the three modes of production, is important because in the literature I have reviewed, no explicit nor graphic account of these three modes of production was identified. Moreover most reviewers have simplified the use of terminology, opting for the terms belonging to one of the modes of production or using the terms belonging to different modes indistinctly.



Figure 2. Incorporation of the elite production of practice into Lefebvre's triadic dialectics. Inspired by Lefebvre (1991).

The dialectics between these three modes of production of practice serve to explain how and why (spatial) practices are devoid of everyday meaning. Responding to the need for a socio-political system to produce an "appropriate" practice to be able to exist, it is in the interest of governments, corporations and other organisations to foster an "illusory coherence" (1991, 59, 393) and conceal the "contradictions" of a society, which are a manifestation of the social domination in place (Lefebvre 1991, 333, 367). Concealing contradictions hinders the production of meaning because the everyday dimensions of meaning-making are assimilated to elite representations: namely, a) the *mental* to conceptual representations of space – i.e., the knowledge of experts b) the *social* to representational spaces of participation, representation and institution; and c) the *material* to spatial practices of technology, planning and architecture.

a) Conceptual (representations of space)

As shown in Section 3.1, for Lefebvre conceptual knowledge of contemporary positivist epistemologies is the primary mechanism for marginalizing everyday meaning. The quantitative knowledges of science, technology, politics and economy "reduce the dialectical to the logical", granting a "logical coherence" to the production of practice (1991, 367), and "disguising domination" (1978/2003, 84-85). This rational knowledge marginalizes what Wallenborn and Wilhite refer to as the "tacit knowledge" that is produced through everyday experience (2014), or meaning.

[T]he speculative primacy of the conceived over the lived causes practice to disappear along with life, and so does very little justice to the 'unconscious' level of lived experience per se. (Lefebvre 1991, 35)

As in the case of policy instruments intended to compel the public to save energy, meaning is reduced to quantitative, economic information applied to inform rational decision making (Section 2.2). Together with quantification, the prevalence of textual and verbal representations (Lefebvre 1991, 39) further hinders perception and living experience, and

limits the possibilities for critique. In agreement with the cultural reviews of architecture presented in Section 2.5, Lefebvre attacked post-structuralist critique for its reliance on the conceptual and textual, and for leaving unaddressed the political function of spatial practice (1991, 4).²³

b) Social participation, representation and institution (representational space)

For Lefebvre, social relations are *represented* through processes of "participation", "representation" and "institution" that result in the alienation of citizens (Lefebvre [1978] 2003, 99). The socially transformative capacity of these processes is deceptive because they depart from a conceptual consensus based on the knowledge of experts; i.e., a "banal consensus" (1991, 6):

...a reductionistic [sic] return to an absolute - or supposedly absolute – knowledge... can only be conceived of as separate from both ideology and non-knowledge (i.e. from lived experience). Although any separation of that kind is in fact impossible, to evoke one poses no threat to - and indeed tends to reinforce - a banal 'consensus'. After all, who is going to take issue with the True? (1991, 6)

For Lefebvre, these social processes contribute to an illusory democratization, but not to transforming social relations because the debate is foreclosed by the consensus that surrounds expert knowledge. This resonates with critical reviews of environmental governance and of the EU presented in Section 2.6 that claim that deliberation is closed

²³ "Foucault never explains what space it is that he is referring to, nor how it bridges the gap between the theoretical (epistemological) realm and the practical one, between mental and social, between the space of the philosophers and the space of people who deal with material things" (Lefebvre 1991, 4).

out by the dominance of an expert jargon rich in conceptualisations that are empty of meaning and which define the political agenda.

c) Technologies, planning and architecture (spatial practices)

Spatial practices are reduced to the perceptual domain through the conceptual knowledge of experts:

...architects and city-planners offered – as an ideology in action – an empty space ... a neutral medium ... incoherence under the banner of coherence ...within an appearance of logic. (1991, 308-9)

Grounded by dominant epistemological assumptions about the transparency of the object (Sections 3.1), expert knowledge serves the purpose of conferring coherence to space, obscuring its political utilization under a cloak of claims about rational purpose and aesthetic form:

The dominant discourse on space – describing what is seen by eyes ... – robs reality of meaning by dressing it in an ideological garb that does not appear as such, but instead gives the impression of being non-ideological (or else 'beyond ideology'). These vestments, to be more specific, are those of aesthetics and aestheticism, of rationality and rationalism. (1991, 317)

In Section 3.3 I further reflect on Lefebvre's warnings about the political use of aestheticism – which I have previously referred to as formalist architecture (Section 2.5) 3.

Thus, positivist, rational assumptions reduce practice to its perceived epistemological dimension, which can be then reduced to quantifiable dimensions: "Things and products that are measured, that is to say reduced to the common measure of money, do not speak the truth about themselves" (Lefebvre 1991, 80). This is problematic because it conceals the social domain of practice and, overall, contradictions in practice. However, techno-optimist accounts of progress succeed in representing the occurrence of positive social transformation in an illusory way:

...so long as the only improvements to occur are technical improvements of detail ... must the project of 'changing life' remain no more than a political rallying–cry to be taken up or abandoned according to the mood of the moment. (1991, 59-60)

With this critique, Lefebvre invites us to mistrust technological-reductionism. Aligning with critiques discussed in Chapter 2, the problem with energy efficiency and other technological practices is their disregard of the social transformation necessary for substantially saving energy – and furthermore, the creation of the illusion that such change is occurring (Shove 2010; Lutzenhiser 2014; Shove and Walker 2014).

Lefebvre's critique serves to explain how and reductionist accounts of energy saving values, practices and commercial buildings as responding to political interests, and contribute to reproducing dominant practice. His theory helps understand calls for increasing *coherence* between official narratives to build *credibility* for the energy saving values, practices and claims of organisations, and to incorporate social and material integration of practice (Sections 2.8 and 2.9) to what I have termed as practical *consistency*. Accordingly, everyday meaning-making and reproduction of practice is countered by the prevalence and political utilization of expert conceptualisations, material practices, and social mechanisms of representation that, as discussed in Chapter 2, are common in energy saving policy and practice. The former constitute an illusory representation of a consistent

practice, contributing to the legitimation of the knowledge of experts and organisations. In the following section I show how commercial buildings play a fundamental role in producing an illusory consistency of practice.

3.3. Commercial buildings as monuments

Commercial buildings are fundamental to understanding the reproduction of the established order through the Lefebvrian elite mode of production. They represent the triumph of elites, and hence of the social order in mastering quantitative knowledge and technology through "geometric" and "phallic" designs (Lefebvre [1978] 2003, 84-85); they are "visibly" and "centrally" located in cities to represent and furthermore legitimate social domination by governments and corporations ([1978] 2003, 88; 1991, 143-144, 220). They constitute "monuments" which "mask the will to power and the arbitrariness of power beneath signs and surfaces which claim to express collective will and collective thought" (1991, 144). Thus, they conceal contradictions and contribute to legitimating organisations along Suchman's (1995, 574) understanding of the term: for abiding by accepted values. To ensure that the values thus represented as non-ideological and hence indisputable, monuments rely on the "vestments... of aesthetics and aestheticism, of rationality and rationalism" (Lefebvre 1991, 317). The latter aligns with concerns about the prevalence of high-rise designs and glazed facades over vernacular designs and the practices that would make visible the energy saving (Winter 2016; Wilhite 2010; Pich-Aguilera 2012). Through these de-politicising mechanisms, such monuments enact the "illusion of transparency" to become "indisputable normative precept[s]" (Lefebvre 1991, 59-60), normalizing the social order in the "unconscious level of lived experience" (1991, 35). Similar to the greenwashing practices reviewed in Section 2.9, commercial buildings are "intended to be read", since practice is "enacted" in them (Lefebvre 1991, 222, 224). The legitimating

function of commercial buildings is therefore a de-politicising one. Enacting socially accepted values of energy saving appears to organisations as a desirable means of avoiding public scrutiny, since – as argued in Section 3.1 – dominant contemporary epistemologies are better equipped to address text than practices.

In Section 3.2 I have showed how the Lefebvrian elite mode produces an "illusory coherence" throughout its conceptual, social and material domains. However, monuments are the masterpiece in the production of an *illusory consistency*:

Monumental space offered each member of a society an image of that membership, an image of his or her social visage. It thus constituted a collective mirror more faithful than any personal one....The monument thus effected a 'consensus', and this in the strongest sense of the term, rendering it practical and concrete. (1991, 220)

Monuments produce the illusion that certain practices are *integral* part of the practice being produced by elites. This also resonates with some critiques that greenwashing narratives misleadingly create this illusion (see Lyon and Maxwell 2011 in Section 2.9). The intent – as explained by Lefebvre – is not to produce a consistent representation of the organisation, but of the practice of the society, and hence of the success of the social order in relation to abiding by certain values. There is a need to study the difference between buildings that respond to "use" and monuments, which respond to a political "function" (1991, 100):

Buildings are to monuments as everyday life is to festival, products to works, lived experience to the merely perceived, concrete to stone, and so on. (1991, 223)

There is therefore the potential to study commercial buildings according to their *coherence* in practice, as well as to the *integration* of the practices being represented – within the domain of the organisation and that of overall society. The study of organisational reliance on singular exemplars of demonstration fostered by government policies (Section 2.3) brings about an opportunity to study how monuments produce the *illusion of coherence* – between the narrative, material and social domains of practice – but also of *integration* – in organisational and societal practice – and overall, of the deployment of a *consistent* practice. The Production of Space brings about a potential to recognise buildings as political, and to criticize them according to the illusions they produce in everyday meaning-making. This requires, aligning with findings in Chapter 2, a pluralist study of the contradictions between the practices of energy saving and the (context of) practice as experienced by the public user and non-user, both through "passive (senses) and active (labour) engagement" (1991, 405).

3.4. Conceptual and analytical implications

In this chapter I have argued that Lefebvre's Production of Space constitutes – aligning with Soja (1996) and Schmid (2008) – a critique that is potentially able to turn on its head the prevalent approach to commercial buildings and to understand them as a means, not just an end, to energy saving policy-making and governance.

Foremost, Lefebvre's epistemology, which I present in Section 3.1, counters the dominant positivist knowledge and post-structuralist critique problematized in Chapter 2. It recognises the context of practice to which some practice theorists appeal as the site of meaning-making and practice reproduction (Section 2.7) and explicates it as structured in its social, material and mental dimensions. In doing this, Lefebvre inspires a theoretical

framework which adds to the interest of practice theory in the *repetition* of experience (Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014), interest in social learning about *coherence* between narratives and practices (Jackson 2009), which Lefebvre extends to the social domain of practice. Incorporating this domain potentially enables us to re-cognise the legitimating function of energy-saving practices (Geels 2010) and the relevance of the social relations of the organisation (Devine-Wright et al. 2010; Greenberg 2014; Gross 2007) in the appraisal of official practices of energy saving. Accordingly, the public appraisal of contradictions in everyday practice may explain public alienation from saving energy as a response to the lack of credibility inherent in contradictory messages (Jackson 2009).

Lefebvre's political critique, discussed in Section 3.2, reunites the approach of reviewers of energy saving conceptualisations, narratives, and technological practices as deployed in commercial buildings reviewed in Chapter 2. The latter operate as *representations* that marginalize everyday meaning-making, creating an *illusion of coherence*, and countering critique. The political function of representations consists of reproducing the established order by producing the illusion that practice is consistent, specific to the politico-economic regime, and hence appraised as "real" (1991, 53) and "appropriate" (1991, 59). Changing this situation requires a critique of everyday that reappraises practices in context through lived experience and recognises their political function, requiring "study [of] the contradictions" in and within material, social and mental representations (Lefebvre, 1991, 333).

To recognise space, to recognise what 'takes place' there and what it is used for, is to resume the dialectic; analysis will reveal the contradictions of space. (1976, 17)

This approach can potentially inspire scholarly and civil critique, as well as policies appropriate for compelling the public to save energy and re-contextualise practices in pursuit of *appropriating* a practice of energy saving; one that is appraised in everyday life as consistent, credible and potentially reproducible by the public. Hence, it resonates with appeals for organisations to produce a practice of *caring* and that promotes *learning* amongst the public, as proposed by Janda and Topouzi (2015). Furthermore, it potentially permits to expand the understanding of caring stories by incorporating consideration to the extent of coherence and integration of practice within the organisation. The application of my research is recognition of the need to assess the dominance of technological practices, the extent to which practices are decontextualised, as well as the situated interests of organisations in fostering their social positioning and public image.

Inspired by Lefebvre's interest in commercial buildings as *monuments*, in Section 3.3 I understand their role in representing energy-saving practices, values and social relations as a *coherent* and hence appropriate practice of energy saving. In my interpretation, monuments also represent energy-saving practices as an *integral* part of the practice of commissioning organisations, similar to some greenwashing narratives, as argued by Lyon and Maxwell (2006), hence contributing to an *illusory consistency*. The extent to which integration occurs, and especially its relevance for everyday meaning-makers, needs to be studied, particularly in the light of the prevalent interest in singular, innovative exemplars in government policies (Section 2.3). This is important regarding the legitimating function of energy-saving practices (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011) and, particularly, commercial buildings. These represent organisations as *heroes*, thereby alienating the public and disregarding the socially transformative potential of *caring* and *learning* representations – which are restricted to narratives in the work of Janda and
Topouzi (2015) – and could benefit from incorporating attention to the consistency of practice. Such could also be the case of EU directives that require an exemplary function, as problematized in Chapter 1, and which fail to refer to the context of the regulated buildings.

There is potential for studying the consistency of practice represented in commercial buildings along the dimensions of coherence and integration, as appraised in everyday life. Conceptually, this involves differentiating energy-saving practices as representations - which can be deployed in monuments - from practices that are consistently constitutive of an appropriate practice. A radical critique inspired by Lefebvre's work requires the study of everyday meaning-making through "passive (senses) and active (labour) engagement" (1991, 405), potentially overcoming the current critical focus on official narratives, whereby the public is marginally engaged, and mostly as users - see Sections 2.5 and 2.6. Sustained with empirical evidence, this theoretical approach to the production of practice provides an opportunity to foster the application of practice theory, thereby acknowledging the need for social transformation to promote substantial energy saving (Section 2.7). This is important, because the "potential" for saving energy through the application of practice theories is significant, but the "feasibility" is wanting (Stern 2017). Feasibility may be fostered through increased scholarly and civil recognition of the political function and the epistemological value of commercial buildings, and by making organisations accountable for the extent that their practice fosters the production of a meaning and a practice of energy saving.

Chapter 4. Methodology for studying official and everyday framings

In this chapter, I outline the analytical and methodological approach used in this dissertation. I first defend the choice of interpretive mode of policy analysis as suitable for filling the empirical gap and responding to the disciplinary, epistemological and political issues presented in Chapter 2 and put forward in Chapter 3. Second, I expound my reflections on the methodological choice. Third, I justify the choice of four commercial buildings in Barcelona as case studies, and explain their distinctive features. Fourth, I recount the process of accessing evidence sources, as well as the techniques that were used: document review, direct observation, and interviews, both with public experts and laymen. This occupies Sections 4.4 through 4.7. Fifth, I explain how I processed and interpreted the sources of evidence. Finally, I reflect on how the combination of techniques and sources of evidence responds to the problematique addressed in this research.

4.1. Interpretive (policy) analysis

The choice of analytical framework was informed by the need to overcome the gap left by positivist epistemologies – those focused on the quantifiable – and post-structuralist critiques – those focused on text. These ground the assumption that commercial buildings are "transparent", hence disarming the possibility of critique and hindering the possibility of using buildings as a means of positive social transformation (Lefebvre 1991, 292, 59-60; Guy and Moore 2005a, 5). To address the dual purpose of this research – informing policy and critique – it is necessary to re-appraise how meaning is co-produced through everyday experience with buildings. In engaging with a constructivist epistemology, what is of interest are not authoritative claims – for instance, how much energy is being saved,

or how an organisation cares about the environment – but how the appraisal of practices shapes local knowledge and practice. This approach involves a "critique of positivist epistemology and ontology, in which positivist claims concerning both the objective nature of reality and the ability of science to discern that reality are rejected" (Fox 2008, 660).

This research constitutes an effort to combine two approaches often separated in the production of scholarly knowledge: "an interpretive stance aiming for understanding" and a "pragmatist stance aiming for constructive knowledge that is appreciated for being useful in action" (Goldkuhl 2012). Bridging these approaches requires pluralist engagement with a diversity of actors and understandings of sustainability and energy saving, making it necessary to foster a pluralist engagement of the public in the production of knowledge and of the practice of saving energy in buildings (Guy and Moore 2005b). Re-appraising how different publics interpret buildings appears to be a fundamental means of critiquing organisations and thereby making them accountable for how their buildings shape meaning and practice, overcoming the risks of illusory representations that speak about consistent practice as argued by Lefebvre (1991). Thereby, it contributes to counter the reproduction of the social practice in which current practices are embedded (Shove 2010; Shove and Walker 2010, 2014; Wilhite 2013).

Interpretive modes of policy assessment (IPA) (Yanow 2007, 2009, 2013b, 2013a; Wagenaar 2011; van Hulst and Yanow 2014) acknowledge commercial buildings as "artefacts", or what I term "representations" which "frame" a policy problem.²⁴ For

²⁴ Countering the expectations associated with the name, interpretive policy assessment is not restricted to the study of policy. As van Hulst and Yanow (2016) acknowledge: "the distinctions between government action and actions of others have become more and more interrelated...the 'playing field' has become increasingly crowded with framers and situations to frame".

interpretive researchers, "physical artifacts are a form of deed: a nonverbal enactment of underlying values, beliefs, and feelings, which they represent" (Yanow 2013b, 46). Together with the study of different "naming", the study of framing in official representations and the narratives of the public exposed to these representations permits the study of how an understanding of the problem – as fostered by official representations – "migrates" (van Hulst and Yanow 2014).

Adding to the pertinence of applying IPA to this research, the former scholars recognise that "meaning-oriented approaches are characteristic of space studies" (Yanow 2013b, 43). For these scholars, meaning is context-dependent (Yanow 2013a, 2013b, 2007; van Hulst and Yanow 2014), meaning that research oriented by this approach is able to address the context of practice – an idea fundamental to Lefebvre and practice theorists – and to critique the divide between official representations and everyday meaning-making. Further aligned with the need to re-appraise and to re-cognise everyday epistemologies in this dissertation, IPA scholars are concerned about "what is meaningful to people in the situation under study in ways that accurately reflect human knowing processes" (Yanow 2013b, 43). This counters positivistic policy assessment tools that seek generalization through quantification, and mostly depart from survey research when engaging the public, hence failing to incorporate the complex dimension of meaning-making and the migration of frames (Yanow 2007; van Hulst and Yanow 2014).

Increasing the attention paid to meaning-making in policy-making and assessment is necessary in attempts to compel the public to act differently: "interpretation is important not only for its own sake but...for the fact that interpretive schemas typically lead to action along those lines" (Yanow 2013b, 60), hence supporting the policy-informing purpose of this research. Similarly, "[f]raming...does two kinds of work: It organizes prior knowledge (including that derived from experience) and values held, and it guides emergent action" (van Hulst and Yanow 2014). Aligned with the theoretical framework that is proposed herein, any attempt at re-framing a problem that compels the public to take action needs to be coherent:

[W]hen it comes to acting in practice, plausibility suffices; accuracy is hardly aimed for (if it can ever be achieved). A story, in other words, is 'good' when it not only creates a coherent, graspable account but also 'holds disparate elements together long enough to energize and guide action'. (van Hulst and Yanow 2014)²⁵

This call for coherence refers thus not only to narratives, but also to representations that are intended to last, like commercial buildings, as being necessary for changing the energy consumption practices of the public.

Finally, the adequacy of this analytical framework relates to novel interest in the "framing" of energy-saving practices, such as has been called for by social practice theorists such as Shove and Walker (2014). For these scholars, reframing the energy saving problem is deemed necessary for the transformation of practice, both in terms of making significant savings and questioning the social relations that underlie consumption processes. An interpretive engagement with framing potentially incorporates the dialectical dimension that underlies the production of practice that Lefebvre addresses in his theory of the production of space (1991). As claimed by van Hulst and Yanow:

[F]ocusing more on framing than on frames draws attention to dynamic processes... [This] leads us to see the ongoing work framing entails and the struggles that can

²⁵ The partial quote is from Weick (1995, 61). Weick, K. (1995). Sensemaking in organizations. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

take place over developing and defending certain ways of framing an issue...What we are talking about here is not just a politics of who gets what, when, and how, but also a politics of who people are or perceive themselves to be. (2014)

Framing therefore implies re-politicising (non-textual) practices as regards their capacity to convey a message, and the meaning made of them.

This use of "framing" also resonates with the interest of critical discourse analysts in policies as "problematizing activities" (Bacchi 2009, 2), which also acknowledges buildings and other non-textual practices as "sites of knowledge formation and operation" (Bacchi and Bonham 2014). However, the interpretive approach hereby proposed sidesteps the theoretical debates that hinder the capacity of discourse analysis to engage with the study of materials and actions as "discursive" and which rely on scholarly assumptions.²⁶ Instead, IPA privileges the everyday formation of knowledge, granting voice to public making meaning, and countering the dominance of scholarly knowledge. It involves an act of "intervening to improve a situation—the aim of assisted reframing—which requires making implicit, tacitly known frames explicit" (van Hulst and Yanow 2014).

The interpretive mode of policy assessment that is proposed facilitates the operationalization of the study of the relationship between official representations and the everyday production of meaning as a means of understanding the (re)production of energy saving practice. This operationalization is summarized in Table 2. Incorporating "framing" into the empirical questions engages the context of practice where meaning is produced, and the study of how framings migrate from official representations to everyday narratives. It also enables study of the contradictions between different official representations

²⁶ See more about these debates, for instance, in Fairclough 2005; Bacchi and Bonham 2014, Bacchi 2009; Bacchi 2015; Liggett 2003; Laclau and Mouffe 1985.

(narratives, buildings), and between these and public narratives with regard to how they include or marginalize – the framing of – energy-saving practices and buildings in the context of practice. This provides an operational approach that can be used to study how official framings conceal the context of practice, and how everyday meaning-making appeals to it. The questions referred to in the table also incorporate reference to the empirical cases, methods, and sources of evidence explained in Sections 4.3 - 4.7.

Analytical approach	Research question	Methods and sources of evidence
 Policy-makers and commissioning organisations Experts involved in production of buildings and reproducing official narratives 	How do official representations of commercial buildings relate to the everyday meaning- making of energy saving and the (re)production of its practice?	Policy analysis and case studies (four primarily commercial buildings in Barcelona)
• The public (laymen and experts) making meaning of "energy saving practice" through everyday experience	1. How do EU, National and City policies in Barcelona frame energy-saving practices in commercial buildings?	 Document access and review of official policies and communications (RQs 1 & 2) Observation outside and
 Commercial buildings, as well as narratives, contribute to framing a problem (Re)production of practices mediated by framing and meaning-making requires consistency in practice 	 How do the official narratives and practices commissioning organisations frame energy-saving practices in four commercial buildings in Barcelona? How does the public make meaning of energy saving practice through their everyday experience with four commercial buildings in Barcelona? 	 inside buildings (RQs 2 & 3) Narrative interviews (RQs 2 & 3)
• Studying framings permits study of the relevance granted to context of practice by different actors, and their contradictions		

Table 2. Analytical framework, research questions, methods, and sources of evidence.

4.2. Implications of the analytical approach and methodological reflections

Interpretive methods may be questioned from a positivist standpoint on the grounds of their systemacity and generalizability. It is important to address this issue to ensure the trustworthiness of the present research and its utility regarding informing improved energy saving policies.

Regarding systemacity, Yanow claims that what interpretive research lacks is "rigor", not systemacity, because it relies on a "flexible" and "iterative meaning-making process", which constitutes one of its strengths (2013b, 46; 2007).

[T]the constant tacking back and forth in ongoing comparison between the nonverbal data of objects and acts observed and 'read' and members' explicit pronouncements, whether in formal or informal speech (including interviews) or in writing, points to one of the strengths of interpretive research. (Yanow 2013b, 46)

What Yanow acknowledges as problematic is the limited methodological reflectivity of some scholars, which is tacit but missing in reporting about their findings. The former situation contributes "to the sense that interpretive analysis more generally, and the analysis of physical artifacts specifically, are not systematic" (2013b, 43). However,

The systematic character of space analysis lies in sustained inquiry over time, which produces myriad 'observations'...; in the careful choice of sites to observe, individuals to talk to, and documents to read; and in the procedural systemacity brought about through the various categories for generating and analysing data. (Yanow 2013a, 382)

This systemacity was pursued in the selection of the different case studies, sources of evidence and participant actors reflected in this chapter, and throughout the process of their interpretation. Systemacity also requires abiding by reflective and transparent research and reporting principles. "[M]aking those reflections 'public' and transparent in research reports enables others to assess the adequacy of the interpretations and analyses" (Yanow 2007).²⁷

Reflection and transparency, then, support the "trustworthiness" of findings in interpretive research (Golafshani 2003) while positivist research seeks validity and credibility (Robson 2002). To enhance transparency I reflected on the steps taken to gain access to sources of evidence and the analytical process along with reflections on the research in a research diary and analytical memos, as described in Section 4.8, and made explicit in the analytical chapters. Finally, adding to the trustworthiness of this research, interpretation based on participant observation, interviews, and document reviews allows for "triangulation". This involves a "validity procedure where researchers look for convergence among multiple and different sources of information to form themes or categories in a study" (Creswell and Miller 2000), which, in interpretive research, contributes to "trustworthiness" (Golafshani 2003). Accepting my position as a subjective actor and part of the public permits comparison with the narratives of this research.

The other research criterion, generalizability, is deemed particularly necessary in research that is intended to inform policy (Sánchez-Jankowski 2002), like this dissertation.

²⁷ Yanow suggests that researcher reflection needs to address not only what is observed and said, but also what the self and others obscure (2007): "...to maintain awareness of how their own lived experiences shape and filter what they attend to in the research project, what they observe and to what they might be 'blinded,' what questions they ask (and don't), what they are told - and what might be being kept from them, who talks to them and who doesn't, and so forth".

However, it should be noted that interpretive research tends to deviate from this preoccupation, precisely because it aims to counter the limitations of positivist research (whether quantitative or qualitative) that relies on the systematic comparison of different sources of evidence to establish correlation and causation. Responding to critiques about the limited generalizability of interpretive research, Punch argues that generalizability is most problematic in quantitative research where establishing causation comes at the cost of in-depth understanding (2005, 243). Without deep understanding the link between correlation and attribution made from positivist standpoints is questionable (Vine 2008). Instead, qualitative research supplies deep understanding by engaging the subjective perspectives of multiple actors (Punch 2005, 243). Such deep understanding is deemed particularly necessary in exploratory research (Ragin 2000, 204) and for understanding how citizens engage with energy saving practice (Lopes et al. 2012).

Such a recognition of generalizability may seem to contradict the interpretive framework that is employed herein. I acknowledge that caution must be applied, and an appropriate understanding of the context-dependence of findings must be generated. As argued by Yanow:

As meanings (in whatever context) are situation-specific, a meaning-focused policy analysis (or, more broadly, a meaning-focused social science) is highly contextualised, rather than aiming for generalizations that might be applicable, in a context-free manner, to all situations. (2007)

However, even using this narrow recognition of generalizability it is agreed as generalizable that things are meaningful, and that meaning is made in a certain context (Yanow 2007, 2013b) hence allowing a critique of official representations that disregard

the context, as problematized in this research. Moreover, some authors such as Sánchez-Jankowski make the case that generalization is as much a part of interpretive research as it is of everyday meaning making, thereby allowing it to inform policy-making:

[G]eneralization is both necessary and inevitable in interpretive research. Without it interpretivism is art and while art is a laudable activity, it is inadequate as a basis for policy action and for claims about what the wider social world is like. Indeed generalization is commonplace in interpretive research and denials of its possibility arise from ... the anti-positivist revolution and the consequent abandonment of hermeneutics for the linguistic turn and text-centred approaches. (2002, 138)

Accordingly, re-cognising the generalizability of findings in interpretive research is a principle aligned with pieces of research such as the present one that are intended to overcome the limitations of textual critique. Such a recognition of generalizability must be done with caution, taking into account the context-dependence of meaning-making. To the generalizability of my findings will contribute: a) deep understanding enabled through the engagement of a multitude of perspectives, and b) comparison of my interpretations with situated theoretical claims.

The methodological and analytical approach of this research potentially constitutes a reflective, transparent and systematic process that is conducive to creating trustworthy and generalizable findings. It should thus contribute to a much needed epistemological and methodological breakthrough related to recognising everyday meaning-making in the positivist-dominated domain of energy saving policy and research.

4.3. Case studies

Four buildings in Barcelona were comparatively studied as cases studies. Case studies are often used to address the need for empirical support in social theorization (Yin 2003), and are considered necessary for social theory to "effectively" transform common and policy understanding:

[A] scientific discipline without a large number of thoroughly executed case studies is a discipline without systematic production of exemplars, and that a discipline without exemplars is an ineffective one. Social science may be strengthened by the execution of more good case studies. (Flyvbjerg 2006)

Such is the case, as shown in Chapter 2, of the under-theorization of meaning-making as mediating the (re)production of energy saving practice.

Case studies foster an understanding of the relations between different parts of the whole (Ragin 2000, 90), hence supporting explanatory research, guided by "how" questions (Yin 2009, 8-9). Hence they are directly applicable to interpretive research that answers "*what* artifacts mean but also *how* they mean" (Yanow 2013b, 42) by combining diverse ethnographic sources of evidence. By permitting the combination of multiple sources of evidence (Yin 2003, 18; Ragin 2000, 90), case studies facilitate the iterative interpretation of the three inquiry processes that are at hand to access "artefactual data": participant observation, conversational interviewing, and document review, hence furthering trustworthiness (Yanow 2013b, 46-47; 2007). Moreover, case studies can benefit from the guidance contained in theoretical claims (Yin 2009, 18) such as the social critiques of energy saving conceptualisations and practices presented in Chapter 2, and the Lefebvrian theory that has inspired the theoretical framework for this study.

Regarding the number and location of case studies, it is agreed that "a contextspecific comparative analysis of similarity and difference" is fundamental in interpretive research (Yanow 2013b, 57-58), hence requiring at least two cases in a similar location. A small number of qualitative cases is considered to provide the depth and empirical grounds necessary for exploratory research (Ragin 2000; Yin 2009). Moreover, this increases possibilities for comparison and "triangulation", thereby increasing "validity" (Ragin 2000, 90), or what interpretive-qualitative researchers prefer to refer to as "trustworthiness" (Golafshani 2003, Yanow 2013b). "Comparison" is particularly recommended to provide "compelling" findings, especially whenever the borders between case and context are unclear and (Yin 2009, 53), such as in the case of socially-constructed realities (Ragin and Becker 1992) addressed in this dissertation.

4.3.1. Selection process

The case selection was informed by aspects of ownership, use, and public access to reflect the criteria of EU requirements for commercial buildings to exert an "exemplary function" (EU 2010, 2012, 2018). My core criterion was including office buildings whose owners make claims about related energy saving values and policies. One possibility was to conduct a comparative study between the council buildings of Barcelona (Spain) and Brighton and Hove (UK), and to include corporate buildings from both cities. The interest in Brighton originated from recently introduced "exemplary council" policies that reflected on the need for the council to "walk the talk" in the official website of the Council.²⁸ Also, incorporating NGO buildings would have accorded with an understanding about the potential contribution of these organisations to creating a consistent environmental

²⁸ Other non-government cases in the south of England would have included churches and NGOs such as Greenpeace who claim that their buildings are consistent with the values and practices that they promote.

message (Jackson 2009). However, Brighton and Hove City Council did not agree to facilitate access to the information required to initiate a case study, and none of the major social and environmental NGOs in Spain were interested in discussing their energy-saving practices.²⁹ Accordingly, I redirected my interest towards the Council of Barcelona and the corporations willing to participate in my study.

The city of Barcelona was included in the research design from the beginning because of the sustainability discourse of both the City Council and the Regional Government of Catalonia, which stands out amongst other government actors in Spain. Moreover, energy saving conceptualisations, and especially a smart city program have served to build the city's identity. Being originally from the neighbouring area, conducting research in the city was an opportunity for me to use my experiential knowledge, to reduce research costs, and to boost the opportunity for follow-up research after finalizing my PhD. Four buildings in the city sparked my interest. One was *Fabrica del Sol*, a self-sufficiency museum that reflects the Council's interest in renewable technologies. Then there were also the headquarters of three utility companies: a) Gas Natural Fenosa, a gas and electricity provider – which had, in all appearances, superbly handled a case of sick building syndrome in their national headquarters in Barcelona, situated in a skyscraper, b) Aguas de Barcelona, a water company that owns and occupies the most emblematic skyscraper in the city – recently granted a BREAM Certificate in Use, and c) Endesa, the major electric

²⁹ In 2014 I filed and followed up a request for information from the Brighton and Hove City Council. Although according to their helpdesk my request was "being handled", I got no further response. During the month of July 2014, I contacted Spanish NGOs with a budget of above \notin 10m, and the majority of environmental ones listed in a database (Fundación Eroski 2014) to ask about the energy management policies that applied to their premises. I received responses from almost 30 organizations which showed little interest in or ignorance about the matter, and which at best excused the organisations by claiming either: a) that saving energy was outside their scope of work, b) that their obligation towards donors did not allow them to spend time on such minutia, or, as in the case of one green energy cooperative c) that they had rented their premises.

utility in Spain which had recently constructed and moved to a new regional headquarters – whose energy efficiency credentials were publicized as part of a national strategy.

However, both Gas Natural Fenosa and Aguas de Barcelona (see the buildings in Figure 3) refused to facilitate access to any information about their buildings after initial communication with their public relations departments, to which I was invariably diverted during my first official inquiries. In the case of Endesa, after conducting interviews with educational officials I was invited to meet a public relations representative who expressed the openness of the company to sharing contacts and information. Following that day I received no further replies to my attempts to contact company representatives. These refusals to respond to questions about *apparently exemplary* buildings were puzzling at the beginning, but later on contributed to supporting my findings about the interest of organisations in diverting public scrutiny from their buildings and, in particular, from the sustainability practices deployed in them. This can be explained by the multiple interpretations to which they are exposed (Geels 2010; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Greenberg 2014). At this stage it was important to understand that these buildings are important representations of the related organisations, and that they understood scholarly scrutiny of their practices as a potential threat.



Figure 3. The Agbar Tower (left) and the Marenostrum Tower (right). Torre Glories (formerly Agbar Tower) Jean Nouvel and Fermín Vázquez (2004) (Photo by DAVID ILIFF.

I orre Glories (formerly Agbar Tower) Jean Nouvel and Fermin Vazquez (2004) (Photo by DAVID ILIFF. License: CC-BY-SA 3.0); Torre Marenostrum (foreground) (Gas Natural Fenosa) Enric Miralles, & Benedetta Tagliabue (2003) (Photo © Ralf Roletschek)

4.3.2. Final selection

Concerned that refusals to participate could occur during my research engagement with buildings in disparate locations, jeopardizing my research and increasing costs, I opted for the pragmatic option of studying buildings only in Barcelona. This decision was also grounded on the understanding that the choice of a single city is advantageous for exploratory research, since the choice of several cases in one single location — in this case, Barcelona — establishes a common context, increasing comparability (Schmidt 2008; Yanow 2013b). My final choice of cases retained the *Endesa* building (Figure 4), about which I already had insider information. Then I included *Fabrica del Sol* (Figure 5), following recommendations concerning it being an educational site that represents the Council's message to the public. *Fabrica del Sol* had an apparently "demonstrative" character (see Section 2.3), as opposed to *Endesa*, framed in company narratives as the common practice of the organisation regarding its buildings.

Throughout the fieldwork, I added two additional buildings as I realized their relevance in the city context, and different interviewees recommended them not only for their energy saving capacity but also for their capacity to represent the practice of their organisations. I chose *Media-ICT* (Figure 6), being an office building constructed by a public company and the flagship of the Barcelona Smart City program, occupied by public and private organisations. I then chose the *Efficient Block* (Figure 7) project, promoted by the Catalan Government in collaboration with multiple actors, which consisted of the energy efficiency renovation of a block in the city centre that included residential buildings and four commercial buildings (three government ones and a private hotel). Even though these commercial buildings were eventually not included in the project, I found this case interesting for expanding on the engagement of the public in their role as residents.



Figure 4. The *Endesa* building, as publicized in the press. Photo: Europapress 25/05/2012.



Figure 5. *Fabrica del Sol.* Photo: Energia12, 18/06/2013.



Figure 6. The Media-ICT building.



Figure 7. Interior yard of the *Efficient Block*.

Ultimately, the selected four cases included: a) three commercial buildings commissioned by government actors and corporations, and b) the mix of residential and commercial buildings in the *Efficient Block* –backed by the Catalan Government. With the exception of the residential buildings in the *Efficient Block*, all buildings were open to the public, with *Media-ICT* hosting training and consultation work for citizen-entrepreneurs, and *Fabrica del Sol* and *Endesa* hosting museum and educational activities. The four buildings represented a wide array of energy-saving practices referred to in official narratives as efficient, renewable and smart. The cases also appeared to involve different degrees of consistency between the buildings and the organisational narratives, as well as with other of the organisations' buildings – which I refer to as *coherence* and *integration*, respectively. Their location and main characteristics are summarized in Figure 8 and Figure

9.



Figure 8. Location of the four case-study buildings in Barcelona Source: Google maps



Figure 9. Summary of the selected buildings in Barcelona Photos by the author (*Media-ICT* and Endesa), ajuntament.barcelona.cat, (*Fabrica del Sol*) and Habitat Futura (*Efficient Block*).

4.4. Accessing sources of evidence

As outlined, the use of participant observation, interviews and document analysis is justified by both the interpretive analytical approach and the case study methodology, as summarized in Table 2. The research questions, the literature, the documents, the case studies, the types of interview and the interpretive framework presented in this dissertation are the result of an iterative process similar to that prescribed by Yanow (2013b, 2007). Accessing sources of evidence started before the research proposal for this dissertation and has continued to date through everyday experience as passer-by and user of commercial buildings in Barcelona, as a reader of news, reviews, and reports, as well as through discussion with lay people, experts and scholars, both in Barcelona and abroad. These have influenced my understanding of how buildings contribute to producing the meaning of energy saving. However, the sources of evidence consciously referred to in this dissertation had been collected by June 2015, when the leftist party Barcelona en Comú took office in the council. I have differentiated four major stages, as summarized in Table 3, constituted around different field research activities and which occurred through an iterative process, meaning that they were mostly recurrent and simultaneous.

a) An exploratory document review and interviews, before and during a visit to Barcelona in January 2014 and attendance at the IEPEEC conference in Berlin in September 2014. This served to help me understand the different rationales of organisations and experts for conducting and representing energy-saving practices. I gained deep understanding of the EU directives informing the exemplary role of buildings (EU 2010, 2012) and related reporting from Member States, in particular Spain (Government of Spain 2007, 2013; Government of Spain a 2014; Government of Spain b 2014). Also, this initial empirical engagement with the study helped me to narrow the case study selection, and to test my interview methodology. I realized that the understanding of both expert and decision-makers of EU exemplary requirements was closely related to that of demonstration, procurement and labelling programs (Section 2.3).

- b) The selection of the two initial building cases: *Endesa* and *Fabrica del Sol*, was based on the review of documents and a first round of observation and interviewing in Barcelona in mid-2014.
- c) Throughout the two months of May and June of 2015 I contacted key interviewees. Contact with Endesa representatives was disrupted so I decided to engage the *Media-ICT* building and the *Efficient Block* as well in order to grant additional relevance to on-the-spot interviews, hence increasing the weight awarded to everyday meaning-making over official representations.
- d) During and after the analytical process (Section 4.8) I accessed additional documents and conducted follow-up conversations with previously interviewed actors. At this stage I had a feeling of saturation, meaning that no new relevant insights were arising from experts or the public about the selected cases. A change of council government that occurred at the end of the field research marked the end of my access to new sources of evidence.

After this, continuing field research would have involved a longitudinal case study, which would have been too resource intensive for this dissertation. However, I continued to engage in reflective everyday interaction with the reality of energy saving policy and practice in Barcelona through access to news, key newsletters and debates on social media. Table 3. Activities conducted when accessing sources of evidence through an iterative and recursive process.

- a) Exploratory research (Barcelona and EU) Defining context and selection of cases. Field visit December 2013-January 2014
- b) Observation and interviewing in Barcelona *Endesa* and *Fabrica del Sol*. Field visit mid-2014
- c) Observation and interviewing about *Endesa*, *Fabrica del Sol*, *Media-ICT* and *Efficient Block*. Field visit May-June 2015
- d) Accessing additional sources Multiple field visits 2016-2018.

4.5. Documents

I engaged to different degrees with a multitude of documents by "identifying, locating, and closely reading *or* viewing research relevant documents" (Yanow 2013b, 47, my emphasis). The former served to shape my subjective understanding of the context, to empathize with the frames of interviewees, and eventually to contrast and generalize my findings. To understand the context, during the exploratory phase I focused on the organisations that act as official proponents of energy saving discourse and practice; in particular, the EU Directives, Spanish and Catalan Government implementation and reporting, Barcelona City Council policies and communications, as well the guidelines and websites of building certifying organisations such as the GBCe.

During stages of interviewing (referred as B and C in Section 4.4) I focused on the documents produced by the organisations commissioning and occupying the case-study buildings. These documents were obtained online and through interviewees. Also, I accessed expert reviews and commentary, as well as newsletters that I received periodically. These were addressed to the laymen public – as in the case of the news from the + Sustainable City Council Program and information about activities organized from *Fabrica*

del Sol – and to expert audiences – such as the newsletter of the Architects' Guild COAC, and the Barcelona Observatory for Architectural Rehabilitation OBRA; ArchDaily and ECEEE. Amongst the documents accessed during and after the field work are included the sound recordings of some of the participatory activities that were conducted to inspire "re-thinking" about *Fabrica del Sol*, wherein multiple stakeholders reunited to debate about the function and type of activities that the building should encompass after its renovation. Also, I listened to presentations available through online podcasts and videos, including one from the representatives of Endesa about the energy management of the company buildings, and a debate about smart cities between key actors in the city council. Accessing these sorts of recorded documents allowed me to obtain insight into the debates that occurred before the field research period that had shaped *Fabrica del Sol* and *Endesa*. The review does not include critical activist reports or websites about commercial buildings in Barcelona, the energy-saving practices of organisations, nor their meaning. Hence, documents mostly covered the official narratives of organisations and expert reviews.

Accessing these sources of evidence offered deep insight into the explicit, official function of buildings in framing energy saving practice. It also served to increase understanding of the debates that underlie the commissioning of the studied buildings, not always overtly shared in official narratives. Digital and paper documents were digitally stored and organized using the software Evernote Premium. Within the folder allocated to this research I tagged all documents according to multiple dimensions: in terms of context, type of building, specific case study, as well as preliminary coding categories. Since the documents thus saved were not confidential, their storage in Evernote did not pose major ethical considerations. Although many of the documents I accessed were not closely read or reviewed, they contributed to providing a subjective understanding of what matters for

organisations and experts. Other documents were thoroughly analysed and the notes that were taken served to structure the text of this dissertation.

4.6. Observation

Participant observation serves to position the researcher in the space of everyday where the public makes meaning of buildings. In interpretive research, the knowledge of the researcher, as with the subject of research, is situated in a historical and spatial context (Yanow 2013b, 43). Thus, direct observation, "with whatever degree of participating" (ibid, 47; cf. 2007) enables "bodily" and "affective" engagement with space, fundamental to understanding "how meaning processes unfold" (2013b, 51); i.e. a "shared understanding" with other meaning makers (2007). Following this line of thought, interviews conducted near and inside the building served as a two-way feedback process between observation and interviewing by enabling interviewees to reflect on the buildings and inspiring me to formulate follow up questions.

In all cases I conducted observations of passers-by at multiple stages. During preliminary research stages I conducted non-participant observation of the buildings. This observation was unstructured and throughout it I allowed remarkable events and features to capture my attention. This allowed me to create a contrast between the features highlighted by the proponent organisations and the media, such as the monumentality of the buildings, their coherence with the environment, the visibility of active and passive technologies, the intended innovative character, and openness to citizenship. I also conducted purposeful visits during which I observed the exterior of the buildings, walked along the pavements outside them, and sat on benches located in nearby avenues and squares. At this stage I had access to the interior of *Fabrica del Sol* and *Media-ICT*. At a

later stage - during interviews with organisation representatives and users - I observed again the interior of these buildings, and gained access to the historic part of Endesa where an energy museum is located – and to the premises of the Catalan Energy Agency in the *Efficient Block*. In the case of *Media-ICT*, I used the publicly available media room (Cibernarium) located on the first floor, and was offered a guided tour by one of the codesigners. Also, I had the opportunity to work as a research associate of RMIT Europe, a university based in *Media-ICT*. This provided me with insider experience of the building as a user and as a passer-by in all other cases which involved my daily coming and going between September 2017 and April 2018. In the case of Fabrica del Sol I used the space to conduct interviews with users, to attend seminars, to visit the sustainable energy exhibition and renewable technologies, and to visit a 3D printing space that was installed by the end of my field research. In the case of *Endesa*, I was only able to fully visit the educational historical section of the building (Figure 5) whose energy efficiency is not certified, and the two entrance halls to the offices (Carrer Vilanova and Carrer Napols) which lead to barriers that block the way to non-authorized personnel. In the *Efficient Block* interviews with neighbours gave me access to common areas and allowed me to see the rooftop and the inner yard of the block where many of the project practices were to take place. Accessing this source of evidence enhanced my capacity to share meaning with the public and, by shaping my subjective understanding, I consider them part of participant observation.

In addition to the observation of the case-study buildings, I attended events including conferences, debates and guided visits that took place in the City during my field research. These activities were part of the 2015 Construmat meeting; the Congress of Architecture and Health; and the activities organized by the Council during the 2015

Energy Week where *Fabrica del Sol* served as a hub for debating and visiting energysaving practices. A list of these activities is accessible in Appendix 1. Together, my observations constituted "myriad" observations which for Yanow are to interpretive research the equivalent of the large "n" of quantitative research (2013b, 57).³⁰

The major limitations of direct observation included the restricted access to some of the premises, in particular to the office part of *Endesa*, and *Efficient Block* – which, being at the stage of project competition at the time of my field research, it could not be visited for prolonged periods. However, this provided me with an opportunity to pay greater attention to the public and to the participation processes occurring in the latter. Also, part of *Fabrica del Sol* was under renovation during the time of my field research. I tried to compensate for these limitations by making an additional effort to interview users and passers-by, and by studying publicly available images of the interiors of these buildings. It could be argued that greater attention should have been paid to accessing the building and to the openness of the organisation in participating. However, this would have excluded buildings of interest. As noted in Section 4.3, the very reticence of some organisations was informative about their will to avoid having their buildings put into context.

³⁰ Such observation was reflected in field notes and photos taken with my mobile phone, which were saved in Evernote and on a network drive at Central European University, respectively. These items were coded along with other written documents. During the compilation and analysis of field notes, Yanow's categories of studying buildings as non-verbal representations served as inspiration. These are fourfold: a) vocabulary (materials, color, aesthetic references, along with values, beliefs and feelings evoked), b) design gestures (relation to the surrounding built environment, in terms of space and quality), c) design proxemics (making the building receptive to the "monumental", and hence distancing) and d) decor (related to corporate imagery) (2013b, 51-56). These categories resonate with Lefebvre's commentary about the geometry of commercial buildings and their legitimating (socially reproductive) function and claims for the development of a spatial semiotics (1991). However, as I will show in Chapter 7, engagement with the layman public showed that the relevance of these categories in everyday meaning-making is relative.

4.7. Interviews

Qualitative research largely relies on interviews, understood here as intentional interactive communications between the interviewee and the researcher (Rapley 2004) in person, by phone, or video-conferencing. A phenomenological stance in interpretive research suggests that interviews should "focus on lived experience [and] direct[...] researchers toward conversational...interviews, in order to understand how individuals frame policy issues and where these frames come from" (Yanow 2007, 113). Interviews, therefore, allow the researcher to capture *what* practices matter and *how* in everyday meaning-making. They are fundamental in this dissertation to incorporating a plurality of framings, including those of the layman public and the everyday experiences of a diversity of actors, and hence countering the epistemological focus on the knowledge of experts and official narratives.

4.7.1. Selection and number of interviewees

Yanow suggests differentiating between building designers, organisational decisionmakers, workers, clients, users, and "those who observe [buildings] from a distance, whether near (as passers-by) or far" to identify different "communities of meaning" and "of practice" (2013b, 59). Acknowledging this call, along with the epistemological divide between expert and everyday knowledge that is problematized in Chapters 2 and 3, I originally differentiated between: a) official representatives and experts – including designers, engineers, mid-range managers, policy makers and implementers, and communication officers; and b) the laymen public – those experiencing the building in their everyday life. Amongst the layman public I differentiated between users and passers-by to acknowledge that the meaning made by the latter is the most under-researched (Section 2.7). During my research I became aware of the need of considering experts as public, particularly when referring to their everyday experience. This was supported by the novel relevance granted to experts as public targets of government messages as middle-men (Shove and Walker 2010; Janda and Parag 2013). This approach opposes potential readings of Lefebvre that suggest that the knowledge of experts excludes their experiential knowledge and that they are not aware of the political dimension of their activities (1991, 99). "[I]deologues, whether technocrats or specialists, convinced of their own freedom from ideology... proceed to build, isolating one parameter or another, one group of variables or another" (1991, 311). Similar concerns apply to the study of layman public narratives given the prevalence of knowledge that, according to Lefebvre, alienates the public from experiential knowledge (1991).

The selection of official representatives started with the "snowball" technique (Patton 2002, 237) during the preliminary research stage, starting with accessible contacts, and continuing with the selection of additional ones simultaneously with the selection of cases. With the purpose of incorporating as many different views as possible, I included actors recommended by interviewees. I also searched selectively to engage a diversity of perspectives. Contacts included participants of professional and public events, as well as individuals identified through professional social media (Linkedin). In the case of *Endesa*, after a successful round of first contacts, representatives stopped responding to my communications, which I took to mean that they were banned from participating in my research. In the case of *Media-ICT*, key representatives, including the real estate manager, the maintenance manager, and the main architect, claimed to be too busy to meet. During the course of some of these interviewes I had the impression that it was difficult to differentiate the role of interviewees as experts, energy saving activists, and as public. Such

was the case of various interviewees related to *Fabrica del Sol* whose narratives combined expert and activist opinions.

When approaching layman publics, a selection bias was also introduced to include a diversity of status, age and gender. I interviewed users inside the building, but also addressed them on the street when entering or leaving the building. This served to compensate for a lack of permission to access *Endesa*, and to private offices in *Media-ICT*. To reduce the effect of my appearance on the decision of interviewees to participate, I dressed in what I considered to be neutral and informal clothing. Also, to reduce the potential effect of my identity on the reactions of participants I addressed them either in Catalan or Spanish, but was ready to shift immediately to either of the two languages according to their first reaction.

Although authors like Robson claim that between 20 and 30 participants are usually sufficient for case study research to reach saturation (Robson 2002, 165), the number is variable and the figure was used only as a guideline. I stopped conducting interviews when I felt that saturation had been attained and that new themes were no longer appearing. The final number of interviewees was 129, as detailed (in anonymised form) in Appendix 4. These included 62 prearranged interviews conducted with 58 interviewees, of which 27 interviews were conducted during the exploratory phase, and 35 during the core period of field research (see Section 4.4). A total of 67 interviews were conducted on-the-spot, mostly with passers-by and users.³¹ In addition to these, there were interviews with experts

³¹ The feasibility of (and interest in) conducting a certain number of interviewees per case-study building was countered by the different degrees of intimacy and likely implications of interviews with the different participants with regard to the building cases and other buildings. Multiple experts interviewed in relation to a specific building referred to: a) their experience in the design or construction of more than one building, and to b) their experience as public with other buildings. Similarly, participants contacted as public (both users and passers-by) also referred to buildings other than the subjects of the interview.

and officials which did not directly refer to any of the cases but to local, national and EU policies or to practices of energy saving in commercial buildings. Additional to these formal interviews, informal conversations from everyday life and parallel research activities continued to support my understanding of the problem, thereby corroborating or contradicting my analytical insights. These were accordingly annotated in memos, which were recurrently reviewed until the finalization of the present draft. As noted, observation of participation activities in the *Efficient Block* and review of recorded ones in *Fabrica del Sol* (Section 4.6) served to gather additional perspectives from a diversity of publics.

4.7.2. Conversational interviews: prearranged and on-thespot

As noted, interpretive research privileges "conversational interviews" over survey-type interviews (Yanow 2013b, 48). These types of interviews are important "[for] understand[ing] how individuals frame policy issues and where these frames come from" (Yanow 2007, 113). I conducted two types of interviews: prearranged interviews – mostly with representatives and experts – and on-the-spot interviews, mostly with layman public. Prearranged interviews mainly took place in the workplaces of organisational representatives and building experts, typically located in the building under study and other buildings of the organisation. Exceptionally, three interviews took place through video or phone call when the interviewees' agendas and location made meeting unfeasible.

Although in conversational interviews there is no need to minimize "interviewer effects" (Yanow 2013b, 48), I considered this potentially problematic for my research interests because I was concerned about the tacit nature of everyday knowledge. As a test, during preliminary prearranged interviews I asked about the "exemplary" or "social"

function of buildings. I noted that some respondents were confused, and when I clarified the expression they appeared to look for an explanation that would accord with my authoritative reference to EU Directives. To enable a conversational mode of interview, and to let interviewees highlight what interested them, at later stages I minimized the interview schedule by starting with a general question and formulating in situ follow up questions when necessary. The purpose was to avoid putting words in interviewees' mouths as much as possible, and let them choose whether to use expert conceptualisations, and if so, which ones. Based on their wording I then delivered my follow-up questions. Only in the final stages of the field research and towards the end of some interviews did I ask questions about references to the context that had tacitly arisen in observations, documents and interviews. The purpose of this was to observe interviewees' reactions using a sort of Delphi technique, a recommended practice when studying heterogeneous groups (Linstone and Turoff 1975, 4) for increasing the trustworthiness of interpretations. Aware that I could have led interviewees' responses, the former were dealt with separately in the process of coding (Section 4.8.3), enabling discernment. In contrast to my original plans, I decided not to use images of the buildings to guide interviews in order not to restrict framings to the material and perceptual domain.

When first addressing representatives and experts, many were surprised that I was not interested in quantitative data about energy savings and that I was not using a surveytype questionnaire. Some even requested that I send them a "questionnaire" prior to our meeting, and many started the interview by relating quantitative consumption and savingsrelated data, showing the prevalence of a certain type of quantitative knowledge. Prearranged interviews started with a question of the type: "Why do you do X?" or "Why an X building?", where X indicated a fundamental concept that the interviewees or their organisations were using to refer to their work or to the study building(s): for example, "efficiency", "sustainability", "renewables", "smart", "education" or "exemplary". Then, follow-up questions, as listed in Appendix 2, were adapted to the interviewee's responses. Prearranged interviews tended to last around 1.5 hours, although some lasted more than three hours.

On-the-spot interviews started with the question "What do you think about this building?" This served as a stepping stone to then ask: "Why do you think it is X?" and "How do you observe this?", where X stood for a term used by the interviewee in response to the first question. A four-question schedule printout served to present the conversations as part of a formal piece of research (Appendix 3)³² and to let potential interviewees guess the duration of the interview, whilst not requiring me to compromise in terms of the duration of the latter.³³ I emphasized that my interest was "knowing what was interesting to them" to gain access to information from some respondents who claimed not to know about the buildings. Also, to further the conversational character of the interview, at this stage I introduced the premise that it was not necessary to answer all my questions. In general, this resulted in short interviews of 10 - 15 minutes that maintained a conversational mode and granted the respondents leverage to address their answers towards matters pertaining to the building, the owner organisation, or the world order that interested them.

³² Many of the public I approached were initially sceptical about the qualitative approach, probably because they were used to surveys, and qualitative questions may resemble those posed by salesmen; however, as the interviews progressed, interviewees seemed to be comfortable and to be enjoying the conversations.

³³ When potential interviewees asked how many questions I had, or how long it would take them to respond, I pointed at the four questions listed on an A4 page whilst stating "I just have these questions, it is up to you how long you want to talk about them". I believe this tactic was successful in retaining public interest and full conversational engagement within the time constraints of respondents.

Most actors seemed comfortable speaking about the buildings in a conversational, quotidian way. I am aware that I directed the conversation towards qualitative issues, potentially making explicit otherwise tacit knowledge.

4.7.3. Research ethics and the management of evidence sources

Prior to the start of the conversations I shared with interviewees: a) a brief description of my research, the topic, methodology and source of funding; b) an excerpt of the CEU Ethical Research Guidelines – as agreed on with my dissertation supervisor – and a link to the full version online of the former (CEU 2012); and, c) a "Post-interview Confidentiality Form". These documents are accessible as part of my interview protocol in Appendices 2 and 3, and were made available to interviewees in Catalan and Spanish.³⁴ They were rarely read by on-the-spot interviewees, whom I instead informed about my PhD researcher status at CEU Budapest (showing my credentials), and whom I briefed on the topic of my research using the following sentence, or similar "I am conducting research on commercial buildings in Barcelona, like this one [whilst pointing at the building]". In all interviews I indicated that at the end of the process the participant would be invited to decide whether I could use the information they had provided. Most interviewees agreed to the use of their responses and names.

Prearranged interviews were recorded using my phone, and notes were taken. In the case of on-the-spot interviews conducted on the street, I preferred to only take notes. The reason for this was that I felt it was inconvenient to record interviewees whilst standing up and to ask for permission to record these shorter types of conversation. I maintained a

³⁴ During the exploratory phase (referred as A in Section 4.4, I also conducted interviews in English with experts on EU policy.

database containing the interviewees' names, role (in the organisation, in the production of the building, or as public), and details including time and location. I kept notes, recordings and transcripts in both hard and digital copies in a safe location. To enable more transparent peer review I referred to the interviewees' names and positions in the draft versions of this thesis, prior to anonymizing them for the final draft. This anonymization was deemed necessary based upon the critical interpretation of interviewees' words and from a desire to protect their professional integrity.

4.8. Processing and analysing sources of evidence

Analysis in interpretive research is part of (and constitutes) an iterative process whereby the researcher makes meaning of a problem during the process of the formulation of the research question through to the writing of a research report (Yanow 2007). The iterative process of analysing evidence sources I undertook involved: a) note-taking and transcription; b) reviewing sources of evidence; c) coding; d) reviewing memos and coded passages; and, e) the writing and rewriting of narratives. These steps are summarized in Table 4, and have been used to structure this section.
Action	Type of evidence source	Purpose
Note-taking and transcription	Observation Interviews Documents	Understanding context Refining problems Identifying themes that arise
Reviewing evidence sources	Observation Interviews Documents Memos	Familiarity with evidence sources Identifying themes that arise Selecting documents
Coding	Interviews Selected documents Memos	Creating categories (who says what about who/what) Reflecting on constitution of preliminary themes (codes)
Reviewing coded passages	Coded section of documents and interviews, memos	Identifying major themes (framings) – codes blended and split Identifying groups of framings and actors
Writing and rewriting narratives	Quotes, memos	Attaining plausibility Identifying missing information – to be filled in by additional source accessing or review
Revisiting notes and evidence sources throughout the process	Narratives, memos, evidence sources	Checking for plausibility and completeness

Table 4. Steps involved in the iterative processing and analysis of evidence sources.

4.8.1. Note-taking and transcription

Note-taking and transcription took place before, during and after access to evidence sources. The memos resulting from note-taking constitute a means of accessing and organizing nonverbal sources of evidence, allowing the researcher to preserve reflections at a certain moment in the research. They serve to distil information from documents, observations and interviews, as well as all other analytical processes and may contrast and, if relevant, inform subsequent analysis. I took notes mostly in English in a multitude of formats and situations, such as in paper notebooks and using phone and computer-based note-taking software (Keep). Emailing memos to myself from my phone was a useful way of ensuring that I would remember to check and process them. Selected memos were then saved in Evernote Premium. For ease of access at later stages, I indicated the topic and date in the title, and then tagged the case study and relevant theme (Section 4.8.3).

Interviews were transcribed and translated using the browser-based Otranscribe tool, which I could use from any computer with or without an internet connection. This enabled me to start transcribing interviews during the period of field research in local libraries and media centres such as Cibernarium in *Media-ICT*, and to include notes about any fresh experiences. I transcribed the remaining interviews once back home. To speed up the process, I simultaneously conducted transcription and translation into English.³⁵ Recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim, except for passages that diverted from the research topic, in which cases I indicated the time lapse and the topic in the document to permit their review in the case of later relevance. Transcription and translation served to increase my familiarity with the sources of evidence. After completing these tasks, all key observations, documents and interviews were available in text format and ready for analysis.

4.8.2. Reviewing evidence sources

After transcription, I conducted an in-depth review of the evidence sources to reveal what was meaningful for different actors, and how they made meaning of energy saving practice.

³⁵ The reason I decided to translate the interviews was to ease the access of the dissertation committee to the evidence I had collected, and also to have interviews available in one single language to help with coding and searches for key words.

In line with case study methodology (Eisenhardt 1989; Flyvbjerg 2011), my initial analysis addressed evidence sources on a per-case basis, whilst searching for cross-case patterns. Traveling back and forth between different types and sources of evidence helped to produce and then select emerging themes (Eisenhardt 1989), throughout the fieldwork and desk-based analysis (Yanow 2007). The emerging themes ("policy frames" in Yanow 2007) were then corroborated across multiple cases and, whenever possible, verified through additional sources (e.g. documents, revisiting observations, or follow-up questions posed to interviewees). This analytical process took place throughout the remaining steps of analysis.

4.8.3. Coding thematic and procedural information

The formal process of coding involved the labelling of the narrative passages produced during note-taking and transcription with synthetic annotations; i.e. codes. These were used to enable structured access, review and comparison of narrative passages selected from a type of evidence source, a specific building or type of buildings, or type of participant. I used the software Atlas.Ti version 6.0, which allows textual documents to be labelled with codes and memos.³⁶ These can then be easily classified, renamed or removed. Reports produced through Atlas.Ti also allow for the review of passages where a single code appears and where sets of codes co-appear. This software also allows the creation of "simultaneous codes" about a specific passage (Saldaña 2009), which could be difficult to manage (i.e. visualize and process) using paper-based coding.

³⁶ Newer versions of Atlas.Ti permit the coding of images, videos and audio recordings.

Procedural information was simultaneously coded with thematic information. The former was useful for processing the information and selectively reviewing parts of it according to:

- a) Type of source evidence, type of actor, and name;
- b) Type of actor referred to (elites, policy makers, corporations, experts, citizens, and users);
- c) Case study, or other type of building (commercial, government, corporate or residential) referred to;
- d) Information for processing and publication, including requests for a passage to remain off-the-record and for requests for anonymity, as well as reflections about the reliability of responses (e.g., when I explicitly introduced a theme).

The emerging themes thus coded were theoretically and empirically based, enabling a combination of deduction and induction during the iterative process of analysis. Appendix 5 includes a list of the initial codes. Theoretical codes reflected on the theoretical framework and literature review and served to help explore potential analytical structures. Empirical themes reflected the naming used by interviewees, provided first insights into how they frame energy saving, and how they relate to expert and everyday knowledges.

4.8.4. Review of coded passages

To review the coded passages I relied on the option of printing out search results and classification conducted through Atlas.Ti. The related searches were intended to explore relationships between coded categories (procedural and thematic), as described in Section 4.8.3. According to Saldaña, time-consuming, bodily and emotional engagement with the sources of evidence, aided by analytical memo writing, allows memories and subconscious

associations to emerge, creating new associations between coded passages; i.e. "serendipity":

[O]ccasionally answers may suddenly and serendipitously crystallize out of nowhere. But at other times, a piece of the analytic [sic] puzzle may be missing for days or weeks or even months. Rich ideas need time to formulate, so have trust and faith in yourself that these may emerge in due time. But remember that you can accelerate the process through analytic [sic] memo writing. (2009, 29)

Although Atlas.Ti allows the classification of codes into families, for the purpose of reformulating and selecting them I preferred to review the emerging themes by visualizing the coded passages in a spacious room of my choice outside the research lab, where I could visualize and interact with printed reports, together with visual imagery, other documents, and my memos.

The preliminary review of evidence sources, as described in Section 4.8.2, had already revealed the presence of apparently conflicting frames within official narratives, between these and the buildings as observed, and within the narratives of the public. Using the versatile categories described in Section 4.8.3, helped in the study of each source of evidence as a hermeneutic unit, which is an approach commonly applied by phenomenological interpretive analysts (Pietkiewicz and Smith 2012). Also, I analysed the narratives of representatives, experts and laymen publics separately, on a per-case basis, and then reinterpreted them in a comparative manner, mediated by my own reflections from the memos.

4.8.5. Writing and rewriting of narratives

In a process similar to what Saldaña refers to as writing analytical memos during the coding process (2009), I drafted a multitude of narrative and schematic relations between the analytical categories, aided by a printed list of original codes (Appendix 5) that slowly enabled the serendipitous identification of links and plausible explanations. Aided by this process of narrative reflexivity, I distilled assumptions from explanations to "infer the most plausible explanation" (Harman 1965). Plausibility is considered a fundamental criterion for deciding on the validity of an interpretation, provided it is based on a diverse array of evidence sources (Kane 2006; Bevir and Rhodes 2010). Plausibility is also of fundamental importance to van Hulst and Yanow (2014) who consider that the participant researcher should play the role of reframing a problem by creating plausible explanations more than by creating accurate accounts. To ensure plausibility, the process and the resulting draft narratives were discussed with my peers as they evolved. Formal discussions took place in departmental seminars (26 April, 2016 on Methodology, and 23 November, 2016 in relation to a preliminary version of Chapter 6) and at conferences (ESEE 2017 in Budapest, and ERSS 2017 in Barcelona). As my narratives were becoming a plausible and comprehensive explanation of the different evidence sources, I contrasted these explanations by revisiting transcribed narratives and observation-based memos.

An analytical approach intended to differentiate communities of meaning and practice (Yanow 2007; van Hulst and Yanow 2014) informed the structure of the analytical chapters. However, sometimes: a) official narratives appealed to the context of practice; b) laymen publics reproduced expert jargon, and tended to disregard the context of practice; and c) some experts framed energy saving practice from their everyday experience. As a result, it was necessary to put the different framings in perspective to understand how they

were produced. Thus, a major distinction had to be made between official and everyday framings to reveal the dialectics between both expert and everyday epistemologies. The distinction was made to reflect the different degrees of attention paid to the context of practice, especially within the narratives of some expert officials and laymen publics. This separation relates to that proposed in Chapter 3 between everyday meaning-making as related to Lefebvre's made unicity of practice (1991), and elite modes of production supported by the positivist knowledge of experts. It was also inspired by the typology proposed by Janda and Topouzi (2015) that enables the study of framing in terms of "hero", "caring" and "learning stories", according to the relevance granted to contextual aspects proposed in Chapters 2 and 3: a) *coherence* – that I related, inspired by Suchman's definition of legitimacy, to a hero framing; and b) integration - that I related to a caring framing. During the process of analysis multiple references to the context of practice replication, corresponded with a learning framing. The eventual separation of communities of meaning resulted in the current structure of the empirical chapters contained in this thesis. These include an analysis of policy narratives and then differentiate official representations from everyday narratives according to whether these were framed in the context of practice.

4.9. Chapter summary

The analytical approach and research techniques explained in this chapter permit the empirical study of how official representations and everyday narratives frame energy saving practice in relation to commercial buildings. This is important, because the limited attention paid to the context of practice in official representations could contribute to explaining the below-expected engagement of the public with energy saving – i.e. the

"value-action gap" and the "energy efficiency gap" (Jaffe and Stavins 1994; Blake 1999; Sovacool et al. 2014). The interpretive stance hereby taken was important for countering the dominance of positivist epistemologies and quantitative knowledges in energy saving research, as demonstrated in Chapter 2. The analytical focus on framings allowed the systematic comparison of the relevance granted to the context of practice – and its dimensions that are laid out in Chapter 3 – through different sources of evidence. The former permitted differentiation between: a) representations based on expert knowledge that decontextualise buildings from practice and ultimately legitimize organisations along with the dominant knowledge and practices of experts – what Lefebvre calls the elite production of space, and Janda and Topouzi call "hero stories" (2015) –, and b) everyday narratives originating from everyday experience and relating to the context of practice of the organisation and of the public.

The use of ethnographic enquiry, involving a diversity of techniques and sources of evidence – which I structured through case studies – is justified in studies of everyday meaning (Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014; Guy and Moore 2005b). The diversity of methods, sources of evidence and cases, common to ethnographic research, enabled triangulation. Triangulation, along with the transparent recounting of the systematic and reflective process throughout the empirical chapters, was aimed at creating the trustworthiness necessary for the interpretive research to produce plausible narratives that reframe the policy problem – i.e. the ultimate task of the interpretive researcher (van Hulst and Yanow 2014). This was deemed particularly necessary given the dominance of positivist epistemologies and quantitative methodologies. Finally, the proposed combination of techniques and sources of evidence was also intended to address a series of specific goals:

- a) First, to appraise the contradictions that occur within official representations hence requiring a document review, interviews with representatives, and observation – and between official representations and everyday narratives – requiring interviews with a diversity of laymen – user and passer-by – publics as well as reflection on my own experience;
- b) Second, interviews with the public, along with my own observations and reflections, were intended to contrast my intentionally subjective analysis with the tacit analysis engaged in by a diversity of publics – increasing the trustworthiness of my findings;
- c) Third, the study of government policies in the EU, Spain, Catalonia and Barcelona and the four cases was intended to help assess the generalizability of my findings, and to screen-out those of an anecdotal nature.

The following three chapters are the result of my reflective engagement with the sources of evidence that were accessed, and incorporate the recounting of empirical theory to contribute to the plausibility of my claims. It was my aim to communicate transparently my reflections and to situate the sources of evidence, thereby enabling the reader to judge the trustworthiness of my interpretations. Aligned with the research questions, as re-defined in this chapter (Table 2), I have differentiated between the study of policy narratives (Chapter 5), official representations in and about buildings (Chapter 6), and everyday narratives (Chapter 7).

Chapter 5. Policy discussions and reflections

This chapter primarily addresses Question 1: *How do EU, National and City policies in Barcelona frame energy-saving practices in commercial buildings?* Accordingly, I address whether and how government narratives and their implementation in practice appeal to or conceal the context of practice, thereby highlighting their contradictions and showing the existence of the political interests potentially underlying these contradictions and the choice of framing.

The chapter is structured along the policy-making levels relevant for the study of buildings in Barcelona. First, I analyse the EU policy framework that regulates the exemplary role of commercial buildings in Member States. Second, I examine the implementation of EU exemplary requirements in Spain, where autonomous communities such as Catalonia have devolved attributions. Third, I analyse the narratives and practices of Barcelona City Council about its buildings. Throughout the chapter I build the argument that government policies – relying on positivist knowledge – de-contextualise practices, ultimately contributing to veiling organisations from public scrutiny and – aligning with theoretical claims presented in Chapters 2 and 3 – potentially countering the development of everyday epistemologies, critique, and practice.

5.1. EU exemplary requirements

Of fundamental importance to EU institutions is extending their legitimacy and the regulatory rule of the EU, ultimately contributing to its statization (Elden 2004). European Union policy conceptualises energy saving as energy efficiency and performance. These conceptualisations are claimed to serve the purpose of legitimating the Union in front of

citizens – by championing environmental protection – whilst maintaining consumption levels and securing economic growth – by fostering investment in efficient, renewable and smart technologies, and not threatening energy consumption (Talus 2013). It has been argued that the increase in attention paid to defending the environment as a common Union value resulted from the loss of legitimacy marked by the constitutional crisis of 2005 (Best et al. 2005). Energy efficiency provides an opportunity for the EU to expand its attributions over Member States and markets by building on the principle of subsidiarity (Talus 2013; Torfing 2006).³⁷ This rationale explains EU reliance on market instruments such as the provision of information which enables EU institutions to "govern at a distance" and gain new attributions (Talus 2013). Moreover, high-level targets that are trickled down onto exemplary goals through EU directives are of an unknown technical or scientific rationale, and criticized for seeking political legitimacy instead of realizable achievements (Kanellakis et al. 2013). The analysis of the narratives about exemplary buildings in EU directives further supports this argument.

Further supporting claims about the legitimating rationale of energy saving policy for the EU is the requirement that Member State governments implement exemplary requirements for government and commercial buildings.³⁸ Member States are encouraged to abide by the same principles to avoid reports and resolutions for under-compliance, and to maintain their legitimacy in the eyes of citizens. However, EU institutions are not required to abide by this requirement and, furthermore, reportedly do not abide by this principle (European Court of Auditors 2014). As echoed by the media, "the EU ignores its

³⁷ The principle of subsidiarity, as laid down in the Treaty on European Union, establishes EU rule over matters which could jeopardize market competition.

³⁸ These exemplary requirements are currently specified in Directive 2018/844 that amends Directive 2010/31/EU on the Energy Performance of Buildings, and Directive 2012/27/EU on Energy Efficiency.

own building efficiency initiatives" (Crisp 2014). This suggests that the EU applies a double-standards regarding its own buildings and those of Member State governments.

Analysis of the diverse *naming* and *subject* of the exemplary function in EU directives as shown in

Table 5 indicates the lack of an articulate approach to this particular policy instrument.³⁹ Requirements apply to government buildings, but also refer to "frequently visited by the public" in the directives of 2002 and 2010.⁴⁰ Moreover, the diverse *rationale* of the directives lacks disambiguation from other instruments such as demonstration and procurement. Only the preliminary formulation in the Directive of 1993 refers to the need of governments to "also" abide by the same principles required of third-parties, aligning with the rationale of transition theorists who demand "coherence" between the policy and practice of the government (Jackson 2009). Whilst reference to aspects of "coherence" as a mechanism for attaining credibility for policy messages is missing from the articles of the directives, economic- and market-based instruments of procurement and information provision are thoroughly regulated (referred to as 'why' and 'how' in the table). Thus, the EU regulation of exemplary buildings is unclear, and seems to be associated with an economic and market rationale, which as a result could lead to the confusion of an instrument intended to address everyday epistemologies with others with an economic and positivist basis, as discussed in Section 2.3.

³⁹ Of note, EU Directive 2018/844 amends the directives on Energy Performance of Buildings of 2010, and on Energy Efficiency of 2012. It was not included in the table because it does not fundamentally revisit the related aspects.

⁴⁰ This has not been ammended in EU Directive 2018/844.

	SAVE 1993	EPBD 2002	ESD 2006	EPBD 2010	EED 2012
	Repealed by ESD 2006	Repealed by EPBD 2010	Recast in EED 2012	Repeals EPBD 2002	Recasts ESD 2006 ⁴¹
WHAT (naming)	Set an example*	Set an example*	Exemplary role	Lead the way* Lead by example* Set an example* Leading example Leading role	Leading role Exemplary role
WHO (the subject)	Public authority buildings	Public authority buildings Buildings frequently visited by the public	Public sector	Public sector Buildings occupied by public authorities & Buildings frequently visited by the public	Public bodies' buildings
WHY (rationale)	Governments are "also" required to do what is required of citizens	Enhance dissemination of information*	Multiplier effect*	Enhance dissemination of information*	Focus on procurement (supposedly with a market effect upstream)
HOW (instruments)	Third-party financing, although not referred to as exemplary	Certificates (visible display) Indoor temp.	Procurement Communication (Pilot projects, behaviour)*	Certificates (adoption, display and implementing recommend- dations) NZeB standard	Requires 3% renovation target Procurement & third party financing
TO WHOM (citizens' role)	Users (building)	Use, comfort Users, the public	Users' and customers' behaviour	The public (visiting)	-

Table 5. The 'what', 'who', 'why', 'how', and 'to whom' of the exemplary function in EU Directives.

(*) indicates that explicit reference to this item is made in preamble only.

⁴¹ SAVE Directive (Council of the European Communities 1993); EED Energy Efficiency Directive (European Parliament and Council of the European Union 2012); EPBD Energy Performance of Buildings Directive (European Parliament and Council of the European Union 2010; European Parliament and the Council 2002); ESD Energy Saving Directive (European Parliament and Council of the European Union 2006).

Currently, four major instruments regulate the exemplary function, granting EU control over customary attributions of national decision-makers regarding the procurement, financing, operation, renovation, and commissioning of government buildings, and regulating other commercial buildings:

a) Purchasing regulations specify a choice of "products, services and buildings with high energy-efficiency" (EU 2012, Art 6) and require the outsourcing of energy saving practice to financing actors, reducing the role of governments to "contracting authorities" and "administrative departments" (EU 2012 Art. 2: 8, 9);

b) Regulations about the early adoption and display of Energy Performance Certificates force organisations to be transparent about their performance; moreover, an incipient regulatory framework applies to government buildings, which are required to "implement the recommendations included" in certificates (EU 2010 Art 11:5);

c) The requirement that Member States governments renovate annually 3% of buildings "owned and occupied by [the] central government" (EU 2012, Art 5) – this is the first quantitative target defined for Member States in the EU energy efficiency policy (Kanellakis et al. 2013);

d) The requirement to define and early adopt a Nearly Zero-energy Buildings (NZeB) standard in government buildings (EU 2010, Art. 10) constrains the leverage of governments to decide on the rhythm and intensity at which their buildings are renovated.

These instruments show progress towards the creation of a regulatory framework under the auspices of the EU. Supporting this argument, Energy Performance Certificates constitute the only means of communicating energy consumption in commercial buildings to the public.42 Consumption is only referred to in the quantitative terms of energy consumption and CO2 emissions, failing to encourage comparison or addressing how and why commercial buildings relate to the policy context, to the practices of the organisation - that would enable scrutiny -, and to those of the public - that would foster learning and replication. Moreover, there is no requirement for the potential savings resulting from recommendations in Certificates to be stated in the labels displayed to the public. There is also no requirement for certificates and labels to break down forms of energy use - as available on the certificates of some countries. Although this situation is addressed in countries like the UK, the labels in countries like Spain, do not reveal this information (Figure 10 and Figure 11). Publicizing this information could serve the purpose of enabling public scrutiny, pushing organisations to address the recommendations. It can be understood that the EU Certificates constitute progress in the extension of the EU rule over national citizens, reducing their role to recipients of information (accordingly, they are referred to as "the public" in EU 2010 Preamble: 24; Arts. 12, 13). This passive role would facilitate the public acceptance of the EU rule, hence aligning with the arguments of Talus (2013).43 Moreover, as shown in the final row of

⁴² A former official from the EU Commission confirmed that there are no provisions beyond the use of certificates to address the public perception of energy-saving practices in commercial buildings (pers. comm. 2014).

⁴³ Only as building owners, the public has to abide by building certification requirements but are not required to implement the recommendations included in these documents (EU 2010, Art. 11, 12, 13).

Table 5, energy-saving practices have been increasingly reduced to technologies. References to "energy saving decisions", "energy use", "building use", and "comfort" in previous directives (EU 1993, 2002, 2006) have disappeared in the directives of 2010 and 2012.⁴⁴ This shows the marginalization of public experience and practices, and aligns with the claims of critical reviewers about the current techno-economic framing of energy saving in commercial buildings having a legitimating function (Lutzenhiser 2014; Moezzi and Janda 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015).



Figure 10. Examples of energy labels in Spain and the UK.

Source: Ceec 2016 (available at https://clusterenergia.cat/news/crida-de-licaen-a-les-inmobiliaries-cal-feruna-c; and Gralo 2006 (available at https://commons.wikimedia.org/w/index.php?curid=13350090).

⁴⁴ For instance, in the Directive of 2012 "use" and "comfort" were invoked as key aspects of the setting and communication of "officially recommended" and "actual" indoor temperatures (Art 7:3, Preamble: 16).



The energy efficiency rating is a measure of the overall efficiency of a home. The higher the rating the more energy efficient the home is and the lower the fuel bills will be. The environmental impact rating is a measure of a home's impact on the environment in terms of carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions. The higher the rating the less impact it has on the environment.

Estimated energy use, carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions and fuel costs of this home

	Current	Potential
Energy use	338 kWh/m2 per year	241 kWh/m2 per year
Carbon dioxide emissions	8.4 tonnes per year	6.1 tonnes per year
Lighting	£114 per year	£63 per year
Heating	£715 per year	£534 per year
Hot water	£246 per year	£183 per year

Based on standardised assumptions about occupancy, heating patterns and geographical location, the above table provides an indication of how much it will cost to provide lighting, heating and hot water to this home. The fuel costs only take into account the cost of fuel and not any associated service, maintenance or safety inspection. This certificate has been provided for comparative purposes only and enables one home to be compared with another. Always check the date the certificate was issued, because fuel prices can increase over time and energy saving recommendations will evolve.

To see how this home can achieve its potential rating please see the recommended measures.



Remember to look for the energy saving recommended logo when buying energy efficient product. It's a quick and easy way to identify the most energy efficient products on the market. For advice on how to take action and to find out about offers available to help make your home more energy efficient call 0800 12 012 or visit www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/myhome

Figure 11. Example of an Energy Performance Certificate in the UK. Source: http://www.invictaepc.com/epc.

Apparently responding to a legitimating and statizing function, reductionist conceptualisations of energy saving and of exemplary buildings decontextualise energy saving practice. A pre-existing rationale about improving policy credibility and public responses through increasing the coherence between policy requirements and practices of governments seems to have been overtaken by a focus on technologies and economic decision-making, which appears to be related to the legitimating function of energy saving policy and practice. In the following sections I show how this is reflected in terms of its implementation in Spain.

5.2. Spanish-Catalan implementation and politics

In Spain, the governments of autonomous communities have devolved attributions in the implementation of energy saving directives. Because they own and administer building stock, they are required to implement EU exemplary requirements.⁴⁵ In this section, I show that the Catalan Government may have also used its implementation of EU directives as a means of obtaining legitimacy in the eyes of the voting public and the EU, and to gain negotiating power for more devolved attributions from Spain.

Since the inception of the Spanish democratic regime in 1975, the Central Government has been led by two parties: the Social-Democrat PSOE (in office from 1982-1996 and 2004-2011) and the Conservative PP (1996-2004 and 2011-2016) (Appendix 6).⁴⁶ Until 2015, the Catalan Conservatives of CiU alternated time in office in Catalonia and in Barcelona with the Catalan branch of the Spanish Social-Democrats (the PSC-PSOE).⁴⁷ During this period, Spanish governments relied on the support of Catalan parties in return for devolution deals. Countering this process, the global financial crisis that started in 2007 increased political and fiscal centralization. Spain and Catalonia lost

⁴⁵ The Directive of 2012 refers in Art. 2 to "all administrative departments whose competence extends over the whole territory of a Member State". This requirement is extensive to regional and local governments (Preamble: 10, 15, 17, 18).

⁴⁶ PSOE stands for Spanish Socialist Workers' Party, PP for People's Party and CiU for Convergence and Union.

⁴⁷ CiU was in office in Catalonia during the periods 1980-2003, 2010-2016, and in Barcelona during 2011-2015. The PSC (Catalan Socialist Party) led the government in Catalonia during the period 2003-2010, and in Barcelona for the period 1979-2011.

borrowing and spending autonomy, making way for the mutual blaming of both governments for the ongoing welfare cuts (Colino and del Pino 2017, 218).

During my field research, news questioning the independence of the government in relation to energy, banking and construction interests were common in the press. Multiple influential politicians were on the boards of directors of these corporations (

Table 6).⁴⁸ A series of political corruption scandals affected the two incumbent parties at the time in Catalonia and Spain (Catalan News 2013; Jones 2018; Burgen 2013).⁴⁹ Protests against the corruption and the dismissal of citizen interests by elites ("*la casta*") coalesced in the Indignados Movement taking to the squares in May 2011 with slogans like "We have had enough of crooked politicians!"⁵⁰ These protests continued during the time of my field research (Figure 12 and Figure 13). In this context, nationalist debate was inflamed by the Conservative parties in office both in Spain and Catalonia. This debate diverted public attention from ongoing welfare cuts.⁵¹ I will show in Chapter how this public discontent towards the government and corporations reflected in the public appraisal of energy-saving practices.

⁴⁸ A total of 43 influential politicians have reportedly been hired by energy companies (Suarez 2014), including two former Prime Ministers (Gonzalez –PSOE- and Aznar – PP, who were hired by the two major energy companies which they themselves privatized; i.e. Gas Natural and Endesa) (Lara 19 April, 2013, intervention in the Spanish Parliament). Another 12 politicians have reportedly been hired by construction and banking corporations (Clavero 2017). Most of these politicians are from PP, but some are also from PSOE and from regional parties, including the ruling party at the time in Catalonia (CiU).

⁴⁹ For instance the *Palau Case*, and the *Gürtel Case* – which respectively affected cadres of CiU and PP. The former was prosecuted from 2009 until 2017; the latter from 2009 until 2018.

⁵⁰ The original expression was "No hay pan para tanto chorizo!"

⁵¹ The nationalist conflict escalated into a short-lived declaration of independence in October 2017, the Spanish Government taking control of Catalan Autonomy and bringing a lawsuit against the Catalan Government, ultimately taking up most of the media attention.

Politician	Party and former government position	Corporation	
Elena Salgado	PSOE, Minister of Economy and Finance and First	Endesa	
	vice-president		
Ángel Acebes	PP, Minister of Interior and of Justice	Bankia	
Josep Piqué	PP, Minister of Foreign Affairs	Grupo	
		Ferrocarril,	
		Vueling, Applus	
		and others	
José María Michavila	PP, Minister of Justice	Jp Morgan	
Pedro Solbes	Independent associated to PSOE, Finance Minister	Enel (Endesa),	
		Barclays	
José María Aznar	PP, Prime Minister	Endesa, Holding	
		Murdoch	
Felipe Gonzalez	PSOE, Prime Minister	Gas Natural	
Eduardo Zaplana	PP, Minister of Labor and Social Issues, amongst	Telefónica	
	others		
Rodrigo Rato	PP, Ministry of Economy and Treasury, vice	Lazard,	
	president	Santander and	
		Bankia	
Isabel Tocino	PP, Minister of Environment	Banco Santander	
Josu Jon Imaz	PNV, Basque Minister of Industry, Trade and	Petronor	
	Tourism		
Alfredo Timmermans	PP, State Secretary of communication	Telefónica	
Luis de Guindos	PP, Minister of Economy, Industry and	Lehman	
	Competitiveness	Brothers	

Table 6. "List of current politicians hired by companies from regulated sectors".

Source: Encinar (2012).



Figure 12. Protests in front of the headquarters of PP in Madrid. Source: Popicinio (2013).



Figure 13. Protest in front of a branch of the BBVA Bank in Barcelona.⁵²

I will show how energy saving policies reflected the context and, potentially, the vested interests of politicians. At the beginning of the crisis, energy saving was promoted as part of the Green New Deal of the Social-Democrats (IDAE 2005; Government of Spain 2007) and the budgetary restrictions required by the EU were introduced (Royo 2009).⁵³ Then, the Conservatives from PP further removed and countered energy-saving practices with policies like the Royal Decree 235/2015 that made in-house renewable generation uneconomic – hence known as the "Solar Ban" –, and initiated an increase in fixed utility costs. The positioning of the Spanish government was further made clear in the reporting of Spain to the EU (Government of Spain 2014b, 2014a, 2015). These reports indicate the limited interest in the efficiency of buildings, and limited transparency regarding the status of government building certification (BPIE 2014, 2015). The reports included arguments against improving efficiency due to its potential to counter economic development:

[U]nder the new Directive only short term savings would be considered, driving away efficient investments which would have generated substantial economic activity. (Government of Spain 2014b, 3–4)

Similarly, the "cost-optimality" of NZeB standards was questioned in reports of the Government of Spain (2014a, 26-29) to justify their lagging development and implantation (Ecofys 2014). Economic arguments and a disregard for the social-transformative effect of government practices served to justify limited action. Added to this limited commitment, a flexible alternative to the 3% annual renovation target was chosen (Government of Spain 2014b) obscuring the reporting of the exemplary role of government buildings (BPIE

⁵² The posters read: "There is no lack of money, just too many crooks", "This bank steals", and "BBVA supports football [league] and evictions".

⁵³ The Renewable Energy Plan 2005-2010 (IDAE 2005) was intended as to assist in the early adoption of EU targets as a means of economic development.

2014). More specifically, the flexible alternative served to conceal the fact that savings were being attained mostly through a reduction of stock, leaving it unclear whether this involved the removal of unnecessary buildings or privatisation.⁵⁴

The exemplary action of the Catalan Government was also described as lacking commitment and transparency. A senior engineer who consulted for the Catalan government on building energy management claimed that this lack of transparency responded to a desire to conceal a shortage of action, since "they should be doing the 3% [annual energy renovation of government buildings] to be exemplary, and to make an example, but they have not done anything" (pers. comm. 2015). The exemplary reporting of the Catalan government included in the Spanish reports to the EU was framed as the "rationalisation" of resources and significant reliance on the privation of building stock (Government of Spain 2014b, 104–110). Exemplary requirements thus contributed to the privatization of buildings of both the Spanish and the Catalan governments. Such a privatization process was due to the need for liquidity in a context of financial restrictions but resulted in losses and the need to rent the same or other premises (Catalan Government 2013; Picazo 2013; Palou 2013; Altimira 2016, 2017; La Vanguardia 2012). This outcome is problematic because the lack of ownership of the buildings occupied by Catalan government agencies results, according to government officials such as a senior representative of ICAEN (the Catalan Institute of Energy), in limited leverage in terms of saving energy (pers. comm. 2015). Thus, in the case of Spain and Catalonia it appears that the prevalence of an economic rationale in meeting EU requirements for exemplarity - as described in Section 5.1 – contributed to the privatisation of government stock, ultimately

⁵⁴ The measures equivalent to meeting the 3% target (318,833 sqm) reported in the annual report of 2015 consisted mostly of the "sale, demolition and removal from use" (272,979 sqm), with "rehabilitation" and new buildings marginally contributing to compensating for this loss of area (32,872 sqm and 700 sqm, respectively) (Government of Spain 2015, 29-30).

countering energy saving efforts and the provision of transparent communication to the public.

Supporting this argument, during the field research there was a general lack of availability – even following requests – for disaggregated data about the status of certification and the ratings of government buildings in Catalonia. This limited transparency was justified, according to a senior representative of ICAEN by financial challenges blamed on the Spanish government, and the need to allocate limited resources to action which would financially pay off (pers. comm. 2015). It appears therefore that an economic rationale and a desire to maintain government practices veiled from public scrutiny prevailed over saving energy and transparently communicating practices to the public. This also shows advances in the construction of an EU regulatory framework whereby governments are reduced to economic administrators of their buildings which are overseen at a distance, as argued by Talus, through economic and market mechanisms (2013). Aligned with the theoretical framework of this research, positivist epistemologies were instrumental to this end.

Regardless of the limited effort to enact and communicate its energy saving practice, Calzada argues that the Catalan Government continued during the financial and nationalist crisis to seek popular and international legitimacy by proclaiming its energy saving values (2017). Aligning with the claims of Colino and del Pino (2017) introduced earlier, such limited achievements were blamed on Spain for the insufficient devolution of policy attributions, and presenting the Catalan Government as a devotee of the EU and its energy saving principles (Rius, Director of ICAEN, public presentation in Construmat, 22-05-2015; Morer, Head of Energy Efficiency unit of the ICAEN, public debate in Construmat, 20-05-2015). Thus, in the framework of the 2007 financial crisis, financial

and government centralization, and Spanish government politics against energy saving, the implementation of EU directives about energy saving constituted during the study period an opportunity for the legitimation of the Catalan government. Aligned with the theoretical framework of this dissertation, legitimacy was attained by dwelling on the economic rationale of energy efficiency, which furthermore served to justify the limited commitment and transparency of government agencies, hence diverting scrutiny from limited and furthermore dubious energy-saving practices such as the privatisation of buildings.

5.3. Barcelona Council policies

Following the arrival of democracy until the 2011 elections Barcelona City Council ("the Council") was led by the Social democrats of PSC who formed a coalition with leftist and leftist-green parties, and increased policy attention to environmental and energy saving matters. The period 2011-2015 was governed in minority by the Catalan Conservatives of CiU who collated Urban Planning and Environmental Education and Informatics into the "macro-department" for Urban Habitat, which was put in charge of making Barcelona a smart city.⁵⁵

It has been argued that, under the governments of the Social Democrats and the Catalan Conservatives, architects gradually came to occupy executive positions, thereby fostering Council strategies that relied on technological innovation, signature buildings and landmark projects. These strategies were questioned for prioritizing "design" over "use", and for marginalizing environmental and social problems in their pursuit of Council legitimacy and attracting investment to the City (Thornley 2011; Marshall 2000). The same

⁵⁵ Since the elections of May 2015 that occurred before the end my field work, a new Leftist Coalition has governed in minority, under the banner of Barcelona en Comú. Their policy and practice is not part of this study.

has been argued for the council strategies of saving energy, and particularly their smart conceptualisation (Charnock et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016). I have summarized the policies that directed the Council practices for its buildings during this period in Table 7. (A more extensive summary of the Council government's composition and its most relevant policies can be found in Appendix 7). In the following sections I reflect on the extent to which these policies correspond to three framings inspired by the types of stories proposed by Janda and Topouzi (2015): a) a *legitimating framing of innovation and singular exemplars*, which prevails over; b) a *caring framing of integration*; and c) a *learning framing of replication*.

Table 7. Reviewed strategic, energy saving and procurement policies of the Barcelona City Council.

2001 Government Measure on the Greening of Council Services

2002 People's Commitment to Sustainability

2002 Barcelona Energy Improvement Plan (BEIP)

2005 Green Office Guide

2006 Guide + Sustainable City Council Programme

2009 Council Buildings Energy Improvement Plan (CBEIP) 2009-2011

2011 Plan for Energy, Climate Change and Air Quality of Barcelona (ECQP) 2011-2020

2011 Basic Guide to Energy Efficiency in Council Buildings

2012 Citizen Commitment to Sustainability 2012-2022

2012 The politics and management Deal (Council Action Plan for 2012-2015)

2013 Government Measure and Instruction by the Mayor's office for Responsible Public Procurement with [sic] Social and Environmental Criteria

2015 Technical Instructions for the Application of Sustainability Criteria

5.3.1. Legitimating framing of innovative and singular exemplars

Following the People's Commitment to Sustainability document (Barcelona City Council 2002b), the Barcelona Energy Improvement Plan was intended to address the "environmental concern existing in the City, at the source of increasing interest in limiting the environmental impact of energy consumption". The plan also recognised that "energy intensity" is necessary for economic development and improving comfort (Barcelona City Council 2002a, 5). During times of energy sector liberalization, the Council engaged with grid management and local generation – from renewable and fossil sources – as a means of improving "quality of supply", and "promot[ing] new technologies", and overall contributing to "positioning the City" (Barcelona City Council 2002a, 32-36; 2011, 116-123) (Figure 14). The Council's commitment to saving energy thus responded to a dual rationale similar to the one argued for by Talus with regard to EU energy efficiency policies (2013).⁵⁶ It pursued on the one hand a set of accepted values which according to Suchman are a source of legitimacy (1995), but also economic development that overall appropriate a specific area of governance, as argued by Calzada (2017).

⁵⁶ This alignment with the rationale of the EU crystallized in the formulation of energy saving targets under the auspices of the Covenant of Mayors promoted by the EU (Barcelona City Council 2011). The Covenant encourages councils to pursue outstanding energy saving targets, framed as global commitments to climate change mitigation. According to Swyngedouw and others, these targets serve to legitimate organizations as being best equipped to deploy certain practices which are not accessible to the public in terms of mitigating climate change (2010).



Figure 14. The Park of the Forum (2004) with thermal and photovoltaic plants. Source: www.tersa.cat.

Energy saving was increasingly re-conceptualised as "self-sufficiency", and "efficiency" became dependent upon the utilization of smart technologies, having the overall effect of reducing energy saving to the deployment of innovative technologies, as shown in the formulation of the Citizen Commitment to Sustainability 2012-2020 with the subtitle "For a more equitable, prosperous and self-sufficient Barcelona" (Barcelona City Council 2012c).⁵⁷ This reconceptualisation of sustainability and energy saving was successful at earning the trust of international actors (Council Official from Urban Habitat,

⁵⁷ The Commitment contains claims such as: [A] smart city ... uses ICT (information and communication technologies) to provide an infrastructure to assist in sustainable development, the efficient use of resources, increasing the quality of life of people, social inclusion and citizen participation" (31). "Innovation" was also considered a stand-alone goal in the Energy, Climate Change and Air Quality Plan of 2011 (Barcelona City Council 2011, 39).

pers. comm. 2015). It also served to agglutinate the market, making it attractive as an investment opportunity for big companies, but also confused the public by diverting attention away from the social and environmental goals of saving energy (Senior representative of the Energy Efficiency Council of Catalonia, pers. comm. 2015). Similar confusion has been also identified in relation to reviews of smart cities, whose focus on technological innovation may obscure the contradictions of the regulatory, social and institutional system (Fernández González 2016; Baccarne et al. 2014).

The contradictions and political utilization of the smart city include in Barcelona the process of capital accumulation resulting from continued influx from Catalan Government money in the technological district of Barcelona (the "22@ District") during times of market saturation (Charnock et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016). According to Calzada, the Catalan investment in the city responded to a "smart devolution" rationale involving the creation of a leading economic city for the purpose of building legitimacy in the eyes of crisis-hit publics and the international community, thereby contributing to the statization of Catalonia (2017). ⁵⁸ These arguments are plausible according to the context introduced in Section 5.2, whereby the Catalan Conservatives of CiU held office in both Catalonia and Barcelona. Thus, it can be argued that by relegating the environmental goals of saving energy behind economic and technological development goals, a new area of governance was created for the city, legitimating the Council for coherently abiding by energy saving values which are rather empty values about technological progress and design that enable what Lefebvre (1991, 6) calls a "banal consensus".

⁵⁸ This argument is plausible in a context wherein Catalan Conservatives held office both in Catalonia and Barcelona during a period of acute financial and political crisis, supporting my argument in Section 5.2 about the Catalan use of energy saving to attain legitimacy and divert attention from questionable politics.

In addition to "innovation", the Council plans also recognised "high visibility" and "public impact" exemplars as a means of showing Council "leadership" and "position[ing] Barcelona...as a highly competitive city" (Barcelona City Council 2002a, 224, 239, 2009b, 3, 2011, 7, 18). As in the case of references to innovation, these commitments again show the prevalence of a legitimating and economic development rationale.⁵⁹ Communication with the public was undertaken through the "demonstration" of "new technologies" in "singular" projects" "with an important component of visibility", as a means of "promoting nowadays' most efficient generation technology" (Barcelona City Council 2009b, 3).⁶⁰ Although some of these projects were used to publicize the City's commitments in international communications that appealed to corporations to (re)locate in Barcelona (Figure 15), their communication to the public, and an explanation of how these buildings relate to the Council practice and that of the public was not explicit.

An example of the latter is the Council plan to communicate through specific photovoltaic projects in schools and universities recognised for their "educative and demonstrative role towards the citizenship" (Barcelona City Council 2002a, 78; 222). Accordingly, the Council deployment of innovative technologies is represented in decontextualised singular exemplars that divert scrutiny from the context of the Council practice. This corresponds therefore with a "heroic" in the sense used by Janda and Topouzi (2015) and "monumental" framing as used by Lefebvre (1991) whose function is to

⁵⁹ This refers to the Barcelona Energy Improvement Plan of 2002, the Council Buildings Improvement Plan of 2009 and the Energy, Climate Change and Air Quality Plan of 2011.

⁶⁰ The projects referred to included the Forum 2004, the 22@District, and the installation of a photovoltaic plant at the Council Hall buildings (Barcelona City Council 2002a; 2009b). Highly efficient co-generation in the Council Hall buildings would have "an important component of visibility because the action is located in a singular building" (Barcelona City Council 2009b, 6). Most recently, the Council Action Plan for 2012-2015 involved "[f]oster[ing] self-sufficient city blocks and urban energy infrastructure refurbishment...to add value to the city [and]...to make Barcelona an international benchmark in the field" (Barcelona City Council 2012a, 88, 92); a goal which would inspire the *Efficient Block* project, discussed in Section 6.5.

legitimate the Council whilst it has the effect of alienating the public. In the following section I study the Council programs and narratives that frame energy-saving practices in the context of the Council's practice.



Figure 15. Singular projects in international communications. Source: Barcelona City Council (2009a, n.p.).

5.3.2. Caring framing of integration

Council practices and their communication to the public tended to disregard the integral adoption of practices that, being potentially mainstreamed by the Council, were also likely to be replicable by the public. According to Council Officials of the Barcelona Energy Agency (#1 and |2), this preference of the Council reflected the will of both politicians and communication services. The latter became increasingly centralized along with the creation of the Department of Urban Habitat and the reconceptualisation of energy saving practice as smart (pers. comm. 2015), hence limiting the leverage of the Energy Agency and Environmental Education agencies regarding project-specific communication. This is also reflected in the budgetary reporting of the Barcelona Energy Agency (2014, 78).

Council communications about the practices of the Council tended to focus on experts and Council staff, understood as those individuals who implement Council plans (Barcelona City Council 2011, 355), hence granting relevance to staff appraisals of the organisational commitment to successful engagement with the plans. Specific communication to the external public about the Council buildings and the provision of disaggregated information about them was fostered only after the Council Buildings Energy Improvement Plan of 2009 which, responding to EU Directives,⁶¹ was intended to "[m]ake visible the Council commitment" (Barcelona City Council 2009b; 3). The Energy and Climate Change and Air Quality Plan for 2011-2020 disaggregated for the first time the activity of the City from the Council's plan, and assessed actual consumption (Barcelona City Council 2011, 228) (Figure 16). It acknowledged the need to demonstrate the integration of energy-saving practices to transform public attitudes and "dispel myths" (Barcelona City Council 2011, 14). However, whilst the City program was thoroughly discussed, with the public, the Council program was discussed only during one session (ibid, 11). Aligning with the literature reviewed in Section 2.9 (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Greenberg 2014), vocal claims, alongside limited transparency and participation, potentially explain public mistrust problematized as "myths" by the Council.

The mechanisms of communicating the integral adoption of energy-saving practices to the public were not developed in subsequent plans and specific policies. For instance, the basic guide to energy efficiency in Council buildings acknowledged that "practices in Council buildings are key to promoting energy saving and efficiency measures, due to their exemplary role" but this only refers to communication with building

⁶¹ Refers to Directives on Energy efficiency (2006/32/CE) and Energy Performance of Buildings (2002/91/CE) (EU 2006; 2002).

managers and users (Barcelona Energy Agency 2011, 9-10). The monitoring, displays and the online publication of energy consumption and generation in Council buildings included in the plans of 2002, 2009 and 2011 (Barcelona City Council 2002a; 2009b; 2011) were slowly introduced until the change of government in 2015. Few of these displays were put in place, online information was not available, and some displays observed during my field research were not operational. ⁶² Even singular exemplars like the photovoltaic panels of the Forum and those on the Council Hall buildings did not show their energy generation to passers-by and online visitors (Figure 17), and could be visited only as part of tours guided by experts. The weak attention to the integration of energy-saving practices in communication strategies to the public appeared to be a permanent limitation of the Council Plans that appealed for an exemplary role in response to EU policies and conventions. Maintaining Council practices outside public scrutiny risked increasing public mistrust in the Council, the energy-saving practices it deploys, and overall in energy saving practice.

⁶² The plan of 2011 proposed an "ambitious remote monitoring plan" for "generating public awareness in most visited buildings" (Barcelona City Council 2011, 6, 11), reproducing the Council framing about singular buildings (Section 5.3.1). The first report indicated that of the 2001 buildings of the Council, 27 had become part of the monitoring system in 2012, and three more in 2013. Moreover, the reports referred only to an energy management rationale and not to the need to generate public awareness (Barcelona Energy Agency 2013b, 74). Similarly, details about photovoltaic generation were only available in accounting reports (Barcelona Energy Agency 2013, 2014). According to a Council press release, in 2016 there was "monitoring of consumption and/or generation in 47 building, 39 photovoltaic systems, 76 solar thermal systems, and 6 singular systems". Monitoring only became mainstream practice in Council buildings and energy generation facilities with the arrival of BCN en Comu to office in 2015, which intended to introduce 50 new monitoring systems per year (Barcelona City Council 2016). Also during this term, an online map of solar photovoltaic generation in Council buildings was made available, enabling a comparative review of different Council installations.



Figure 16. The Council and the City Program, as represented in the Plan for Energy, Climate Change and Air Quality of Barcelona

Source: Barcelona City Council (2011, 228).



Figure 17. The Novissim Council Hall, whose photovoltaic rooftop not visible from the street, nor signposted to passers-by.

Source: Ramón Sales https://bcnroc.ajuntament.barcelona.cat.
5.3.3. Learning framing of replication

Ever since the Energy Improvement Plan of 2002 (Barcelona City Council 2002a) there has been a lack of alignment between the practices promoted in commercial Council buildings, other commercial buildings, and households. The integration of energy efficiency - a less visible practice - was restricted to residential buildings, whilst the Council committed itself to demonstrating visible and innovative technologies such as photovoltaic panels (ibid 2002a, 23). The criterion of "replicability" - as introduced in the plan of 2009 - referred mostly to being "replicable in other Council buildings and services" (Barcelona City Council 2009b, 3). The "role model" of the Council involving "insulation" as a replicable practice maintained the focus on "emblematic buildings...to grant visibility to the action" (ibid, 5), showing the prevalence of singular exemplars in the framing of the Council practices. Increasing focus on automation along with the conceptualisation of energy saving as smart, as reflected in the Basic Guide to Energy Efficiency in Council buildings of 2011 (Barcelona Energy Agency 2011), was in line with limited reflection about the potential of more replicable practices of behaviour and manual operation.⁶³ In addition to the arguments thus presented, especially in Section 2.3.1 about the prevalence of a legitimating rationale that relied on innovation and singular exemplars, the limited reflection about the mechanisms of replication could have been due to the dominance of techno-economic knowledge. Although Council Officials were aware of EU expectations for local governments to implement EU Energy Performance Certificates in an exemplary way, I was informed that "[the Council was] not certifying the Council buildings... because of the costs [of certificates], and the need to implement their recommendations" (Council

⁶³ These could be relevant for residential buildings as well as rented Council buildings where, according to Council officials from the Barcelona Energy Agency (#1 & 2) and of Urban Habitat (#1), the Council has limited leverage in terms of saving energy, such as in the building headquarters of the Barcelona Energy Agency and of Urban Habitat This is done through appearances, it's not true

Official from the Barcelona Energy Agency #1, pers. comm. 2014). This shows that costeffectiveness prevailed over fostering replication through exemplary practice, as consistent with the values and policies fostered by government actors.⁶⁴

Two Council commitments – to solar thermal technology and to the greening of Council office operations – stand out for apparently integrating certain practices throughout Council operations, and pursuing the replication of practices presumably mature enough for public adoption. I use these examples to show how framings of integration and replication were superseded by a framing of innovative and singular exemplars – so far prevalent in the policies discussed.

The Council Solar thermal bylaw of 2000 was represented in Council policy and reporting as the first European regulation to incorporate solar thermal capacity in all new and renovated buildings (Barcelona City Council 1999; Barcelona Energy Agency 2006a).⁶⁵ The program was originally part of a campaign to improve the City image in the run up to the Olympic Games of 1992.⁶⁶ Later on, the Council deployed solar thermal panels in high visibility projects like *Fabrica del Sol* and the Olympic Pool (Figure 18). However, this technology proved to be problematic due to its maladjustment to the solar radiation in the City, resulting in long periods of set up – as in the case of the Olympic pool (Solarge Project 2008); and permanent malfunctioning – as in the case of *Fabrica del Sol* (Renewable energy experts at *Fabrica del Sol* #1 and 2, pers. comm. 2015) and private-residential buildings (Barcelona Energy Agency 2006a). The Bylaw incorporated in 2006 a punitive system, requiring system certification and maintenance contracts (ibid 22, 24),

⁶⁴ This also contradicts policy claims about energy efficient practices being cost-effective.

⁶⁵ The Solar Thermal Bylaw was implemented from August 2000. Similar requirements became common in other cities and in Spain in the following years.

⁶⁶ Refers to the Campaign and Program "Barcelona Posa't Guapa"; i.e. "Barcelona Get Pretty" (1985-2009).

showing the limited voluntary engagement of the public. In parallel with this situation, a lack of reporting about operative capacity is common to the reviewed documents. Moreover, during interviews conducted in 2014 and 2015 the research renewable experts interviewed were openly questioning the suitability of this technology for application in the local context. Thus, although originally intending to foster Council integration and the public replication of a specific technology, the Solar Thermal Bylaw continued to support a technology that was not mature. The lack of transparency of the Council about its success supports the claims presented in Sections 5.3.1 and 5.3.2 about the prevalence of a desire for international positioning and legitimation. The risk existed that the layman public as well as sectoral experts would understand the solar thermal requirements and overall energy saving practice as an arbitrary obligation, and thus a burden.⁶⁷

CEU eTD Collection

⁶⁷ Such was my understanding following the completion of 60 interviews in households that included questions about the use of solar thermal generation in buildings finalized in the period 2001-2013. The interviews took place during my engagement with project HOME for RMIT University in the period 2016-2017.



Figure 18. Solar thermal panels installed at the Olympic pool (2004). Source: Solarge Project 2008.

Another program apparently intended to compel the public to replicate energysaving practices through the integral practice of the Council involved the Government Measure on the Greening of Council Services (Barcelona City Council 2001).⁶⁸ The measure was intended to represent an "exemplary role of public administration", and appealed to "coherence" as a means of "political legitimacy" and citizen engagement (Barcelona City Council 2001, 1). This exemplary rationale was reproduced in the +Sustainable City Council Program created in 2006 and that incorporated matters of building construction and renovation (Barcelona City Council 2010b; 2006):

⁶⁸ The measure mainly addressed the purchase and use of products and materials, as well as service contracting in Council offices

Public authorities, which often call for the involvement of the productive sectors and citizens in taking care of the environment and making our city more sustainable, play an important role in leading by example. (2006, 5)

Practice integration and, implicitly, its communication were represented to be instrumental in engaging the public with environmental practices. Such was the case of the Green Office Guide, which explained the experience of Council offices to third-parties as an example aimed at fostering greening of their offices (Barcelona City Council 2005a). However, the reformulation of the Green Office Program in the +Sustainable City Council Program resulted in attention being paid mostly to Council staff, who were offered advice and inhouse campaigning materials (Figure 19), and failure to reflect on how – potentially replicable – Council practices were to be communicated to the public.⁶⁹ Accordingly, an instruction from the Mayor's office (Barcelona City Council 2005b) and a communication campaign urging Council staff to use air conditioning appropriately under the motto "Don't get frozen. Let's lead by example, let's save energy!" (Figure 20) were not mentioned in simultaneous campaigns that addressed households and shops (respectively, "Green Light in Barcelona" and "Don't Get Frozen in Shops").⁷⁰

⁶⁹ Potentially replicable practices identified amongst those proposed included efficient lighting and solar thermal, and the behaviour of "turning off lights, computers and regulating heating and air conditioning" (Barcelona City Council 2010). Although the Sustainable Council Guide was available online, it was not tailored to third-parties as was the case with the Green Office Guide of 2006. The interested public could subscribe to a newsletter and access the program website, but much content had restricted access.

⁷⁰ Information about the Council practices was not included in the press release of the Barcelona Energy Agency on the 6th July, 2006, nor in media which echoed this (Barcelona Energy Agency 2006b; Ferragut 2006).



Figure 19. Stickers in the offices of the Council Department of Urban Habitat promoting the climbing of stairs and saving of water.



Figure 20. Campaign posters promoting appropriate thermostat use in Council offices Source: <u>http://www.ajsosteniblebcn.cat</u>

The apparently praiseworthy integration of energy-saving practices into the operation and commissioning of Council buildings - some of which could have been replicable in thirdparty commercial and residential buildings - failed to receive textual support in the form of an explanation to the public of how the Council integrates these practices and how could be replicated by the public. Such was the case of Council building certification, whose limited adoption was justified on the basis of cost, showing disregard for its capacity to compel the public to imitate the Council and to grant credibility to certification requirements. This rationale is similar to that used by the Catalan Government to justify the limited communication of the status of certification and the ratings obtained for its building stock (Section 5.2). Such limited transparency may have been a response to the desire to avoid public scrutiny in questionable domains like the deployment of solar thermal technologies. Paraphrasing Janda and Topouzi (2015), the Council practices appear to be located in a hero framing of innovative and singular exemplars whose function was contributing to legitimate the Council and boosting the City's international image, but which disregarded the socially transformative potential of a *caring framing of integration* and a *learning framing of replication*. Accordingly, the Council appears to have relied on innovative and visually striking exemplars that, as theorized by Lefebvre about monuments (1991), conceal the context of practice and its contradictions, to avoid scrutiny, and to contribute to legitimating the social order. Similar claims are made by reviewers of the concept and practice of the smart city (Fernández González 2016; Baccarne et al. 2014). The socially transformative goal of leading through examples of energy-saving practices appears to have given way to the City's preference for positioning and legitimation.

5.4. Chapter summary

Responding to the first research question, the study of policy narratives and related implementation practices reveals that:

a) These studied governments consider it fundamentally important to portray their commercial buildings as representations of their energy saving values. The EU, the Catalan and the Barcelona governments, show commitment to *coherently* abiding by certain energy saving values and representing them in their buildings as a means of compelling the public to also save energy. These values are overtly argued to respond to the public interest and good, as in the case of Barcelona.

b) A prevalence of techno-economic conceptualisations of energy saving practice, including energy efficiency, self-sufficiency and smart appear dependent on the goals of fostering growth in the EU and Spain and attracting investment to Catalonia and Barcelona by avoiding the counter-economic effects of saving energy. These economic goals appear to marginalize the stated goals of saving energy and compelling the public to act accordingly.

c) The exemplary function of government buildings appears to respond to a framing of innovative practices and singular buildings. This framing is not restricted in EU requirements and corresponds to the preferences of politicians and communication agencies, as shown for the case of the Barcelona City Council. The underlying rationale and implementation of this framing, as shown in the case of Barcelona, is better explained as a means of attracting investment to the City than as a means of compelling the public to save energy. The textual information about these practices fails to contextualise them in the practice of the Council and that of a public which is intended

to replicate them. This is problematic because, as argued in Chapters 2 and 3, framing energy-saving practices as integral part of government practices that, could foster their appraisal by the public as consistent and hence credible.

c) Limited contextualisation and transparency about the degree of integration of energy-saving practices by governments is justified by using economic arguments to disregard practices that are not cost-effective. Such is the case of the deployment and communication of EU Energy Performance Certificates in the buildings of the Catalan Government and the Barcelona City Council, and the limited commitment to the EU exemplary requirements by the Spanish Government.

Responding to the goal of understanding the root of the problem, I have shown how a series of closely related political and economic interests (that according to the discussion in Chapters 2 and 3 could underlie policy reliance on a framing of innovation and singular exemplars) raise reasonable doubts about the capacity *and intent* of exemplary policies to produce an appropriate practice. The political interests reviewed potentially involve those of the EU Commission, the Catalan Government, and Barcelona Council in gaining new attributions by producing a new domain of practice that is energy saving. They also include those of Spain in protecting (*reproducing*) its State attributions. The presence of this statizing function has been argued for in the critical literature about the energy saving policies of the EU, Catalonia and Barcelona (Talus 2013; Calzada 2017; Charnock et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016). According to these reviewers, de-politicising energy saving practice contributes to the legitimacy of the proponent governments. Such claims of legitimacy-seeking gain explanatory capacity in the context of the crisis of legitimacy in the EU, as argued for in Section 5.1. Added to these factors, the economic crisis, welfare cuts and widespread cases of political corruption in Spain and Catalonia reviewed in Section 5.2 have caused many to question the legitimacy of the politicoeconomic system.

The study of the politico-economic system also recognises the existence of vested interests in preserving current energy consumption rates and building standards. These interests could support the de-contextualisation of government practices to counter the (re)production of a practice of energy saving. A framing of innovation and singular exemplars co-produces a practice of energy saving that is technological, costly, and best deployed by organisations, resulting in their legitimation and that of the established knowledge, furthermore alienating the public from engaging with related practices (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011; Janda and Topouzi 2015). Accordingly, restricting consistency to its illusory coherence with socially accepted representations of innovative technologies and designs counters the reproduction of a practice, ultimately serving the economic interests of energy and financial sectors closely connected to Spanish political actors, as shown in Section 5.2.

Moreover, a framing of innovation and singular buildings could serve to limit public scrutiny of organisations regarding the savings obtained in buildings and elsewhere, since it is based on the quantitative knowledge of experts to conceal underachievement (Lutzenhiser 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015; Fernández González 2016; Baccarne et al. 2014), as well as regulatory contradictions and interests (Talus 2013; Charnock et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016). It *illusorily* represents practices as consistent in practice, concealing their contradictions (Lefebvre 1991). This framing therefore serves to divert attention from: a) questionable practices justified by the rationalisation of costs, like building privatisation in Spain and Catalonia; and, b) the prevalence of economic interest in maintaining consumption and economic growth – as argued by Talus for the EU (2013)

- as well as adding value to the city of Barcelona in terms of attracting investment to the city (Charnock et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016).

Thus, the apparently praiseworthy efforts of the EU, Catalonia and Barcelona to save energy in government buildings can therefore be criticized for relying mostly on a *hero framing of innovation and singular exemplars*. This appears to constitute as a missed opportunity for promoting horizontal relations of accountability, trust and engagement, considered necessary for ruling and ruled actors to co-produce practice (Shove and Walker 2010; Walker et al. 2010; Devine-Wright and Devine-Wright 2009; Devine-Wright et al. 2010; Greenberg 2014). Re-contextualising government practices along, for instance, a *caring framing of integration* and a *learning framing of replication*, could potentially contribute to engaging the public in saving energy, as suggested by Janda and Topouzi (2015). Reframing government practices in such way would imply transforming the ways governments relate to the public. This would imply, according to the theoretical framework of this dissertation (Chapter 3), and to social practice theorists (Section 2.7), to transform the social relations in which energy consumption is embedded.

Aligned with the theoretical framework proposed herein, this chapter sheds light on the knowledge and the interests that support a framing of innovation and singular exemplars. These exemplars are part of monumental representations that contribute to a creating a practice devoid of meaning, enabling banal consensus, and leading to a public appraisal of the government as legitimate (Lefebvre 1991). This argument, however, is imperfect without further empirical substantiation, as argued by authors like Tomás and Cegarra in the study of smart cities (2014), adding relevance to the study of the relations between official representations and public appraisal that I undertake in the following two chapters.

Chapter 6. Official representations

In this chapter I will primarily examine commercial buildings as representations of organisations and of the official practice of saving energy by answering Research Question 2: *How do the official narratives and practices of commissioning organisations frame energy-saving practices in four commercial buildings in Barcelona?* According to the theoretical framework of this dissertation, the function of commercial buildings is a monumental one. This function relies on emptying buildings of meaning in everyday life by decontextualising them – a problem found common in the critiques of the dominant practice of energy saving (Chapter 2). Accordingly, the monument constitutes a coherent representation of consensual conceptualisations and practices, reaping legitimacy for organisations – as also argued by Suchman (1995) – and diverting public scrutiny from inconsistencies of practice (Lefebvre 1991, 59-60, 144). Thus appears the case of the official narratives of the commissioning organisations in charge of the four case-study buildings.

When asked about the reason for saving energy in the buildings, senior organisational representatives in charge of communication concurred in highlighting the need for "coherence" between narratives appealing to the public to save energy and organisational practices – which they thoroughly referred to as "exemplarity". In the words of Senior representative of the Catalan Housing Agency #1 during an interview about the *Efficient Block* project: "[E]xemplarity... is a pre-requisite...it reassures our discourse, making it credible" (pers. comm. 2015). Similarly, a Council Official from Urban Habitat stated that "to be exemplary [the Council] needs to be as coherent as possible [because] it has requirements to contractors, to the citizenship... It is a matter of ... integrity...of

concretizing the discourse" (pers. comm. 2015). Paralleling government officials' pursuit of fostering learning amongst the public, a communication official from Endesa claimed that "since [Endesa] intends to build public awareness, we need to give an example. Otherwise, [the message] wouldn't be understood" (pers. comm. 2014). The three quotes have in common an appeal to the role of practices as contributing to the credibility of narratives (Jackson 2009).

Answering Research Question 2 will serve to reveal the contradictions occurring within official narratives, and between the former and the practices being represented in the buildings. Revealing these contradictions implies re-cognising: a) buildings as coproducing meaning, and b) their underlying political function, discussed in Chapter 5, thereby opening up opportunities for policies and everyday critique to promote a consistent representation of energy saving practice. This could counter the current expert representations that decontextualise practice to legitimize elites and dominant problematisations, framing these as best equipped to save energy through technical and economic efforts, and which are ultimately conducive to public alienation regarding the related practices (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011; Healy 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015). The study of "framing" serves to capture how representations "direct" and "divert attention" from aspects of practice (Yanow 2009, 11). Accordingly, the official narratives introduced thus far in this introductory section are considered to divert attention from a legitimating function, which also relies on the public appraisal of coherence (Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014. Suchman 1995).

Without my further questioning, the same representatives of the Catalan Housing Agency and of Endesa contended – respectively – that: "exemplarity... does not give politicians leadership... [because] the public does not believe in them" and that "people mistrust energy companies [but] these energy certificates are not a pretence". These unexpected statements show the awareness of organisations about the risk of public appraisals of the legitimating function underlying their practices. This is a risk commonly associated with the vocal sustainability claims of organisations (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014). A contradiction arises between the recognition of the role of buildings in coproducing meaning as a means of credibility, and the denial of their capacity and intent to nurture legitimacy. A contradiction may also be identified in the words of the Council representative who continued to claim that "the intent is to concretize the discourse... [to] demonstrate what is possible". These words resonate with Lefebvre's understanding about monuments rendering consensus "concrete" (1991, 220) and hint at the Council's reliance on *singular* demonstration *exemplars*, whose role is to foster confidence in *the possible;* i.e., in *innovation*, more than in fostering the integration of energy saving practice in the Council and its replication amongst the public (hence aligning with the findings about Council policies in Chapter 5).

As in Chapter 5, I draw inspiration from Janda and Topouzi's (2015) typology of stories and the Lefebvrian framework of this dissertation to study representations according to: a) a *hero framing* that refers to *innovation* and *singular exemplars* (Lefebvrian monuments); b) a *learning framing* about fostering the public *replication* of official practices; and c) a *caring framing* about the organisational integration of energy-saving practices. Having shown the widely-recognised need for "coherence" amongst organisational representatives and how this can relate to a diversity of framings, in the following sections I will reflect on the framing and contradictions of the four case studies introduced in Section 4.3.2 which create the structure of the chapter. First, I analyse *Endesa* – the corporate offices of the energy corporation – characterised as an *integral* part of the

company practice. Second, I examine *Fabrica del Sol* – the Council's sustainability museum in its evolution from *demonstrating* renewables to becoming an *integral* part of the smart city. Third, I study *Media-ICT* – the Council's iconic building in terms of the City's commitment to supporting smart innovations. Fourth, I assess the *Efficient Block* – the Catalan-Government-led project intended as a *replicable* model of residential energy renovation. Finally, the chapter summary discusses the prevalence of a hero framing amongst the cases and explains how this relies on a set of legitimating mechanisms that hinders a caring and a learning framing of the organisations and their practice.

6.1. Endesa: integral caring and limited communication

The Catalan headquarters of Endesa in Barcelona – the *Endesa* building – reunites a series of modernist, second half of the twentieth century and new buildings (2011). It was commissioned after the convoluted purchase of Endesa by the Italian Enel in 2009 that occurred after the Spanish Government vetoed a bid by Gas Natural Fenosa, owned by a Catalan bank. Offers from foreign bidders were accepted, responding to preference of the conservative Government of Spain for Endesa to be "better German than Catalan".⁷¹ Amidst a heated nationalist conflict between Spain and Catalonia (Section 5.2), interference of the Spanish Government was widely criticized in Catalan nationalist circles as being an act of "corporate Catalanophobia" (324cat 2006). This explains, along with company awareness about public mistrust in energy utilities (see the words of the communication representative in the introductory section of this chapter) the company's commitment to improving its image once Enel's purchase had been completed.

⁷¹ The phrase is attributed to a high ranking member of the Spanish Government (Güemes 2008).

According to an Architect involved in the Endesa building in Barcelona, its construction responded to a decision "to transmit a new [company] image relying on energy efficiency...to bring together pre-existing and new parts of the building". To this contributes the colour shading of windows. The former interviewee explained that the use of colour shading of windows and the use of high efficiency heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems emulated the vernacular use of curtains and ventilation routines. The use of automation was deemed necessary - as in any commercial building designed to be efficient - but also intended as a form of "democratic control of thermal comfort... [because] otherwise the strong one sets the temperature and then girls feel cold". The same dual purpose of energy efficiency and democratic comfort was pursued with space distribution. Managerial offices, commonly placed in the façade and offering the best views to the highest-ranked, did not occupy corners and had transparent walling to ensure "democratic" access to natural light. According to the designer, Endesa was at first unwilling to accept the latter design feature, but understood that it was necessary to improve staff satisfaction, and then made efforts to communicate the rationale of the measures to the staff (pers. comm. 2014). This claim was corroborated by a communication official, who stated that energy saving measures were accompanied by signposting, information screens and training (pers. comm. 2014). Thus, Endesa's commitment to saving energy implied a transformation of company relations with staff, as reflected in the choice of space distribution and a communication strategy that engaged users in understanding and managing the building. The choice of efficient technologies, accompanied with appropriate design and communication, appear to have framed energy saving as part of the caring efforts of the company towards its staff.

Similarly, in communications to the non-user public, the efficiency of the building was portrayed as proof of the company's willingness to improve workers' comfort, and to unify its offices in Barcelona, described as evidence of its commitment to stay in Catalonia (Angulo and Muñoz 2012), hence showing that the company cared about its employees, the local community, and the environment. This reflects the Endesa Sustainability Policy which promotes efficiency throughout the company buildings and acknowledges a will to reflect public values and perceptions about the company (Endesa 2015). The company policy of fostering energy efficiency in its buildings appears therefore as a means of building legitimacy (Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Suchman 1995). Aligned with the Lefebvrian framework of this dissertation, the reliance on energy efficiency provided the opportunity to appeal to a consensual agreement to deflect criticism about the vested interests underlying the action of the company (Section 5.3) and to improve public acceptance. This would be particularly relevant in times of retail market liberalization. By transforming and furthermore reflecting in communications the way the company related to the public (users and non-users) it can be argued that the strategy of the company was to foster trust, acceptance and engagement (Gross 2007; Batel et al. 2016; Devine-Wright et al. 2010; Greenberg 2014), overall contributing to "good governance" whereby social capital is construed by "trust" (Weiss 2000; Fukuyama 2001).

CEU eTD Collection

Further countering an understanding of *Endesa* as a monument, at a first stage the company press releases framed the efficiency of the building (A and B ratings in the EU Energy Performance Certification system) in the context of 17 other buildings to "demonstrate Endesa's efforts to reduce its energy consumption" (Endesa 2013). This aligns with the caring framing of integration proposed in this dissertation. By referring to "reducing consumption", the conceptualisation of energy saving is inclusive, with a

plurality of approaches, hence diverting from the hero framing that relies on conceptually and technologically reductionist ones. Accordingly, the building's consumption and savings were described using a combination of quantitative indicators and mundane explanations. These included references to the context of meaning-making and to the public's experience with EU appliance labelling – more widespread at the time than EU building certificates (Table 8**Error! Reference source not found.**). By referring to the everyday context, this communication appeared to be designed to foster meaning-making amongst multiple audiences, hence aligning with the company's "intent to build awareness amongst the population" referenced in the chapter introduction. The building was therefore framed as being coherent with company values and an integral part of its practices, showing that the company cared about saving energy and potentially enabling public learning.

Energy Performance Certification system	electrical appliances"		
Building surface	8,766 m ² used for office s	space	
Consumption	197,785 kWh/year	"Energy consumption and CO ₂ emissions of the certified area are 60% lower than those of a building of a similar size which meets the minimum energy efficiency requirements of the CTE [Spanish Technical Building Code]"	
Energy savings	357,886 kWh/year		
Avoided emissions	195 Tons of CO ₂ /year		
Magnitude of energy savings in mundane terms	Equivalent to the annual e	electricity demand of 84 households	

 Table 8. Summary of the energy savings of Endesa as described in a press release of the company.

 Explanation of the EU
 "The energy efficiency certificate ...is similar to that used for

Source: Endesa (2013).

However, as shown in Table 8, the savings are related to a national standard (CTE), not the previous situation. This utilization of certificates is problematic because it confuses calculated efficiency with actual savings, hence allowing the formulation of claims that the public would find them difficult to verify (Moezzi and Janda 2014; Wilhite 2010; Guy and Moore 2005b; Janda and von Meier 2005). This situation could have been avoided, for instance by comparing energy consumption per square meter in this and previous buildings in which company officials used to work. This approach to apparent transparency is common to the educational facilities and energy exhibition in the building known as Endesa Educa. The former refer to the company processes of energy generation, transportation and distribution, but not to its role as responsible consumer, for instance, in its commercial buildings (Figure 21). Thus, the public visiting these facilities are informed about how to save energy at home and at school but are not motivated to reflect on the practices of the company, overall reproducing the model of exhortation whereby company practices are not open to critique. Supporting arguments about limited contextual communication to the public, the building does not display in its exterior either its Energy Performance Certificate or its consumption; and the energy-saving practices in place are not signposted nor observable from the street (Figure 22). Instead, there is a narrative emphasis on "next generation" technology (Endesa 2013), which is not explained to the public contributing to the avoidance of scrutiny of the consistency of practice and hence legitimating the organisation.



Figure 21. Scheme of the electric grid, highlighting Endesa Educa amidst processes of generation, distribution and consumption. Source: Screenshot of endesaeduca.com (Enel 2014).



Figure 22. Facade of the *Endesa* building and entrance from Carrer de Vilanova. Source: <u>www.alotark.com</u> (above) and Google Street view (below).

Limited communication about the building became, according to an architect involved in the building design, deliberate. In view of the limited public knowledge about energy efficiency and sustainability, especially at times of financial hardship, "Endesa decided...not to communicate its achievements" (pers. comm. 2014). This implies that Endesa was concerned about being appraised as overspending and, furthermore, attracting attention to its revenue and practice during a period characterised not only by the financial crisis but by public discontent about the politics of energy in Spain (Section 5.2). Supporting arguments about the deliberate attempts of the company to deflect attention from the buildings, I found that after the first round of observation and interviewing in Barcelona in mid-2014, as described in Section 4.4, it became impossible to arrange interviews with company representatives. Generally welcoming interactions in person and via phone, email and social media were followed by cancelled meetings and a general halt in communication (Figure 23).

This limited communication is aligned with the awareness of corporations about the lack of consensus concerning the priorities of sustainability (Geels 2010), the fact that vocal claims may be appraised as greenwashing (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014), and that being placed on the spot could imperil the public image of the organisation in the case of a "salient incident" (Greenberg 2014). This would have been problematic in a climate of mistrust about the influence of the company in Spanish politics and protests about the dominance of economic interests over the provision of service to the public (Section 5.2). This facilitates understanding of why, after a first stage of publicizing the company's commitment to saving energy, the company embarked on a different communication strategy which involved sponsoring the National Basketball League using 30.5 million euros over six years (Sáez 2012) – a cost similar to that of constructing the building (35 million euros). In contrast to the initial strategy of communicating the company's practices, supporting sports could be seen as engagement in a consensual cause that would provide

legitimacy gains for Endesa whilst diverting attention from its practices, namely a Lefebvrian "banal consensus" (1991, 6).



Figure 23. Computer screenshot showing that an Endesa official blocked me during an ongoing conversation in Linked in.

There is a contrast between the framing of energy-saving practices in representations that address non-user and user publics. Regardless of the apparently praiseworthy efforts to integrate high energy efficiency standards into its buildings, and to build awareness amongst the public, the company conceals from the non-user public its energy saving practice. This is intended to be represented by the building's looks - mostly its colour shading – but the absence of textual communications (after initial press releases) reduces comparability and hence scrutiny. In this, the integral adoption of energy efficiency practices (technologies and certifications) constitutes a collection of singular buildings that obscure to non-users publics the company's practice. It implies a missed opportunity to: a) foster learning about replicable practices actually in place - e.g. shadowing, ventilation, and certification, and b) demonstrate that throughout its operations the company cares about saving energy and fostering learning. This situation, together with a marketing shift towards sponsoring the National Basketball League, supports arguments about the prevalence of a legitimating hero framing that relies on values and representations that are empty of meaning. The framing adopted in communication to non-user publics contrasts with that adopted by the company in relation to the building's users. This responded to an understanding – defended by the design team – that saving energy requires a transformation of the way space and systems are used, and that this in turn involves a transformation of power relations - e.g. gender- and hierarchy-related. Communications to users would then reflect on this to frame the energy-saving practices actually in place as part of company efforts to care about user comfort and to save energy.

In the next section, I review *Fabrica del Sol* as another case where the deployment of energy-saving practices contrasts with the limited contextualisation of communications.

6.2. *Fabrica del Sol*: conflicting activist and Council framings

A modernist building was renovated in 1999 to promote the development of renewable energy technologies in the form of hosting environmental education equipment and a Council sustainability museum; i.e. *Fabrica del Sol*. Collaboration with a civil organisation, Futur Sostenible – whose offices were located in the building – reflected the intention of the Council at the time to adhere to the sustainability principle of participation.⁷² The original purpose of the building was:⁷³

[T]o disseminate sustainable development values... [and] to host environmental education equipment... in order to be demonstrative in itself of eco-design, bioconstruction, and the use of renewable energy sources. (Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Environment 2011)

Hence, "energy saving" was conceptualised as part of "sustainability". The awarenessbuilding and educational function of the building was designed to be supported with a "demonstration" of state-of-the-art technologies. As shown in Figure 24, solar thermal panels were installed on the rooftop and a photovoltaic panel was located in the southern corner of the façade – the latter choice showing a preference for visibility over producing energy. The deployment of renewable technologies aligned with the Council's creation of the Barcelona Energy Agency in 2002 and the introduction of the Solar Thermal Bylaw of year 2000. Following the principles contained in the Citizen Commitment to Sustainability of 2012, the building was conceptualised as "self-sufficient".⁷⁴ At the time of my field

CEU eTD Collection

⁷² These principles originated from the dedication of Barcelona to the Aalborg Charter in 1995 and were captured in the People's Commitment to Sustainability (2002-2012) (Section 5.3).

⁷³ The web-page of the Ministry had not been updated at the time of this research which enabled access to the original narrative about the building.

research, the "Barcelona Smart City" stamp was present in all communications that I reviewed about the building. This re-conceptualisation underpinned the renovation of the building's exhibition in 2015. As a result of these conceptual shifts, an anonymous Council Official argued that "the message of *Fabrica [del Sol]*…is a mess [because] every year they come up with a new idea" (pers. comm. 2015).



Figure 24. Image of *Fabrica del Sol* showing the photovoltaic and solar panels. Source: www.ajuntamentdbarcelona.cat

Throughout this reconceptualisation, the guiding principle of the building was to foster replication. An architect involved in the building renovation argued during an interview in 2015 that "*Fabrica [del Sol]* was the same from the beginning, a self-sufficient or quite a sustainable building, but replicable, for others to adopt its solutions". To this framing of energy-saving practices in the building as replicable contributed reflections in the exhibition until 2014 about the practices associated with the building. These included, for instance, information about how thermal wall and roof insulation could be implemented in a heritage building without requiring advanced technologies or significantly changing the exterior appearance of the building (Figure 25). This learning framing of replication coincided with the grand presence of technologies, which along with the educational function of the building made it a singular representation of the Council's interest in saving

energy. In the words of Renewable Energy Expert #1: "The Council has invested in different [energy] technologies in its buildings....but... where you can see more concentration is in *Fabrica [del Sol]*" (pers. comm. 2015).

During the incumbency of the Conservative Council (2011-2015), Fabrica del Sol was increasingly overlooked.⁷⁵ Renewable Energy Expert #2 explained in justification for this that "in contrast to smart...self-sufficiency lacks a budget, a technical project [and] the legal basis...to be a policy" (pers. comm. 2015). Another reason may have been the difficulty of fitting "sustainability" into the discourse of the Conservatives, their core supporters and City investors, according to a Council Official from Urban Habitat. According to the same official, the Council's "self-sufficiency" was an intermediate step towards reconceptualising energy saving as part of "smart city branding". The former would retain elements of citizen engagement with the previous focus on sustainability, whilst the latter tended towards a "technology that will save us all types of discourse" (pers. comm. 2015). Adding to these reasons, a Council Official from Urban Habitat #1 argued that the conceptual shift responded to "the will of politicians to change the name of things to justify [government] change" (pers. comm. 2015), sustaining theoretical claims about the need of governments to produce their "own" practice (Lefebvre 1991, 53) though specific conceptualisations. These political motivations would explain the reconceptualisation of energy saving and the discontinuation of efforts related to the conceptualisations and projects of previous governments, such as Fabrica del Sol.

⁷⁵ For instance, according to an anonymous expert, the Councillor in charge of the building used to refer to it "scornfully, as something from Imma [Mayol, the earlier leftist-green Counsellor]" (pers. comm. 2015).



Figure 25. Detail from the exhibition in *Fabrica del Sol* (as of August 2014) which reflects on the use of insulation walling and roofing.

As a result of the limited interest of the Council in the building, its self-sufficiency during my field research amounted to one-tenth of the building's consumption (Serrasolses, intervention in public workshop 20/05/14 – in Ecoinstitut 2014a). This was problematic for education experts in the building and renewable experts and members of Futur

Sostenible.⁷⁶ During interviews in 2014 and 2015, these experts problematized the limited renewable generation from the solar thermal infrastructure and the photovoltaic panel because the former had not been repaired since its failure before the building start-up, and the generation from the latter was limited due to its obsolescence and its positioning on the façade.⁷⁷ To attain a state of self-sufficiency and be able to support a credible narrative, these interviewees considered that the repair of solar thermal infrastructure on the building was needed, but also less visible practices like the installation of efficient systems and appropriate space distribution to significantly reduce consumption. It can be argued that these practices would have involved greater attention being paid to replicable solutions. This limited visibility was, according to Renewable Energy Expert #1, the reason why these practices were not deployed in the building (pers. comm. 2015). This resonates with the preference of Council politicians and communication offices for "innovative...visible...and costlier exemplars... [over] multiple projects... [intended] to activate other actors", as argued by Council Official from the Barcelona Energy Agency #1 (pers. comm. 2015). According to these claims, the building would reproduce the hero framing of innovation and singular exemplars of the Council policy and practice which, as discussed in Section 5.3, can be understood as responding to a legitimating function.

Supporting this argument, the response of the Council to the limited self-sufficiency of the building was mainly to conceal it, hence countering what would be expected from a learning framing of replication. As a Senior Education Executive explained, energy generation and consumption meters were removed from public display, because "it was

⁷⁶ Some of the most compelling narratives came from a senior education executive; two renewable energy experts; a Council official from the Barcelona Energy Agency (#1), and two Education officials (#1).

⁷⁷ According to the renewable energy experts I interviewed, the solar thermal technology was very innovative at the time of its installation on the building. This technology required continued monitoring and use, particularly in locations with high solar radiation like Barcelona. However, at the end of the building renovation the panels were not used for a period and broke before the building start-up.

difficult to justify the discourse that we need to go for renewables when you have a meter that shows that we are not producing" (pers. comm. 2015).⁷⁸ Also, the information boards obscured the failure of the solar thermal system, and referred to them instead as if they were operative and contributing to the heating and cooling of the building (Figure 26). Instead of fixing these problems, the Council, according to the aforementioned education expert, increasingly used the building as a hub for "organizing visits to solar thermal installations for people to see that it is not a myth...that they are required to install [solar panels], whilst Council ones are not operating" (pers. comm. 2015). This shows that the Council was aware of the risk that its solar thermal requirements could be appraised as "hypocritical" by the public – to use the Jackson's term for the appraisal of the contradictions between policy exhortations and government practices (2009, 11). To address this situation the Council referred to other singular exemplars instead of integrating appropriate practices into Fabrica del Sol. This may be explained by the aforementioned limited interest of the Conservative Council in a project initiated by the leftist Council elected in May 2015. It could be also explained by a desire to avoid a recognition of failure, and an expectation that limited criticism would be generated as long as the building maintained a low communication profile.

⁷⁸ This aligns with the limited deployment of monitoring displays and Energy Performance Certificates in Council buildings, as discussed in Section 5.3.



Figure 26. Solar thermal infrastructure on the rooftop of *Fabrica del Sol*, and information board indicating how this contributes to heating and cooling the building.

Countering this apparent desire to maintain a low profile, the Council responded to requests from Futur Sostenible for a participatory process to be enacted prior to the renovation of the building planned for 2015. During this process, technology and education 164

experts demanded that efforts be made for the building to be demonstrative in itself as a means of ensuring the credibility of the energy-saving practices thus displayed. In his reply, the Head of the Department of Environmental Education in charge of the building promised to "include [these requirements] in the new exhibition" (Vallvé, participation in public workshop 20/05/14 – Ecoinstitut 2014b, 8), but did not mention improvements to the building's self-sufficiency. These words show an understanding of *Fabrica del Sol* which is reduced to its exhibition. Supporting this argument, monitoring addressed only educational activities and excluded the opinion of visitors about the building and the practices in place. There appears therefore to be a focus on exhibition and educational activities as means of communicating to the public, which furthermore diverts attention from the limited integration and replicability of practices in *Fabrica del Sol*.

The divide between the framing of expert activists and Council Officials is also suggested by the words of a Council Official about the building, stated during an interview in 2015. This interviewee acknowledged that the participatory process had served to "[help] understand that people are central, not technologies" but who continued to proclaim that "our mission [in *Fabrica del Sol*] is communicating this smart discourse ... explaining what is done at the city level". It appears, therefore, that in official narratives, *Fabrica del Sol* was reduced from being *demonstrative in itself* – as originally defined – to a platform for communicating the singular and innovative practices. Energy saving practice was thus represented as related to that implemented by the Council elsewhere under the less quotidian conceptualisation of smart. Its conceptual sophistication, and the reduction of practice to technologies would then limit scrutiny of the Council, as argued by the critical reviews presented in Section 2.4 (March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016; Fernández González

2016).⁷⁹ In the context of the Council's pursuit of legitimacy, "self-sufficiency" appears to be a problematic concept because it takes the form of a quantitative goal for Council commitments, creating high expectations – particularly for a building renovated in 1999 – whilst not nurturing reflection about the practices of generation and reducing consumption.⁸⁰Accordingly, self-sufficiency would have become an overly transparent instrument for assessing the performance of the building, which explains the Council's preference for process indicators of smart technology deployment.

I have shown that the reconceptualisation of energy saving as "self-sufficiency" and eventually as "smart" involved deviating from the social and environmental goals of the building; i.e. away from fostering sustainability values by demonstrating the feasibility and replicability of related practices. This *learning framing* was defended by experts and activists involved in the building who contested the reduction of the building to an exhibition whilst disregarding its self-sufficiency. Limited communication about the building's self-sufficiency and a preference for reformulating the building as part of smart practice supports the arguments presented in Section 5.3 about the Council's desire to divert public scrutiny of its practices and hence the prevalence of a legitimating function, as reflected in a *hero framing* rather than a *learning framing*. By concealing the limited

⁷⁹ Supporting arguments about the desire to limit scrutiny of the practices of the Council, open criticism from Futur Sostenible could be related to the process that took place in 2015 of restricting their office space and activities in the *Fabrica*. Reversing this situation, the leftist coalition government elected in May 2015 (by the end of my field work) resumed collaboration with Future Sostenible. They also conducted repairs and improvements to the building and, addressing issues of transparency, initiated a certification process. (Such process had not been pursued in the past on the basis that Energy Performance Certificates are not required for heritage buildings). An "A" rating – the highest – was obtained using the EU Energy Performance Certificate system, and four points out of four in the Verde Certificate in 2016 (Construible 2018).

⁸⁰ For instance, a Council official from Barcelona Energy Agency #2 and an Education official #1 agreed in claiming during interviews conducted in 2014 that "self-sufficiency" distorts the essence of energy saving because it enables the inclusion of non-renewable sources like thermal energy, the use of which is fostered by the Council (Section 5.3.1)

self-sufficiency of *Fabrica del Sol*, the Council could have missed an opportunity to reflect on the mistakes that were made, including those related to the problematic operation of solar thermal systems in the City (Section 5.3). The organisational pursuit of legitimacy through *hero stories* explains – according to Janda and Topouzi – how official narratives divert attention from failure. They thus constitute, in legitimacy-oriented practice, a "horror story", and could be reformulated into a compelling "learning story" whereby mutual trust between the Council and citizens could be nurtured, ultimately contributing to a "caring story" (2015). Public acceptance of the Council's action could then be pursued not in terms of the attainment of energy saving goals but as regards the capacity to produce an appropriate practice. This could involve, in alignment with the original framing of *Fabrica del Sol*, continuing collaboration with civil society, and allowing public scrutiny and debate by transparently framing the practices in the building as part of the Council's efforts towards integration and public replication.

In the next section I review the situation of *Media-ICT*, a building that was constructed *ad hoc* to represent the smart city practices of the Council.

6.3. *Media-ICT*: the monumental production of the smart city

The *Media-ICT* building is located in the industrial neighbourhood of Poblenou, which is undergoing transformation into the "22@ District", designated by the Council to foster the digital economy (Charnock et al. 2014). Public communications of the Council and the Consorci Zona Franca (henceforth, Consorci ZF)⁸¹ – in terms of commissioning and developing the *Media-ICT* – acknowledge the building as a *visual* representation of the City's commitment to the digital economy:

[T]the building seeks to be *iconic* in the digital world and a vehicle for the dissemination of new technologies. (22@Barcelona 2006)

[The Media-ICT] is the new image of Barcelona Digital. (Consorci ZF 2010, 6)

A focus on visual aspects and the iconic value of the building is reflected in the display of technological innovations that constitute the building's façade. These are characterized by a series of innovations specifically created for the building, including the external phosphorescent structure and a series of translucent bubbles made of a new material – EFTE – that are operated by solar sensors that adjust the transparency of the façade to the level of solar radiation (Figure 27).

⁸¹ The Consorci is the public company that partnered with the Council in the development of the *Media-ICT*. Its board of directors contains representatives of the different administrations and is presided over by the Mayor of Barcelona.



Figure 27. The *Media-ICT* façade and entrance.
A focus on the visual and iconic features of the building is also upheld by an analysis of developers' communications. Council and Consorci ZF booklets addressing potential tenants of the building and investors in the 22@ District contain profuse references to "design", being a "new technological center" (Consorci ZF n.d., 4) and "innovation" (Barcelona Activa and Barcelona City Council 2012, 6). Renting space in the building is presented as the possibility to "incorporate the values of the Barcelona brand" (Barcelona Activa and Barcelona City Council 2012). These values, however, are not specified in these documents. "Sustainability" is mentioned but not explained, and furthermore becomes dependent on aspects of corporate image and productivity: "An emblematic building, with avant-garde and sustainable architecture, comprising modern, diaphanous offices surrounded by a very advanced technological setting" and "productive sustainability" (Consorci ZF n.d., 3, 5) (Figure 28). Terms like "emblematic", "avantgarde", "modern", "future" and "very advanced technological environment" identify innovation as a goal in itself, disconnected from energy saving or sustainability (Consorci ZF n.d., 3-4). As shown in Figure 29 and Figure 28, both booklets have in common their graphic reference to the EFTE façade, and the words "what a company needs to succeed" are printed over the picture of the dotted pattern on the façade on the booklet from Barcelona Activa and Barcelona City Council (2012, 1). However, aspects like the energy saving function of the EFTE façade is not explained. This shows a will to exhibit innovative design and technologies to obtain recognition for the Council and the tenants of the building. Supporting this argument, whilst visiting the building in summer 2015 I observed that that between visits of potential tenants to currently empty floors, the real-estate representative of Consorci ZF kept the lights on, overriding their automation – possibly the energy saving mechanism most obvious to users besides the façade. This shows the limited relevance granted to energy saving as a selling point.



Figure 28. Central pages of a brochure promoting Media-ICT.82

CEU eTD Collection

⁸² Source: Consorci ZF (n.d., 5-6).



Figure 29. Cover of a booklet about the Council's Business Support Office located in *Media-ICT*. Source: Barcelona Activa and Barcelona City Council (2012).

The practices displayed in the building respond therefore to a hero framing of innovation whereby the Council and potential tenant organisations seek to be associated with positive values and the singularity of the building. It can be argued that in consonance with the concept of the Lefebvrian monument, energy saving and sustainability are thereby banalised and de-politicised in the *Media-ICT*. They produce, together with the related aesthetics, innovation and singularity, a conceptual consensus, whereby the sustainability credentials of the building are its innovative design, along with the deployment of technologies. This hero framing of innovation, along with the monumental use of the building, relate to the Council's desire to "add value" to working and investing in 22@, as

explicitly recognised in the Council Action Plan for 2012-2015 (Barcelona City Council 2012a, 88, 92). This pursuit of added value has been criticized as a feature of the "entrepreneurial city" in which economic interests and development prevail over social and environmental progress (Harvey 1989, 2005; Jessop 1997), and, as reviewed in Section 5.3, as applied to the smart practice of Barcelona City Council (Charnock et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016).

In comparison to the official representations of the Council and Consorci ZF, the narratives of the design team (Ruiz-Geli and Cloud-9) appeared to grant greater relevance to making energy savings and communicating the practices thus involved. A member of the design team introduced the building in a guided tour in 2015 like this:

[The *Media-ICT*] is designed around energy criteria...the structure and facades relate to this [because] a sustainable building in Barcelona should not have four identical facades...[The *Media-ICT*] needed to be a light construction, to save money in foundations...This money is then allocated to ... researching other ways of doing a façade

As in the case of *Endesa*, energy saving is represented in design narratives as the guiding principle of the building. However, as the quotes show, saving energy justifies and permits the ultimate goal of innovation – the selling point of the Council and Consorci ZF. Innovation was represented as having a positive social and environmental impact. As argued by the same designer that guided me through the building, the innovative design permits that:

[w]hat is constructed is what we see, thus [the building] is 'empathetic' because people that walk around know what it is...the building becomes part of the solution and not the cause of [climate change]. (pers. comm. 2015) In these words, innovation becomes the universal remedy for saving energy and for compelling the public to save energy, under the assumption that a transparent display of building techniques suffices for the laymen public to understand energy-saving practices and to engage with their replication. Aligning with this assumption of the sufficiency of innovation and transparency to generate "empathy" (i.e. to communicate and to normalize energy saving practice), the building's energy saving credentials were only observed as displayed on the EU Energy Performance Certificate. This was exhibited by the ground-floor gates to the elevators (Figure 30).⁸³ This sufficiency of the building's co-production of meaning was explained in the words of the main designer, Ruiz-Geli:⁸⁴

[I]n the second phase [of sustainability]... law determines whether a building is sustainable or not... [through] certificates....What interests me is the third phase, where sustainability is not the topic, because it's evident... communicative buildings... transfer knowledge, technology, explain what they do and how. (In Carrio 2010, translated from the original)

⁸³ Its display, besides the multiple forms of recognition of the building for its innovative design, further contribute to reducing the meaning of energy saving to that of innovation. Moreover, signposting was missing from the interior and exterior of the building that would indicate how different practices contribute to saving energy.

⁸⁴ During my visits to the *Media-ICT* I became acquainted with the close supervision that the main designer had undertaken of the installation of movable assets such as curtains and temporary walling. Accordingly, it is unlikely that the limited signposting was not a response to his instructions.



Figure 30. Display of the EU Energy Performance Certificate along with other forms of recognition of *Media-ICT*.

Thus, in designer representations, knowledge and technology are fundamental dimensions of the practice being represented, and are assumed to be able to foster social transformation. These assumptions reflect the Lefebvrian elite mode of production (Chapter 2), which relies on expert knowledge and technical improvements, represented in singular buildings monuments - to foster the illusion that an appropriate practice is being produced. They also correspond with the positivist assumption critiqued by cultural reviews (Dutton and Mann 1996; Guy and Moore 2005a; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014) of the perception of technology as transparent. In consonance with the building designers, I understand that the normalization of an appropriate morphology - as referred to by Lefebvre - may be countered by explaining it. However, an explanation may be needed so that the public are not mislead in their appraisals of energy saving practice, and in the assumption that social transformation automatically follows from technological innovation. Instead, the absence of textual explanation about the extent (and means) of saving energy could legitimate official practice by means of diverting critique that is best equipped to engage with reviews of text, whereby buildings are assumed to be "transparent" (Lefebvre 1991, 292; Dutton and Mann 1996, 38; Guy and Moore 2005a, 5). This reductionist epistemology would then serve to divert attention from the ultimate goal which – as shown in the representations conducted by the Council and the Consorcy – is producing added value for the building, the District and the City. The building can be explained as attempt to "generat[e] (or produc[e]) an appropriate morphology" (Lefebvre 1991, 416) for energy saving practice. By reducing energy saving to innovation, the building demonstrates the Council's commitment to the digital economy without fostering a fear of environmental regulations, as argued by reviewers of City politics (Charnock et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016). The reduction in the official framing of energy saving to innovative technologies potentially contributes to legitimating the practice of organisations and expert knowledge (Moezzi and Janda 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015; Swyngedouw 2010, 2011; Healy 2014).

6.4. *Efficient Block*: coherence is not consistency

The *Efficient Block* was during my field research a multidisciplinary competition about ideas for energy renovation. The selected project idea would be supported by the Catalan Government and implemented in a block located in the centre of Barcelona (Figure 31).⁸⁵ This consisted mostly of residential buildings but also included a building owned by the Housing Agency of the Catalan Government and two City Council buildings, the latter which was involved as a supporting organisation.⁸⁶ An important component of the project was its publicity, which was aimed at engaging the public in residential building renovation (Edificis de Catalunya 2015). Accordingly, it was coordinated by Habitat Futura, "a communication group specialized in sustainable construction" as described in habitatfutura.com. The project originated from the recommendations of the EU research Project MARIE (Mediterranean Building Rethinking for Energy Efficiency Improvement) whose results problematized the maladjustment of EU policies in the Mediterranean context; accordingly, mild Mediterranean winters constitute a barrier to the cost-effectiveness of energy efficiency interventions focused on thermal insulation and disregard locally-adapted designs and behaviours (MARIE 2014, 19).⁸⁷

⁸⁵ The block selected by the organizers was located between the streets Gran Via, Viladomat, Calabria and Diputacio.

⁸⁶ The Council buildings consisted of a health centre and a home for the elderly.

⁸⁷ A similar argument was put forward during interviews in 2015 by senior representatives of the Catalan Housing Agency (#1) and of the Catalan Institute of Energy to justify the limited action being taken in Government buildings. The cost-effectiveness of building renovation measures in different Catalan climates was being reviewed at the time of this research by the Catalan Institute of Energy (Capdevila presentation, Construmat, 20 May 2015).



Figure 31. Aerial image of the block addressed by the *Efficient Block* project. The circles indicate the three government buildings. Source: Google Maps.

The *Efficient Block* was publicized as "[t]he Block of Barcelona that will provide the benchmark in [building] renovation" (Edificis de Catalunya 2016a) (Figure 32). Responding to MARIE's recommendations, this meant creating an exemplar in which energy saving practice was adapted to the local context of housing renovation. This is reflected in the first of four specific objectives: "To create a referent model, a pilot project which coins a replicable methodology". This learning framing of replication is then plausibly connected with the main project objective: "to create a market for housing renovation..." (ibid). However, the main objective does not acknowledge, in alignment with MARIE, the limitations of the official practice espoused in EU policies and implemented by the Catalan Government. Instead, the replication of the experience is to be attained – as the main objective continues –, "...through a change in the values in citizen perception" (sic, Catalan version), which is also reflected in the last of the specific objectives: "To decidedly contribute to *the* perception change about renovation, generating a new positive sentiment of appreciation *in* citizens" (ibid, my emphasis). The blame for limited success with building renovation is thus placed on the public, not on official knowledge and practice. This provides a new interpretive light in the words of Senior representative of the Catalan Housing Agency #1 (referenced in the introduction to this Chapter): "exemplarity... does not give politicians leadership... [Because] the public does not believe in them" (pers. comm. 2015). Accordingly, the project narratives reproduce the problematic blaming of citizens that underlies the dominant techno-economic problematisation of the energy efficiency gap – as argued by Lutzenhiser (2014) and thoroughly discussed in Chapter 2.



Figure 32. Promotional poster for the *Efficient Block*. Source: Edificis de Catalunya (2016a).

Countering the interpretation of the project description presented so far, two specific objectives require the involvement of government policies and practices: "To promote a new normative framework and institutional instruments", and "To activate financing mechanisms able to stimulate demand for energy and sustainable building renovation" (ibid). Arguably, these objectives would contribute to promoting energy renovation to a rational decision-maker who reflects on the economic and administrative context of renovating. Also, taking beyond Jackson's claims about coherence (2009), experience with a consistent normative and financial context could contribute to the public's granting credibility to official exhortations. However, these objectives are not related in the text to the production of "values" and a positive "sentiment". They can be understood, however, as referring to a vague relationship between the *Efficient Block* and the transformation of "citizen perceptions". From the theoretical approach of this dissertation, the context is reduced to a singular exemplar, a monument of citizen practice produced under the command of the government whose purpose is produce an illusory consistency of practice; i.e., to induce a new "sentiment". As the main objective shows, there is a risk that the project diverts attention from the normative and financial context, and hence from the practice of the government. Furthermore, no mention is made of the government buildings in the block, nor elsewhere, which fact serves to contextualise the *Efficient Block* as part of ongoing efforts.

The framing issues presented here appear to be inbuilt into the Catalan Government Strategy for Energy Renovation of Buildings (ECREE) (Catalan Government 2014). In related communications, projects like the *Efficient Block* are referred to as: "projects whose innovation, publicity, savings and investment qualities make them a flagship and a referent" (Edificis de Catalunya 2016b). This appears to respond to a hero framing of innovation and singular (flagship) buildings, whose function is to generate "publicity" more than to produce a consistent practice. The term "referent" is not further explained, leaving it unclear to what extent these buildings are to be replicable. Whilst investment and savings are considered as potentially attracting publicity, the cost-effectiveness of such practices and those that require little or no investment are not reflected in the definition. More than learning, these projects seek to attract attention, disregarding their context of replication. In contrast to the Strategy text, Senior representative of the Catalan Housing Agency #1 explained the former as fostering "projects that are *not pilot* but exemplary, whose high replicability...serves to explain their success, as applicable to your [the public] conditions" (pers. comm. 2015, interviewee's emphasis). A similar understanding was shared by a senior representative of the Municipal Institute of Housing and Renovation, who acknowledged the quasi-sufficiency of vernacular practices to ensure adequate levels of thermal comfort in the mild climate of Barcelona (pers. comm. 2014). The words of these officials are aligned with the findings of MARIE and highlight the replicability of low-cost, vernacular practices fostered by the government, as opposed to the ECREE strategy text which seems to prioritize more visible, higher budget, innovative and singular exemplars. As with the case of the Council policy, practices and communication (Section 5.3), there appears to be conflict of framings between the narratives of: a) implementing officials, which acknowledge the learning potential in smaller, integral and replicable practices, and b) politicians (who drafted the ECREE) and communication experts (who coordinated the *Efficient Block*) who prefer costlier, innovative and singular exemplars.

These contradictory framings reflect on the project definition and implementation. The project evaluation criteria involved "a coordination system amongst condominiums", "a model of neighbour participation and engagement" and the "replicability of the rehabilitation proposal" (Edificis de Catalunya 2015, 4). However, the three government buildings in the block did not participate, hence jeopardizing the potential for coordination amongst condominiums and the replicability of the project in other blocks with mixed uses, common in the City.⁸⁸ A profusion of mixed-use blocks with multiple buildings would have made desirable the participation in the project of multiple buildings and types to foster replicability. Paradoxically, the non-participation of government buildings was justified in communications to expert participants "on the grounds of replicability...to avoid making the block atypical" and to "reduce the amount of stakeholders to convince" (Participant architects I & #2, pers. comm. 2015). Adding to this paradox, a renovation project was

⁸⁸ Mixed use is furthermore promoted in the Urban Plan of Barcelona (Barcelona City Council 2006b)

ongoing in one of the Council buildings, and was also planned for the building of the Catalan Housing Agency. The technical plans for both projects were displayed along with the project ideas submitted for participation in the *Efficient Block* in a public presentation of the *Efficient Block* at Construmat on 13 May, 2015 (Figure 33). This attempt to show that government actors were also renovating their buildings resonates with the recognition of *coherence as a pre-requisite for credibility* formulated by government representatives (see the introductory section to this chapter). However, *coherence* is reduced here to the relationship between the conceptual-textual domain and the building-as-monument, showing disregard for the material and social integration of practice for attaining credibility.



Figure 33. Energy renovation plans of the Catalan Housing Agency and the Council's Residencia Francesc Layret.

Photo of the plans as displayed during the presentation of the *Efficient Block* Project in Construmat, 13 May 2015.

Based on the arguments presented above, it seems plausible that government actors did not have the will to participate on equal terms with the residential public. This would have exposed their buildings and practices to public scrutiny, transforming existing relations. This argument is supported by the discussion in Sections 5.2 and 5.3 where I have discussed the limited efforts at certification and communication by the Council and the Catalan Government as an attempt to avoid public scrutiny. It is also possible that government actors did not have the administrative instruments to tie the fates of their buildings to a public participation process. For this to happen, normative, institutional and financial instruments should have been in place prior to the start of the Efficient Block competition of ideas to ensure the participation of the government on equal grounds with the public. Further supporting the claim to the limited participatory grounds of the project, the pre-selected project-ideas were labelled according to technical criteria prior to allowing inhabitants to vote (personal observation, public presentation of the Efficient Block, Construmat, and 13 May 2015). This shows limitations in the participation process and the prevalence of technical and economic expertise over everyday knowledge. The *Efficient Block* thus reproduces the hierarchical relations between those governing and those governed.

By problematizing public perception instead of government practice, avoiding participation on equal grounds with residential buildings, and using technical knowledge to direct the choices of inhabitants, the organizers of the project reproduced the hierarchical relations between those governing and those governed. An apparent learning framing of replication constitutes a mere representation insofar as government organisations do not acquiesce – even occasionally – to participating on an equal footing with the public, transforming existing relations through exposing them to the light of public scrutiny. This

would imply going beyond a *coherence* that relies on the monument and hence a hero framing of innovation and singular exemplars that is preferred by politicians and communication experts. It instead implies producing a *consistent* practice whereby the extent to which the government integrates energy-saving practices would be exposed to public scrutiny. Necessarily, new social relations would thus be produced. This is required by Lefebvre (1991) and social practice theorists (Shove 2010; Shove and Walker 2010, 2014; Wilhite 2013), for an appropriate practice to be produced.

6.5. Chapter summary

This chapter shows the reliance of politicians and communication experts on singular and innovative exemplars in framing energy saving practice. In these actors' narratives "exemplary" buildings contribute to "coherence" between organisational practices and their narratives that is necessary for the "credibility" of the latter. This understanding of coherence aligns with that of Jackson (2009). Apparently responding to the former, the studied buildings show an overall reliance on singular exemplars whereby innovative, often costly and visual practices, which prevail over less visible practices whose cost and fit to local conditions increases their replicability. Moreover, regardless of the apparently praiseworthy efforts of the organisations to integrate energy-saving practices into their buildings, the former tend to be disregarded in communication, missing an opportunity to show how organisations care about saving energy.⁸⁹ This hero framing of innovation and singular exemplars, prevalent in official representations, marginalizes the context of practice. The case studies, like Lefebvrian monuments, pursue a strategy of representing coherence between singular exemplars and official narratives which are assumed to produce an *appropriate practice* in the official narratives of organisations. However,

⁸⁹ Exceptions include the initial communication of Endesa and the use of Fabrica as a hub for organizing visits to other Council exemplars.

inspired by Lefebvre (1991), it is claimed that this *coherence* is illusory as far as it is not *consistent* in terms of: a) material integration within the organisation – in its buildings or elsewhere, – or b) social integration – transforming the way organisations relate to the public.

a) Reliance on monumental representations serves to deflect public scrutiny of the buildings, the commissioning organisations, and the technological problematisation of energy saving practice. "Green buildings" play a fundamentally important role in reaping legitimacy for organisations (Bowen 2015, 113). Legitimacy-pursuing organisations are concerned, thus, with the risk of failing to meet expectations and generating what Janda and Topouzi term "horror stories". As a result, information is presented in ways that deflect attention from the least praiseworthy aspects of the buildings (2015). This potentially explains in Fabrica del Sol the removal of monitoring displays and the discontinuation of collaborative relationships with civil society (Futur Sostenible) that is aware of the building's limitations. A preference for aesthetic and innovation-related values - common to all cases, but particularly emphasised in the Media-ICT - enables, according to the theoretical framework of this dissertation, organisations to become associated with consensual values that are empty of meaning. Claiming adherence to these values serves the purpose of building legitimacy for the organisations, as defined by Suchman (1995), without needing to make textual claims which would provide appropriate ground for critique (Dutton and Mann 1991; Lefebvre 1991). Such appears to be the case of the limited communication about the Endesa building whose founding organisation, regardless of the integral adoption of energy efficiency into the organisation's buildings, preferred to divert attention due to the context of adverse public opinion towards energy companies (Section 5.2).

b) The integration of the social dimension of practice in official representations also seems to be limited. As shown with Endesa, the design team at first faced opposition from the company concerning the transformation of floor distribution in ways that would permit more democratic access to natural light. The participation of Futur Sostenible in the operation of Fabrica del Sol was also not referred to in official communications, which otherwise could have been used in credit-seeking by the Council regarding the promotion of collaboration with civil organisations.⁹⁰ The most prominent case I reviewed of limited attention being paid to the transformation of the social relations between the organisation and the public concerns the Efficient Block. The related participation process was problematic due to the failure of the Council and the Catalan Government (which owned buildings in the block) to engage on equal grounds with the inhabitants who were being exhorted to participate. This supports claims about the absence of sufficient determination to engage in a participatory process whereby government practices would be made subject to democratic decision-making, overall contributing to the production of a replicable mechanism for governing the renovation of City blocks in their diversity and complexity.

Consequently, the case studies frame energy saving practice as reduced to innovative practices and singular exemplars which are decontextualised and fail to seize the opportunity to engage in a reflective process with the public. Engaging in such a process could address the mistakes that were committed – as in the case of the solar thermal system of *Fabrica del Sol* –, the replicability of practices in place, and their vernacular counterparts. Engaging with such a reflective process with the public would serve to represent the commissioning organisations as caring about: a) saving energy – by reflecting on the integration of practices, – but also about b) fostering learning and replication

 $^{^{90}}$ As opposed to the communication during the time of the incumbency of the leftist councils (1999-2011 and 2015-?), during the time of field research the *Fabrica* was represented as the sole commitment of the Council.

amongst the public. Approaching buildings as representations that frame energy saving practice permits, therefore, the expansion of critical analyses wherein official narratives prevail, epistemologically, over non-narrative representations (Dutton and Mann 1991; Guy and Moore 2005a; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014; Lefebvre 1991). Furthering claims about the need for narrative-practice coherence as a means of supporting the credibility of official narratives (Jackson 2009), I propose a Lefebvrian focus on the consistency of practice (i.e. throughout its narrative, material and social domains). Incorporating the consistency of practice would also create a new avenue for furthering the study and critique of organisations according to their capacity to foster a caring framing, hence expanding the transformative potential of caring stories which in the work of Janda and Topouzi are the stories least developed and those which have the greatest transformative potential (2015). The critical review of the cases that is presented suggests the possibility of and need for reframing official representations of energy-saving practices in commercial buildings as a) the integral practices of the commissioning organisations, b) replicable by the public, and c) producing social relations that are appropriate to (re)producing a practice of energy saving.

From a review of the Lefebvrian contradictions between narrative, material and social representations deployed in, about and around the buildings, this chapter supports claims about the studied buildings operating as monuments which decontextualise energy practice and empty it of meaning, and divert attention from the social order and the practices of government and corporate actors. This contributes to furthering the scope of critique of corporate responsibility scholars, which acknowledges the legitimating function of energy-saving buildings (Bowen 2015; Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014). It is now possible to acknowledge as "greenwashing" not only misleading narrative claims but also the material representations which illusorily represent the practice

of organisations as consistent. By "making implicit, tacitly known frames explicit", this chapter constitutes an act of "assisted reframing" (van Hulst and Yanow 2014) that addresses the limitations and political implications of "exemplary" building conceptualisations. Reappraising the context of practice amounts to a radical critique that is potentially able to deter organisations from using commercial buildings as legitimating instruments, forcing them to engage in integral, replicable, transparent and appropriate social practices in their endeavours to improve their public image. This chapter reframes the problem of energy saving, making organisations liable and thus countering the current situation described by authors like Lutzenhiser (2014) and Moezzi and Janda (2014), whereby residential publics are blamed whilst organisations are celebrated for the rationality of their behaviour.

In the following chapter I contrast the arguments hereby presented with narratives of the public making meaning of energy saving practice through their interaction with the case studies.

Chapter 7. Everyday meaning-making

Responding to the empirical gap demonstrated in Chapter 2, in this chapter I review the public appraisal of the official practice as represented in commercial buildings. I address Question 3: *How does the public make meaning of energy saving practice through their everyday experience with four commercial buildings in Barcelona?* Understanding this is important because from an interpretive perspective policy attempts to compel the public to engage with new practices are acts of reframing (Yanow 2009; van Hulst and Yanow 2014). As problematized in Chapters 2 and 3, there is a need to re-cognise, from a policy-making perspective, how everyday epistemologies operate to bridge the epistemological divide between the former and official representations.

Inspired by the work of Lefebvre (1991) and the social practice theories reviewed in Chapter 2, I understand that the public makes meaning through mental, perceptual and experiential engagement with the conceptual, material and social components of practice, i.e. the context. The purpose of this chapter is, therefore, to demonstrate the potential for and the need to assess official representations (policies, practices and buildings) according to their capacity to co-produce a practice that is consistent from the perspective of everyday epistemologies, and one that the public acknowledges as credible and replicable. Since the assessment of energy saving policies and practices is dominated by quantitative assessment and narrative analysis (Sovacool et al. 2015), the chapter also aims to contribute to the incorporation of everyday epistemologies – as found necessary by Guy and Moore (2005b). In alignment with the suggestions of these authors, I reflect on the narratives of a plurality of actors. In particular, I focus on the role of the latter, as publics, in relation to the *monumental representations* that commercial buildings constitute for Lefebvre. The contradictions inherent in the former, appraised using the epistemological grounds of everyday meaning making, enable a radical critique of dominant knowledge and the established order (1991). For the public and organisations to engage in the production of an appropriate practice of saving energy, successfully addressing this critique appears to be a task of fundamental importance.

As explained in Sections 4.6 and 4.7, my pluralist approach includes the narratives of laymen passers-by and users, and my own observations – not always explicit in the text, but which I acknowledge to underlie the formulation of research and interview questions. Also, I acknowledge the role of experts as public who make meaning of energy saving practice through their daily experience with commercial building design and management, involving close insight into the priorities of organisations – contributing a radical critique of the organisation interests. As discussed in Section 4.7.1, including experts as publics is problematic according to some readings of Lefebvre, inasmuch as experts are not aware of the political utilization of their knowledge (1991, 338). The same thus applies to laymen public narratives because, according to Lefebvre, everyday meaning-making is made subject to unquestionable quantitative knowledge. Analytically, I have attempted to overcome these limitations by studying whether narratives disregard the context of practice – reproducing the official framing of innovation and singular exemplars – or whether context is highlighted in the process of making meaning (Section 4.10).

Through the following sections I develop my arguments about the meaning of energy saving, the credibility of official claims, the replicability of practices and the legitimacy of organisations as being co-produced through everyday engagement with the context of practice. In section 7.1, I show how the public understanding of energy saving conceptualisations and their practice in commercial buildings reproduces an official hero framing, as presented in Chapters 5 and 6. In Section 7.2, I describe the interest in re-appraising the everyday experience of experts as a contribution to revealing the political

interests that underlie official framings. In Sections 7.3 - 7.6 I review how passers-by and users make meaning of energy saving practice through their perception of and experience with the buildings under analysis. The narratives of the former support my arguments, which I develop in Section 7.8, about how energy saving practice is appraised in the context of everyday life, which supports my arguments about the need for reframing official representations – and the overall practice of organisations – that attempt to compel the public to save energy. These need to be better aligned with everyday epistemologies to co-produce practices that are credible and replicable. This chapter thus contributes to empirically revealing how the de-contextualised practices represented in commercial buildings alienate the public. Scholarly and everyday recognition of this fact could therefore help make organisations accountable for the extent to which their representations contribute or counter the (re)production of a practice of saving energy.

7.1. An alienating conceptual consensus

When I asked laymen public their opinion about the buildings under analysis and the *use* of energy in them, I was careful to avoid naming and framing *energy saving* (see the questions in Appendix 3). However, respondents introduced terms in their initial statements such as "efficiency", "[cost] savings", "sustainability", "renewable technologies", "self-sufficiency", "smart", and "energy renovation". These terms reproduce the jargon of experts about technology and economics. Their use shows the dominance of such expressions over more quotidian terms such as "saving" or "reducing consumption". At times, these quotidian terms were introduced, mainly at later stages, to explain the purpose of the aforementioned expert conceptualisations. For instance, some claimed that "energy…should not be wasted" (User-worker at *Endesa* #4, pers. comm. 2015), or that "all that can be saved is good" (Frequent passer-by who lives near *Endesa* #1, pers. comm. 2015), potentially hinting at an ethical and environmental justification. Other justifications

appeared to reflect on the underlying economic rationale for energy efficiency conceptualisations with claims like "it's worth it!" (User-worker at the 3D Printing Space of Fabrica del Sol #2, pers. comm. 2015). References to the ecological benefits of the official practice were not identified: "All that is energy saving is a good idea. The intention is to be smart and supposedly ecological too, right?" (User-worker as receptionist at Media-ICT #2, pers. comm. 2015). Furthermore, as the quote shows, official practices – being smart, in this case – become goals in themselves. These quotes show that the expert conceptualisations and rationale of "energy saving" are reproduced in the public imaginary as responding to common values and contributing to the public good. However, the ethical, economic, or environmental nature of these common values and goals remained tacit.⁹¹ This situation supports critical claims about the relationship between expert conceptualisations and the de-politicisation of "energy saving", such as those presented in Section 2.1. In alignment with the Lefebvrian theorisation presented in Section 3.2, expert conceptualisations that are empty of meaning contribute to a banal consensus because they are assumed to imply positive social transformation, regardless of the fact that this transformation is illusory and restricted to technological change.

Contrasting with the apparent acceptance of expert conceptualisations presented so far, laymen public appealed to their limited economic resources to justify limited engagement in saving practices: "...people don't have much to spare. They need support!" (User-worker at *Endesa* #2, pers. comm. 2015). This understanding was extensive in reference to the obligation to obtain Energy Performance Certificates after the construction, renovation, sale and rental of residential buildings and units. For instance, a frequent

⁹¹ The generalized acceptance of energy-saving practices as contributing to the common good, along with limited explanation of the ultimate purpose of these practices could be related to the (short) nature of on-the-spot interviews, wherein respondents could avoid digressing and opening up to debate with less optimistic claims. However, this argument loses validity as it applies to the length and depth of responses about the perceptual and social dimensions of the buildings, which I present in Sections 7.2-7.4.

passer-by at Media-ICT complained that "...apartments are expensive enough for such measures to represent an extra burden – even if in the long run they bring about savings" (pers. comm. 2015). Moreover, at the time of the field research there was a profusion of such certificates being cheaply and quickly produced that that resulted in underestimates of the ratings of building performance: "If you pay 100 euros, you will get the lowest rating, but you will get it" (Architect involved in Endesa, pers. comm. 2014). This suggests that these certificates were of limited value to the public, thereby explaining their appraisal as burdensome.⁹² Other respondents referred to a lack of technical knowledge as another factor in the public's reluctance to engage in saving energy: "citizens depend on technical support from the government" (Frequent user of the *Media-ICT* #2, pers. comm. 2015). Examples raised by respondents included the solar thermal regulations in Barcelona (Section 5.3.3): "the [problem is the] lack of technical knowledge. That is why solar panels do not work. There should be [public] resources to make them work" (Frequent passer-by at *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2015). Thus, notwithstanding the fact that energy saving values are socially accepted, their practice is conceptualised as technologically and economically demanding. Supporting this argument, vernacular and quotidian practices of limited technical complexity and cost, such as using curtains or switching off lights when not required, were excluded from the main understanding of "energy saving". (These practices were mostly referred to with reference to the limitations of the cases, as reviewed in Sections 7.4-7.8). I show how this mental consensus about expert conceptualisations has implications for public engagement in saving energy.

⁹² During the field research, the energy certification of residential apartments was widely advertised at a cost of EUR100, available within twenty-four hours. Policy implementers were also concerned about the public perceiving such certificates as red tape and disregarding their informative and market transformative purpose (Senior representative of the Energy Efficiency Cluster of Catalonia, pers. comm. 2015; see also Senior representative of the Catalan Housing Agency #2, pers. comm. 2015).

The public consensus surrounding expert conceptualisations contrasts with the apparent alienation of the former from saving energy, which is considered burdensome because its meaning is being confused with, and eventually reduced to, its techno-economic dimension. It appears therefore that reducing energy saving to the conceptualisation of experts plays a role in alienating the public from saving energy. The latter reject and furthermore react to such principles as a foundation for their everyday practices, as argued, for instance, by Moezzi and Lutzenhiser (2010) and Slocum (2004). In acknowledging the general acceptance of energy saving values, the apparent alienation of the public speaks to the responsibility of commissioning organisations, designers and governments who implement EU certification that empties energy saving of context, and furthermore presents energy saving as a technical and economic burden. More specifically, the opportunity to re-cognise vernacular and zero-cost practices in attempts to compel the public to save energy appears to have been missed. This process of elite legitimation and public alienation is common ground for critical reviews of energy governance (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011); buildings (Janda and Topouzi 2015); smart cities (Anttiroiko et al. 2014; Haarstad 2017; Baccarne et al. 2014; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016; Fernández González 2016); and of reductionist conceptualisations of energy saving (Tregidga, Milne, and Kearins 2014; Wilhite and Shove 1998; Wilhite and Norgard 2004), as presented in Chapter 2. However, there is insufficient literature that empirically demonstrates this legitimating rationale and this alienating effect. In the following section I seek to identify the root of this situation as presented through the lens of the experiential knowledge of building commissioning and certification experts.

7.2. A radical critique of experts

Although experts were not directly questioned about this topic, they referred to their experiential knowledge to problematize the reduction of energy saving to expert

conceptualisations and its causes. An architect involved in *Endesa* design argued the following:

[T]he word 'sustainability' is fashionable now; we have abused it... population awareness is high, but they don't know...what the meaning of an 'A' rating is [the highest rating on the EU Energy Performance Certificates]. (pers. comm. 2014)

Experts and elites are therefore to blame for overusing certain conceptualisations, and for disregarding the importance of communicating meaning to the public, ultimately explaining the conceptual confusion and public alienation described in Section 7.1. An underlying reason for this may be the interest of the former two actors "in conceptually confusing things" in order to gain credit (Senior representative of the Energy Efficiency Cluster of Catalonia, pers. comm. 2015). In alignment with cultural reviews of architecture (Section 2.5) and Lefebvrian concerns about form superseding use, expert publics complained that "architecture" and "building quality" is reduced to saving energy, hence marginalizing considerations of comfort, health, and life-cycle impact.⁹³ These experts complained about public "ignorance" and "disinterest" which experts, and policy- and decision-makers were blamed for enunciating misleading energy saving claims. In the words of Renewable Energy Expert #1, involved in *Fabrica del Sol*: "everything is [called] 'sustainable' now, and many times this is not true" (pers. comm. 2015).

Based on expert reviews, I explore the roots of the discrepancy between building performance and claims of a prevalence of designs that are inadequate for saving energy, according to contemporary concerns. According to a prominent Spanish architect, internationally acclaimed commercial building designs originate from technological

⁹³ This argument was developed in depth in personal communications that took place in 2015 with: Architect at a supplier company #1& #2; Architects participant in the *Efficient Block* #2 & #4; Architect involved in *Fabrica del Sol*; Engineer involved in design of *Media-ICT* and *Endesa*.

developments that during the twentieth century based active systems of comfort provision on a reliance on cheap energy, instead of - more visible - adequate building designs and materials (Pich-Aguilera 2012). This resulted in limited attention being paid to vernacular practices involving daily routines, cross-ventilation, shadowing and spatial divisions in the models used to calculate performance ratings, and in some of the cases under study - as argued by several expert interviewees.⁹⁴ Increasing interest in international designs was furthered with "global competition amongst cities...to attract tourists and investors", which explains the interest of Barcelona and other cities in "spectacular architecture" and the use of internationally acclaimed designers (Architect involved in *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2014). This explained for several interviewees the absence of solar protection in landmark buildings in Barcelona like the MACBA, the Torre Marenostrum, and the Torre Agbar, whose interiors overheat (Architect participant in the *Efficient Block* competition #4, pers. comm. 2015; Architect at a supplier company #2, pers. comm. 2015).⁹⁵ The prevalence of these designs regardless of their energy-related costs, corroborates claims about the prevalence of aesthetic values over co-producing a practice of saving energy. These values, along with the representation of energy saving and consuming practices as transparent, contribute to the legitimacy of the organisations and the technical practices of experts (Ward 1996; Guy and Moore 2005a; Dutton and Mann 1996; Lefebvre 1991).

In this context, increasing the relevance granted to climate and energy saving issues would raise difficulties for commissioning organisations, because for them "it is very important to pretend ... to be perceived in a certain way, by the market or society... their

⁹⁴ The interviewees who referred to this problematique in interviews taking place during 2015 include three architects participant in the *Efficient Block* (#2, #3 & #4), Architect at a commercial building supplier company; Senior engineer involved in design of *Media-ICT* and *Endesa*; Expert renewable energy *Fabrica del Sol* #2. These experts referred to excessive solar radiation in the case of *Endesa* and *Media-ICT*, and the lack of spatial division for efficient climate control in *Endesa*, *Media-ICT* and *Fabrica del Sol*.

⁹⁵ This is problematic, because air-conditioning accounts for the greatest energy demand in commercial buildings due to Barcelona's Mediterranean climate, making solar protection and partitioning a fundamental component of energy saving practice.

own corporate buildings... have to be an example" (Engineer involved in design of *Media-ICT* and *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2015). A will to mitigate excessive consumption and any potentially negative reputational impact related would explain the incorporation of renewable, efficient and smart technologies. However these technological fixes leave unaddressed the great potential of good design and management, and conceal the potential for passive and vernacular practices of everyday. ⁹⁶ These fixes thus constitute what Lefebvre calls "technical improvements of detail" (1991, 59-60) that are unable to produce a practice in themselves but generate the illusion that saving energy means deploying these technologies, and thereby explain the apparent alienation of the public, as discussed in Section 7.1.

Acquainted with insight into the process of certification-rate calculation, some expert publics digressed in their narratives to question the credibility of the ratings obtained in multiple commercial buildings, acknowledging the leverage of experts in terms of the application of calculation models.⁹⁷ This deceptive use of energy saving claims is enabled by the absence of comparable and verifiable indicators such as energy consumed per square meter and year (kWh/sqm year), and adequate mechanisms of verification (as discussed in Section 5.2) that would foster "good design" and counter the current preference for "clones" of internationally acclaimed designers (Architect at a supplier company, pers.

⁹⁶ Amongst the experts who argued this way: Senior engineer involved in design of *Media-ICT* and *Endesa* building, pers. comm. 2015; Architect at a supplier company I , pers. comm. 2015; Architects participant in the *Efficient Block* #2#3; pers. comm. 2015; Architect involved in *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2014; Senior expert renewable energy policy and practice in Spain, pers. comm. 2014. Not all experts had negative opinion about these technological measures; some granted credit to the efforts of organizations: "[C]orporate organizations are ahead [in energy saving] because of branding. These are their emblematic buildings" (Architect Participant in the *Efficient Block* #2, pers. comm. 2015).

⁹⁷ A diversity of experts questioned the high ratings awarded *Media-ICT* (A rating), and *Endesa* (A and B ratings), which were regarded with doubt and disdained for having a "marketing" or "greenwashing" function (Architect involved in *Fabrica del Sol*, pers. comm. 2014; Architect participant in the *Efficient Block* #4 pers. comm. 2015; Architect at a commercial building supplier company, pers. comm. 2015; Senior engineer involved in design of *Media-ICT* and *Endesa*).

comm. 2015).⁹⁸ Current ratings, however, based on ad hoc models and applied freely by designers, may contribute to concealing and decontextualising negative information, thereby transforming what are potentially "horror stories" about poor performance into "hero stories" (Janda and Topouzi 2015). To the success of these stories then contributes the consensus surrounding expert conceptualisations that is discussed in Section 7.1.

Although the presented expert critiques acknowledged the function of commercial buildings of communicating a certain image about organisations, there were few references to their potential for compelling the public to save energy, hence contributing to claims about the "transparency" of technologies and buildings (Guy and Moore 2005a; Dutton and Mann 1996; Lefebvre 1991). Multiple interviewees problematized the automatization of lighting and heating systems. These were understood as necessary for reducing consumption and ensuring user comfort in commercial buildings.⁹⁹ Acknowledging this, some respondents were concerned that "automation [would] limit the educational potential" and "make people stupid... [because] the machine decides ... not the user" (Architects participant in the *Efficient Block* competition #3 and #4, respectively, pers. comms. 2015).¹⁰⁰ This reproduces an understanding of practices being reproduced through use – and not through perception and everyday engagement with the context – which I find common in the empirical reviews of commercial buildings (Section 2.7).

CEU eTD Collection

⁹⁸ The limited credibility of Energy Performance Certificates was also related to the limited control of government agencies, as acknowledged, amongst others, by a senior representative of the Catalan Institute of Energy (pers. comm. 2015).

⁹⁹ The most fervent defenders of this position included: Architect Participant in the *Efficient Block* #4, pers. comm. 2015; Architect at a supplier company #2, pers. comm. 2015; Architect involved in Endesa building, pers. comm. 2014.

¹⁰⁰ Explicitly acknowledging automation as countering learning, the deployment of automation was halted in *Fabrica del Sol*, where "users are more aware than average" (Council official for the *Fabrica del Sol*, pers. comm. 2015). In *Endesa*, automation was accompanied with two-way communication with users (Communication official of Endesa, pers. comm. 2014). In *Media-ICT*, the only communication with users that I could identify was a display of the building's performance rating.

The role of buildings in communicating energy saving values, practices and achievements to non-user publics was implicitly recognised in claims related to the relation of organisations with the public:

a) Some explained that limited textual publicity existed to obscure the actual performance of the building and the extent to which practices are integrated into the organisation¹⁰¹. Others recognises the illusion enabled by insufficient recognition that "efficiency and spectacle are two different things: it is not the same seeing an animal in a zoo or in a circus" (Architect participant in the *Efficient Block* competition #2, pers. comm. 2015). The function of the spectacular architecture of singular buildings is thus to "divert [public] attention from the centre of power" (Architect involved in *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2014). These expert explanations align with scholarly arguments about the preference of organisations for keeping their practices unexposed to public scrutiny (Lefebvre 1991; Geels 2010; Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Greenberg 2014); a claim that is reviewed in Chapter 2, and which aligns with the Lefebvrian critique of commercial buildings as monuments, as presented in Section 3.3: "Buildings are to monuments as everyday life is to festival" (1991, 223).

b) In addition to the interests of particular organisations, limited policy effort to integrate and communicate energy-saving practices – as described in Section 5.2 – was explained as a response to vested interests in delaying the normalization of energy-saving practices. These interests include those of energy corporations, on whose boards of

¹⁰¹ Experts who supported this claim included: Senior engineer involved in *Media-ICT* and *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2015; Architect at a supplier company #2, pers. comm. 2015; Independent architect and PassivHaus proponent, pers. comm. 2014; Architect involved in *Fabrica del Sol*, pers. comm. 2015; Architect involved in *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2014; Architects participants in the *Efficient Block* #1, #2 & #4, pers. comm. 2015

directors are preeminent politicians, and those of banks, which fear seeing their building stock becoming obsolete, as also argued in section 5.2.¹⁰²

These two explanations correspond with a Lefebvrian understanding of the commercial building as a monument which serves to proclaim certain values and practices and the overall production of an appropriate practice while avoiding exposure to critique, thus making non-textual claims preferable to text-based ones (1991; see also Dutton and Mann 1996).

Countering Lefebvre's claims about experts being "unaware that their activity is of an ideological nature" (1991, 338), the experiential knowledge of experts with building commissioning and certification grounds a radical critique of how and why organisations foster through commercial buildings a banal consensus, and fail to address the public alienation described in Section 7.1 of this thesis. Experts acknowledge the potential of efficient, renewable and smart technologies; they are critical about the insufficient attention paid to design and materials, as well as to the problematic monumentality of singular exemplars in attempts to communicate energy saving values and practices to the public. The energy saving values and achievements proclaimed through commercial buildings and quantitative mechanisms (such as EU Energy Performance Certificates) conceal the limited achievements and integration of energy saving, and appear to be related to the dominance of certain designs as a means of generating public acceptation. Re-cognising the role of buildings in compelling the public to save energy implies, according to this analysis of expert narratives, to re-contextualise energy-saving practices and claims, such as those

¹⁰² This argument was voiced by: Independent architect and PassivHaus proponent, pers. comm. 2014; Senior representative of the Group of Architects at the Service of the Public Administration, pers. comm. 2014; Architect participant in the *Efficient Block* #3, pers. comm. 2015.

echoed in performance certificates. The existence of this critical insight amongst experts supports the claim introduced in Chapter 5 that organisational interests – more than epistemological issues – underlie the limited attention that is paid to commercial buildings as a means of compelling the public to save energy.

In the following sections I show how the context of practice mediates the public acceptance and critique of official energy saving claims, practices, and overall practice as represented in the study buildings.

7.3. Endesa: invisible efficiency & user engagement

To a casual observer, the Endesa building in Barcelona might appear as an anonymous construction whose energy-saving practices are not exhibited. As opposed to the headquarters of other energy corporations which shape the city skyline (Gas Natural Fenosa, and Aguas de Barcelona), Endesa blends in with its neighbouring buildings in terms of height and building materials. Although the building occupies a whole block in the city centre, multiple experts and passers-by were unfamiliar with it and its energy saving credentials. Reliance on efficient technologies contributes to the invisibility of its energy-saving practices. As one expert put it, it is "a well-working efficient building...nothing special!" (Senior representative of the Energy Efficiency Cluster of Catalonia, pers. comm. 2015). As shown in Section 6.1, there is no display of its performance credentials on its façade. However, one of the most visible features on its façade is its colourful glazing, intended to reduce solar radiation and thus cooling needs (Architect involved in Endesa, pers. comm. 2014). However, this feature was not referred to by passers-by when asked to identify the saving practices in place, showing public ignorance about the relevance of passive mechanisms of solar protection in Barcelona (thus aligned with claims in Sections 7.1 and 7.2) as well as the inherent invisibility of the energy

efficient practices widely referred to in the literature (Lutzenhiser 2014; Sovacool et al. 2015). It also shows the limited contextual communication of Endesa about its practices (Section 6.1), most particularly the vernacular and highly-replicable practice of shadowing, which is not *mis en valeur*.

7.3.1. Radical critique of passers-by

Passer-by respondents claimed ignorance about the building and its energy-saving practices and based their opinions mostly on their knowledge about the company that occupies it. On these grounds a frequent passer-by who lives nearby made some assumptions about the presence of certain saving practices: "Endesa! ... I don't know much [about the building], but I guess all this glass is to let sunlight in. I guess it's well insulated, with double glazing" (pers. comm. 2015). Countering these positive assumptions, but also based on knowledge about the company, most of the other respondents denied the presence of energy-saving practices in the building. For instance:

I know it is [from] Endesa...I only know that every year they raise the electricity price...I don't think they did the building to save [energy], especially since they must have free energy... It doesn't seem efficient to me. (Frequent passer-by, who lives near *Endesa* #3, pers. comm. 2015)

This shows how previous knowledge about the company tacitly shapes the appraisal of energy-saving practices in the building amongst passers-by who have little knowledge and capacity to perceive these practices.¹⁰³

¹⁰³ The relevance of the social dimensions of the building was also made explicit by some, who reflected on this prior to formulating a negative appraisal: "Taking into account [that the building] is from Endesa, it's a bit difficult [to know what I think]...The glazing could be more transparent [to save on lighting] and they could switch off the lights. For sure, they have the air-conditioning on at full power. They could have it on at home and pay for it" (Frequent passer-by who studies near *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2015).

The narratives of these respondents quasi-unanimously showed deep mistrust in the interests of Endesa.¹⁰⁴ The latter were understood as being in opposition to the shared goal of saving energy: "they [Endesa] won't save energy from their own initiative [since] it is better for them that people waste [energy]" (Frequent passer-by, who lives near *Endesa* #3, pers. comm. 2015). Also, as the quote shows, some even understand that the integration of energy-saving practices by organisations would contribute to the reproduction of their practice. (This corresponds with the understanding of some experts, discussed in Section 7.2). However, this explicit recognition of the role of buildings in the reproduction of practice is mostly tacit in other responses, which, however, show recognition of the obscure political function of the building. This needs to be understood before formulating an opinion about the practices being represented in the building: "I don't know! They have their hidden tricks, they are a monopoly...they are impersonal, unapproachable" (Frequent passer-by who works near *Endesa*). Thus, there appears to be awareness amongst the public about the political function of the building, which for many is intentionally ungraspable. I am aware that the radical critique of the elite mode of production (Section 3.2) tacit in these responses could have been brought to the fore by my questions, since most respondents needed to reflect to answer, showing that they did not seem to have preconceived opinions.¹⁰⁵ This supports a Lefebvrian understanding of the monumental function being concealed from everyday view by the dominance of expert knowledge, as shown in Section 7.1.

The monumental function of the building can be explained by the divide between what people expect from Endesa – and other corporations – and what these are to the former:

¹⁰⁴ The negative conceptions about Endesa were so deeply grounded that respondents maintained their positions even when I commented on the positive ratings obtained by the building. Responding to this, several respondents expressed – verbally or by making a face – their mistrust towards my research purpose and independence from Endesa.

¹⁰⁵ The absence of such a pre-existing critique was observed during the review of the literature, during which time I did not encounter documented critiques towards the company regarding this building, nor any others.

"They [Endesa] should be the first ones [to save energy, because] they work for everyone to have energy" (Frequent passer-by who lives near *Endesa* #3, pers. comm. 2015). Similarly, "company buildings, especially of companies with loads of resources, should take care about their environmental impact!" (Frequent passer-by who studies near *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2015). These quotes contribute to the argument that the public appraises energy saving practice as burdensome, as discussed in Section 7.1, which provides an opportunity for organisations to self-legitimate by adopting the heroic role of saving energy on behalf of us all. This could have been the original purpose of Endesa when commissioning this building and communicating it as integral part of its practices, as shown in Section 6.1. The depth of some of the critiques presented herein would explain the decision of the organisation to avoid publicizing its practice to avoid attracting scrutiny regarding the need for more transparent, democratic and equitable energy governance in Spain.

It appears, therefore, as if the locally adapted design and the invisibility of energy efficiency seeks to maintain the building outside public commentary. Similar to a Lefebvrian monument (Section 3.3), the function of the building would thus be to divert attention from the overall practice of the company, as some experts also claim (Section 7.2). In Endesa, the *invisibility* of energy efficiency appears as an opportunity to represent accepted values of energy saving, but without attracting scrutiny of the company. This comes at the cost to the company of not being able to highlight its *heroic* efforts, to use the building for fostering public *learning*, ultimately nurturing a public appraisal of the organisation as a *caring* one, as defended in official narratives (Section 6.1). Moreover, in the absence of visible (material) practices and a display of quantitative credentials – such as the Energy Performance Certificate of the building – the attention of passers-by is directed towards the social dimensions of the building. This is problematic for Endesa

because its interests and an obscure political function of the building are acknowledged, at least tacitly, by passers-by. This tacit recognition and the desire of the company to avoid attracting public scrutiny would explain the latter's interest in not publicizing its practices and the credentials of the building as shown in Section 6.1, because critique is better able to address narrative than non-textual representations (Dutton and Mann 1995; Lefebvre 1991. A completely different strategy appears to underlie communication with building users.

7.3.2. Engaged and co-responsible users

Endesa users, interviewed in front of the building, made little reference to its exterior. Instead, they tended to focus on aspects of thermal and lighting comfort. In their words, these features are closely related to saving energy "[which is experienced through] energy efficiency, natural light, open spaces, maximization of internal space" (User-worker #2, pers. comm. 2015). This shows that positive features that contribute to user comfort – like space maximisation and natural light – are associated with efficiency, regardless of their greater energy consumption, according to building experts (Section 7.2). Many also highlighted the presence of automation as a component of building efficiency: "Lights have sensors...They stop operating after 8 pm if nobody is in" (User-worker #5, pers. comm. 2015). Automation is therefore experienced as a way of saving energy without jeopardizing comfort. The existence of certain maladjustments that imply reduced comfort was tolerated, given the experiential appraisal of the features of automatism, and of their official recognition that supports a will of the company to save energy:

It has some energy awards...The air-conditioning maybe is not that good [but] they care about it...We have got screens that show the temperature, the humidity. When
your work spot is not in use, the lights are switched off". (User-worker #4, pers. comm. 2015)

In addition to automation, the above quote shows that communication from the company to the user contributes to positive appraisals of the building in terms of the former's good intentions and being caring. The same applies to company responsiveness to user needs:

There are still air-conditioning problems. They have not been solved in office buildings. There is no (user) control of cold and heat. You can only inform them, but they fix it immediately. It is best like that" (User-worker #2, pers. comm. 2015).

Moreover, the responsiveness of the company towards users and saving energy is appraised in the proactive provision of training and advice:

[Saving energy] is a co-responsibility workers-company for achieving comfort and saving energy. There is training and advice about how to be efficient and sustainable...[The building] could communicate in a more open way...Maybe by opening up spaces to show how it works...for awareness building...[it would demonstrate that company business] is not only about generating [energy], but also how it's used. This is a shared responsibility of the administration, Endesa, and the consumer. Need communication!" (User-worker #1, pers. comm. 2015)

Positive opinions about the building as saving energy therefore appear to be related to appraisals of elements of automation, but also to the appraisal of the company as transparent, responsive and overall caring about the comfort of users and fostering learning.¹⁰⁶ The appraisal of energy saving practice as a "shared responsibility" to which

¹⁰⁶ Supporting claims about the importance of internal communication, training and awareness-building messages for the optimistic appraisal of building amongst the company workers, a less optimistic opinion

the company shows its commitment to users constitutes therefore a source of legitimacy, as defined by Suchman (1995). This commitment appears to contradict – as the latter quote shows – with the interest of the company in communicating its achievements in the building to the general public, resulting in frustrated expectations from users.

The political relevance of the company building was formulated by some respondents that overtly argued that the function of energy saving exemplars is precisely to improve the public image of organisations: "savings should compensate investment, [since] it's everyone's money, not for the corporate image" (User-worker #4, pers. comm. 2015). However, as shown in previous paragraphs, the company claims were widely accepted. Moreover, the existing contradiction between the caring attitude of the company exhibited in front of building worker-users and the limited communication to other publics, was only indicated by some users, who merely pointed at it as a domain for further improvement. Their experience with the building and with the company appeared to be related to the limited depth of their critique about the political utilization of the building an obscure mechanism of manipulation that reflects the interests of an "unapproachable" company.

It appears, therefore, that *Endesa* operates as a Lefebvrian monument by enabling the company to claim its commitment without having to explain this to the public, thus exposing itself to critique about the contradictions between its narrative claims and its vested interests in reproducing the current practice of energy consumption. A

was voiced by a user external of the company: "At home, if you had the lights on in front of the window [looks up], you would switch them off immediately. Here [in *Endesa*] no one knows where the switch is" (User working at Endesa – external expert – pers. comm. 2015).

communication strategy addressed to the general public about the company's commitment to integrating replicable practices of energy efficiency in *Endesa* and its other buildings (Section 6.1) would potentially attract public attention and critique but could also contribute to re-politicising energy consumption. A caring framing of integration, as the one directing the company relation with the building user-workers, would imply recognising the co-responsibility of all actors in saving energy, since it is the public demand for energy that requires companies like Endesa to become involved in environmentally problematic practices of generation. However, this would not resolve the questionable interests of company shareholders and their obscure influence on Spanish politics, which, in the eyes of passers-by and expert public critiques, appears to be a fundamental reason for limited public exposure. This constitutes a missed opportunity for the building to function as a learning instrument, which would potentially improve not just how the general public appraises the practices of Endesa, but how the latter relates to the public.

7.4. *Fabrica del Sol*: visible renewables in an educational building

Fabrica del Sol stands out in its surrounding space for being a Modernist building with a photovoltaic panel on its façade and solar thermal panels on its rooftop. During the field research the building was devoid of an energy monitoring display. Available information on the Council website about the educational activities and exhibition in the building contrasted with the absence of signposting in the exterior of the building about its energy saving credentials and practices.¹⁰⁷

¹⁰⁷ Historic buildings like this are not required to obtain EU Energy Performance Certificates.

7.4.1. Passer-by demand for integration

Multiple passers-by found the solar panels of Fabrica del Sol to be a feature they could recognise as having an "experimental", "innovative", "demonstrative", "pilot" and "educative" function as part of a positive assessment of the building which shared recognition of its singular and innovative character. Accordingly, energy-saving practices were appraised as a curiosity which was not necessarily understood, and as an expression of a potential - not actual - practice (pers. comms. 2015). In the absence of narrative claims or quantitative display of its performance, multiple passers-by expressed their doubt about the building: "It's great, but I hope at least this [solar panel] works, not like the Forum's which I think is not even connected to the grid" (First time passer-by, pers. comm. 2015). References to the Solar Pergola of the Forum were common amongst passers-by in support of their sceptical claims concerning the building, similar to those empirically reviewed in Section 2.9, about the risk of vocal claims generating mistrust amongst the public. Such is the case of highly publicized projects characterized by their singularity and limited communication that contextualises their energy-saving practices. This mistrust can be further justified by the absence of information about building performance, which, as explained in Section 6.2, responds to an understanding that a "horror story" about the building's performance would not be educational - nor, obviously, contribute to positive citizen appraisal of the Council.

Reticent opinions about the building formulated by passers-by were also grounded on the latter's experience with the council practices in other buildings, as well as in public transportation, which were appraised as contradicting the deployment of renewable technologies and the commitment to save energy in *Fabrica del Sol*. After formulating a positive opinion about the building, a respondent counter-argued that: ...[s]ocial security offices are too hot in winter, whilst windows are open; lights are on in civic centres, whilst there is lots of natural light ... the cooling in the metro and on buses is excessive in summer. (First time user #2, pers. comm. 2015)

The limited policy integration of energy saving practice was also referred to by passers-by to question the solar generation activities of *Fabrica del Sol* and its overall energy saving credentials. The policies referred to include the Council's Solar Thermal Regulation, which many considered a technical and economic burden on residential condominiums, and Spanish government policies such as the "Solar Ban" (described in Section 5.2), or energy pricing as contradicting the message of *Fabrica del Sol*. "Look at the fixed part of the bill! Even if you save [energy], you end up paying the same!" (First time user #2, pers. comm. 2015).

In line with the material which has been presented until now, the appraisal of energy-saving practices in relation to *Fabrica del Sol* is comprised of two parts: a positive, perceptual appraisal about the visible and innovative technologies the building deploys; and a critique based on mistrust of singular exemplars that are vocally publicized but which are not *representative* of the Council's practice, and are hence tacitly appraised as intending to mislead public opinion. Mistrust of these practices could be justified by their arguable capacity and role in producing appropriate practice. As claimed by a local sustainability transition expert and activist during a phone interview in 2015, *"Fabrica del Sol* is important, but the solution is not that Barcelona becomes a collection of *Fabricas [del Sol]*", meaning that singular exemplars that demonstrate innovative technologies will not suffice to "transition" (in his wording) to a practice of energy saving. When engaged in this debate about singular exemplars and technologies, passers-by did not mention the apparently praiseworthy policies involving integrating energy-saving practices into Council buildings. Passer-by appraisal of *Fabrica del Sol* reflects the insufficient

contextual communication promoted by Council policies (Section 5.3), which appears to overly rely on innovative singular exemplars as a means of *representing* a likeable but always forthcoming *practice* of the Council – but not a current and replicable practice.

7.4.2. "Overrating" by laymen and critique by energy-aware users

Staff and visitors at Fabrica del Sol were expected to be more aware than average about the importance of saving energy. I had been warned about this by a Council official for the building (pers. comm. 2015). The words of the former showed agreement with the idea of the importance of saving energy, as expressed in claims such as "...everybody has to go in this direction" (User and environmental educator, pers. comm. 2015). During interviews conducted at their workplaces, user responses about their experience with the building practices referred positively to user engagement: "We users are aware... [for example] we switch off lights when we leave. I'd give it an eight [from ten], because being an old building, there are insufficiencies" (User and environmental educator, pers. comm. 2015). Some respondents appeared to overstate the building's self-sufficiency: "Working at La Fabrica is of added value. Half of the energy comes from the solar panels" (User working at the 3D Printing Space of Fabrica del Sol #2, pers. comm. 2015). Some interviewees overlooked the space and thermal limitations of the first floor whilst appealing to "the positive psychological effect of working in a sustainable space" (User working at Fabrica del Sol for a subletting organisation #1, pers. comm. 2015). Others also overstated the replicability of practices whilst recognising as the practice of energy saving action that requires technical skills: "the building shows that [saving energy] is viable. It all depends on will. This requires technical support [from the administration]" (User working at Fabrica del Sol for subletting organisation #2, pers. comm. 2015). As in the case of Endesa,

it appears that staff-user engagement with energy management involves more positive appraisals that those of passers-by and expert publics.

The narratives of users reflect an understanding of energy saving practice as the coresponsibility of government, corporations and citizens: "I would not make any difference [between types of actors], everyone has to go this way" (First time user #1, pers. comm. 2015), implying the expectation that organisations integrate energy saving into their practice and care in the same way that the public is expected to. As with the case of Endesa, some users indicated the contradictory nature of the limited integration of the practices in the building into other government buildings: "It is a referent, as all public buildings should be. If it can be done in an old building, why not in all of them?" (User working at the 3D Printing Space #2, pers. comm. 2015). After indicating this contradiction, this user continued to proclaim the positive qualities of the building: "The Fabrica is not a façade, but a real compromise...about more responsible consumption", showing that technological innovation and singular exemplars can operate as Lefebvrian monuments in producing an illusory consistency of practice. This contradiction was explicitly raised as a problem by an official engaged in education: "There is need for heating and lighting control in government buildings - you often need to wear a t-shirt [in winter]!" (User and environmental educator, pers. comm. 2015). Although not an expert in energy-saving technologies, the job of this respondent is to convey official advice to the public about the need to care about the environment and to save energy. Thus, it is possible that more than re-appraising the limited integration of practices in council buildings, this critique refers to the contradictions between the practice of the council and its narrative exhortations to the public – problematized as a sign of "hypocrisy" by Jackson (2009, 11).

Thus, aligned with the voice of building expert publics (as presented in Section 7.2) and renewable experts who participate in *Fabrica del Sol* (Section 6.2) it appears that

knowledge about the possible practices of energy saving relates to a critique of innovative and singular representations. In contrast, laymen users working in *Fabrica del Sol* appear to be satisfied by the degree of comfort provided by what they believe is a self-sufficient building, thereby reproducing Council narratives and ignorance about the fact that selfsufficiency is a goal and an indicator of the degree that a building saves fossil energy – not an achievement of the building. Accordingly, self-proclaimed energy-aware users naïvely reproduce the official hero story, disregarding the contradictions that underlie the less appealing success of the building (partially explaining limited communication about it, as shown in Section 6.2), ¹⁰⁸ and the limited efforts of the council to integrate and contextualise practices in attempts to foster the (re)production of an appropriate practice.

What appears most problematic for passers-by and users at *Fabrica del Sol* is the limited integration of energy-saving practices in Council buildings. Although some users seem to be sold by the official hero story of the Council – to the extent of confusing self-sufficiency goals with accomplishments in *Fabrica del Sol* – most respondents referred to their experiential knowledge to express their disregard of innovative and singular exemplars. In the case of passers-by, this appeared to be related to mistrust of vocal claims (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Greenberg 2014). Experts, however, like passers-by of *Fabrica del Sol* and also *Endesa*, tended to problematize the need for replicable practices of behaviour and management which should be integrated into the building, but also into all Council buildings to attain credibility and foster the (re)production of a practice of saving energy. The failure of the Council to contextualise and often to transparently communicate the performance of its exemplars, as is the case with *Fabrica del Sol*, further justifies public

¹⁰⁸ Similar to what Janda and Topouzi call a "horror story" (2015).

mistrust that the act of interviewing could have made explicit, hence contributing to a reappraisal of practice as produced in space.

7.5. Media-ICT: a smart façade

7.5.1. Acceptance and optimism regarding the EFTE façade

As with the cases presented earlier, passers-by of *Media-ICT* often expressed their ignorance about the building and the energy-saving practices that are in place when responding to my first two questions. Positive opinions about the building's relationship with saving energy were based upon its singularity, aesthetics, and design:

It aims to be singular, to stand out. It gives me a good impression, it is beautiful. The construction is elaborate! (Passer-by who works nearby #3, pers. comm. 2015)

In this quote, as in the narratives of other publics (mostly passers-by), a positive appraisal of the building for saving energy appears grounded on an assumption that efforts put into the building need to necessarily – at least in these domains – respond to consensual values about energy saving. To this contributes an uncritical acceptance of energy efficiency credentials and innovative designs, as discussed in Section 2.5:

The design is fine, I like it. Very singular, ground-breaking. I think it won some award for its energy efficiency. I don't know if these bubbles collect energy, I only know it won several awards.... I guess it makes the most of natural light, and that's why it has this shape. (User-worker #4, pers. comm. 2015)

Such acceptance is aligned with the expert concerns presented in Section 7.2. It shows that the official framing of energy saving through innovative practices and singular exemplars is aligned with public acceptance of energy saving values, although it is not clear whether it contributes to fostering them. It appears to fail to educate the public about in which areas they may save energy. As in the case of *Endesa*, passers-by show ignorance about the fact that the mechanical cooling of commercial buildings – that overheat due to excessive solar radiation in predominant designs – is more energy intensive than illuminating them. This is relevant because a rationale of protecting the building from solar radiation was argued to support the choice of the two building façades (see Sections 6.1 and 6.3).

Passer-by acceptation appears problematic in terms of its lack of criticism and reproduction of official narratives: "it is an eco-building, but I don't know exactly...I was told" (Passer-by who works nearby #2, pers. comm. 2015). In words of a frequent passer-by (#1):

Are those [referring to the EFTE bubbles] solar panels? I see tourists taking photos when I pass by (pers. comm. 2015).

The assumption here is that, since the building attracts interest, it must also save energy, and hence generate energy. It appears, thus, that official representations foster an overly positive – illusory – appraisal of the building, particularly since there is no official communication that refutes the beliefs or clarifies doubts about the EFTE façade, even though these are common amongst passers-by. Saving energy has become in the public imaginary the act of deploying technologies, mostly renewables – not reducing consumption. There is therefore the risk that passers-by assume and overestimate the energy saving achievements of the building based on its innovative design and related credentials.

Countering the perception of laymen presented so far, whist supporting the overall argument, multiple experts asked about *Media-ICT* referred to its design and energy saving

```
215
```

claims with reticence. Several referred to it as part of a "marketing" strategy ¹⁰⁹ whose success would therefore explain the positive perception by laymen publics. They acknowledged that the innovation in buildings like "...Media-ICT is important because it attracts [public] attention towards energy efficiency" (Architect participant in the Efficient Block #4, pers. comm. 2015). However, the continuing words of this respondent - "I don't want to be anti-technology, but was that facade really necessary?" - show the existence of concern about the reduction of energy saving practice to the deployment of technologies. Moreover, the replicability of these technologies has not become apparent to experts, who echo the official council framing of innovation: "At least its solar protection is innovative, I don't know if it's efficient, or replicable" (Architect participant in the Efficient Block #1, pers. comm. 2015). Replicability appears as one dimension that is insufficiently addressed from the perspective of these experts, who, however, acknowledge the role of *Media-ICT* in attracting attention to the need for transforming practice: "...what we need is pedagogy, being very theatrical. This is hyper-theatrical" (Architect participant in the Efficient Block #3, pers. comm. 2015). The risk appears that these theatrical representations are perceived by the public as intentionally deceptive – as "all smoke and mirrors" (Architect involved in Fabrica del Sol, pers. comm. 2014). This would explain public mistrust in the practices enacted by elites and their disinterest in reproducing them and, hence, the "action gap" (Blake 1999) between the public acceptance of energy saving values and the adoption of related practices.

However, in the case of the *Media-ICT*, passers-by appear to accept the innovative practices deployed by the Council, and hence its leadership as regards saving energy

¹⁰⁹ The experts who voiced this opinion included: Architect involved in *Fabrica del Sol*, pers. comm. 2014; Architect Participant in the *Efficient Block* #4 pers. comm. 2015; Architect at a commercial building supplier company, pers. comm. 2015; Senior engineer involved in design of *Media-ICT* and *Endesa*, pers. comm. 2015.

through these *theatrical* representations. Accepting their sufficiency thus serves to justify the alienation of a public which, being energy-aware, is also energy-addicted, as argued by Healy (2014). This is supported by the response of passers-by to my questions about the need for integrating similar practices into other buildings. At this stage, what had seemed like positive acceptance turned into refusal. Supporting the arguments introduced in Section 7.1, these actors considered that the energy-saving practices represented in *Media-ICT* would be a burden on tax-payers and dwellers. Accordingly, the role expected from the government is a heroic one: "[Government buildings] should spearhead [lead by example], private ones should fulfil the standard" (Passer-by who works nearby #1, pers. comm. 2015). These perceptions of passers-by counter the expectations of the designer that *Media-ICT* can normalize energy-saving practices and demonstrate that energy-saving buildings can be cheap (Section 6.3).¹¹⁰ On the contrary, supporting expert concerns about over-reliance on innovation and singular – *theatrical* – exemplars, it appears that *Media-ICT* has a counterproductive effect on attempts to normalize energy-saving practices and engage the public, since these practices are perceived as a costly technological burden.

Further supporting the argument of Healy that the public seek justification for maintaining current levels of energy consumption (2014), some argue that "government and corporate buildings, especially those of energy companies, should use renewables to the max. It is a matter of corporate social responsibility!" (pers. comm. 2015). This focus on organisations, and especially energy corporations, could respond to a climate of public anger in Spain towards elites, as described in Section 5.2. These sorts of narratives are problematic for not considering that the costs incurred by organisations will eventually trickle down in the form of taxes, energy bills and market prices. By taking on what is

¹¹⁰ As the specialized media echoed, "Buildings like this are important because they demonstrate that it is possible to do sustainable architecture at a market price. This is the best way to change people's mindset" (Polo 2010).

appraised as a burden to society, organisations would be redeemed. Buildings such as *Media-ICT* serve thus to legitimate organisations by framing the practice of saving energy as part of their heroic efforts. This legitimacy appears related to the limited attempts to politicise energy saving in appeals to the public. The hero framing of innovation and singular buildings appears as a populist instrument which counters the common good – i.e. the reproduction of a practice of saving energy.

7.5.2. User discomfort and incredulity

In comparison to passers-by, users appeared to be more reticent in relation to believing in the performance of the building:¹¹¹

It is visually attractive. I hope that the aesthetics have some function too...but I don't know....I know it is thought to be efficient, but I don't know. [*How does this reflect on the building*?] I wonder this too! (Frequent user #1, pers. comm. 2015)

The quote shows that building users are not sufficiently informed about the extent and way the building saves energy, creating mistrust. In addition to such limited information, critiques were often grounded on concerns about limited responsiveness to user needs, such as in the case of interior overheating: "[Some users] wanted to put screens on windows, but the architect did not allow this" (User, receptionist #3, pers. comm. 2015). This case was widely cited by users as an example of the priority granted to design over use. It aligns

¹¹¹ Exceptionally, some users working for the Council expressed their full satisfaction with the building. A receptionist at Barcelona Activa on the first floor stated that: "[i]t is new, very beautiful, full of light, the spaces are wide, with views to the street...Lights get switched off [automatically] when leaving the room. The computer rooms are in energy saving mode" (pers, comm. 2015). These words seemed to uncritically reproduce the official narrative about building design and automation being ends (not means), possibly due to the employment of this user at a Council reception desk. A different narrative emerged when, reflecting on her actual experience, this very respondent also acknowledged that the air-conditioning and lighting automation were overridden to suit user needs, hence acknowledging that their operation was not satisfactory in terms of comfort, and that the building credentials based on the full operation of the system did not correspond to actual consumption. I also experienced that, as a result of the manual operation of heating, cooling and lighting systems, multiple empty rooms and complete floors were illuminated and felt too cold in summer.

with the critical reviews of the City governance presented in Section 5.3. This limited responsiveness thus appears to be related to limitations on comfort, which many find inadmissible. Such was the case of a former user who, during an interview in *Fabrica del Sol*, was enduring far from ideal working conditions: "the user has become an appendix of the smart building" (pers. comm. 2015), thus showing the importance of user engagement and organisational responsiveness towards their needs. In addition to this, there are expectations about the building due to its special design and in relation to claims about its "smart" nature which contrast with the situation as related by users:

It contains good ideas, but its design is not well optimized for saving energy ... it lacks some external curtains in the south side to block the sun. We have the lights on the whole day. The air-conditioning works badly...it's not intelligent. The [EFTE] panels...don't insulate enough: right now the air-conditioning is working at full power. *The design should be more passive. Maybe they [designers and owners] are more worried about design...If people believe this [their claims], then fine, but users suffer here.* It is necessary to preach by example. This is done through appearances, it's not true. (User-worker #4, pers. comm. 2015, my emphasis)

Contradictions between expectations and user experiences relate to a critique about limited efforts to go beyond "appearance" and to account for the social dimension of practice.

A radical critique was also formulated by the publics whose background and interest in the building originated from some awareness about the function of buildings. A member of a consumer cooperative referred to her experience of visiting *Media-ICT* like this: "At first I thought it was amazing...after visiting it, I realized it was all a pantomime!" (pers. comm. 2015).¹¹² These words imply an understanding that failure is inbuilt into the

¹¹²Refers to a neighbour of *Fabrica del Sol*, member of a civil organization #2.

theatrical representation, as per its function. As a "pantomime", more than granting credibility to the practice of saving energy, what the building does is to disillusion those that experience its limitations. To counter this type of negative appraisals, a tourist visiting the building as part of an architectural tour, argued for increased communication that allows public scrutiny on the practices of organisations:

The building should be explained, so people understand these new systems...because they [governments] spend lots of money and people need to know...their cost, and their rationale. (pers. comm. 2015)

According to this perspective, increased communication would enable the passer-by public to understand energy-saving practices as not necessarily costly and technological – e.g. that the function of the intelligent EFTE façade is the same as manually-operated curtains and blinds. Increased communication, however, would counter the designer's conception of the building as "empathetic"; i.e. not requiring further explanation for the public to understand energy saving practice as normal (Section 6.3). It would dispel the illusory consensus surrounding innovative designs and technologies, particularly relevant amongst laymen publics, which from a Lefebvrian perspective require the absence of narratives as a means of legitimating the practice being represented and its proponents.

Thus, the positive perception of *Media-ICT* and its energy-saving practices amongst laymen passers-by shows the relative success of a hero framing of innovation that generates technological optimism, and the illusion that energy savings are attained. Optimistic perceptions become possible in the absence of a contextual explanation of the building which is not appraised as part of the Council's goal of saving energy, revealing a depoliticising effect. Such illusory optimism is dispelled when users experience the

limitations on the comfort in the building, and the prevalence of design over use and saving energy. It is also dispelled when passers-by understand the practices being represented as not replicable. In perceiving the *Media-ICT*, the meaning of energy saving gets reduced to the exceptional deployment of costly practices. These alienate the public and furthermore contribute to a perception of related government practices as overspending.

In sight of the public appraisal of the building, official representations appear to have missed an opportunity to publicize the function of the building amongst laymen publics. In particular, there appears to be insufficient understanding amongst these publics about the low cost of the building – as claimed by the designers (Section 6.3), and the replicability of the practices in it deployed. ¹¹³ Such a reframing would show that the Council cares about the public reproducing its practices and that user comfort is part of energy saving practice, resulting in greater acceptance, as in the case of the *Endesa*. This reframing of the building would transform the ways the public and the Council relate to each other, making the latter accountable and producing social relations that are appropriate to energy saving - and productivity - goals being officially claimed (Section 6.3). However, reframing practice as caring and learning would imply dispelling the hero framing of innovation about *Media-ICT* by recognising the limitations of the technologies that are in place - i.e., what Janda and Topouzi refer to as a "horror story" (2015).

7.6. The Efficient Block: the social limits to practice

Because the *Efficient Block* project combines commercial and residential buildings and because of its preliminary stage – competition of ideas – at the time of field research, it is a peculiar case. There were no signs in front of the *Block* describing the project to passers-

¹¹³ The building could foster learning amongst the public – for instance, about the relevance of limiting solar radiation on the south façade, or controlling thermostats and lights to avoid wasteful energy use. These practices can be implemented using hi-tech systems, but also in vernacular ways – using curtains – and through behavioural modification – adjusting thermostats, switching lights off when not in use, etc.

by, hence I focused on the narratives of users. Since during my enquiry I realised that only inhabitants had been invited to participate, I focused on the narratives of these actors, along with the experts who participated with their proposals in the competition of ideas. Inhabitant contributions in a workshop that was organized "to convince" – in the words of several interviewees – them to participate were particularly informative, especially when compared to interviews previously conducted outside homes, when inhabitants expressed their expectations about receiving clarification from organizers at the workshop. The workshop took place in the Secretaria de Joventut, situated near to the *Block* on 25 May, 2015. Inhabitant narratives during the workshop can be analysed according to two main framings: a) those that reproduced the Council reliance on landmark projects and innovative technology, and b) those that called into question government leadership.

a) In reproducing the Council reliance on technological innovation, some dwellers defended projects that proposed innovative designs and technologies. Workshop Participant #6 said: "We liked the idea of connecting communities with gangways and rooftop photovoltaic panels; it would give a unique stamp to the Block, and make extra savings". These participants also reproduced the Council's desire to attract international attention, as made explicit in its policy narratives (reviewed in Section 5.3.1). Aligned with this position, Participant #5 vehemently proclaimed that...

The project should be more ambitious, like other projects that have made Barcelona a worldwide referent...We are lucky to be offered the chance to participate in an experiment, [called on] to become a referent, and that brings me lots of excitement... [Otherwise] it will be just another renovation...To be an *Efficient Block* we need to take full, plethoric, [and] ambitious action, with support from private companies, like we did during the [organisation of the] Olympic Games [of 1992].

These narratives show a blind acceptance of the Council policies and practices. The leadership of the Council and of Barcelona, in deploying innovative energy-saving practices in landmark buildings is appraised as a source of international admiration. Acknowledging the heroic role of the Council, of other administrations, and of corporations, the inhabitants of the *Block* feel proud "to be offered" a chance to engage and to produce a most acclaimed exemplar. In these narratives, heroic practices are understood as visually attractive, and not as potentially compelling others to follow. Accordingly, they did not include references to real-world issues such as the Solar Ban, which at the time of my research countered the cost-effectiveness of in-house solar generation. Reproducing the Council representations presented in Section 5.3, these inhabitants disregarded issues of replicability. For them, innovative technologies and singular exemplars are fundamental to raise public awareness and to co-produce a practice of energy saving.

b) Responding to these interventions, other workshop participants protested about the excessive focus on vain aspects of visual design and defended more replicable practices requiring user commitment. Participant #7, who introduced himself as a member of a renewable energy consumption cooperative (Som Energia), complained that...

[T]hose gangways on the rooftop are the expression of 'let's be cool' but *Can we sell the energy?* I don't know! Regulations have changed [in reference to the Solar Ban]...It is nice that they [the organizers] pay for half of this...but let's start at home, only then we should go to the roof and install photovoltaic panels.

Similarly, Workshop Participant #8, an inhabitant with a background in energy conservation projects commented that "it is not necessary to innovate; maybe it is better to install less air-conditioning, instead of photovoltaic panels". These critiques show disagreement with the priority granted to "design" over "use" in Council policies, as

223

described in Section 5.3.1, as well as with the project goals whereby innovation plays a role in publicizing the project with a view to contributing to the replication of residential building energy renovation. The former opinions show that energy-aware publics disagree with the official practice of the Council – which they find overly reliant on visual, singular and innovative representations – and seek to reclaim a citizen practice.

Contributing to this alternative understanding of energy saving practice, and of the purpose of the Efficient Block, some dwellers argued that an energy renovation needs to meet user needs. Workshop Participant #9 brought up the relationship between efficiency and comfort: "I don't want to pay more, but I will vote, and live better...We need financing. I don't want to get anything for free...It's not the administration who should give me this". The relevance of user comfort was highlighted also by an administrator of two Efficient Block condominiums, who commented that "noise disturbances are more important for many dwellers than energy costs... [but] the organizers have not mentioned that ... for instance, that efficient windows also reduce noise!" (pers. comm. 2015). As summarized by the president of a condominium in a follow up phone call after the workshop: "during the workshop we realised that renovating residential buildings is quite a thing, [and renovating] a whole block is truly complicated!", implying that the organizers had overlooked this complexity. Thus, it appears that inhabitants, like users in Endesa and Media-ICT, make meaning of energy saving in the context of building use and comfort. The failure of organizers to address this context appears to have widened the gap between their understanding of energy saving practice and that of the public. The official framing of innovation failed to match up to the more complex needs of users.

Other critical voices also confronted the project by focusing on the context of the policies and practices of government actors, which for them defined the context of the *Efficient Block*. Several workshop participants raised questions about the evanescence of

subventions and the limited communication about them, and the incoherence of energy saving policies – often returning to the example of the Solar Ban. Referring specifically to the project, several inhabitants, such as workshop participants #9 and #13, wondered how the project could address underlying problems of cohabitation caused by the different tenancies, since there are rented buildings in which owners have limited (economic) interest in renovation. There were also complaints about limited transparency and coordination with inhabitants. For instance, Participant #11 protested that:

[In our building] we thermally insulated the dividing wall, just before learning that the building next door, the Maternitat [the Council's Residencia Municipal Francesc Layret] was starting renovation. We could have avoided this work! (Workshop participant, Barcelona 25 May, 2015)¹¹⁴

These narratives show that the public makes meaning of the *Efficient Block* and the practices of renovation related based upon the practices of government agencies and the organizers. The latter might be expected to care about the residential publics' expectations of comfort, to incorporate their voice at all stages of the project, and overall to show a commitment to helping the public to save energy not only through the project but through their overall policies and practices, which were found to be inconsistent. Accordingly, project expectations of inhabitants as well as policy exhortations to the general public to save energy are appraised as too demanding ("hypocritical": Jackson 2009, 11), and as not responding to their needs.

Contradictions between government policy and practice – from the organizers and from the central government – along with inhabitants' appraisal of project participation as

¹¹⁴ Some participants also referred privately to the difficult relationship with the Catalan Housing Agency, which, according to some, would have appropriated space from common areas of the block (e.g. User who works and lives in the *Efficient Block*, pers. comm. 2015).

obscure, unequal and unfair appear to be the source of the limited credibility granted to the *Efficient Block* and the limited interest in it from its inhabitants. This argument resonates with those of reviewers of renewable energy infrastructure acceptance presented in Section 2.9 (Walker et al. 2010; Devine-Wright and Devine-Wright 2009; Batel et al. 2016; Devine-Wright et al. 2010; Greenberg 2014). It supports my claims about the need to transform social relations for a practice of energy saving to be (re)produced. Although the political roots of the problem are mostly tacit in these critiques, they appear to be fundamental to understanding the difficulties of the organizers in obtaining a quorum for choosing a project, and ultimately, in public engagement for conducting the renovation of the *Block*. The participation process, after the selection of winning projects, vanished from the media, hence diverting attention from its failure to engage the inhabitants.

A more explicitly radical critique was formulated by experts who participated in the project competition. Participating expert #4, who had experience with participatory residential building renovation, erupted thus:

They [the organizers] have no idea about participation! They think that if they allow contribution, they are letting people participate...The project should start with a more transparent process....If they [the government actors] don't participate... it goes against the project...! How can you ask inhabitants to get involved if the government doesn't?! ...We need a more global understanding... in terms of self-sufficiency, self-management...to empower inhabitants to take decisions in their environment, to have a more critical view. (pers. comm. 2015)

From this perspective there is a need for a greater degree of participation that comes with a desire to understand user needs and transform the ways in which decisions are taken. Furthering this argument, Participant expert #2 considered that the absence of government

226

buildings in the *Project* responded to the way the government relates to the public, and jeopardizes the credibility and replicability of the *Efficient Block*:

The [Catalan Housing Agency] building is out of the project? Come on! ... This can be replicable only if... people believe in it!... It is absurd, and responds to the mentality of this country: 'let them invent, we take the credit!' (pers. comm. 2015)

These quotes also show the understanding that the Council and the Catalan Government dismissed the possibility of creating new collaborative relations with inhabitants because there was no capacity to promote genuine participation, and because the organisation was not interested in producing new practice, but rather in the credit that could result from innovative practices. In this, the project would have deviated from its goal of creating new normative and institutional capacities, as described in Section 6.4, which in the case that they had been developed would not have been as inclusive as required to engage the public in the (re)production of a practice of energy saving. This would have contributed to transforming the social relations which, for practice theorists embed, energy use (Shove 2010; Shove and Walker 2010, 2014; Wilhite 2013).

As reviewed, the *Efficient Block* failed to engage multiple inhabitants, which made meaning of the project in the context of the organisations' practices and of energy use, explaining the hardships endured by organizers in attaining a quorum amongst inhabitants in relation to support for project proposals. Although some inhabitants reproduced the Council framing of energy saving in innovation and singular exemplars, a wide array of inhabitants and participating experts realized the insufficient commitment of government organizers to transforming the ways they relate to the public and to overcoming the limited consistency with energy saving policy. The focus on residential buildings and the exclusion

of commercial ones, especially those of government agencies, reproduces the dominant framing whereby citizens are blamed for the limited extent to which they engage with efficient practices, as claimed by Lutzenhiser (2014) and Moezzi and Janda (2014). Reacting to this, inhabitants demanded more accountability and transparency from organizers and a commitment that the project would be adjusted to user needs, re-cognising the need for public empowerment for an appropriate practice to be produced. By not participating on equal terms with inhabitants, the organizing government agencies missed an opportunity to appease public claims to increase the consistency of official representations. For critical participants, a practice of saving energy needs to respond to and transform everyday needs and routines, as well as the relations between inhabitants and between inhabitants and the administration, overall reproducing the framings, meanings and relations that are appropriate to saving energy.

7.7. Chapter summary

This chapter has reviewed a wide array of narratives related to public appraisals of the official practice of energy saving as represented in commercial buildings. In this section I summarize the main findings and discuss their relevance for scholarly debates, policy-making and constructive critique designed to contribute to the production of an appropriate practice.

a) There is a widespread consensus surrounding expert conceptualisations, as I have shown in Section 7.1. A general preference for "efficient", "smart" and "renewable" technology deployment over "saving energy", and a general disregard for vernacular and behaviour practices shows the existence of a what Lefebvre calls a "banal consensus" (1991, 6). With the notable exception of some experts who question dominant designs and the widespread use of automation in commercial buildings, the limited attention paid in

official representations to behaviour and vernacular practices was marginally criticized by laymen publics, many of whom self-represented as energy-aware. Whether accepting or critical of official practice, public narratives tend to reproduce the official conceptualisations of energy saving as a technological problem.

b) The everyday experience of experts (Section 7.2) with the priorities and interests of commissioning organisations in decontextualising practices – hence emptying them of meaning – offer suggestive evidence that supports a radical critique of commercial buildings. In this, a legitimating function prevails over official commitments to producing an appropriate practice and compelling the public to replicate it. Section 7.2 also shows the potential for engaging experts as publics when these make meaning of energy saving practice based on their own everyday experience. This aligns with the novel relevance granted to experts in applied research as mediating the reproduction of practices (e.g. Shove and Walker 2010; Janda and Parag 2013) and counters Lefebvre's understanding of experts as unaware of the "ideological project" they serve (1991, 338).

c) Laymen publics make meaning from energy saving practice in a context of practice. The appraisal of contradictions in the practice of commissioning organisations – as shown in Sections 7.3-7.6 – relates to: i) the limited material integration of energy-saving practices in the buildings of the organisation – as indicated in relation to *Fabrica del Sol* and the *Efficient Block*; and ii) the contradiction between the energy saving claims about the building and the *social* domain of practice – including the vested interests as referred to by *Endesa* passers-by, the limited attention paid to user needs and inclusion in the *Efficient Block*, and *Media-ICT*.¹¹⁵ This critique implies that, in the view of the public, what matters for organisations is to pretend that they are abiding by socially accepted

¹¹⁵ Connecting the two earlier points, the consistency of energy saving policies was also problematic for laymen publics of the *Efficient Block* and *Fabrica del Sol*.

values to attain legitimacy. It appears therefore, that a consistent practice is needed before the public will accept and reproduce official practices. This finding is aligned with empirically-based reviews of corporate responsibility and transition governance about the gap between official narratives and action (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; see also Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Jackson 2006, 2009), furthermore clarifying the need to incorporate the inconsistencies in the material and social domains that potentially counter public engagement. This claim is coherent with increasing recognition of the social capital of organisations and the quality of public engagement in studies of renewable infrastructure acceptance (Walker et al. 2010; Devine-Wright and Devine-Wright 2009; Batel et al. 2016; Devine-Wright et al. 2010; Greenberg 2014). The necessary consistency of practice required for the reproduction of energy-saving practices appears as a potential contribution to formulating "caring stories", as proposed by Janda and Topouzi (2015). These types of stories may have the potential to compel the public to save energy, but are the least clearly formulated by the authors. Their formulation could benefit from re-cognising the context of practice as the site of meaning making.

d) The appraisal of contradictions and the resulting critiques were less salient amongst laymen publics which – as also shown in Sections 7.3-7.6 – were i) visually exposed to the most spectacular representations under analysis – as in the case of *Media-ICT* passers-by, some inhabitants of the *Efficient Block*, and multiple users, and the laymen public of *Fabrica del Sol*; and ii) those invited to participate in the building energy management – as was the case of the users of *Fabrica del Sol* and *Endesa*. The latter two reproduced official narratives about building exemplarity, acknowledging and – at least in *Fabrica del Sol* – overestimating the performance of the building.¹¹⁶ These users criticized

¹¹⁶ Users in *Fabrica del Sol* appears to be exposed to both aspects, i.e. to technologies that are visual and innovative, and to the participatory management of the building. These appear to be related to overestimations

the limited communication about the buildings' performance to the public which contradicted the official intent of fostering learning amongst the public. However, they did not formulate a radical critique (as with the case of other publics) about Endesa not being interested in saving energy or wanting to attract attention towards its practices.¹¹⁷ It appears therefore that, according to the theoretical framework proposed, the representation of energy saving practice as reduced to technical improvements, singular exemplars and social representations of participation contributed to concealing the contradictions of practice. Ultimately, this contributed to producing the illusion that an appropriate practice was in place, countering the everyday production of an appropriate practice, as argued by Lefebvre (1991).

e) Corresponding to the hero framing of innovation and singular exemplars, there is the risk that energy saving practice would be appraised as technologically and economically demanding, and hence burdensome for public replication. These critiques included consideration of the cost of saving practices for all sorts of actors and their technical complexity in relation to the public. A notable example of this was the quasi-unanimous acceptance amongst passers-by of the innovative practices in *Media-ICT*, which turned into rejection when I inquired into the potential integration of the latter into other buildings.¹¹⁸ Similar narratives were formulated by passers-by of *Fabrica del Sol* and *Endesa*, as well as by inhabitants of the *Efficient Block*. According to this finding, a social consensus about the leading role of organisations and the sufficiency of their practices may be further explained by the public's "addiction" to energy (Healy 2014), but most fundamentally by representations that result in the appraisal of energy saving practice as

of building performance which are not negated through official communications, thus supporting claims about their deceptive function.

¹¹⁷ Such critique from passers-by and some experts would thus explain the preference of the company not to make narrative statements which could be criticized.

¹¹⁸ This contradicts the claims of the designers that the "empathetic" building contributes to normalize sustainable buildings and demonstrates to the public that saving energy can be inexpensive (Section 6.3).

burdensome. There is therefore a need to re-cognise the role of behaviours and vernacular practices in commercial buildings and for contextualising innovative practices as related to the former two.¹¹⁹

These findings offer suggestive evidence about the public alienation from saving energy being related to the public appraisal of contradictions. Regardless of the consensual acceptance of expert conceptualisations of energy saving, as shown in Section 7.1, the public appears to be critical of official practice, providing an explanation for the "value-action gap" (Blake 1999). The official framing of innovative practices and singular exemplars implies an appraisal of energy saving practice as burdensome or hypocritical, if not actually responding to obscure interests, resulting ultimately in public alienation. This supports with empirical evidence of everyday existing theoretical claims about how energy saving exemplars legitimate organisations as the actors best equipped to save energy, whilst alienating the public from reproducing these practices (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011; Janda and Topouzi 2015). Accordingly, blame should not fall on the public for failing to abide by consensual values, but on organisations for relying on techno-economic knowledge (Lutzenhiser 2014), and furthermore producing the illusion that sufficient action is being taken (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011). This understanding compromises the exploration of the "social potential" of saving energy (Moezzi and Janda 2014).

This chapter constitutes an empirical contribution to engaging everyday meaning-making in policy and critical research that is addressed at understanding the ongoing problem of energy saving policy and research: namely, its failure to engage laymen public in saving

¹¹⁹ I am thinking here about the glass shading in the *Endesa*, or the EFTE façade in the *Media-ICT*, whose function parallels that of curtains. Similarly, the elements of automation present could be explained as the necessary counterpart in commercial buildings of the manual operation of windows and lights in residential units.

energy. The chapter serves to problematize the failure of official representations to produce an appropriate practice and reveal that the prevalence of a hero framing of innovation and singular exemplars has an alienating effect. Although the appraisal of official representations of technological innovation in singular exemplars succeeds in generating a "banal" conceptual and social consensus (Lefebvre 1991) about the appropriateness of technological innovation and organisational leadership, it fails to engage the public. Official narratives that reflect on the consistency of practice could foster a caring framing of integration, potentially fostering the publics' learning from official practices; not only in terms of replication but of appropriate energy saving. However, this caring framing of integration involves exposing organisations to public critique. This chapter contributes to the scholarly critique necessary for the recognition of buildings as co-producing practice and ultimately supports the proposition that organisations may find it advantageous to shift from their currently decontextualising framing to one that re-politicises practice.

Chapter 8. Interpretation and relevance of findings

The search for disciplinary approaches for tackling the limited attention paid to the meaning of Government, expert, and corporate practices of energy saving took me a long way through the review of economic, psychological, socio-psychological, and critical explanations aimed at creating an understanding of the gap left by dominant positivist knowledge and post-structuralist critique. Both of the latter marginalize the role of everyday meaning-making in the production of practice. Recognition of the need to reappraise this meaning to better inform policies intended to compel the public to save energy was completed when I acknowledged – inspired by Lefebvre (1991) and applied practice theories – the epistemological and political roots and implications of a disregard for the context of practice. Responding to this purpose, I engaged with an interpretive policy analytical approach that also acknowledges that meaning-making occurs in the context of practice, and mediates the reproduction of practices. Study of the "framing" of different official and everyday representations helped with appraising what dimensions of practice contextualise meaning-making for different actors (van Hulst and Yanow 2014), and hence what contradictions are relevant for them. Guided by Lefebvre's theory about the spatial unicity of practice (1991) and empirical findings of social practice, learning and corporate responsibility (Chapter 2), I studied the framing divide between official representations and everyday meaning-making that potentially hinders the (re)production of meaning and practice(s). Conceptually, I differentiated between energy-saving practices as representations (as enacted in commercial buildings), and practices embedded practice. The latter require the transformation of the socio-material context (Shove 2003; Shove and Walker 2010; 2014) and are constitutive of what I term, inspired by Lefebvre, "appropriate

practice", i.e. which is "consistent" throughout its conceptual, material and social dimensions (1991). My main research question thus became:

How do official representations of commercial buildings relate to the everyday meaning-making of energy saving and the (re)production of its practice?

This question implied understanding the divide that occurs between official representations of energy-saving practices regarding commercial buildings and their everyday appraisal by the public. Understanding this divide cast light on the political interests that underlie official representations (reviewed in Chapter 5) and their implications for the (re)production of everyday meaning and practices, thereby responding overall to my dual goal of informing policy and political critique. Empirically, I approached the main question through the following sub-questions:

- a) How do EU, National and City policies in Barcelona frame energy-saving practices in commercial buildings?
- *b) How do the official narratives and practices of commissioning organisations frame energy-saving practices in four commercial buildings in Barcelona?*
- c) How does the public make meaning of energy saving practice through their everyday experience with four commercial buildings in Barcelona?

In the remainder of this chapter I first summarize and critically review my findings (Sections 8.1 and 8.2). This exposition of findings responds to the research questions in reverse order in order to critically review official representations (Questions 1 and 2) in terms of their epistemological distance from everyday meaning-making (Question 3). Then, I critically review my findings in the context of previous research, theoretical debates, and the proposed methodological approach to understand their limitations and

original contribution. The last section of this chapter covers the policy contribution of this dissertation.

8.1. Public alienation in the everyday appraisal of buildings

The study of everyday narratives (Chapter 7) shows that everyday meaning is produced in a context of practice, granting relevance to the *consistency* between the studied buildings and the social values (that I refer to as coherence); the energy-saving practices of organisations (material integration); and the social responsiveness of organisations (social integration). At times (a), the public appraised the buildings under analysis as consistent in practice. The organisation, the practices deployed, and the overall practice being represented were thus accepted as legitimate. In other cases (b), the public identified contradictions in practice, and formulated what I call (after Lefebvre) a radical critique of everyday (1991) that recognises the underlying interests of organisations.

a) The opinion of multiple publics about the four buildings under study reflected the consensus surrounding dominant reductionist conceptualisations and technological practices of efficiency, smart and renewable energy generation, resulting in the acceptance of commissioning organisations that abide by these principles. The commissioning organisations were appraised as best equipped and hence legitimised to enact innovative practices in singular exemplars, resulting in what Lefebvre calls a "banal consensus" that is not only conceptual but social (1991, 6). The appraisal of energy saving practice, as reduced to the deployment of innovative technologies in singular buildings appeared related to a practice that is hypocritical or costly, grounding public alienation from reproducing related practices. (A similar argument was developed by Swyngedouw 2010, 2011; Healy 2014, and Janda and Topouzi 2015).

236

On the contrary, multiple users reproduced official claims about organisational responsiveness and formulated benevolent acceptance of official claims about savings thus attained, the integration of practices (e.g. in *Fabrica del Sol*), and related communication (e.g. about *Endesa*).¹²⁰ This shows that social consensus is fostered by the enactment of public engagement instruments that represent the production of what Lefebvre calls "appropriate" social practices (1991). To an extent, the enactment of accepted conceptualisations, technological practices and social engagement diverts attention from the consistency of practice, which is appraised as appropriate.

b) Appraisal of the buildings as innovative and singular exemplars – hence, contradicting other practices of the organisation – resulted in limits being placed on the credibility of official claims. Such was the case of passers-by and expert publics when appraising the Council deployment of renewable technologies as exemplified in *Fabrica del Sol*, and of smart technologies as represented in *Media-ICT*. Both types of practice were then understood as innovative and costly, hardly replicable in residential buildings, and undesirably integrated into commercial ones. The public critiqued the organisation for seeking legitimacy instead of the public good. As a result, these publics were also alienated from the energy-saving practices that were represented. Additionally, the limited responsiveness of the organisation towards user needs and experiential knowledge about its vested interests – the failure to produce social relations appropriate to saving energy – resulted in users' rejection of official claims about *Media-ICT* and Endesa, and appeared to be related to the lack of inhabitant's interest in the *Efficient Block*. When appraising contradictions between the building and the overall practices of the organisation, the public made claims for the integration of more replicable

¹²⁰ Endesa users (mostly staff) even claimed that energy saving was part of the business model of the company, in opposition to passers-by and critical expert reviews about the corporate and marketing interests of Endesa.

practices – as opposed to singular and innovative practices, whose legitimating function was recognised.

Accordingly, three findings can be differentiated in response to Question 3:

1) Expert conceptualisations, innovative technological practices, and social relations that were represented in singular exemplars potentially conceal contradictions in practice, resulting in the public legitimation of the organisations for their leading role in the adoption of energy-saving practices. These are appraised as a proof that an appropriate practice is being deployed by organisations.

2) An appraisal of contradictions results in recognition of the legitimating function of the buildings and the underlying interests of organisations, potentially providing grounds for a radical critique of official practice.

3) Whether appraising the buildings as coherent in practice, or appraising their contradictions, the layman public is alienated from the official practice as represented in the buildings.

Contributing to answering the main research question, these findings show that any sensible attempt to produce a practice of energy saving and compel the public to save energy needs first to account for producing consistent practice, as meaning is produced through living engagement with practices in their everyday context. By demonstrating that the everyday meaning of energy-saving practices is produced in a context of practice, my research is broadly in harmony with applied social practice research, wherein energy use is considered to be "embedded" in social relations of practice (Shove 2003; Shove and Walker 2010; 2014), and meaning-making mediates the reproduction of saving practice (Wilhite 2010; Wilhite 2014; Warde 2011). These findings align with the claims of cultural

reviewers of practice for whom tacit meaning is produced through repeated everyday engagement, as opposed to the positivist epistemologies dominant in policy-making, where visual and quantitative information prevail (Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014). My findings scholars expand these insights by incorporating the everyday appraisal of contradictions, referred to by scholars of social learning and representation theory as causing mistrust about energy saving messages (Jackson 2005, 2009; Batel et al. 2016; Devine-Wright et al. 2017). Overcoming the diverse focus of these approaches, yet also encompassing them, the conceptual framework inspired by Lefebvre's unicity of space provides explanatory capacity for practice theory to incorporate how meaning-making mediates the reproduction of practices, as also claimed by interpretive policy analysts (Yanow 2007; van Hulst and Yanow 2014). These findings provide grounds for a pragmatic approach, as proposed by Guy and Moore (2005b) - that can bridge the epistemological and conceptual divides underlying the energy saving gap. They also transform the current social relations underlying energy-saving-related policy, research, and practices, as problematized by Lutzenhiser (2014), because for the energy-saving practices of elites to be reproduced on an everyday basis they first need to be credible, and hence appraised as consistent in practice.

8.2. Legitimation of the status quo through reductionist representations

One of the most surprising contradictions that was observed was the limited *textual* communication about the studied buildings in terms of addressing laymen publics, particularly in ways that related to their consistency of practice as an integral part of organisational practice, and as replicable by the public. It appears that internal debates about representing practice either through innovative practices using singular exemplars, or as replicable and integrated practices were resolved with the preference of politicians,

communication offices, and boards of directors for the former. This outcome was explained by experts with internal insight into these decisions as responding to a desire to divert public scrutiny from the organisations' building management – in the case of government actors, and vested interests – in the case of Endesa. A common intent to government and corporate organisations was to improve their public image.

To the generalizability of the argument presented here contributes the research into EU, Catalan Government and Barcelona Council policies which were found to have privileged during the research period the deployment of innovative technologies over replicable practices such as behaviours. Apparently praiseworthy efforts to save energy and to recognise the socially transformative role of the buildings – what the EU policies refer to as an exemplary role – were not reflected in communication policies and practices, which failed to explain to what extent and how practices are integrated into the organisation and can be replicated by the public; they also failed to show how the organisation cares and fosters learning about saving, thus raised doubts about the merit of the practices they deployed.

Responding to Questions 1 and 2, I thus claim that: Official representations of commercial buildings frame energy saving practice as innovative and singular in nature, thereby diverting attention from the socio-material context of practice – i.e. organisational integration and potential for public replication – regardless of any proclaimed commitment to caring about saving energy and fostering public learning.

In contrast to the relevance granted to the context of practice in everyday framings (Section 8.1), this finding shows that in official representations buildings may operate as empty signifiers. As with expert conceptualisations, technologies and aesthetics, they can play a de-politicising role (Tregidga, *et al.* 2018, 2014; Ward 1996; Dutton and Mann 1996;

Farmer and Guy 2005; Stirling 2007) by contributing to what Lefebvre terms as a "banal consensus" (1991, 6). Representing organisations as leaders that care about consensual values of energy saving and enabling the public to learn about how to save energy is important because, as claimed by Suchman, alignment with socially accepted values constitutes a source of legitimacy with regard to consumers, voters and investors (1995). Instead of transforming the practice of organisations and its social relations to produce appropriate practice (Shove 2003) – hence fostering a caring and learning framing, as proposed by Janda and Topouzi (2015) – practice is enacted to accord with ad hoc, empty values.

The preference of organisations for representing buildings out of context explains their apparently contradictory and limited endeavours to attain public recognition of the apparently praiseworthy efforts of Endesa and the Council through textual communication. Similarly, overly optimistic appraisals – such as the case of widespread beliefs about the energy-generating capacity of the *Media-ICT* façade – were not disdained either. Limiting textual communication is an important mechanism for escaping a post-structuralist critique that is best equipped to reveal textual and conceptual tricks (Dutton and Mann 1996; Hart 2001, 3037). This is convenient because the ultimate goals of sustainability are not established and remain open to critique (Geels 2010). Hence, contextualising and textually publicizing the practices related to these buildings would have exposed the organisations to critique, whether for underachieving – as in the case of government buildings – , or overspending – as in the case of Endesa. Decontextualised from practice, the buildings may reap legitimacy benefits whilst escaping critical scrutiny.

Contributing to answering the main research question, the de-contextualisation of practices in the studied buildings raises doubts about their function of producing a practice of energy saving. Instead, this finding resonates with Lefebvre's claims about buildings
illusorily representing the practice of organisations as consistent, and hence legitimate (1991). One could argue that the marginal recognition of the context of practice responds solely to the dominance of positivist epistemologies and quantitative knowledge, and even to the under-theorization of meaning as mediating the reproduction of practice, as problematized by cultural reviewers of practice (Warde 2011; Wilhite 2014; Wilhite 2010; Guy and Moore 2006, Dutton and Mann 1996). However, the legitimating function of commercial buildings is substantiated by my findings in Section 8.1, which show that public appraisal of the studied buildings contributes at times to legitimizing the organisations, and in general to alienating the public. Therefore, the studied building-cases do not co-produce an "appropriate" practice of energy saving. Moreover, meaning is acknowledged at the convenience of the organisations, since there is overt recognition of the legitimating function of technological innovation through singular exemplars, as in the case of the Barcelona policies (Section 5.3.1). Other official claims about the studied buildings represent specific commitments of the organisations that necessarily acknowledge their role in co-producing meaning.¹²¹ The plausibility of the argument that is presented is furthered by the series of vested interests reviewed in Chapter 5.¹²² Energy saving representations, therefore, appear as populist instruments of elite- and knowledge legitimation, as also argued by scholarly reviewers of elite practices (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011; Healy 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015).

CEU eTD Collection

¹²¹ The claims referred to include the Council commitment to the knowledge economy – in the case of *Media-ICT*, to sustainability – in the case of *Fabrica del Sol*, to co-responsible use of energy – in the case of *Endesa* – and as a means of promoting the energy renovation of residential buildings – *Efficient Block*.

¹²² These interests include: a) those of energy corporations invested in the current energy model and of financial institutions invested in real estate, which together shape Spanish policies of energy saving; b) the pursuit of added value from investing in Barcelona whilst concealing processes of accumulation (March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016; Charnock *et al.* 2014), c) continued economic growth whilst reaping government legitimacy – in front of the public – and the statization of the EU and Catalonia regarding international players (Talus 2013; Calzada 2017; Torfing 2006; Jordan 2005; Elden 2004); and d) the need to conceal the dubious management of Catalan Government buildings, as reported by experts. These interests are particularly relevant in terms of the "crisis of legitimacy" of the EU (Habermas 2012), and the impacts of the global financial crisis of 2007 regarding the resulting welfare cuts and public discontent (Sections 5.1 and 5.2).

8.3. Significance of the findings

The policy, political and epistemological preoccupations at the root of this research received increased scholarly attention during the time of research. Positivist and quantitative knowledge continue to dominate energy research and policy (Sovacool et al. 2015). Additionally, the provision of unitary narratives, which have been found necessary to counter this dominance and to engage the public in saving energy (Bushell et al. 2017; Shove and Walker 2014), is countered by the diverse and conflicting nature of constructivist and post-structuralist frameworks that incorporate everyday meanings and social relations (See Gailing and Moss 2016 for a review). The engagement of buildings as representations aligns with the theoretical recognition of buildings as "discursive practice", common amongst critical discourse analysts (Fairclough 2005; Bacchi and Bonham 2014, Bacchi 2009; Bacchi 2015; Liggett 2003; Laclau and Mouffe 1985). However, critical reviews of energy saving theory and practice continue to reproduce the post-structuralist focus on narratives. They lack empirically pluralist engagement with those targeted by policies, practices and commercial buildings, and thus support the reproduction of social relations with the knowledge of experts (Lutzenhiser 2014) which fosters an understanding of buildings as "transparent" - i.e. empty of meaning (Dutton and Mann 1996; Farmer and Guy 2005; Guy and Moore 2005a). Altogether, the "illusion of transparency" - which for Lefebvre underlies the assumption that buildings, like space, are "innocent" - continues to "[be] dispelled only very slowly" (1991, 292).

The significance of my findings is magnified with the rise of novel concerns amongst scholars of energy saving about the limited scrutiny of commercial buildings. Most science and policy assumes the economic rationality of organisations, and therefore a sufficiency of the related practices in commercial buildings. This situation justifies greater attention being paid to residential buildings (Lutzenhiser 2014). These assumptions imply neglect of the also *rational* interest of organisations in improving their public image. As a result, energy-saving practices in commercial buildings are regarded as the result of voluntary action, enabling them to function as socially legitimating instruments (Lutzenhiser 2014; Geels 2010; Porter 1998; Janda and Topouzi 2015; Swyngedouw 2010). This is important, because transforming energy-saving practices requires addressing underlying power and social relations (Moss 2016; Geels 2010); that is to say, transforming practice (Shove 2003; Bohman 1997). One means of transforming these relations is countering, empirically, the positivist assumptions that foster elite and expert interests by recognising everyday knowledge and publics (Guy and Moore 2005b).

The radical critique that is proposed, empirically based on everyday knowledge, resonates with the interest of transition theorists, social responsibility- and renewable infrastructure acceptance scholars in public opinion, resulting in the everyday appraisal of contradictions (Geels 2010; Porter 1998; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Parguel et al. 2011; Batel et al. 2016; Devine-Wright et al. 2017). Public appraisal of these contradictions unveils a deceptive legitimating function, referred to by corporate responsibility scholars as "greenwashing" (Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Lyon and Maxwell 2011). It also counters the credibility of the policy message (Jackson 2006; 2009). However, the study of these contradictions as appraised in everyday life – overcoming the epistemological dominance of text – is uncommon (Lefebvre 1991). Engaging with how meaning is produced in everyday, instead of imposing expert and scholarly epistemologies, therefore appears necessary for the practices of organisations to be credible and replicable in everyday life.

Incorporating the everyday appraisal of contradictions – across the social, material and conceptual domains of practice – as an analytical tool provides new, democratic, and legitimate grounds for theory formulation and verification, thereby contributing to democratizing the production of knowledge and expanding the limits of post-structuralist critiques that typically rely on theoretical assumptions about the discursive effects of narratives and knowledges (Dutton and Mann 1996, Hart 2001, 3037; Lefebvre 1991). Empirically engaging the public as meaning-makers allows us to study how processes of legitimation and alienation occur, thereby contributing to overcoming conceptual debates and supporting diverse theoretical and disciplinary approaches towards pragmatic engagement with pluralistic accounts of everyday. This research empirically sustains and conceptually furthers the scope of contemporary critiques of energy saving narratives and conceptualisations reviewed in Chapter 2, bringing to the fore the role of commercial buildings, and making organisations accountable for the meaning and practice co-produced by their practices. Overall, this dissertation opens the way to transformative approaches to energy saving policy and research; ones that move the focus from the practices of residential publics - currently blamed for failing to fulfil expert expectations - towards policy-makers, organisations and experts - which are henceforth deemed necessary for producing credible and replicable practice. I have synthesized the original contribution of my study along the theoretical, methodological and policy domains which have in common their radical critique of the established knowledge and social relations reproduced in and through commercial buildings.

8.4. Theoretical contribution

A fundamental contribution of this dissertation is how it reveals the political and epistemological roots of the insufficient attention being paid to the role of buildings in coproducing meaning and practice. I have empirically demonstrated that commercial buildings framed in the post-positivist epistemologies of experts operate as Lefebvrian representations which negate the context of practice and thereby serve an elite-legitimating and social-reproductive function that counters the production of an appropriate practice of saving energy. Being aligned with the theoretical framework inspired by Lefebvre's production of space (1991), in commercial buildings (Figure 2): a) practices are reduced to the deployment of efficient, renewable and smart technologies of innovation (spatial practices); b) values are reduced to an economic rationality that arguably drives the decisions of organisations (representations of space); and c) social relations are reduced to restricted processes of participation and top-down information (representational space). A building represents explicit narrative claims about organisations *coherently* abiding by socially accepted values regarding energy saving, generating the illusion that: a) organisations *integrate* energy-saving practices throughout their buildings and other domains of operation, and hence b) foster positive social transformation. The buildings studied, as officially framed and as appraised by the public, do not appear to foster the *replication* of practices nor the production of *appropriate* relations.

Insufficient epistemological attention to the role of buildings in co-producing meaning and practice enables the production of tacit messages that are uncritically accepted by the public amidst the dominance of positivist knowledge. The illusion that appropriate practice is being produced appeals to the ontological unicity of space that monuments enact according to Lefebvre (1991). Hence, in the everyday production of meaning practical inconsistencies are overlooked in the absence of recognition of everyday knowledge and critique that is able to appraise the contradictions in practice of buildings produced and communicated through expert knowledge. Expert knowledge and elite practices are then appraised as legitimate in terms of their pursuit of positive social transformation; i.e. the production of an appropriate practice of energy saving. This is my interpretation of the function played by commercial buildings in Lefebvre's production of space, which I have demonstrated through my empirical findings. As claimed by Lefebvre, the "banal [conceptual] consensus" surrounding expert conceptualisations (in this case of energy

saving) turns into a social consensus that marginalizes alternative, non-technological and social transformative approaches (1991) to saving energy.¹²³

A critique of everyday – apparently absent from civil activism and empirical reviews of commercial buildings – arises when asking the public about the meaning of commercial buildings, indicating the potential for pluralist scholarly research that brings to the fore tacit knowledge and critique about the contradictions of practice. The public appraisal of contradictions between official representations of buildings and their context, unveils the illusory production of appropriate practice. It questions the credibility of claims about energy saving and the replicability of the technologies and designs that are proposed and the social function of the buildings.¹²⁴ The latter are no longer perceived as contributing to the consensual good, but to the interests of the commissioning elites and experts who are involved. Re-appraising the unicity of practice to ensure its ontological production and its epistemological match with everyday meaning-making therefore becomes a prerequisite for understanding the limited (re)production of official energysaving practices – known in the literature as the "energy efficiency-" and the "value-action gap" (Jaffe and Stavins 1994; Blake 1999; Sovacool et al. 2014). Addressing the material, conceptual and social domains of practice – as appraised everyday – amounts to a radical critique of dominant knowledge. It constitutes a novel conceptual approach to understanding and critiquing scholarly frameworks about residential energy saving that typically marginalize social constructivist theory (Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007; Lutzenhiser 2014; Wilson et al. 2012), and hence the role of buildings - and overall the practice of organisations – in co-producing everyday practice. Through a pluralist

¹²³ Such is the case of the practice-, cultural- and social-geography-based critiques of technologically reductionist frameworks reviewed in Chapter 2.

 $^{^{124}}$ Limited credibility was assumed in response to the limited integration of energy-saving practices in the buildings of the organization – as common amongst passers-by in *Fabrica del Sol*; limited replicability as epitomized in the *Media-ICT*; while the relationship of commissioning organizations with citizens was problematized by multiple passers-by in Endesa and inhabitants of the *Efficient Block*.

recognition of the contradictions and interests underlying the commissioning of energysaving commercial buildings, this dissertation sustains the theoretical contributions – aligned with practice and spatial theory – about the legitimating function of the practices of experts and elites that is at the root of public alienation.¹²⁵

The theoretical framework that is proposed addresses the limited theorization of how meaning-making mediates the reproduction of practice that is also problematic for authors like Wilhite (2010), Ingold (1999) and Verbeek (2005). It expands the explanatory capacity of cultural approaches to practice like those of Wallenborn and Wilhite (2014) which acknowledge the role of repeated multi-sensorial experience – that trespasses the limits of prevalent cognitive-perceptual reductionism – but fails to problematize the counter-productive role of practical contradictions. By recognising non-textual representations and granting epistemological centrality to everyday meaning-making, the theoretical framework hereby proposed overcomes the post-structuralist centrality of the "text" (Dutton and Mann 1996, 19, 190, 196; Hart 2001, 3037). I find the latter common in applied critiques that appeal to the legitimacy of organisations and the credibility of their message, which I find characterized by the limited reflection on the material and social integration of practice (Jackson 2005, 2009; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014; Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Parguel et al 2011).¹²⁶ Furthering the claims of these scholars, the proposed framework makes explicit the fundamental role that social relations play in the production of meaning, relevant in studies of renewable infrastructure acceptance inspired by social representation theory, as fostering trust, acceptance and engagement (Gross 2007; Batel et

¹²⁵ Among the work reviewed in Chapter 2, see: Lutzenhiser 2014; Moezzi and Janda 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015; Guy and Moore 2005a; 2005b; Wilhite and Norgard 2004; Wilhite 2010; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014; Swyngedouw 2010, 2011.

¹²⁶ By nurturing the accountability of organizations, my study provides the epistemological and conceptual tools for undertaking a critical review of corporate social responsibility which, in acknowledging public appraisal, brings to the fore the contradictions between the narratives and practices of organizations. Boosting their critical capacity, my research enables scholars to refer to the de-contextualisation of buildings and other practices as deceptive legitimating instruments, elsewhere referred to as greenwashing.

al. 2016; Devine-Wright et al. 2010; Greenberg 2014). An essential commonality of my theoretical claims with these studies appears to be the voice granted to the public. Thus, by shifting attention from the *official representation* to the *everyday meaning* it co-produces, the theoretical framework that is proposed facilitates incorporation of the study of non-textual practices. This is important given increasing concern about the consistency of official messages in attempts to theorize the public adoption of energy-saving practices (Moezzi, *et al.* 2017; Janda and Topouzi 2015; Bushell *et al.* 2016; Shove and Walker 2014), whose explicit focus is on narratives.

Conceptually, a fundamental distinction needs to be made between buildings and practices *framed in the context of practice* that potentially co-produce appropriate practice, from those practices that function as *representations*, fostering the illusion of producing a consistent practice. My research contributes to differentiating "practices" from "practice", and countering reductionist uses of the latter as akin to "behaviour" (e.g. Stephenson et al. 2013) that therefore disregard the social embeddedness of practice (Shove 2003; Shove and Walker 2010; 2014). My use of the terms aligns with that of cultural theorists of practice (Wilhite 2010; 2013; Wallenborn and Wilhite 2014) and thus encompasses behavioural, lifestyle and social-transformative approaches to saving energy. This is important amidst increasing recognition of "non-technological" potential (Ürge-Vorsatz et al. 2009) and the "behavioural and social potential" for energy efficiency (Moezzi and Janda 2014), as well as the demand for "going beyond efficiency" (ECEEE 2018b, 2018a) that attempt to expand the explanatory potential of energy efficiency. These reconceptualisations of energy efficiency encompass the dangerous recognition that technology and behaviour change may occur without social transformation. In contrast, the theoretical framework proposed here makes explicit the needed unicity of practice in mental, social and material dimensions in the (re)production of practices. This implies the

need of a careful conceptualisation of energy saving in research and policy aimed at saving energy beyond technical and economic choices like the one advocated by Wilhite and Norgard (2004). In the following two sections I show how this theoretical contribution can constitute an operable tool, both for scholarly review, and for policy-making and assessment.

8.5. Methodological reflections

This dissertation shows the potential for and need to incorporate interpretive modes of assessment into energy saving research and policy. Since these are intended to foster the public acceptance and adoption of official practices, the current marginalization of everyday meaning-making - understood as mediating the reproduction of practices (Wilhite 2010) - seems abnormal from an interpretive approach to policy assessment (Yanow 2007, 2013b; van Hulst and Yanow 2014). Countering this situation, I have shown the sufficiency of ethnographic methods - barely applied to commercial buildings (Lutzenhiser 2014) – to assess buildings according to their capacity to co-produce meaning amongst users but also amongst the wider – non-user – public. This sufficiency counters the predominance of quantitative modes of assessment which fail to address public appraisal. ¹²⁷ This is important because quantitative assessments (Janda and Topouzi 2015), and their epistemological grounds (Lefebvre 1991; Dutton and Mann 1996; Guy and Moore 2005a) are found to be co-responsible for presenting commercial buildings in positive ways that conceal the context of practice, and hence counter the (re)production of appropriate practice. By subjecting to everyday interpretation the buildings of elites, produced with the engagement of design- and communication experts, this research contributes to turning on

¹²⁷ I have deliberately avoided reference to quantitative assessments to demonstrate the self-sufficiency of interpretive methods.

its head the epistemology and focus of energy saving research and policy assessment, as well as the social relations grounded in the prevalence of expert knowledge.

The use of open questions, combined with the analytical focus on "framings" inspired by van Hulst and Yanow (2014) overcomes a focus on the syntax of buildings proposed by some proponents of interpretive building techniques like Yanow (2013a). This method enables the researcher to capture the relevance of the context of practice as proposed by practice theorists (Shove 2003, 2010), ultimately allowing a re-appraisal of the contradictions that occur between the conceptual, material and social domains that, for Lefebvre, practice involves (1991). Analytically engaging framings to appraise what Lefebvrian contradictions between the domains of practice and between monuments and the former opens up new avenues for radical critique. This critique aligns with calls for incorporating non-textual discursive practices, as proposed by scholars of discourse (Fairclough 2005; Bacchi and Bonham 2014, Bacchi 2009; Bacchi 2015; Liggett 2003; Laclau and Mouffe 1985) but which have been insufficiently supported with empirical engagement with the public, explaining insufficient theorisation and conflicting conceptualisations that characterize reviews of the official discourse. By nurturing an empirical, pluralist basis for a critique of everyday, the methodological approach hereby proposed counters the risk of the critical reviewer being misled by dominant knowledge: a problematic issue for discourse analysts like Tregidga and colleagues (2018). Moving beyond post-structuralist pre-occupations about the conceptual baits of a post-political jargon (Dutton and Mann 1996; Guy and Moore 2005a), the interpretive approach thus proposed engages with a first-hand pluralist and pragmatic appraisal of *what* is relevant for the public targets of policies and buildings. The latter then permits assessing official representations according to their contradictions, from the perspective of those addressed by these representations.

An analytical focus on framings serves to differentiate official representations that conceal the context of practice from everyday meaning-making. This overcomes an analytical problem because both framings coexist in the narratives of respondents. The former serves to recognise processes of knowledge dominance, and to engage some experts as public, incorporating their experiential insights into building commissioning.¹²⁸ The use of framings expands the analytical approach of Janda and Topouzi (2015) that applies "hero", "caring" and "learning stories" about commercial buildings, by explicitly recognising non-textual representations as bearers of meaning. Each type of story proposed by these authors, combined with the Lefebvrian theoretical framework, inspires differentiation between framings involving a) conceptual coherence, with expert conceptualisations - the hero framing of singular and innovative buildings; b) the material integration of energy-saving practices in other buildings and domains of activity - the caring framing of integration; and c) social integration. The latter can be understood as contributing to a the learning framing of replication but also as a proof of the organisation caring to the extent of being willing to transform the way it relates to the public, by opening to public scrutiny and producing collaborative relations. Engaging in an analytical approach based on an everyday appraisal of consistency and contradictions serves to substantiate the assumptions of Janda and Topouzi and others¹²⁹ about official narratives, providing empirical ground for acknowledging the, mostly tacit or taken-for-granted, discursive effect of buildings.

CEU eTD Collection

¹²⁸ Engaging experts as publics aligns with ideas in the work of Shove and Walker (2010) and Janda and Parag (2013) who claim the need to compel the participation of these actors, as publics of the energy policy message, in terms of their role as middlemen in the production of practices.

¹²⁹ The studies reviewed include the work of Swyngedouw (2010, 2011), Fernández González (2016); March and Ribera-Fumaz (2016); Baccarne et al. (2014); Anttiroiko et al. (2014); Haarstad (2017) and Healy (2014).

A research design based on four cases located in the same city, a review of EU, Spanish, Catalan and Barcelona Council policies, and the contrasting of findings with empirical research from the disciplinary borders of energy saving research (Section 2.9) served to discriminate anecdotal findings, fostering their generalizability. Generalization is considered important given my goal of informing policy-making and countering the dominance of positivist and post-structuralist epistemologies in applied policy formulation, assessment and critique. In agreement with Sánchez-Jankowski (2002), generalization is considered part of meaning-making and interpretation, creating a base on which policy action may be grounded. Some may expect the research design to be restricted to a maximum of two cases, located in a similar context, in order to identify causalities (Schmidt 2008). However, as Guy and Moore claim, a pluralistic account – which a diversity of cases qualifies as – contributes to the formulation of pragmatic principles relating to how meaning is produced (2005b).

A methodological limitation arises from this form of disruptive engagement with the sources of evidence, especially concerning on-the-spot interviews. In asking interviewees about their thoughts about the building, the energy-saving practices deployed therein, and their potential integration into other buildings I could have problematized these matters. Ethnographic methods that rely on less structured, more casual conversations (like those conducted in this research with experts) could have been less invasive, but would have proved more time-consuming and involved ethical and practical issues about the engagement of interviewees, who would not have been informed about the purpose of my research. However, a reflective study of different framings appears to be a reliable analytical instrument for overcoming the limitations of strictly studying meaning by focusing on its production. A fundamental methodological recommendation originates from this study: sensible approaches to understanding the public adoption of energy saving need to build upon an understanding of how the public makes meaning of the energy-saving practices produced by elites. A pluralist interpretive assessment provides an avenue for further study of the Barcelona City Council policies and practices, because since the end of my field research the former has evolved in terms of its engagement with more transparent and inclusive communication, constituting an opportunity for longitudinal studies.¹³⁰ To preserve the essence of radical criticism, I recommend that researchers continue to engage a plurality of publics; a methodological strategy necessary for appraising what is relevant for those targeted by official representations.

8.6. Policy contribution

This dissertation provides a novel explanation of why and how the public fails to engage with the consensual principles of energy saving, described as *gaps* in the energy efficiency literature (Sovacool et al 2015; Jaffe and Stavins 1994; Blake 1999). It appeals to a reformulation of these gaps as a public response to the contradictions of the official messages (as argued by Bushell et al. 2016; Jackson 2006, 2009; Shove and Walker 2014; Moezzi et al. 2017; Moezzi and Janda 2014), making explicit the relevance of the internal consistency of practice for the production of everyday meaning and practice. In doing so, this dissertation contributes to shifting policy attention away from residential publics – blamed for failing to re-produce the official practices of energy saving – to questioning the official practices and narratives in and about commercial buildings, as proposed by Lutzenhiser (2014), Moezzi and Janda (2014) and Janda and Topouzi (2015). My research highlights the policy potential for increasing attention to the practices of organisations, which should be assessed according to their capacity to co-produce a practice that is

CEU eTD Collection

¹³⁰ Such a longitudinal approach does not appear applicable to the study of EU policies, since the new EU Directive 2018/844 has not clarified the rationale underlying their requirements for exemplary buildings.

credible, replicable and appropriate to the proclaimed purpose of saving energy and compelling to public to engage with related practices.

This study provides an operational theoretical and methodological framework (Sections 8.4 and 8.5) to bridge these gaps by bringing to the fore and exposing to critique the everyday meaning of commercial buildings. Organisations become accountable for the extent their buildings co-produce appropriate practice, as opposed to decontextualised representations which, according to my findings, counter the production of a coherent and credible message, and hence the (re)production of practice. This is important because practice theory, like constructivist approaches, have been critiqued for the limited policy applicability of their calls for transforming the socio-material context first (Stern 2000, 2017; Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007). Acknowledging that governments and corporate organisations self-appointed as energy saving leaders are accountable for the co-production of appropriate practice implies recognising the production of appropriate practice as a public good. Hence, the meaning co-produced by commercial buildings needs to be reappraised as a mechanism of policy assessment and civil scrutiny. This is necessary for "good governance", whereby social capital is construed on "trust" (Weiss 2000; Fukuyama 2001), not on legitimacy. Aligning with Janda and Topouzi (2015), my findings suggest the need of a policy shift away from fostering the hero framing of singular and innovative buildings – whose function appears to be a legitimating one – to caring and learning framings – that re-incorporate the context of practice to foster credibility, trust, replication and engagement. My findings therefore contribute to understanding the policy potential for re-cognising that the practices represented in commercial buildings as potentially contributing to bridging energy saving gaps and fostering good governance.

Initial policy research calls attention to the consistency between policy narratives and the practice of organisations is reflected in the work of transition theorists who rely on learning-, practice- (Jackson 2006; 2009), and legitimacy theory (Geels 2010), as well as in the critical reviews of corporate practices (Lyon and Maxwell 2011; Bowen and Aragon-Correa 2014). An apparently positive move in this regard is represented by the German Energy Transition policy of 2010 and the EU policy instruments that require the exemplary function of commercial buildings (EU 2010, 2012). However, the rationale of these instruments is only vaguely described, as shown in Section 5.1, to the extent of requiring a post hoc theoretical review of how government practices contribute to energy transitions (Gailing and Moss 2016). Moreover, these theoretical foundations have not been clarified in the new EU Directive 2018)/844, which continues to focus on informative and market mechanisms, leaving untamed an overreliance on singular exemplars of innovation and demonstration, whose function in sight of my findings is a legitimating one. By failing to expose buildings to public scrutiny, the vague drafting and implementation of these policies, as represented in the studied buildings, reproduces the hierarchical relations between those governing and those governed that has been considered to jeopardize the potential for the public to co-produce saving practice(s) (Moezzi and Janda 2014; Lutzenhiser 2014; Shove and Walker 2010).

Re-appraising the everyday meaning of commercial buildings and overall elite practices implies increasing public engagement and countering ongoing de-politicisation. This is important because the de-politicisation of energy saving and the resulting alienation of the public has been found to be common to a) global climate and environmental governance (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011; Healy 2014), b) EU policy (Talus 2013; Torfing 2006; Jordan 2005), c) the smartification of cities like Barcelona (Fernández González 2016; March and Ribera-Fumaz 2016; Baccarne et al. 2014; Anttiroiko et al. 2014; Haarstad 2017), d) energy efficiency (Wilhite and Norgard 2004; Wilhite and Shove 1998), and e) energy-saving commercial buildings (Lutzenhiser 2014; Moezzi and Janda 2014; Janda and Topouzi 2015). Re-appraising everyday meaning amounts to "opening up" concepts and practices to debate that have otherwise been "closed down" by expert knowledge (Stirling 2007; see also Mouffe 1993; 1999) in processes of "participation", "representation" and "institution" problematized by Lefebvre ([1978] 2003, 99). This overreliance on expert knowledge and limited mechanisms of participation are considered to underlie the EU crisis of legitimacy (Habermas 2012). Re-cognising everyday meaning-making and re-engaging the public involves, accordingly, exploring the "social potential" as proposed by Moezzi and Janda (2014). This implies fostering a "horizontal circulation of elements" of practice and hence a transformation of the hierarchical relations between those who claim to produce and those who are called on to reproduce practice (Shove and Walker 2010).

The policy contribution of this dissertation, therefore, cannot be isolated from its contribution to social critique. The former provides an operable instrument for social critique and accountability, and thereby responds to the principles of good governance. It makes operable social-constructivist and, most particularly, practice theory contributions to producing an appropriate practice of energy saving that accounts for the necessary transformation of the social relations in which energy consumption is embedded, and which commercial buildings – in sight of my findings – contribute to reproduce. By exposing the epistemological and political causes of reductionist conceptualisations of exemplary buildings, this dissertation provides an opportunity for re-cognising their everyday meaning in processes of policy making, implementation and assessment. This amounts to reengaging with the ultimate goal of energy saving policies which, in attempting to raise awareness amongst the public, have failed to produce an appropriate practice and to compel the public to save energy to the extent expected.

257

Chapter 9. Reflection and engagement

The purpose of this dissertation has been to re-cognise the everyday meaning of commercial buildings, unveiling the epistemological and political reasons for its marginalization in the energy saving policy and practice of organisations. This dissertation demonstrates the divide between the official representations (in commercial buildings) and the everyday meaning-making of energy saving practice. It presents suggestive evidence that a framing of practices decontextualised from practice – which I find counters the everyday production of meaning and practice – responds to vested interests and to the positivist knowledge of experts.

In the absence of explicit recognition of everyday epistemologies, multiple publics appraise official representations as a sign that a consistent and hence appropriate practice is being produced, hence legitimating organisations, expert knowledges, and the practices they co-produce. Energy saving practice is thus reduced in the collective imaginary to conceptually and technologically reductionist conceptualisations of energy saving as efficiency, self-sufficiency, and smart, as deployed technologically innovative and singular exemplars, which Lefebvre calls "monuments" (1991). Simultaneously with this uncritical acceptance, a latent radical critique originates from the appraisal of contradictions between the practices represented in commercial buildings and the practice of organisations. The appraisal of such contradictions supports then public claims about the underlying interests of organisations, which are revealed as contrary to socially accepted principles and proclaims, fostering scepticism. The direct outcome of both the uncritical acceptance and the radical critique of the official practice being represented is the widespread alienation of laymen publics from saving energy. This outcome counters official claims about the buildings under review fostering energy-saving practices amongst the public. It offers suggestive evidence about the need for and the potential of re-cognising and re-politicising commercial buildings according to everyday epistemologies.

As discussed in Chapter 8, the theoretical, methodological and policy contributions of this research intertwine to produce a fundamentally radical but pragmatic approach to reframing official practices, whereby commercial buildings contribute to (re)producing appropriate practice – in this case, of energy saving. The novelty and relevance of this approach needs to be regarded in a contemporary context whereby revolving policy efforts framed in expert knowledge have failed to ensure the public adoption of energy-saving practices to the extent expected. The originality of this dissertation is related to the policy and research recognition of practices as discursive, particularly from the perspective of the plurality of publics making meaning and expected to reproduce practices in their everyday lives. The proposed approach crystallizes in the policy and political significance of this research, and in a series of policy and research recommendations which I expound in the upcoming sections.

9.1. Wider policy and political significance

The transformative capacity of this dissertation originates from its radical engagement with the problem. According to the dominant explanation, citizens are responsible for failing to abide by economic and value-based expectations concerning their adoption of practice (Lutzenhiser 2014). Instead, my explanation of the energy saving gap addresses the failure of policy-making and building-commissioning organisations to produce an appropriate practice, which is conceptually, materially, and socially consistent, and overall credible and replicable. This explanation fundamentally shifts the focus of research and policy from the citizens expected to save onto the organisations which represent the official practice of energy saving practice in their commercial buildings. The problem lies no longer in the limited rationality of the residential public, but in the epistemological limitations of the dominant knowledge (and critique) to incorporate the everyday processes of meaningmaking. This is important because bridging the gap between – on the one hand – consensual values and expert knowledge-based models and – on the other hand – everyday practices constitutes a fundamental challenge to those willing to foster the reproduction of energysaving practices (See Sovacool et al. 2015 for a recent review). It is also important because commercial buildings have been benevolently addressed by research and policies that assume the rational motivation of organisations to save energy (Lutzenhiser 2014), and disregard the importance of legitimation and marketing issues for organisations (Geels 2010; Porter 1998). Such appears to be the case of the exemplary function of buildings in EU Directives and its implementation by the national, regional and local governments studied in Chapter 5. In re-appraising meaning as produced in everyday life, this dissertation constitutes and enables a radical critique whereby regulating policy-makers and commissioning organisations become accountable for the meaning and practice co-produced by the commercial buildings they regulate and commission.

The study of everyday contradictions as appraised by a plurality of publics furthers the potential and legitimacy of civil and scholarly critique, paving the way for scholarly recognition of everyday meaning-making and for the public to re-appropriate energy saving practice. Theoretically and analytically sustained with an understanding of the context of practice inspired by Lefebvre's unicity of space (1991), practice theory becomes an operable mechanism of social critique that addresses the transformation of social relations. This is important, because for practice theorists social relations embed energy consumption and their transformation is necessary for any attempt to make significant savings (Shove 2003; Shove and Walker 2010, 2014; Wilhite 2014) – and because thus far the policy operability of practice theory is limited (Wilson and Dowlatabadi 2007; Stern 2000, 2017). Hence, making operable a practice approach for policies to compel the public to save energy has significance beyond the domain of energy saving, because it implies social transformation. The proposed approach to transforming practice goes beyond the "spill over" claimed by social-psychologists (Thøgersen 1999; Thøgersen and Ölander 2003) to engage a diversity of pro-social and pro-environmental behaviours, and thus involves a social transformation that is inherent to the bottom-up epistemological, methodological and policy approach to which this dissertation contributes.

In addition to the social transformative potential that results from improved understanding and critique, this research constitutes an invitation for organisations, both in their role as regulators and as building commissioners, to nurture trust instead of legitimacy and to contribute to good governance (Weiss 2000; Fukuyama 2001). Re-incorporating the context of practice through caring and learning framings that transparently refer to how the organisation integrates the practice of saving and promotes its reproduction amongst the public (Janda and Topouzi 2015) amounts to re-politicising energy-saving practices. Moreover, by shifting from legitimacy-seeking to trust-building, organisations would avoid exposure to changing public values and priorities which are considered to deter some of the former from conducting and publicizing pro-environmental activities (Geels 2010). By increasing the scrutiny of organisations and engaging them in transparently and consistently co-producing practice, this research opens the way to good governance as proposed by Weiss (2000) and Fukuyama (2001). This is important, because it counters the populist, legitimating function and de-politicising effect of policies that rely on conceptually-reductionist technological problematisations of the energy saving problem and practice found to be common in the EU and in Barcelona, and reported in global governance (Swyngedouw 2010, 2011). Ultimately, re-engaging public and scholarly critique with the meaning of energy-saving buildings and other practices implies repoliticising debates about the consensual policy goals common to environmental debates, "closed down" through expert conceptualisations (Stirling 2007). Re-politicising energy-saving practices is particularly relevant amidst the contemporary rise of post-politic narratives and populist politics.

Far from intending to construct a romanticizing conception of laymen public and knowledge in the production of practice, the theoretical framework inspired by Lefebvre's Production of Space (1991) supports a dialectical understanding of the underlying relations. These dialectics involve: a) public demand for responses to contemporary energy concerns; b) populist utilization by organisations of socially accepted values, which finds the way paved through the "energy addiction" of the public (Healy 2014).¹³¹ These dialectics result in the legitimation of official practices and knowledge that reduce energy saving to the deployment of innovative technology in singular exemplars (i.e. Lefebvrian monuments). The prevalence of positivist epistemologies and public unwillingness to engage with a practice represented as burdensome explains how the appraisal of contradictions does not result in widespread and explicit social criticism. On the contrary, the study of official representations in and about the case-study buildings shows the risk that organisations increasingly rely on empty of meaning values of aesthetics and technological innovation instead of politicising – by putting into the context – their energysaving practices. Activating the epistemologies and practices of everyday therefore requires re-politicising the practice of energy saving and countering its populist utilization by organisations.

¹³¹ Healy (2014) explains the process of elite legitimation as closely related to laymen alienation. Laymen are prone to believing that elite practices are sufficient because this belief relieves them of the responsibility of engaging with practices that are represented as burdensome. A similar claim is part of arguments by Talus regarding the EU's reliance on energy efficiency as the main conceptualisation of energy saving (2013).

9.2. Recommendations for exemplary building policies

The empirical evidence presented herein shows that a challenge for the policies studied is to foster the everyday (re)production of meaning and practices. From policy-making and building-commissioning, this involves framing buildings and practices in a context of practice. Such a reframing would potentially expose public policies and the practices of commissioning organisations to public scrutiny. As a result, the following policy recommendations require valiant policy engagement with fostering an appropriate practice that involves transforming the relations between organisations and the public. To this contributes, as shown in Section 9.1, the social critique proposed herein, and is incentivised by the potential advantages of fostering trust and good governance, ultimately contributing to develop the social capital of organisations.

The epistemological and practical implications of contextualising energy-saving practices continue to be disregarded in EU Directive 2018/844 that amends EU directives on the Energy Performance of Buildings (2010), and on Energy Efficiency (2012). For instance, there is no requirement for the Certificate-related labels – intended for public display – to contextualise the current consumption as compared to that of other buildings nor to state the potential savings, as resulting from recommendations in the certificate (Figure 10 and Figure 11). This constitutes a missed opportunity to enable comparison with the credentials of other buildings and to ponder the magnitude of the potential savings in the building, overall, enabling meaning-making. Comparability is also countered by limited monitoring and control of the certification processes. As shown in Section 5.2, this has resulted in the depreciation and limited credibility of the instrument, along with low assessment costs and distorted ratings in Spain, making future official and quotidian comparison unreliable. Also counter to the interests of comparability, during the research period there was no publicly available database about the certificates and practices in the

buildings of the Catalan Government and Barcelona Council (Sections 5.2 and 5.3).¹³² New requirements on monitoring and database maintenance, introduced in Article 6a of amending Directive 2018/844, continue to lack epistemological recognition of everyday meaning-making. The restriction of communication requirements to the display of certificates in the interior of regulated commercial buildings is also problematic. This has enabled, for instance, Endesa to withdraw information about its building's performance when found to perilously attract public attention towards its practice (Section 6.1). There is therefore the potential for policies to further regulate the communication and especially the contextualisation of practices.

The following five recommendations address the contextualisation of practices. They are applicable to the formulation and implementation of the EU requirement that commercial buildings should exert an exemplary function, but also to the policies of governments and corporations in terms of their fostering the role of commercial buildings in co-producing the meaning and reproduction of an appropriate practice of energy saving:

 Explicitly acknowledge the role of commercial buildings in co-producing meaning, and hence everyday epistemologies. Saving energy and protecting the environment are central shared values of the EU, and a core justification of the EU directives regulating the exemplary role of buildings. Policies like the EU exemplary requirements need to appeal to the consistency of practice as part of the principles of good governance – fostering transparency, accountability and positive social change, hence framing practices in their material and social integration, and their replicability. By contextualising energy-saving practices, the resulting policy

¹³² The capacity of comparative databases to make organizations accountable was shown in Chapter 5 for the Catalan Government which has postponed the development of these databases. Reasons put forward by expert publics (Chapter 7) include avoiding scrutiny regarding the limited performance of its buildings, the limited implementation of energy saving measures, and diverting attention from the ongoing privatisation of government buildings during the financial crisis.

instruments would overcome the problematic confusion (discussed in Section 2.3) with those of procurement and demonstration. This epistemological change would require intensive communication to organisational cadres and experts in charge of building commissioning, integrating energy-saving practices, and communication.

- 2. Include provisions on communication. Most laymen publics and multiple experts are unfamiliar with exemplary regulations and the policy efforts of coherence, integration and replication. These are not referred to in the reviewed awareness-building campaigns of the Barcelona City Council (Section 5.3.3). These campaigns should include reflection on the practices conducted by organisations, thereby boosting credibility, trust, and replication, whilst opposing reliance on legitimating strategies based on singular buildings and innovative technologies. Also, the rationale of exemplary policies and practices (Recommendation # 1) could be the standfirst of certificates and label documents. To address non-user publics, labels should also be displayed outside buildings and on official online communications about the buildings and the energy saving practice of organisations.
- 3. Enforce certificate verification and redesigned databases and labels. These measures would foster the credibility of energy saving claims, enabling sensible comparison between buildings and hence public meaning-making and scrutiny. Databases and label requirements could compare the building exemplar to average commercial buildings of the same typology and year of construction to other buildings from the same organisation, and to residential buildings, hence contextualising ratings to enable meaning-making.¹³³ A display using labels of comparable units like energy consumed per square meter and year would also ease comparison. Overall, by

¹³³ Adding contextual information to certificates and labels could be criticized for overcrowding the public with information. However, the new Directive shows that there is room for additional criteria by introducing new provisions like "rating the smart readiness of buildings" (Article 8, paragraph 10).

enabling comparison, these tools would counter the legitimating function of unverified and decontextualised claims about singular buildings (i.e. *hero stories* and *greenwashing*), and the resulting public alienation demonstrated in this research.

- Communicate actual consumption, which could be detailed per energy use and 4 involve the display of current consumption. Periodically contrasting the certified ratings with the readings of consumption and generation meters would improve the credibility of saving claims, like those in EU Energy Performance Certificates, and could feed in to their verification (Recommendation # 3).¹³⁴ Moreover, breaking down forms of energy use – as available on the certificates of some countries (Figure 11), but not in the displayed labels and not required by the EU directives – would help the public to learn about: a) the domains in which there is significant potential for saving in the building, and b) what practices are relevant in this, ultimately facilitating c) learning and replication. There is also the potential for displaying current and annual consumption and generation in commercial buildings, as initiated by the Barcelona City Council, and expected by some publics.¹³⁵ These measures would make experts and commissioning organisations accountable for their rating claims, hence fostering appropriate managements, behaviours and designs, potentially replicable by the public¹³⁶
- 5. *Incorporate interpretive assessment into the deployment of policies*. Interpretive assessment would acknowledge everyday epistemologies, fostering epistemological transformation in policies and allowing them to address what is important for the publics thus targeted. However, the public opinion on the deployment of policies like

¹³⁴ The cost of this measure could be low if based on meter readings of consumption and generation (where feed-in tariffs are in place) that are available on energy bills.

¹³⁵ This measure was timidly carried out in some Barcelona Council buildings during the field research and later integrated with the arrival to office of a leftist party which further deployed monitoring screens and made available online the energy consumption and generation of monitored buildings.

¹³⁶ In the cases that were studied, adequate designs would involve avoiding translucent southern facades, maladjusted to the local climate of Barcelona, and adequate space allocation and partitioning.

EU Energy Performance Certificates and exemplary buildings has not been not assessed in Eurobarometer reports, nor in research commissioned to inform amending Directive 2018/844 (European Commission 2017; Boermans et al. 2015).

Some of these recommendations have already been addressed in amending Directive 2018/844 – such as increased verification and the production of databases. Also, the Barcelona City Council has improved, during the Leftist turn initiated in 2015, the integration of the transparent communication of existing practices into overall and educational communication, thereby creating an opportunity for longitudinal study (Section 8.5). However, the EU directives, as with the studied buildings and local policies in place during the field research, show that there is room to frame the related buildings in the context of practice, fostering the (re)production of an appropriate practice instead of granting a patina of legitimacy to organisations and to reductionist conceptualisations and practices.

My recommendations can be summarized as addressing the production of a consistent practice, framing energy-saving practices in a context that enables everyday meaning making, as well as more transparent governance. In addition to commissioning buildings that are coherent with accepted energy saving values, the related practices need to be integrated into the material and social practice of the organisation, showing that the organisation cares, thereby fostering credibility and trust, and in the context of replication to foster learning. Instead of assessing and communicating the technological means that are in place, disregarding actual consumption and savings, and fostering a practice from which the public is alienated, commercial building policies need to engage with the everyday production of meaning to enable the (re)production of an appropriate practice.

9.3. Avenues for further research

My study constitutes a novel avenue for studying commercial buildings as co-producers of the practice that residential consumers and other publics are expected to reproduce. It constitutes an exercise of *reframing* (van Hulst and Yanow 2014) the energy saving problem, shifting attention away from the public for failing to reproduce certain practices towards policy-makers and organisations for failing to produce appropriate practice (Lutzenhiser 2014). The theoretical, methodological and policy contribution of this dissertation (Sections 8.3-8.6) enables such scholarly engagement with the policy and practice of organisations; one that is necessarily critical. The critique proposed herein is legitimate, pragmatic and powerful because, as opposed to most applied critique which relies on scholarly assumptions about the discursive effects of official narratives and expert conceptualisations, it engages empirically with the epistemology of those targeted by policies and practices. In doing so, it amplifies the critique of everyday that remains tacit within the epistemological dominance of positivist and post-structuralist knowledge that denies the role of the public in meaning-making, and which I find underlies the public alienation with the official practice which expert knowledge co-produces and communicates.

Scholarly research that assesses and informs energy saving policies and practices should address how everyday meaning-making appeals to the consistency of practice. The study of consistency is operable through the study of the conceptual, material and social domains of practice. There is also an avenue for critical research to push organisations to produce appropriate practice by making them accountable for the meanings their buildings co-produce – further contributing to countering the epistemological grounds of assuming that practices are politically neutral. This sort of critique can make organisations accountable for failing to produce a consistent and hence compelling practice. This implies

generating horizontal, participative and transparent mechanisms of public scrutiny and engagement. It makes organisations accountable not for what they represent, but for how they are appraised, allowing a critique of representations that potentially mislead the public into assuming a consistency of practice that for Lefebvre (1991) is illusory. Analytically, addressing the contradictions of practice as appraised in everyday would encourage organisations to pursue trust and positive social change, instead of legitimacy, by demonstrating that they care about saving energy and about fostering learning.

The avenues for assessment and critique that this dissertation enable are important because organisations are currently not liable for the meaning of their buildings and energysaving practices. The latter speaks for voluntary action, aligned with socially accepted values regarding saving energy, while there is presently no social movement or policy approach to changing this situation because there is no convention about how practices coproduce meaning. As a result, critical reviews of corporate social responsibility would benefit from explicitly engaging with everyday meaning-making. This would serve to incorporate and apply the definition of greenwashing to those practices that produce an illusory consistency of practice by relying on a hero framing of singular buildings and innovative practices. The contributions of discourse analysis, urban geography, marketing studies and architecture are expected to benefit from the analytical approach hereby proposed and to leverage the will of corporations and local governments to produce added value for their products, services and cities. These avenues of research need to maintain the pluralist and interpretive basis that is proposed to maintain their epistemological legitimacy. This is necessary for furthering policy-informative empirical knowledge about what contradictions matter, how they deter public engagement with practice, and how illusory coherence is produced. They need to maintain a radical stance towards the

epistemological and political causes that are at the roots of everyday meaning-making being marginalized in official representations of energy saving practice.

9.4. Final reflections

This thesis has described, in short, my journey as an engineer working as a sustainable energy policy analyst. It started with an introspective analysis of my reaction to what seemed to me to be contradictory messages about what normal energy consumption is in the practices and communications of governmental, non-governmental and corporate organisations. The policy instruments of demonstration and procurement seemed then to me, like now, to fall short in reflecting on and addressing these contradictions and thereby had the effect of countering efforts to convene a compelling message for the public. The official policy message about saving energy seemed contradictory, with the practices of government buildings, infrastructure projects and public TV messages normalizing current and even higher energy needs (as argued also by Shove and Walker 2014). I also found contradictory the practices of corporate and non-governmental organisations like those contacted in the preliminary research stages whose core activities or corporate responsibility claims involve caring about the environment and fostering proenvironmental values and practices. Through my research, I was able to understand that the silences and contradictions in the official representations that are indifferent to everyday meaning-making are not coincidental. This exclusion appears to respond to deeprooted epistemological and political factors, and is relevant for a diversity of publics - both laymen and experts – which can become alienated from, if not critical of, official practice.

In my understanding, if there is one problem that is receiving limited attention, and one that needs to be prioritized in any sensible policy attempt to compel the public to save energy, it is the marginalization of everyday meaning-making, because this alienates the

public and counters the (re)production of an appropriate practice. As far as exhortations to the public to save energy are contradicted by policies and practices in government buildings, infrastructure projects and public TV; as far as non-government organisations consider that their practice(s) of energy saving – and other practices outside of the prosocial and pro-environmental scope - are neutral; and as long as corporate organisations understand that they are not accountable for the meaning co-produced by their practices, the credibility of energy saving messages will potentially be found to be hypocritical in the inner fora of the public (in consonance with Jackson 2009, 11). There is therefore a need and potential for scholars and citizens to engage with everyday critique to make organisations more accountable for the misleading and counterproductive meaning of their practices, to counter dominant knowledges, to displace contradictory messages, and for practice to escape the realm of a representation. The current momentum that has its roots in environmental, energy security, climate and social inequality concerns need not be dismissed by scholarly, policy and civil criticism as means of pursuing significant energy savings through social transformation -i.e. of practice. The tools that are hereby provided should contribute to re-politicising practices beyond the domain of energy saving by unleashing the transformative power that lies in everyday meaning-making to push and enable organisations, policy-makers and experts to consistently foster positive change. This is of fundamental importance amidst the current rise in populism, and its reliance on postpolitical representations

References

+Sustainable Council. n.d. "Background." +Sustainable City Council and Responsible Contracting. Accessed September 11, 2018. http://www.ajsosteniblebcn.cat/en/background 3864.

22@Barcelona. 2006. "ICT-Cluster. Media-TIC Building." 22@ Barcelona. 2006. http://www.22barcelona.com/content/view/41/427/lang,en/.

324cat. 2006. "Els partits catalans retreuen al PP que vegin millor l'opa d'E.ON que la d'una empresa catalana." *CCMA*, February 21, 2006. https://www.ccma.cat/324/els-partits-catalans-retreuen-al-pp-que-vegin-millor-lopa-de-on-que-la-duna-empresa-catalana/noticia/110567/.

Aarts, Henk, and Ap Dijksterhuis. 2003. "The Silence of the Library: Environment, Situational Norm, and Social Behavior." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 84 (1): 18–28. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.84.1.18.

Abrahamse, Wokje, and Linda Steg. 2013. "Social Influence Approaches to Encourage Resource Conservation: A Meta-Analysis." *Global Environmental Change* 23 (6): 1773–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.07.029.

Allcott, Hunt. 2011. "Social Norms and Energy Conservation." *Journal of Public Economics* 95 (9–10): 1082–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.03.003.

Altimira, Oriol Solé. 2016. "La Generalitat pagó el año pasado 34 millones por alquilar edificios que había vendido [The Catalan Government paid last year 34 milions to rent buildings that had previously sold]." *El Diario*, March 4, 2016. https://www.eldiario.es/catalunya/economia/Generalitat-millones-alquilar-edificios-vendido_0_500800719.html.

——. 2017. "La Generalitat perdió 39 millones con la venta de doce edificios en 2014 [The Catalan Government lost 39 milions with the sale of twelve buildings in 2014]." *El Diario*, February 13, 2017. https://www.eldiario.es/catalunya/economia/Generalitat-perdio-millones-venta-edificios_0_612088971.html. Angulo, Silvia, and Óscar Muñoz. 2012. "La manzana eléctrica: La reconversión de un edificio histórico [The electric block: restructuring of a historic building]." *La Vanguardia*, September 13, 2012, sec. Vivir. https://pgiengineering.files.wordpress.com/2012/09/120913 lv illa-vilanova 1.jpg.

Anttiroiko, Ari-Veikko, Pekka Valkama, and Stephen J. Bailey. 2014. "Smart Cities in the New Service Economy: Building Platforms for Smart Services." *AI & SOCIETY* 29 (3): 323–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-013-0464-0.

Araujo, Luis, John Finch, and Hans Kjellberg. 2010. *Reconnecting Marketing to Markets*. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10835146.

Attari, Shahzeen Z., David H. Krantz, and Elke U. Weber. 2016. "Statements about Climate Researchers' Carbon Footprints Affect Their Credibility and the Impact of Their Advice." *Climatic Change* 138 (1–2): 325–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-016-1713-2.

Baccarne, Bastiaan, Peter Mechant, and Dimitri Schuurman. 2014. "Empowered Cities? An Analysis of the Structure and Generated Value of the Smart City Ghent." In *Smart City*, edited by Renata Paola Dameri and Camille Rosenthal-Sabroux, 157–82. Cham: Springer International Publishing. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-06160-3_8.

Bacchi, Carol. 2009. *Analysing Policy: What's the Problem Represented to Be?* Frenchs Forest, N.S.W.: Pearson.

——. 2015. "The Turn to Problematization: Political Implications of Contrasting Interpretive and Poststructural Adaptations." *Open Journal of Political Science* 05 (01): 1–12. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojps.2015.51001.

Bacchi, Carol, and Jennifer Bonham. 2014. "Reclaiming Discursive Practices as an Analytic Focus: Political Implications." *Foucault Studies*, no. Number 17: April 2014: Foucault and Deleuze. http://rauli.cbs.dk/index.php/foucault-studies/article/view/4298.

Bandura, Albert. 1973. *Aggression: A Social Learning Analysis*. The Prentice-Hall Series in Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs, N.J: Prentice-Hall.

———. 1977. *Social Learning Theory*. Prentice-Hall Series in Social Learning Theory. Upper Saddle River: Prentice-Hall.

Barad, Karen Michelle. 2007. *Meeting the Universe Halfway: Quantum Physics and the Entanglement of Matter and Meaning*. Durham: Duke University Press.

Barcelona Activa, and Barcelona City Council. 2012. "OAE- Business Support Office." http://empresa.barcelonactiva.cat/empresa/images/en/OAEen tcm95-37834.pdf.

Barcelona City Council. 1999. Ordenanza Solar Térmica de Barcelona [Solar Thermal Bylaw of Barcelona]. Boletín Oficial de La Provincia. Vol. 181.

 2001. "Mesura de Govern Sobre l'ambientalitzacio Dels Serveis Municipals
[Government Measure on the Greening of Council Services]." Barcelona: Manteniment i Serveis Educació i Participació Ambiental. http://www.ajsosteniblebcn.cat/mesura_govern_ambientalitzacio_serveis_2001_7850.pdf

——. 2002a. "Pla de Millora Energètica de Barcelona, PMEB [Barcelona Energy Improvement Plan, BEIP]." Strategic Plans. Barcelona: Barcelona City Council. https://bcnroc.ajuntament.barcelona.cat/jspui/bitstream/11703/101739/1/PMEB_integre_ cat.pdf.

——. 2002b. "The People's Commitment towards Sustainability - Agenda 21 BCN." Barcelona: Municipal Council on the Environment and Sustainability. http://www.sostenibilitatbcn.cat/attachments/article/413/compromisangles.pdf.

——. 2005a. "Oficina Verda per a Empreses Del Sector d'oficines i Despatxos [Green Office Guide for Company Offices and Bureaus]." Barcelona. http://www.sostenibilitatbcn.cat/index.php/publicacions-2.

——. 2005b. Instrucció en relació a l'ús racional i eficient de l'aire acondicionat a l'estiu [Instruction on the rational and efficient use of air conditioning in summer]. http://bcnroc.ajuntament.barcelona.cat/jspui/handle/11703/84410.

______. 2006a. "+Sustainable City Council Guide." Guide 30. Environmental EducationGuides.Barcelona:BarcelonaCityCouncil.http://www.ajsosteniblebcn.cat/scguideenglish7765.pdf.

——. 2006b. Modification of the PGM to Incorporate the Renovation of the Industrial Areas of Poblenou- 22@ District. Modificació Del Pla General Metropolità per a La

Renovació de Les Àrees Industrials Del Poblenou-Districte 22@bcn. http://www3.amb.cat/normaurb2004/Docs/Normes_mod/NUM-Barcelona-5.pdf.

——. 2009a. "Barcelona Works towards Sustainibility 2009." Barcelona City Council Environment Area. http://www.sostenibilitatbcn.cat/documents/english/AGENDA21.pdf.

——. 2009b. "Pla de Millora Energètica Dels Edificis Municipals 2009-2011 [Council Buildings Enegy Improvement Plan 2009-2011, CBEIP]." Barcelona: Barcelona Energy Agency. https://bcnroc.ajuntament.barcelona.cat/jspui/bitstream/11703/91532/1/4074.pdf.

——. 2010. "La Convenció Ajuntament + Sostenible [Convention +Sustainable Council]." Barcelona: Barcelona City Council. http://www.ajsosteniblebcn.cat/file-7886_7886.pdf.

2011. "Pla d'Energia, Canvi Climàtic i Qualitat de l'Aire de Barcelona 2011-2020,
PECQ [Energy Climate Change and Air Quality Plan of Barcelona 2011-2020, ECQP]."
Barcelona: Barcelona Energy Agency.
http://ajuntament.barcelona.cat/ecologiaurbana/sites/default/files/PlaEnergia_CanviClima
tic_QualitatAire-2011-2020.pdf.

------. 2012a. "Politics and Management Deal. Strategic Framework and Roadmap 2012-2015." Barcelona City Council. http://ajuntament.barcelona.cat/estrategiaifinances/sites/default/files/model_estrategiceng.pdf.

2012b. "Citizen Commitment to Sustainability 2012-2022 - for a More Equitable,
Prosperous and Self-Sufficient Barcelona." Barcelona.
http://www.sostenibilitatbcn.cat/attachments/article/413/Commitment_22_UK_web.pdf.

———. 2016. "Barcelona Aposta per La Democratització de l'energia Com a Servei Públic [Barcelona Works for Democratizing Energy as a Public Service]." Barcelona City Council. https://ajuntament.barcelona.cat/premsa/.

Barcelona Energy Agency. 2006a. "Ordenanza solar térmica de Barcelona. Valoración y balance de su aplicación [Solar thermal bylaw of Barcelona]. Evaluation and balance]." Project: Key Issues for Renewable Heat in Europe. Barcelona: Barcelona Energy Agency.

http://www.estif.org/fileadmin/estif/content/policies/STAP/BarcelonaSolarRegulation_Fu llReport_Spanish_includes_Fulltext_Newregulation_2006.pdf.

———. 2006b. "Presentacio de la campanya d'estalvi energetic 'No et quedis gelat' als comercos [Presentation of the energy saving campaign 'Don't get frozen' in shops]." http://w3.bcn.es/fitxers/ajuntament/dossierconsellgremis.044.pdf.

------. 2011. "Guia bàsica d'eficiència energètica en edificis municipals [Basic guide of energy efficiency in Council buildings]." Barcelona: Barcelona City Council. http://www.ajsosteniblebcn.cat/guia-b%C3%A0sica-d-efici%C3%A8ncia-energ%C3%A8tica-en-edificis-municipals_31800.pdf.

——. 2013. "Agència Local d'Energia de Barcelona, Compte General Exercici 2012 [General Account FY 2012]." Barcelona. https://bcnroc.ajuntament.barcelona.cat/.

——. 2014. "Agència d'Energia de Barcelona, Compte General Exercici 2013 [Barcelona Energy Agency, General Account FY 2013]." Barcelona. https://bcnroc.ajuntament.barcelona.cat/.

Barr, Stewart, and Andrew W. Gilg. 2007. "A Conceptual Framework for Understanding and Analyzing Attitudes towards Environmental Behaviour." *Geografiska Annaler: Series B, Human Geography* 89 (4): 361–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0467.2007.00266.x.

Batel, Susana, Paula Castro, Patrick Devine-Wright, and Caroline Howarth. 2016. "Developing a Critical Agenda to Understand Pro-Environmental Actions: Contributions from Social Representations and Social Practices Theories: Developing a Critical Agenda to Understand pro-Environmental Actions." *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change* 7 (5): 727–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.417.

Bergstrom, Theodore, Lawrence Blume, and Hal Varian. 1986. "On the Private Provision of Public Goods." *Journal of Public Economics*, no. 29: 25–49. http://ac.els-cdn.com/0047272786900241/1-s2.0-0047272786900241-main.pdf.

Best, Edward, Ian Cooper, J. Andrés Faíña, and Stefan Voigt. 2005. "The European Union's Constitutional Crisis—Causes and Consequences." *Intereconomics* 40 (4): 180–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10272-005-0150-7.

Bevir, Mark, and R. A. W. Rhodes. 2010. *The State as Cultural Practice*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199580750.001.0001.

Blake, J. 1999. "Overcoming the 'value-Action Gap' in Environmental Policy: Tensions between National Policy and Local Experience - ScienceBase-Catalog." *Local Environment* 4 (3): 257–78. https://www.sciencebase.gov/catalog/item/5053f5e9e4b097cd4fcf8401.

Boermans, Thomas, Katja Dinges, Jan Grözinger, Moritz Schäfer, Sonja Förster, Andreas Hermelink, Ira Dorband et al. 2015. *Public Consultation on the Evaluation of Directive 2010/31/EU Final Synthesis Report*. Luxembourg: Publications Office. http://bookshop.europa.eu/uri?target=EUB:NOTICE:MJ0215954:EN:HTML.

Bohman, James. 1997. "Do Practices Explain Anything? Turner's Critique of the Theory of Social Practices." *History and Theory* 36 (1): 93–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/0018-2656.00006.

Borg, Nils, Ylva Blume, Stefan Thomas, Wolfgang Irrek, Heidrun Faninger-Lund, Peter Lund, and Andrew Pindar. 2006. "Release the Power of the Public Purse." *Energy Policy* 34 (2): 238–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2004.08.027.

Bowen, Frances. 2015. *After Greenwashing: Symbolic Corporate Environmentalism and Society*. First paperback edition. Organizations and the Natural Environment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bowen, Frances, and J. Alberto Aragon-Correa. 2014. "Greenwashing in Corporate Environmentalism Research and Practice: The Importance of What We Say and Do." *Organization & Environment* 27 (2): 107–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026614537078.

Building Performance Institute Europe (BPIE). 2014. "Factsheet: Setting the 3% TargetforPublicBuildingsRenovation."http://bpie.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Factsheet_BPIE-Article_5_EED.pdf.

———. 2015. "Nearly Zero Energy Building Definitions Accross Europe." http://bpie.eu/uploads/lib/document/attachment/128/BPIE_factsheet_nZEB_definitions_a cross_Europe.pdf.
Bull, Richard, Judith Petts, and James Evans. 2008. "Social Learning from Public Engagement: Dreaming the Impossible?" *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 51 (5): 701–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640560802208140.

Burgen, Stephen. 2013. "Spanish PM Mariano Rajoy Keeps Counsel as Corruption Allegations Fly." *The Guardian*, July 21, 2013, sec. World news. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/jul/21/spain-mariano-rajoy-corruption-allegations.

Burgess, Jacquelin, C M Harrison, and P Filius. 1998. "Environmental Communication and the Cultural Politics of Environmental Citizenship." *Environment and Planning A* 30 (8): 1445–60. https://doi.org/10.1068/a301445.

Burgess, Jacquelin, and Michael Nye. 2008. "Re-Materialising Energy Use through Transparent Monitoring Systems." *Energy Policy* 36 (December): 4454–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.09.039.

Burnett, John. 2005. "Tall Buildings: Measures of Green and Sustainable!" In *Tall Buildings: From Engineering To Sustainability*, edited by Yau Kai Cheung and K. W. Chau, 972–78. Hackensack, NJ: World Scientific.

Bushell, Simon, Géraldine Satre Buisson, Mark Workman, and Thomas Colley. 2017. "Strategic Narratives in Climate Change: Towards a Unifying Narrative to Address the Action Gap on Climate Change." *Energy Research & Social Science* 28 (June): 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.04.001.

Calzada, Igor. 2017. "Metropolitan and City-Regional Politics in the Urban Age: Why Does '(Smart) Devolution' Matter?" *Palgrave Communications* 3 (September): 17094. https://doi.org/10.1057/palcomms.2017.94.

Carrio, Anna. 2010. "Media-TIC. La Arquitectura Empática [*Media-ICT*. Empathetic Architecture]." *Deconstrumática Online*, December 17, 2010. http://de.construmatica.com/media-tic-la-arquitectura-empatica/.

Catalan Government. 2013. "La Generalitat Adjudica El Lot de 13 Edificis per 172 Milions d'euros a l'empresa AXA Real Estate [The Catalan Government Allocates the Pack of 13 Buildings to AXA Real Estate for 172 Milions]." Sala de Premsa. Generalitat de Catalunya.

June 25, http://premsa.gencat.cat/pres_fsvp/AppJava/notapremsavw/206848/ca/generalitatadjudica-lot-13-edificis-172-milions-deuros-lempresa-axa-real-estate.do.

——. 2014. Acord del Govern sobre l'Estratègia catalana per a la renovació energètica d'edificis (ECREE) [Government agreement on the Catalan Strategy for building energy renovation].

2013.

http://icaen.gencat.cat/web/.content/30_Plans_programes/34_EstrategiaRenovacioEdifici s_ECREE/arxius/RENOVACIO-ENERGETICA-EDIFICIS-Acord.pdf.

Catalan News. 2013. "The Catalan President Denies Playing Any Part in the 'Palau' Corruption Case before a Parliamentary Committee." *Catalan News*, July 31, 2013. http://www.catalannews.com/politics/item/the-catalan-president-denies-playing-any-part-in-the-palau-corruption-case-before-a-parliamentary-committee.

Central European University (CEU). 2012. "Ethical Research Policy. CEU Official Document P-1012-1v1505." https://acro.ceu.edu/sites/acro.ceu.edu/files/attachment/basicpage/141/ethicalresearchpoli cyandguidelines.pdf.

Chan, Yenna. 2008. *Sustainable Environments*. First paperback ed. Contemporary Design in Detail. Beverly, Mass: Rockport.

Charnock, Greig, Thomas F. Purcell, and Ramon Ribera-Fumaz. 2014. "City of Rents: The Limits to the Barcelona Model of Urban Competitiveness: The Limits to the Barcelona Model of Urban Competitiveness." *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research* 38 (1): 198–217. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2427.12103.

Colino, César, and Eloisa del Pino. 2017. "The Financial and Political Crisis of Spanish Federalism: Transformation or Erosion?" In *The Future of Federalism*, by Richard Eccleston and Rick Krever, 198–223. Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784717780.00017.

Consorci Zona Franca. n.d. "*Media-ICT* Building. A Space to Work Connected to the World." Barcelona Activa. http://empresa.barcelonactiva.cat/empresa/en/oficina-empresa/qui-som/index.jsp.

------. 2010. "Works Visit to the Digital Cube for ICT Activities." Consorci Zona Franca. http://www.22barcelona.com/documentacio/pdfangles.pdf.

Construible. 2018. "La Fábrica del Sol, primera rehabilitación sostenible de edificio con Certificación VERDE 5 hojas [Fabrica del Sol, first sustainable building renovation to obtain a VERDE 5 leaves certification]." CONSTRUIBLE. April 19, 2018. https://www.construible.es/2018/04/19/fabrica-sol-barcelona-edificio-referenterehabilitacion-sostenible-certificacion-verde-hojas.

Council of the European Communities. 1993. Council Directive 93/76/EEC of 13 September 1993 to Limit Carbon Dioxide Emissions by Improving Energy Efficiency (SAVE). 93/76/EEC.

Creswell, John W., and Dana L. Miller. 2000. "Determining Validity in Qualitative Inquiry." *Theory Into Practice* 39 (3): 124–30. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip3903_2.

Crisp, James. 2014. "EU Ignores Its Own Building Efficiency Initiatives." *Euractive.Com*, November 7, 2014. http://www.euractiv.com/section/energy/news/eu-ignores-its-ownbuilding-efficiency-initiatives/.

Czako, Veronika. 2013. "The Leading Role of the Public Sector in Energy End-Use Efficiency in the EU: Where Do We Stand?" In *ECEEE 2013 SUMMER STUDY* – *RETHINK*, *RENEW*, *RESTART*, 375–82.

Darby, Sarah. 2008. "Why, What, When, How, Where, and Who? Developing UK Policy on Metering, Billing and Energy Display Devices." In *ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings*. http://www.aceee.org/sites/default/files/publications/proceedings/SS08_Panel7_Paper07. pdf.

Dermont, Clau, Karin Ingold, Lorenz Kammermann, and Isabelle Stadelmann-Steffen. 2017. "Bringing the Policy Making Perspective in: A Political Science Approach to Social Acceptance." *Energy Policy* 108 (September): 359–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.05.062. Devine-Wright, Hannah, and Patrick Devine-Wright. 2009. "Social Representations of Electricity Network Technologies: Exploring Processes of Anchoring and Objectification through the Use of Visual Research Methods." *British Journal of Social Psychology* 48 (2): 357–73. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466608X349504.

Devine-Wright, Patrick, Susana Batel, Oystein Aas, Benjamin Sovacool, Michael Carnegie Labelle, and Audun Ruud. 2017. "A Conceptual Framework for Understanding the Social Acceptance of Energy Infrastructure: Insights from Energy Storage." *Energy Policy* 107 (August): 27–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.04.020.

Devine-Wright, Patrick, Hannah Devine-Wright, and Fionnguala Sherry-Brennan. 2010. "Visible Technologies, Invisible Organisations: An Empirical Study of Public Beliefs about Electricity Supply Networks." *Energy Policy* 38 (8): 4127–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.03.039.

Dumitru, Adina, Eugenio De Gregorio, Mirilia Bonnes, Marino Bonaiuto, Giuseppe Carrus, Ricardo Garcia-Mira, and Fridanna Maricchiolo. 2016. "Low Carbon Energy Behaviors in the Workplace: A Qualitative Study in Italy and Spain." *Energy Research & Social Science* 13 (March): 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.12.005.

Dutton, Thomas A., and Lian Hurst Mann. 1996. "Modernism, Postmodernism, and Architecture's Social Project." In *Reconstructing Architecture: Critical Discourses and Social Practices*, edited by Thomas A. Dutton and Lian Hurst Mann, 1–26. Pedagogy and Cultural Practice, v. 5. Minneapolis, Minn: University of Minnesota Press.

ECEEE. 2018a. "Energy Sufficiency." 2018. https://www.energysufficiency.org/.

______. 2018b. "Is Efficient Sufficient?" Programme of the ECEEE Summer Study onEnergyEfficiency.September11,2018.https://www.eceee.org/summerstudy/programme/panels-and-theme/.

Ecofys. 2014. "Overview of Member States Information on NZEBs Working Version of the Progress Report - Final Report." Jan Groezinger, Thomas Boermans, Ashok John, Jan Seehusen, Felix Wehringer, Martin Scherberich. https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/Updated%20progress%20report%2 0NZEB.pdf. Ecoinstitut. 2014a. "Energies Renovables. Alternatives Tecnològiques per a La Pèrgola Solar i La Climatització de La Fàbrica Del Sol [Renewable Energies. Technology Alternatives for the Solar Pergola and the Heating and Cooling of the Building]." Minutes. Rehabilitem La Fàbrica Del Sol Comença El Diàleg Vine, Participa i Reflexiona per Construir Un Futur Més Sostenible. Barcelona: Barcelona City Council. http://lafabricadelsol.bcn.cat/inscripcions/sites/default/files/imatges_events/2014/tardor/F itxa_Smart.pdf.

2014b. "La Fàbrica Del Sol: Edifici Sostenible, Saludable i Intel·ligent [Fabrica Del Sol: Sustainable, Healthy and Smart Building]." Minutes. Rehabilitem La Fàbrica Del Sol Comença El Diàleg Vine, Participa i Reflexiona per Construir Un Futur Més Sostenible. Barcelona: Barcelona City Council. http://lafabricadelsol.bcn.cat/inscripcions/sites/default/files/imatges_events/2014/tardor/F itxa_Smart.pdf.

Edificis de Catalunya. 2015. "Bases Concurs Illa Eficient [Contest Rules Efficient Block]." http://edificisdecatalunya.cat/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/Bases-Concurs-Illa-Eficient_-CAT.pdf.

2016a. "Illa Eficient. ECREE – Estratègia Catalana de Renovació Energètica d'Edificis [Efficient Block. ECREE - Catalan Strategy for the Energy Renovation of Buildings]." 2016. http://edificisdecatalunya.cat/ca/eixos-de-treball/campanyes/illa-eficient/.

———. 2016b. "Projectes Tractor. ECREE – Estratègia Catalana de Renovació Energètica d'Edificis [Tractor Projects. ECREE - Catalan Strategy for the Energy Renovation of Buildings]." 2016. http://edificisdecatalunya.cat/ca/projectes-tractor/.

Eisenhardt, Kathleen M. 1989. "Building Theories from Case Study Research." *The Academy of Management Review* 14 (4): 532–50. https://www.jstor.org/stable/258557.

Elden, Stuart. 2004. *Understanding Henri Lefebvre: Theory and the Possible*. Continuum Studies in Philosophy. London ; New York: Continuum.

Encinar, Jesús. 2012. "Corrupción Elegante': Lista de Políticos Que Han Pasado a LasEmpresas Privadas ["Smart Corruption": The List of the Politicians Hired by PrivateCompanies]."Idealista/News,March6,2012.

https://www.idealista.com/news/inmobiliario/vivienda/2012/03/06/412665-corrupcion-elegante-lista-de-politicos-que-han-pasado-a-las-empresas-privadas.

Endesa. 2013. "Endesa - Prensa - Noticias [Endesa - Press - News]." October 31, 2013. http://www.endesa.com/es/saladeprensa/noticias/eficiencia-energetica-sede-Barcelona.

------. 2015. "Politica de Sostenibilidad de Endesa [Endesa's Sustainability Policy]." http://www.endesa.com/es/sostenibilidad/Politica/Documents/Politica-Sostenibilidad-Endesa.pdf.

Enel. 2014. "A World of Energy." Endesa Educa. 2014. https://www.endesaeduca.com/Endesa_educa_Ingles.

European Commission. 2011. Draft: Energy Efficiency Directive. http://ec.europa.eu/energy/efficiency/eed/eed_en.htm.

——. 2017. Special Eurobarometer 468. Attitudes of European Citizens towards the Environment. EU publications. https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/018fcab9-e6d6-11e7-9749-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF.

European Court of Auditors. 2014. *How Do the EU Institutions and Bodies Calculate, Reduce and Offset Their Greenhouse Gas Emissions?: (Pursuant to Article 287(4), Second Subparagraph, TFEU).*

European Parliament and Council of the European Union. 2006. *Directive 2006/32/EC Ff* the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2006 on Energy End-Use Efficiency and Energy Services and Repealing Council Directive 93/76/EEC. L 114/64. http://ec.europa.eu/energy/efficiency/eed/end-use_en.htm.

——. 2010. Directive 2010/31/EU of 19 May 2010 on the Energy Performance of Buildings. Official Journal of the European Union. Vol. L 153/13. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2010:153:0013:0035:EN:PDF.

------. 2012. Directive 2012/27/EU of the 25 October 2012 on Energy Efficiency. Official Journal of the European Union. Vol. L 315/1. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2012:315:0001:0056:EN:PDF.

283

——. 2018. Directive (EU) 2018/844 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 Amending Directive 2010/31/EU on the Energy Performance of Buildings and Directive 2012/27/EU on Energy Efficiency (Text with EEA Relevance). 156. Vol. OJ L. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2018/844/oj/eng.

European Parliament and the Council. 2002. Directive 2002/91/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2002 on the Energy Performance of Buildings.

Fairclough, N. 2005. "Peripheral Vision: Discourse Analysis in Organization Studies: The Case for Critical Realism." *Organization Studies* 26 (6): 915–39. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840605054610.

Farmer, Graham, and Simon Guy. 2005. "Hybrid Environments. The Spaces of Sustainable Design." In *Sustainable Architectures: Cultures and Natures in Europe and North America*, edited by Simon Guy and Steven A. Moore, 15–30. New York: Spon Press, Taylor & Francis Group.

Fernández González, Manu. 2016. "La Construcción Del Discurso de La Smart City: Mitos Implícitos y Sus Consecuencias Socio-Políticas [The Fabrication of the Smart City Discourse: Implicit Myths and Their Socio-Political Implications]." *URBS. Revista de Estudios Urbanos y Ciencias Sociales* 6 (2): 83–99. http://www2.ual.es/urbs/index.php/urbs/article/view/fernandez_manu/312.

Ferragut, Nuria. 2006. "Campanya perquè les botigues no posin l'aire condicionat sota de 24C [Campaign for shops to keep air conditioning below 24C]." *20 Minutos*, July 7, 2006. https://www.20minutos.es/noticia/138826/0/Campanya/botigues/condicionat/.

Flyvbjerg, Bent. 2006. "Five Misunderstandings About Case-Study Research." *Qualitative Inquiry* 12 (2): 219–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800405284363.

——. 2011. "Case Study." In *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research*, edited by Norman K. Denzin and Yvonna S. Lincoln, 4th Edition, 301–16. . Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

Fox, Nick J. 2008. "Post-Positivism." In *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods*, edited by Lisa Given. 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks California 91320 UnitedStates:SAGEPublications,Inc.https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412963909.n332.

Fukuyama, Francis. 2001. "Social Capital, Civil Society and Development." *Third World Quarterly* 22 (1): 7–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436590020022547.

Fundación Eroski. 2014. "Las ONG Ordenadas Por Presupuesto [NGOs According to Their Budget]." 2014. http://ong.consumer.es/por-presupuesto/?f=10000000-.

Gailing, Ludger, and Timothy Moss, eds. 2016. *Conceptualizing Germany's Energy Transition: Institutions, Materiality, Power, Space.* Palgrave Pivot. Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.

Galvin, Ray, and Nicola Terry. 2016. "Selling Energy Savings in the United Kingdom: A Case Study of Top–down pro-Environmental Behaviour Change in Commercial Office Buildings." *Energy Research & Social Science* 11 (January): 155–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.10.001.

Geels, Frank W. 2004. "From Sectoral Systems of Innovation to Socio-Technical Systems." *Research Policy* 33 (6–7): 897–920. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2004.01.015.

 2010. "Ontologies, Socio-Technical Transitions (to Sustainability), and the Multi-Level Perspective." *Research Policy* 39 (4): 495–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.022.

Geller, Howard, Philip Harrington, Arthur H. Rosenfeld, Satoshi Tanishima, and Fridtjof Unander. 2006. "Polices for Increasing Energy Efficiency: Thirty Years of Experience in OECD Countries." *Energy Policy* 34 (March): 556–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2005.11.010.

Golafshani, Nahid. 2003. "Understanding Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research." *The Qualitative Report* 8 (4): 597–606. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol8/iss4/6.

Goldkuhl, Göran. 2012. "Pragmatism vs Interpretivism in Qualitative Information Systems Research." *European Journal of Information Systems* 21 (2): 135–46. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejis.2011.54.

Government of Spain. 2014b. "2014–2020 National Energy Efficiency Action Plan (NEEAP)." Spanish Ministry of Industry, Energy and Tourism; State Secretariat for Energy. https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/2014_neeap_en_spain.pdf.

——. 2014a. "Report on Progress with the National Plan For Increasing the Number of Nearly Zero-Energy Buildings in Spain." Ministry of Public Works. https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/energy-efficiency/buildings/nearly-zero-energy-buildings.

——. 2007. "Plan de Acción 2008-2012 de La Estrategia de Ahorro y Eficiencia Energética En España. [Spanish Action Plan 2008 for Energy Saving and Energy Efficiency]." Instituto para la Diversificación y Ahorro de la Energía (IDAE). http://www.idae.es/index.php/relcategoria.1154/id.663/relmenu.331/mod.pags/mem.detal le.

——. 2013. "Report to the Commission on the Transposition of Article 5(5) and (6) of Directive 2012/27/EU Energy Inventory of Central Government Buildings in Spain and Alternative Approach." Spanish Ministry of Industry, Energy and Tourism; State Secretariat for Energy.

———. 2015. "2015 Annual Report on Progress Achieved Towards National Energy Efficiency Targets For 2020." MINETUR, State Secretariat for Energy. https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/Es_Annual%20Report%202015_e n.pdf.

Green Building Council Espana. 2018. "GBCE." Certificación VERDE. 2018. http://gbce.es/certificacion-verde/.

Greenberg, Michael R. 2014. "Energy Policy and Research: The Underappreciation of Trust." *Energy Research & Social Science* 1 (March): 152–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2014.02.004.

Gross, Catherine. 2007. "Community Perspectives of Wind Energy in Australia: The Application of a Justice and Community Fairness Framework to Increase Social Acceptance." *Energy Policy* 35 (5): 2727–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2006.12.013.

Güemes, María Jesús. 2008. "Una Frase Polémica En Busca de Autor [Looking for the Author of a Controversial Sentence]." *Público*, January 2, 2008. https://www.publico.es/espana/frase-polemica-busca-autor.html.

Guy, Simon, and Steven A. Moore. 2005a. "Introduction: The Paradoxes of Sustainable Architectures." In *Sustainable Architectures: Cultures and Natures in Europe and North America*, edited by Simon Guy and Steven A. Moore, 1–12. New York: Spon Press, Taylor & Francis Group.

———. 2005b. "Reflection and Engagement. Towards Pluralist Practices of Sustainable Architecture." In *Sustainable Architectures: Cultures and Natures in Europe and North America*, edited by Simon Guy and Steven A. Moore, 221–40. New York: Spon Press, Taylor & Francis Group.

———., eds. 2005c. *Sustainable Architectures: Cultures and Natures in Europe and North America*. New York: Spon Press, Taylor & Francis Group.

Haarstad, Håvard. 2017. "Constructing the Sustainable City: Examining the Role of Sustainability in the 'Smart City' Discourse." *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning* 19 (4): 423–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X.2016.1245610.

Habermas, Jürgen. 2012. *The Crisis of the European Union: A Response*. 1 edition (October 7, 2013). Cambridge, UK: Polity.

Habitat Futura. n.d. "El Grupo – Habitat Futura." n.d. http://habitatfutura.com/?page_id=140.

Hajer, Maarten A. 1997. *The Politics of Environmental Discourse*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/019829333X.001.0001.

Hargreaves, Tom. 2011. "Practice-Ing Behaviour Change: Applying Social Practice Theory to pro-Environmental Behaviour Change." Edited by Bente Halkier, Tally Katz-Gerro, and Lydia Martens. *Journal of Consumer Culture* 11 (1): 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540510390500.

Harman, Gilbert H. 1965. "The Inference to the Best Explanation." *The Philosophical Review* 74 (1): 88. https://doi.org/10.2307/2183532.

Harris, Jeffrey, Bernard Aebischer, Joan Glickman, Gérard Magnin, Alan Meier, and Jan Viegand. 2005. "Public Sector Leadership: Transforming the Market for Efficient Products and Services." In *ECEEE 2005 Summer Study – What Works and Who Delivers?* http://www.eceee.org/conference_proceedings/eceee/2005c/Panel_4/4248harris/paper.

Hart, K. 2001. "Cultural Critique: Anthropological." In *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*, 3037–41. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043076-7/00836-6.

Harvey, David. 1989. "From Managerialism to Entrepreneurialism: The Transformation in Urban Governance in Late Capitalism." *Geografiska Annaler. Series B, Human Geography* 71 (1): 3. https://doi.org/10.2307/490503.

———. 2005. *A Brief History of Neoliberalism*. Oxford ; New York: Oxford University Press.

Healy, Stephen. 2014. "Psychoanalysis and the Geography of the Anthropocene: Fantasy, Oil Addiction and the Politics of Global Warming." In *Psychoanalytic Geographies*, edited by Steve Pile and Paul Kingsbury, 181–96. Farnham, Surrey, England; Burlington, VT: Ashgate Pub.

Höfele, Vera, and Stefan Thomas. 2011. "Combining Theoretical and Empirical Evidence: Policy Packages to Make Energy Savings in Buildings Happen." In *Energy Efficiency First: The Foundation of a Low-Carbon Society*. Vol. 5–358.

Huijts, N.M.A., E.J.E. Molina, and L. Steg. 2012. "Psychological Factors Influencing Sustainable Energy Technology Acceptance: A Review-Based Comprehensive Framework." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 16 (1): 525–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2011.08.018.

Hulst, M. van, and D. Yanow. 2014. "From Policy 'Frames' to 'Framing': Theorizing a More Dynamic, Political Approach." *The American Review of Public Administration*, May. https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074014533142.

IDAE. 2005. "Plan de Energías Renovables En España [Spanish Plan for Renewable Energies]." http://www.idae.es/uploads/documentos/documentos_PER_2005-2010_8_de_gosto-2005_Completo.(modificacionpag_63)_Copia_2_301254a0.pdf. IEA.2011."WorldEnergyOutlook2011."http://www.worldenergyoutlook.org/media/weowebsite/2011/executive_summary.pdf.

IEA, and OECD. 2009. *World Energy Outlook*. Paris: International Energy Agency (IEA) : Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).

Ingold, Tim. 1999. "Foreword." In *The Social Dynamics of Technology: Practice, Politics, and World Views*, edited by Marcia-Anne Dobres and Christopher R. Hoffman. Washington: Smithsonian Institution Press.

Jackson, Tim. 2005. "Motivating Sustainable Consumption." Sustainable DevelopmentResearchNetwork,DEFRA.http://sustainablelifestyles.ac.uk/sites/default/files/motivating_sc_final.pdf.

———., ed. 2006. *The Earthscan Reader in Sustainable Consumption*. London ; Sterling, VA: Earthscan.

_____. 2009. "Prosperity without Growth? The Transition to a Sustainable Economy." Sustainable Development Commission. http://www.sdcommission.org.uk/data/files/publications/prosperity without growth report.pdf.

Jaffe, Adam B., and Robert N. Stavins. 1994. "The Energy-Efficiency Gap What Does ItMean?"EnergyPolicy22(10):804–810.http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0301421594901384.

Janda, Kathryn B., and Alexandra von Meier. 2005. "Theory, Practice and Proof. Learning from Buildings That Teach." In *Sustainable Architectures: Cultures and Natures in Europe and North America*, edited by Simon Guy and Steven A. Moore, 31–50. New York: Spon Press, Taylor & Francis Group.

Janda, Kathryn B., and Mithra Moezzi. 2014. "Broadening the Energy Savings Potential of People: From Technology and Behavior to Citizen Science and Social Potential." In *The Next Generation: Reaching for High Energy Savings*, 7 Capturing Savings through Behavior:133–46. https://aceee.org/files/proceedings/2014/data/papers/7-1008.pdf.

Janda, Kathryn B., and Yael Parag. 2013. "A Middle-out Approach for Improving Energy Performance in Buildings." *Building Research & Information* 41 (1): 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218.2013.743396. Jessop, B. 1997. "The Entrepreneurial City: Re-Imagining Localities, Redesigning Economic Governance or Restructuring Capital." In *Transforming Cities*, edited by N. Jewson and S. McGregor, 28–41. London: Rouletge.

Jones, Sam. 2018. "Catalonia Corruption Scandal: Court Orders Party to Repay €6.6m." *The Guardian*, January 15, 2018, sec. World news. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jan/15/catalonia-palau-case-cdc-ferrovial-court-barcelona.

Jordan, Andrew. 2005. "European Union Environmental Policy - Actors Institutions and Policy Processes." In *Environmental Policy in the European Union*, edited by Andrew Jordan, 2nd ed, 1–18. London; Sterling, VA: Earthscan.

Kane, Michael T. 2006. "Validation." In *Educational Measurement*, edited by Robert L. Brennan, 4. ed, 17–64. ACE / Praeger Series on Higher Education. Westport, Conn: Praeger Publ.

Kanellakis, M., G. Martinopoulos, and T. Zachariadis. 2013. "European Energy Policy— A Review." *Energy Policy* 62 (November): 1020–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.08.008.

Kollmuss, Anja, and Julian Agyeman. 2002. "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?" *Environmental Education Research* 8 (3): 239–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504620220145401.

La Vanguardia. 2012. "La Generalitat Sólo Ingresa 69 Millones Por Privatizaciones [The Catalan Government Only Gets 69 Millon for the Privatizations]." *La Vanguardia*, September 23, 2012. https://www.lavanguardia.com/economia/20120923/54351741661/generalitat-privatizaciones.html.

Latour, Bruno. 1987. Science in Action: How to Follow Scientists and Engineers through Society. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.

Lefebvre, Henri. 1976. *The Survival of Capitalism: Reproduction of the Relations of Production*. London: Allison & Busby.

———. 1978. "Space and the State." In *State/Space: A Reader*, edited by Neil Brenner, Bob Jessop, Martin Jones, and Gordon MacLeod, Reprint 2003, 84–100. Malden, MA: Blackwell Pub.

———. 1991. *The Production of Space*. Translated by D. Nicholson-Smith. First English version of French original [1974]. Cambridge, MA: Blackwell.

Leonardi, Paul M. 2013. "Theoretical Foundations for the Study of Sociomateriality."InformationandOrganization23(2):59–76.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoandorg.2013.02.002.

Levine, M., D. Ürge-Vorsatz, K. Blok, and L. Geng, D. Harvey, S. Lang, G. Levermore, A. Mongameli Mehlwana, S. Mirasgedis, A. Novikova, J. Rilling, H. Yoshino. 2007. "Residential and Commercial Buildings." In *Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer (eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. http://www.ipcc.ch/publications_and_data/ar4/wg3/en/ch6s6-es.html.

Levine, M, D. Urge-Vorsatz, K Blok, L Geng, D Harvey, and S Lang. 2007. "Residential and Commercial Buildings." In *Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

Liggett, Helen. 2003. Urban Encounters. Minneapolis, Minn.: Univ. of Minnesota Press.

Linstone, Harold A, and Murray Turoff. 1975. *The Delphi Method: Techniques and Applications*. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley Pub. Co., Advanced Book Program.

Litvine, Dorian, and Rolf Wüstenhagen. 2011. "Helping 'Light Green' Consumers Walk the Talk: Results of a Behavioural Intervention Survey in the Swiss Electricity Market." *Ecological Economics* 70 (3): 462–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2010.10.005.

Lopes, M.A.R., C.H. Antunes, and N. Martins. 2012. "Energy Behaviours as Promoters of Energy Efficiency: A 21st Century Review." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 16 (6): 4095–4104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.03.034.

Lozano, Carles, and José Luis Manchobas. 2017. "Eleccions Municipals a Barcelona 1979-2015."HistoriaElectoral.August2017.http://www.historiaelectoral.com/mbarcelona.html.

Lucon, O., D. Urge-Vorsatz, A. Zain Ahmed, H. Akbari, P. Bertoldi, L.A. Cabeza, N. Eyre et al. 2014. "Buildings." In *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change: Working Group III Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Vol. 2014. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. https://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar5/wg3/ipcc_wg3_ar5_chapter9.pdf.

Lund, P.D. 2007. "Effectiveness of Policy Measures in Transforming the Energy System." *Energy Policy* 35 (1): 627–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2006.01.008.

Lutzenhiser, Loren. 1992. "A Cultural Model of Household Energy Consumption." *Energy* 17 (1): 47–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/0360-5442(92)90032-U.

______. 1993. "Social and Behavioral Aspects of Energy Use." Annual Review of EnergyandtheEnvironment18(1):247–89.https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.eg.18.110193.001335.

------. 2014. "Through the Energy Efficiency Looking Glass." *Energy Research & Social Science* 1 (March): 141–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2014.03.011.

Lyon, Thomas P., and John W. Maxwell. 2011. "Greenwash: Corporate Environmental Disclosure under Threat of Audit." *Journal of Economics & Management Strategy* 20 (1): 3–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-9134.2010.00282.x.

March, H., and R. Ribera-Fumaz. 2016. "Smart Contradictions: The Politics of Making Barcelona a Self-Sufficient City." *European Urban and Regional Studies* 23 (4): 816–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969776414554488.

MARIE. 2014. "Responding to Challenges Regarding Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy in Mediterranean Buildings." Policy Paper. MARIE. http://www.medregions.com/pub/doc_travail/gt/307_en.pdf. Marshall, Sandra P. 1995. *Schemas in Problem Solving*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511527890.

Marshall, Tim. 2000. "Urban Planning and Governance: Is There a Barcelona Model?" *International Planning Studies* 5 (3): 299–319. https://doi.org/10.1080/713672855.

McGrory, Laura Van Wie, Philip Coleman, David Fridley, Jeffrey Harris, and Edgar Villaseñor Franco. 2006. "Two Paths to Transforming Markets through Public Sector Energy Efficiency: Bottom Up vs. Top Down." In 2006 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings. Vol. 6. Washington DC: ACEEE.

Middlemiss, Lucie, Ross Gillard, Victoria Pellicer, and Koen Straver. 2018. "Plugging the Gap Between Energy Policy and the Lived Experience of Energy Poverty: Five Principles for a Multidisciplinary Approach." In *Advancing Energy Policy: Lessons on the Integration of Social Sciences and Humanities*, edited by Chris Foulds and Rosie Robison, 15–29. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-99097-2_2.

Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Environment. 2011. "La Fábrica del Sol, un equipamiento innovador en materia de educación ambiental - Quién es quién - Recursos - CENEAM - magrama.es." 2011. http://www.magrama.gob.es/es/ceneam/recursos/quien-es-quien/fabrica_sol.aspx.

Moezzi, Mithra, and Kathryn B. Janda. 2014. "From 'If Only' to 'Social Potential' in Schemes to Reduce Building Energy Use." *Energy Research & Social Science* 1 (March): 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2014.03.014.

Moezzi, Mithra, Kathryn B. Janda, and Sea Rotmann. 2017. "Using Stories, Narratives, and Storytelling in Energy and Climate Change Research." *Energy Research & Social Science* 31 (September): 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.06.034.

Moezzi, Mithra, and Loren Lutzenhiser. 2010. "What's Missing in Theories of the Residential Energy User." In *The Climate for Efficiency Is Now*. Asilomar Conference Grounds Pacific Grove, CA. https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/cus_pubs/151.

Moscovici, Serge. 1976. La Psychanalyse: son image et son public. Paris: De Boeck.

Moss, Timothy, Soren Becker, and Ludger Gailing. 2016. "Energy Transitions and Materiality: Between Dispositives, Assemblages and Metabolisms." In *contexing Germany's Energy Transition: Institutions, Materiality, Power, Space*, edited by Ludger Gailing and Timothy Moss, 43–68. Palgrave Pivot. Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.

Mouffe, Chantal. 1993. "Introduction: For an Agonistic Pluralism." In *The Return of the Political*, 1–8. Phronesis. London; New York: Verso.

. 1999. "Deliberative Democracy or Agonistic Pluralism?" *Social Research* 66 (3): 745–58.

Murray, Daniel. 2010. "Democratic Insurrection: Constructing the Common in Global Resistance." *Millennium: Journal of International Studies*. 39 (2): 461–82.

Novikova, Aleksandra, Hermann Amecke, Karsten Neuhoff, Kateryna Stelmakh, Bernadett Kiss, Clemens Rohde, Elisa Dunkelberg, Kaisa Matschoss, and Sarah Darby. 2011. "Information Tools for Energy Demand Reduction in Existing Residential Buildings." Climate Policy Initiative (CPI). http://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/65873.

Oels, Angela. 2005. "Rendering Climate Change Governable: From Biopower to Advanced Liberal Government?" *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning* 7 (3): 185–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/15239080500339661.

Oikonomou, V., F. Becchis, L. Steg, and D. Russolillo. 2009. "Energy Saving and Energy Efficiency Concepts for Policy Making." *Energy Policy* 37 (11): 4787–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2009.06.035.

Owens, Susan, and Louise Driffill. 2008. "How to Change Attitudes and Behaviours in the Context of Energy." *Energy Policy* 36 (12): 4412–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.09.031.

Palou, Ricard. 2013. "El govern vol recaptar 3.203 milions amb tributs, patrimoni i privatitzacions." *L'Econòmic*, November 6, 2013. http://www.elpuntavui.cat/politica/article/17-politica/691302-el-govern-vol-recaptar-3203-milions-amb-tributs-patrimoni-i-privatitzacions.html.

294

Parguel, Béatrice, Florence Benoît-Moreau, and Fabrice Larceneux. 2011. "How Sustainability Ratings Might Deter 'Greenwashing': A Closer Look at Ethical Corporate Communication." *Journal of Business Ethics* 102 (1): 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-011-0901-2.

Parr, Adrian. 2009. "The Greening and De-Greening of the White House." In *Hijacking Sustainability*, 65–78. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.http://www.books24x7.com/marc.asp?bookid=30721.

Patton, Michael Quinn. 2002. *Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods*. Edited by Michael Quinn Patton. 3 ed. Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage Publications.

Picazo, Sergi. 2013. "Generalitat, en venda - 01 des 2013." *El Punt Avui*, January 12, 2013. http://www.elpuntavui.cat/article/3-politica/17-politica/697584-generalitat-en-venda.html.

Pich-Aguilera, Felip. 2012. "Edificació i Energia, Vers Un Nou Model Europeu? [Building and Energy. Towards as New European Model?]." *Cultura Energètica*, March 2012.

Pietkiewicz, Igor, and Jonathan A. Smith. 2012. "Praktyczny Przewodnik Interpretacyjnej Analizy Fenomenologicznej w Badaniach Jakościowych w Psychologii [A Practical Guide to Using Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis in Qualitative Research Psychology (Translated by the Authors]." *Czasopismo Psychologiczne* 18 (2): 361–69. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/235917993_Praktyczny_przewodnik_interpreta cyjnej_analizy_fenomenologicznej_w_badaniach_jakosciowych_w_psychologii.

Polo, Amparo. 2010. "Quiero un coche inteligente que sepa cuándo juega el Barça [I want a smart car that knows when does Barça play]." *Expansión*, June 21, 2010. http://www.expansion.com/2010/06/20/entorno/1277063719.html.

Porter, Michael E. 1998. *Competitive Strategy: Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors: With a New Introduction*. 1st Free Press ed. New York: Free Press.

Ragin, Charles C. 2000. Fuzzy-Set Social Science. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Ragin, Charles C, and Howard Saul Becker. 1992. *What Is a Case? Exploring the Foundations of Social Inquiry*. Cambridge [England]; New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

Randles, Sally, and Sarah Mander. 2009. "Aviation, Consumption and the Climate Change Debate: 'Are You Going to Tell Me off for Flying?'" *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management* 21 (1): 93–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537320802557350.

Rapley, Tim. 2004. "Interviews." In *Qualitative Research Practice*, by Clive Seale, Giampietro Gobo, Jaber Gubrium, and David Silverman, 16–34. 1 Oliver's Yard, 55 City Road, London England EC1Y 1SP United Kingdom: SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781848608191.d5.

Resnick, Lauren B., and Michelene TH Chi. 1988. "Cognitive Psychology and Science Learning." *Science for the Fun of It: A Guide to Informal Science Education*, 24–31.

Rijnsoever, Frank J. van, Allard van Mossel, and Kevin P.F. Broecks. 2015. "Public Acceptance of Energy Technologies: The Effects of Labeling, Time, and Heterogeneity in a Discrete Choice Experiment." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 45 (May): 817–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.02.040.

Robson, Colin. 2002. *Real World Research: A Resource for Social Scientists and Practitioner-Researchers*. 2nd ed. Oxford, UK ; Madden, Mass: Blackwell Publishers.

Rogge, Karoline S., Florian Kern, and Michael Howlett. 2017. "Conceptual and Empirical Advances in Analysing Policy Mixes for Energy Transitions." *Energy Research & Social Science* 33 (November): 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.09.025.

Royo, Sebastián. 2009. "Reforms Betrayed? Zapatero and Continuities in Economic Policy." *South European Society and Politics* 14 (4): 435–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/13608740903503837.

Sáez, Faustino. 2012. "La cancha menguante [The waning pitch]." *El País*, September 30,2012,sec.Deportes.https://elpais.com/deportes/2012/09/30/actualidad/1349036112_732192.html.

Saldaña, Johnny. 2009. *The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers*. Los Angeles: SAGE.

Sánchez-Jankowski, Martín. 2002. "Generalization in Interpretive Research." In *Qualitative Research in Action*, edited by Tim May, 126–43. 6 Bonhill

Street, London England EC2A 4PU United Kingdom: SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849209656.n5.

Schatzki, Theodore R. 2001. "Introduction: Practice Theory." In *The Practice Turn in Contemporary Theory*, edited by Theodore R. Schatzki, K. Knorr-Cetina, and Eike von Savigny, 1–14. New York: Routledge.

Schmidt, Vivien A. 2008. "Discursive Institutionalism: The Explanatory Power of Ideas and Discourse." *Annual Review of Political Science* 11 (1): 303–26. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.11.060606.135342.

Schüle, R, Vera Aydin, Jonas Fischer, Thomas Madry, Stefan Thomas, Daniel Becker, Nikolas Bader, and Christiane Egger. 2013. "Improving and Implementing National Energy Efficiency Strategies in the EU Framework. Findings from Energy Efficiency Watch Analysis." Energy Efficiency Watch, Ecofys, Wuppertal Institute. http://energy-efficiency-

watch.org/fileadmin/eew_documents/images/Event_pictures/EEW2_Logos/EEW-Final_Report.pdf.

Shove, Elizabeth. 1998. "Gaps, Barriers and Conceptual Chasms: Theories of Technology Transfer and Energy in Buildings." *Energy Policy* Vol. 26 (No. 15): 1105 – 1112.

——. 2003. "Converging Conventions of Comfort, Cleanliness and Convenience." *Journal of Consumer Policy* 26 (4): 395–481. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026362829781.

———., ed. 2007. *The Design of Everyday Life*. Cultures of Consumption Series. New York, NY: Berg.

———. 2010. "Beyond the ABC: Climate Change Policy and Theories of Social Change." *Environment and Planning A* 42 (6): 1273–85. https://doi.org/10.1068/a42282.

Shove, Elizabeth, and H. Chappels. 2001. "Ordinary Consumption and Extraordinary Relationships: Utilities and Their Users." In *Ordinary Consumption*, edited by Jukka Gronow and Alan Warde, 45–59. Studies in Consumption and Markets. London; New York: Routledge.

Shove, Elizabeth, and Mika Pantzar. 2005. "Consumers, Producers and Practices: Understanding the Invention and Reinvention of Nordic Walking." *Journal of Consumer Culture* 5 (1): 43–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540505049846.

Shove, Elizabeth, and Gordon Walker. 2010. "Governing Transitions in the Sustainability of Everyday Life." *Research Policy* 39 (4): 471–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.019.

——. 2014. "What Is Energy For? Social Practice and Energy Demand." *Theory, Culture & Society* 31 (5): 41–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276414536746.

Shove, Elizabeth, and Alan Warde. 2002. "Inconspicuous Consumption: The Sociology of Consumption, Lifestyles and the Environment." In *Sociological Theory and the Environment: Classical Foundations, Contemporary Insights*, edited by Riley E. Dunlap, 230–50. Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers. http://public.eblib.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=1354797.

Slocum, Rachel. 2004. "Consumer Citizens and the Cities for Climate Protection Campaign." *Environment and Planning A* 36 (5): 763–82. https://doi.org/10.1068/a36139.

Soja, Edward W. 1996. *Thirdspace: Journeys to Los Angeles and Other Real-and-Imagined Places*. Cambridge, Mass.: Blackwell.

Solarge Project. 2008. "Piscines Picornell [Picornell Swimming Pools]." Solarge. May 8, 2008. http://www.solarge.org/index.php?id=1601.

Sovacool, B.K., S.E. Ryan, P.C. Stern, Kathryn B. Janda, G. Rochlin, D. Spreng, M.J. Pasqualetti, Harold Wilhite, and L. Lutzenhiser. 2015. "Integrating Social Science in Energy Research." *Energy Research & Social Science* 6 (March): 95–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2014.12.005.

Spence, Crawford. 2007. "Social and Environmental Reporting and Hegemonic Discourse." Edited by Sue Llewellyn. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal* 20 (6): 855–82. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513570710830272.

Staddon, Sam C., Chandrika Cycil, Murray Goulden, Caroline Leygue, and Alexa Spence. 2016. "Intervening to Change Behaviour and Save Energy in the Workplace: A Systematic

Review of Available Evidence." *Energy Research & Social Science* 17 (July): 30–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.03.027.

Stephenson, Janet, Barry Barton, Gerry Carrington, Daniel Gnoth, Rob Lawson, and Paul Thorsnes. 2010. "Energy Cultures: A Framework for Understanding Energy Behaviours." *Energy Policy* 38 (10): 6120–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.05.069.

Stern, Nicholas. 2006. "Stern Review on the Economics of Climate Change." London: HMTreasury.http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/stern_review_report.htm.

Stern, Paul C. 2000. "Toward a Coherent Theory of Environmentally Significant Behavior." *J. Soc. Issues* 56 (3): 407–24.

——. 2017. "How Can Social Science Research Become More Influential in Energy Transitions?" *Energy Research & Social Science* 26 (April): 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.01.010.

Stirling, Andy. 2007. "Deliberate Futures: Precaution and Progress in Social Choice of Sustainable Technology." *Sustainable Development* 15 (5): 286–95. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.347.

Strengers, Yolande. 2011. "Negotiating Everyday Life: The Role of Energy and Water Consumption Feedback." *Journal of Consumer Culture* 11 (3): 319–38. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540511417994.

Strengers, Yolande, S Moloney, Cecily Maller, and Ralph Horne. 2015. "Beyond Behaviour Change: Practical Applications of Social Practice Theory in Behaviour Change Programmes." In *Social Practices, Intervention and Sustainability: Beyond Behaviour Change*, edited by Yolande Strengers and Cecily Maller, 63–67. Routledge Studies in Sustainability. London; New York, NY: Routledge.

Swyngedouw, Erik. 2010. "Apocalypse Forever?: Post-Political Populism and the Spectre of Climate Change." *Theory, Culture & Society* 27 (2–3): 213–32. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276409358728.

______. 2011. "Interrogating Post-Democratization: Reclaiming Egalitarian PoliticalSpaces."PoliticalGeography30(7):370–80.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2011.08.001.

Talus, Kim. 2013. *EU Energy Law and Policy: A Critical Account*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.

Thøgersen, John. 1999. "Spillover Processes in the Development of a Sustainable Consumption Pattern." *Journal of Economic Psychology* 20 (1): 53–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4870(98)00043-9.

Thøgersen, John, and Folke Ölander. 2003. "Spillover of Environment-Friendly Consumer Behaviour." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 23 (3): 225–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-4944(03)00018-5.

Thomas, Stefan, Vera Aydin, Dagmar Kiyar, Lena Tholen, and Maike Venjakob. 2013."Strategic Policy Packages to Deliver Energy Efficiency in Buildings." In ECEEE SummerStudyProceedings,5B-103–13:12.https://epub.wupperinst.org/frontdoor/deliver/index/docId/4917/file/4917_Thomas.pdf.

Tiefenbeck, Verena, Thorsten Staake, Kurt Roth, and Olga Sachs. 2013. "For Better or forWorse? Empirical Evidence of Moral Licensing in a Behavioral Energy ConservationCampaign."EnergyPolicy57(June):160–71.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.01.021.

Toke, David. 2011. "UK Electricity Market Reform—Revolution or Much Ado about Nothing?" *Energy Policy* 39 (12): 7609–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.08.061.

Tomàs, Mariona, and Blanca Cegarra. 2014. "Actores y Modelos de Gobernanza En Las Smart Cities [Actors and Models of Governance in Smart Cities]." *URBS. Revista de Estudios Urbanos y Ciencias Sociales* 6 (2): 47–62.

Torfing, Jacob. 2006. "Governance Networks and Their Democratic Anchorage." In *New Spaces of European Governance*, edited by Josef Melchior, 109–28. Vienna: University of Vienna.

http://spl.univie.ac.at/fileadmin/user_upload/inst_politikwiss/Melchior/New_Spaces_of_ European_Gov.pdf. Tregidga, Helen, Markus J. Milne, and Kate Kearins. 2018. "Ramping Up Resistance: Corporate Sustainable Development and Academic Research." *Business & Society* 57 (2): 292–334. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650315611459.

Tregidga, Helen, Markus Milne, and Kate Kearins. 2014. "(Re)Presenting 'Sustainable Organizations."" *Accounting, Organizations and Society* 39 (6): 477–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2013.10.006.

Upham, Paul, Lorraine Whitmarsh, Wouter Poortinga, Kingsley Purdam, Andrew Darnton, Carly McLachlan, and Patrick Devine-Wright. 2009. "Public Attitudes to Environmental Change: A Selective Review of Theory and Practice. A Research Synthesis for the Living with Environmental Change Research Programme."

Ürge-Vorsatz, Diana, and Sonja Koeppel. 2007. Assessment of Policy Instruments for Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Buildings. Budapest: Central European University (CEU) - United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). http://3csep.ceu.hu/sites/default/files/field_attachment/project/node-1679/unepfullreport.pdf.

Ürge-Vorsatz, Diana, Aleksandra Novikova, Sonja Köppel, and Benigna Boza-Kiss. 2009. "Bottom–up Assessment of Potentials and Costs of CO2 Emission Mitigation in the Buildings Sector: Insights into the Missing Elements." *Energy Efficiency* 2 (4): 293–316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12053-009-9051-0.

US Green Building Council. 2018. "LEED V4." Building Design + Construction Guide. 2018. http://www.usgbc.org/guide/bdc.

Verbeek, Peter-Paul. 2005. *What Things Do: Philosophical Reflections on Technology, Agency, and Design*. Translated by Robert P. Crease. 2nd printing. University Park, Pa: Pennsylvania State Univ. Press.

Vine, Edward. 2008. "Strategies and Policies for Improving Energy Efficiency Programs: Closing the Loop between Evaluation and Implementation." *Energy Policy* 36 (10): 3872–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.06.038.

Wagenaar, Hendrik. 2011. *Meaning in Action: Interpretation and Dialogue in Policy Analysis*. Armonk, NY: Sharpe. Walker, Gordon, Patrick Devine-Wright, Sue Hunter, Helen High, and Bob Evans. 2010.
"Trust and Community: Exploring the Meanings, Contexts and Dynamics of Community Renewable Energy." *Energy Policy* 38 (6): 2655–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2009.05.055.

Wallenborn, Grégoire, and Harold Wilhite. 2014. "Rethinking Embodied Knowledge and Household Consumption." *Energy Research & Social Science* 1 (March): 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2014.03.009.

Ward, Anthony. 1996. "The Suppression of the Social in Design: Architecture as War." In *Reconstructing Architecture: Critical Discourses and Social Practices*, edited by Thomas A. Dutton and Lian Hurst Mann, 27–70. Pedagogy and Cultural Practice, v. 5. Minneapolis, Minn: University of Minnesota Press.

Warde, Alan. 2005. "Consumption and Theories of Practice." *Journal of Consumer Culture* 5 (2): 131–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540505053090.

. 2011. "Social Science and Sustainable Consumption: Symposium Prospectus." In
 . Helsinki, Finland.

——. 2016. Consumption: A Sociological Analysis. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Weiss, Thomas G. 2000. "Governance, Good Governance and Global Governance: Conceptual and Actual Challenges." *Third World Quarterly* 21 (5): 795–814. https://doi.org/10.1080/713701075.

Whittle, R., R. Ellis, I. Marshall, P. Alcock, D. Hutchison, and A. Mauthe. 2015. "From Responsibility to Accountability: Working Creatively with Distributed Agency in Office Energy Metering and Management." *Energy Research & Social Science* 10 (November): 240–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.08.002.

Wilhite, Harold. 2009. "The Conditioning of Comfort." *Building Research & Information* 37 (1): 84–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613210802559943.

———. 2010. "Bringing a More Robust Theory of Consumption to the Sustainable Energy Agenda." In *MILEN 2010*. Oslo. https://www.eceee.org/static/media/uploads/site-2/library/conference_proceedings/MILEN/MILEN_2010/Presentations/8.100/paper.pdf.

——. 2013. "Energy Consumption as Cultural Practice: Implications for the Theory and Practice of Sustainable Energy Use." In *Cultures of Energy: Power, Practices, Technologies*, edited by Sarah Strauss, Stephanie Rupp, and Thomas Love. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press, Inc.

——. 2014. "Insights from social practice and social learning theory for sustainable energy consumption." *Flux* N° 96 (2): 24. https://doi.org/10.3917/flux.096.0024.

Wilhite, Harold, and Jorgen S. Norgard. 2004. "Equating Efficiency with Reduction: A Self-Deception in Energy Policy." *Energy & Environment* 15 (6): 991–1009. https://doi.org/10.1260/0958305043026618.

Wilhite, Harold, and Elizabeth Shove. 1998. "Understanding Energy Consumption: Beyond Technology and Economics." CONF-980815-. American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Washington, DC (US). https://www.osti.gov/biblio/20006362.

Wilk, Richard. 2009. "The Edge of Agency. Routines Habits and Volition." In *Time, Consumption and Everyday Life: Practice, Materiality and Culture*, edited by Elizabeth Shove, Frank Trentmann, and Richard R Wilk, 143–56. Cultures of Consumption Series. Oxford; New York: Berg.

Wilson, Charlie, and Hadi Dowlatabadi. 2007. "Models of Decision Making and Residential Energy Use." *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 32 (November). http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1076831##.

Wilson, Charlie, Arnulf Grubler, Kelly S. Gallagher, and Gregory F. Nemet. 2012. "Marginalization of End-Use Technologies in Energy Innovation for Climate Protection." *Nature Climate Change* 2 (October): 780. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1576.

Winter, Tim. 2016. "Active Cooling and Low Carbon Comfort." *The Journal of Architecture* 21 (3): 418–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602365.2016.1180631.

Wiser, Ryan H. 2007. "Using Contingent Valuation to Explore Willingness to Pay for Renewable Energy: A Comparison of Collective and Voluntary Payment Vehicles." *Ecological Economics* 62 (3–4): 419–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2006.07.003.

Wuppertal Institute. 2014. "Policy Guide: Buildings - Package Element - Public Sector Programmes · BigEE - Your Guide to Energy Efficiency in Buildings." 2014. http://www.bigee.net/en/policy/guide/buildings/package-elements/package-element/37/.

Yanow, Dvora. 2007. "Interpretation in Policy Analysis: On Methods and Practice." *Critical Policy Studies* 1 (1): 110–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2007.9518511.

——. 2009. *Conducting Interpretive Policy Analysis*. Nachdr. Qualitative Research Methods Series 47. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publ.

———. 2013a. "How Built Spaces Mean. A Semiotics of Space." In *Artifacts and Organizations Beyond Mere Symbolism*, edited by Anat Rafaeli and Michael G Pratt, 368–86.

———. 2013b. "Studying Physical Artifacts: An Interpretive Approach." In *Artifacts and Organizations Beyond Mere Symbolism*, edited by Anat Rafaeli and Michael G Pratt, 41–60.

Yin, Robert K. 2009. *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. 4th ed. Applied Social Research Methods, v. 5. Los Angeles, Calif: Sage Publications.

Appendices

1. Public events attended: local workshops, conferences and guided visits

Public presentation of the *Efficient Block* competition – BB Construmat (Construction Congress). Barcelona 13 May 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
1	Lorenzo Viñas	Col·legi d'Administradors de Finques de Barcelona-Lleida	Manager	Efficient Block
2	Carles Sala	Generalitat de Catalunya, Agencia Habitatge	Secretary	Efficient Block
3	Lorenzo Viñas	Col·legi d"Administradors de Finques de Barcelona-Lleida	Manager	Efficient Block

Debate for experts: Government strategies to revitalize the city – BB Construmat (Construction Congress). Barcelona 20 May 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
4	Miguel Ángel Díaz	Facultad de Tecnología y Ciencia UCJC	Dean	Urban sustainability
5	Multiple participants			Urban sustainability

Debate for experts: Project Build UPON – BB Construmat (Construction Congress). Barcelona 20 May 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
6	Emilio Miguel Mitre	GBCe (Green Building Council	Director	Energy
		España)	International	certification
			Affairs	
7	Dolores Huerta	GBCe (Green Building Council	Technical	Energy
		España)	secretary	certification
8	Dan Sztaniaszek	BPIE, Project Build Upon	Senior	Energy
			Researcher	certification

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
9	Fernando García	Spanish Ministerio de Fomento- IDAE (Energy Institute of Energy)	Head residential and buildings unit	Spanish policies
10	Lluís Morer	Catalan Government- ICAEN (Institut Català de l'Energia)	Head of energy efficiency unit	Spanish policies
11	Ivan Capdevila	Estudi Ramon Folch	CEO	Spanish policies

Debate for experts: Financial Support to Rehabilitation (in Spain) – BB Construmat (Construction Congress). Barcelona 20 May 2015

Conference for experts: Catalan Government Strategies for Energy Efficiency – BB Construmat (Construction Congress). Barcelona 22 May 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
12	Mercè Rius	Catalan	Director	Catalan policies
		Government -		_
		ICAEN (Institut		
		Català de		
		l"Energia)		
13	Marta	Catalan	-	Catalan policies
		Government-		_
		ICAEN (Institut		
		Català de		
		l'Energia)		
14	Álex Ciurana	PGI-ACTECIR	Engineer	Catalan policies
			-	_

Debate for experts: Dissemination of good practices in architecture – Congress Architecture and Health, COAC. Barcelona, 22 May 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
15	Toni Solanas	Group	Co-Founder,	Architecture and
		Sustainability	Architect	health
		and Architecture		
		(AUS) of COAC		
16	Celia Galera	Habitat Futura	Coordinator of the	Efficiency gap,
			Efficient Block project	Efficient Block
17	Toni Marín	Ecohabitar	Director	Residential housing,
		(Magazine)		bioconstruction

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
18	Celia Galera	Habitat Futura	Coordinator of the	Êfficient Block
			project	
19	Lorenzo Viñas	Col·legi	Manager	Efficient Block
		d'Administradors		
		de Finques de		
		Barcelona-Lleida		
20	Carles Sala	Generalitat de	Secretary	Efficient Block
		Catalunya,		
		Agencia		
		Habitatge		
21	Victor Barbastre	Barcelona Gestió	Technical architect	Efficient Block
		Urbanística	and organisational	
		(Council	expert	
		Company)		
22	Multiple		Dwellers at the	Efficient Block
	participants (26		Efficient Block	
	attendees)			

Workshop for *Efficient Block* dwellers – Secretaria de Joventut. Barcelona 25 May 2015

Guided visit for citizens: Solar panels at the Cemetery of Les Corts – Barcelona Energy Week. Barcelona 17 June 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
23	Sandra Rodríguez	BCN City	Education official	Renewable generation
		Council-		
		Fabrica del Sol		
24	Elisabet Gallardo	BCN City	Technical officer	Technical and policy
		Council -		problems generation
		Agencia de		
		l'Energia de		
		Barcelona		
25	Two anonymous	BCN City	Staff	Renewable generation
	staff members	Council-		
		Cemetery de les		
		corts		

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
26	Sandra Rodríguez	BCN City	Education official	Fabrica del Sol
		Council -		
		Fabrica del Sol		
27	Josep	BCN City	Education official	Fabrica del Sol
	_	Council-		
		Fabrica del Sol		
28	Aniol Esquerra	Ecoserveis	CEO	Fabrica del Sol –
	_			Spanish policies

Workshop for citizens: Use of renewable energies at home – *Fabrica del Sol*, conference hall - Barcelona Energy Week – Barcelona 17 June 2015

Guided visit for citizens: Use of renewable energies in the Olympic swimming pool – Piscines Picornell – Barcelona Energy Week – Barcelona 18 June 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
29	Fermí Muñoz	BCN City	Technical officer	public buildings
		Council-		
		Agencia de		
		l'Energia de		
		Barcelona		

Guided visit for citizens: Solar Pergola at the Parc del Forum – Barcelona Energy Week – Barcelona 19 June 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
30	Llorenç Escudero	TERSA (Metropolitan RES energy and residue valuation public company)	Engineer	Renewable generation in Barcelona

Guided visit for citizens: Smart city systems in Passeig de Gracia - Barcelona Energy Week - Barcelona 19 June 2015

	Presenter name	Organisation	Position	Speaks about
31	Cristina Miró	BCN City Council- Institut Municipal d'Informatica	Technical expert	Smart city operation

2. Protocol pre-arranged interviews

Doctoral research of Sergi Moles – Central European University (Budapest) Citizen perception of energy use and policies in commercial buildings

Respondent:

- 0. *Only in case I don't have background information on the respondent:* What is, in your opinion, the future of energy saving in buildings?
- 1. Why <u>efficient/ sustainable/ self-sufficient/else (mention the one used by</u> respondent or in their organisation communications) buildings?
- 2. How do <u>efficient/ sustainable/ self-sufficient/ else (mention the one used by</u> *respondent)* buildings communicate energy management values to users and citizens?
- 3. What is, in your opinion, the <u>role of government buildings</u> in current energy management practices? And <u>the role of corporate buildings</u>? How could it be improved, if at all?
- 4. Why <u>exemplary/ demonstration/ else (mentioned)</u> role in XY buildings? *(only if mentioned above or in organisation site)*
- 5. Why <u>certification</u>? Why this type of certification? *(if mentioned above or in organisation site)*
- 6. How does this building represent current or past energy policies?

Project description and use of the evidence provided

The research object of this invitation is my doctoral research project, funded by the Central European University (CEU) in Budapest. The research topic is the role that buildings play in people's understanding of energy use and policies, in Barcelona and in the European Union. Your opinion as decision maker, expert, user and/or citizen related to a reduced group of selected buildings would be crucial for this research.

The ultimate product of this research is a PhD thesis. Other potential forms of publication are papers -in academic journals and conference proceedings-, as well as presentations in academic conferences. I will only use the information you share with me, your name or any other personally identifiable details with your consent, and only for the purposes stated above. Please also note that you may opt to withdraw this consent at any stage. These and other considerations are part of the CEU Ethical Research Guidelines (available in: http://archive.ceu.hu/sites/default/files/G-1012-1v1211 Ethical research guidelines_final.pdf), to which I subscribe.

Sergi Moles PhD Candidate Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy Central European University <u>moles-grueso sergi@phd.ceu.edu</u> (Phone and skype address)

Consent to use the evidence accessed for the purposes described above

You may share the information just as I provided it. No details need to be changed and you may use my real name when using the evidence provided in publications or presentations

You may share the information just as I provided it; however, please do not use my real name. I realize that others might identify me based on the evidence provided, even though my name will not be used

You may share the information I provided; however, please do not use my real name and please change details that might make me identifiable to others.

Respondent's name and signature	Date	e
Contact		

3. Protocol on-the-spot interviews

Respondent's relationship with building

1. What do you think about this building?

2. What do you think about energy use in this building?

How do you think this (refer to respondent's answer) is revealed in the building?

- 3. Do you believe that these/ other energy management measures/features should be widely introduced in...
- a. ...government buildings? Which measures and why?

b. ...corporate buildings? Which measures and why?

c. ...private housing? Which measures and why?

Project description and use of the evidence provided

The research object of this invitation is my doctoral research project, funded by the Central European University (CEU) in Budapest. The research topic is the role that buildings play in people's understanding of energy use and policies, in Barcelona and in the European Union. Your opinion as decision maker, expert, user and/or citizen related to a reduced group of selected buildings would be crucial for this research.

The ultimate product of this research is a PhD thesis. Other potential forms of publication are papers -in academic journals and conference proceedings-, as well as presentations in academic conferences. I will only use the information you share with me, your name or any other personally identifiable details with your consent, and only for the purposes stated above. Please also note that you may opt to withdraw this consent at any stage. These and other considerations are part of the CEU Ethical Research Guidelines (available in: <u>http://archive.ceu.hu/sites/default/files/G-1012-1v1211 Ethical research guidelines_final.pdf</u>), to which I subscribe.

Sergi Moles PhD Candidate Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy Central European University <u>moles-grueso sergi@phd.ceu.edu</u> (Phone and skype address)

Consent to use the evidence accessed for the purposes described above

You may share the information just as I provided it. No details need to be changed and you may use my real name when using the evidence provided in publications or presentations

You may share the information just as I provided it; however, please do not use my real name. I realize that others might identify me based on the evidence provided, even though my name will not be used

You may share the information I provided; however, please do not use my real name and please change details that might make me identifiable to others.

Respondent's name and signature	Date
Contact	
4. Interviews conducted

4.1. Pre-arranged interviews

No.	Primary role	Location	Date	Refers to
1	Four transition activists	Cafe	2-Jan-14	Council buildings
2	Sabadell Council official from sustainability	Phone	3-Jan-14	Council buildings
3	Sabadell Council communication official and	Phone	3-Jan-14	Council buildings
	smart city coordinator			
4	Province official of sustainability	Phone	23-Jan-14	Council buildings
5	Expert EU energy and climate policy	Conference site	8-May-14	Exemplary policies, commercial
				buildings
5	Expert local building energy policies	Conference site	9-Sep-14	Exemplary policies, commercial
				buildings
6	Expert energy-efficient building policies	Restaurant	10-Sep-14	Exemplary policies, commercial
				buildings
6	Senior Expert EU energy policies	Conference site	11-Sep-14	Exemplary policies/ commercial
				buildings
7	Senior expert EU Policy	Conference site	11-Sep-14	Exemplary policies, commercial
				buildings
8	Council official from the Barcelona Energy	Offices of the Barcelona	8-Aug-14	Fabrica del Sol
	Agency #1	Energy Agency		
9	Council Official from the Barcelona Energy	Offices of the Barcelona	8-Aug-14	Fabrica del Sol
	Agency #2	Energy Agency		
10	Education official of <i>Rabrica del Sol</i> #1	Fabrica del Sol	13-Aug-14	Fabrica del Sol
11	Education official of Fabrica del Sol #2	Fabrica del Sol	13-Aug-14	Fabrica del Sol

No.	Primary role	Refers to		
12	Senior expert renewable energy policy and	Restaurant	4-Jun-14	Commercial buildings
	practice in Spain			
13	Education official of Endesa	Endesa Educa	23-Sep-14	Endesa
14	Communication official of Endesa	Endesa Educa	23-Sep-14	Endesa
15	Independent architect	Interviewee's offices	24-Sep-14	Residential buildings
16	Senior official of the Barcelona Housing Institute	Interviewee's offices	25-Sep-14	Social housing (Council)
17	Architect involved in Endesa Pavilion (2011)	IAAC	25-Sep-14	Commercial buildings
18	Independent architect and PassivHaus proponent	Parking lot	25-Sep-14	Commercial buildings
19	Architect involved in <i>Endesa</i> building	Interviewee's offices	25-Sep-14	Endesa
20	Architect organizing Endesa Awards to sustainable buildings (2007-2014)	Bar	25-Sep-14	Commercial buildings
21	Barcelona Council official from logistics and	Meeting room at their	26-Sep-14	Council buildings
	maintenance	offices		
22	Barcelona Council official from logistics and	Meeting room at their	26-Sep-14	Government (Council) buildings
	maintenance	ntenance offices		
23	Architect involved in Fabrica del Sol	Interviewee's home-office	26-Sep-14	Fabrica del Sol
24	Renewable energy activist and expert #1	Bar	26-Sep-14	Government (Council) buildings
25	Renewable energy activist and expert #2	Bar	26-Sep-14	Government (Council) buildings
26	Local Council architect, Senior representative of the Group of Architects in Public Administration Service (part of Catalan Architect Guild)	Viber call	1-Oct-14	Government buildings
27	Academic expert on shart cities	Interviewee's office	5-Mar-15	Government buildings
28	Expert involved in the Exhibition design at Fabrica del Sol	Skype call	9-Oct-14	Fabrica del Sol

No.	Primary role	Location	Date	Refers to
29	Communication official of a supplier company of the <i>Endesa</i> building	Skype call	30-Sep-14	Endesa
30	Architect participant in the <i>Efficient Block</i> #1, member of the Energy Efficiency Cluster of Catalonia	Meeting room in interviewee's office	11-May-15	Efficient Block
31	Architect participant in the <i>Efficient Block</i> #2, member of the Energy Efficiency Cluster of Catalonia	Meeting room in interviewee's office	11-May-15	Efficient Block
32	Architect participant in the <i>Efficient Block</i> #3	Meeting room in interviewee's office	13-May-15	<i>Efficient Block</i> , other commercial buildings
33	Council Official for Fabrica del Sol	Offices of Urban Habitat	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
34	Architect at a supplier company #1	Construmat Exhibition	19-May-15	Commercial and residential buildings
35	Internationally recognised architect	Meeting room at Construmat Exhibition	20-May-15	Commercial buildings
36	Independent technical architect	Construmat Exhibition	19-May-15	Commercial buildings
37	Engineer- Energy Auditor PassivHaus	PassivHaus stand at Construmat	21-May-15	Commercial buildings
38	Commercial director of building material supplier company	Interviewee's company stand at Construmat	20-May-15	Commercial buildings
39	Engineer representing the Green Building Council Spain (GBCe)	GBCe stand at Construmat	21-May-15	Commercial buildings
40	Sales official of material supplier company	Company's meeting room	21-May-15	Commercial buildings
41	Building administrator at condominium in the <i>Efficient Block</i>	Company's meeting room	23-May-15 & 29-May-15	<i>Efficient Block</i> , residential buildings
42	Representative of Habitat Futura	Phone call	25-May-15	Efficient Block
43	Architect at a supplier.	Interviewee's office	26-May-15	Commercial buildings, <i>Media-ICT</i> , <i>Fabrica del Sol</i> , Endesa, commercial buildings
44	Sustainability expert $a\overline{t}$ commercial building supplier company \exists	Company's meeting room	28-May-15	Commercial buildings
45	Renewable energy expert at <i>Fabrica del Sol</i> #1	Opposite Fabrica del Sol	28-May-15	Fabrica del Sol, government buildings

No.	Primary role	Location	Date	Refers to
46	Architect participant in the <i>Efficient Block</i> competition #4	Terrace	29-May-15	<i>Media-ICT</i> , <i>Efficient Block</i> , government buildings
47	Local sustainable transition expert and activist	WhatsApp call	2-Jun-15	<i>Fabrica del Sol</i> , government buildings
48	Architect involved in Fabrica del Sol	Interviewee's office	15-Jun-15	Fabrica del Sol, commercial buildings
49	Council Official from Urban Habitat #1	Urban Habitat	16-Jun-15	Council buildings
50	Council Official from the Barcelona Energy	Offices of Barcelona	17-Jun-15	Council buildings, Fabrica del Sol
51	Council Official from the Barcelona Energy Agency #2	Offices of Barcelona Energy Agency	17-Jun-15	Council buildings, Fabrica del Sol
52	Architect involved in <i>Media-ICT</i>	Media-ICT	17-Jun-15	Media-ICT
53	Senior representative of the Catalan Housing Agency #1	Offices of the Catalan Housing Agency	19-Jun-15	<i>Efficient Block</i> , government buildings
54	Senior representative of the Catalan Housing Agency #2	Offices of the Catalan Housing Agency	19-Jun-15	<i>Efficient Block</i> , government buildings
55	Engineer, Senior representative of the Energy Efficiency Cluster of Catalonia	Cafe	22-Jun-15	<i>Efficient Block</i> , Endesa, Council buildings
56	Renewable energy expert at <i>Fabrica del Sol</i> #2	Lunch room	22-Jun-15	Fabrica del Sol, Efficient Block, Media- ICT
57	Senior education executive at Fabrica del Sol	<i>Fabrica del Sol</i> educational facilities	23-Jun-15	Fabrica del Sol
58	Council Official from Urban Habitat #2	Urban Habitat	23-Jun-15	Council buildings
59	Senior engineer involved in design of <i>Media-ICT</i> and <i>Endesa</i>	Meeting room at interviewee's office	25-Jun-15	<i>Media-ICT</i> , Endesa, commercial buildings
60	Senior efficiency representative from the Catalan Institute of Engrgy (ICAEN)	Meeting room of ICAEN	25-Jun-15	Government buildings, Efficient Block
61	Senior representative of the Barcelona Electricians' Guild $\frac{3}{2}$	Interviewee's office	26-Jun-15	Commercial buildings
62	Senior representative of the Guild of Licensed Property Administratoes of Barcelona and Lleida	Interviewee's office	30-Jun-15	Efficient Block

4.2. On-the-spot interviews

No.	Primary role	Location	Date	Refers to
1	Frequent user of Media-ICT #1 (and	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
	industrial engineer)			
2	First-time user of Media-ICT #1	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
3	Passer-by who works near <i>Media-ICT</i> #1	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
4	Frequent passer-by at Media-ICT #1	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
5	Frequent passer-by at Media-ICT #2	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
6	User-worker at <i>Media-ICT</i> #4	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
7	Maintenance operator of Media-ICT	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
8	Passer-by who works near Media-ICT #2	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
9	User-worker at <i>Media-ICT</i> #5	Opposite the building	11-May-15	Media-ICT
10	First time user of Fabrica del Sol #1	Opposite the building	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
11	Frequent passer-by at Fabrica del Sol #1	Opposite the building	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
12	Frequent passer-by and neighbour of Fabrica	Opposite the building	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
	del Sol			
13	Frequent passer-by at Fabrica del Sol #2	Opposite the building	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
14	Frequent passer-by at Fabrica del Sol #3	Opposite the building	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
15	First time passer-by at Fabrica del Sol	Opposite the building	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
16	User working at the 3D Printing Space of	3D Printing Space in La	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
	Fabrica del Sol #1 .5	Fabrica (Ground floor)		
17	User working at the 3₽ Printing Space of	3D Printing Space in La	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
	Fabrica del Sol #2 $\stackrel{\circ}{\underline{e}}$	Fabrica (Ground floor)		
18	User working at Fabrica del Sol for a	Interviewee's office and	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol; former user Media-ICT
	subletting organisation $\#1$ and former worker	meeting room La Fabrica		
	at the <i>Media-ICT</i>	(1 st Floor)		

No.	Primary role	Location	Date	Refers to
19	User working at Fabrica del Sol for a	Interviewee's office and	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
	subletting organisation #2	meeting room La Fabrica		
		(1 st Floor)		
20	User-worker for the Council's environmental	Interviewee's workspace	13-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
	education services in Fabrica del Sol	in La Fabrica (Ground		
		floor)		
21	Frequent passer-by who lives near Endesa #1	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
22	Frequent passer-by who works near Endesa	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
23	Frequent passer-by who studies near Endesa	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
24	Frequent passer-by who lives near <i>Endesa</i> #2	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
25	Frequent passer-by who lives near <i>Endesa</i> #3	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
26	Frequent passer-by at Endesa	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
27	User-worker at <i>Endesa</i> #1	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
28	User-worker at <i>Endesa</i> #2	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
29	User-worker at <i>Endesa</i> #3	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
30	User-worker at <i>Endesa</i> #4	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
31	Tourist passing-by Endesa	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
32	User-worker at <i>Endesa</i> #5	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
33	User-worker at <i>Endesa</i> #6	Opposite the building	18-May-15	Endesa
34	Neighbour of Fabrica del Sol, member of a	Opposite the building	27-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
	civil organisation #1			
35	Neighbour of Fabrica del Sol, member of a	Near the building	27-May-15	Fabrica del Sol; former user Media-ICT
	civil organisation #2, §isited Media-ICT in			
	the past			
36	Neighbour of Fabrica del Sol, member of a	Near the building	27-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
	civil organisation #3			

No.	Primary role	Date	Refers to	
37	Neighbour of Fabrica del Sol, member of a	Near the building	27-May-15	Fabrica del Sol
	civil organisation #4			
38	User-worker at Endesa #7	Opposite the building	22-Jun-15	Endesa HQ
39	User-worker at Endesa #8	Opposite the building	22-Jun-15	Endesa HQ
40	User-worker at Endesa (external expert in	Opposite the building	22-Jun-15	Endesa HQ
	network efficiency)			
41	Frequent passer-by at Endesa, who does	Opposite the building	22-Jun-15	Endesa HQ
	sport nearby			
42	First time user of <i>Fabrica del Sol</i> #2	Opposite the building	23-Jun-15	Fabrica del Sol
43	Passer-by walking dog and sitting opposite	Opposite the building	23-Jun-15	Fabrica del Sol
	Fabrica del Sol			
44	Passer-by at Fabrica del Sol	Opposite the building	23-Jun-15	Fabrica del Sol
45	Teacher who visits Fabrica del Sol with	Opposite the building	23-Jun-15	Fabrica del Sol
	interviewee's students			
47	User who works and lives in the Efficient	The staircase and rooftop	25-May-15	Efficient Block
	Block	of the building in <i>Efficient</i>		
		Block		
48	User who works at the <i>Efficient Block</i>	Interviewee's office in	25-May-15	Efficient Block
		Efficient Block		
49	User who lives in the <i>Efficient Block</i> #1	Entrance of building in	25-May-15	Efficient Block
		Efficient Block		
50	User who lives in the Efficient Block #2	Staircase of building in	25-May-15	Efficient Block
	Colle	Efficient Block		
51	User who lives in the <i>Efficient Block</i> #3	Entrance of building in	25-May-15	Efficient Block
	ΕΛ «	Efficient Block		
52	First-time user of Media-ICT #2	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT

No.	Primary role	Location	Date	Refers to
53	Frequent passer-by at <i>Media-ICT</i> #3, who	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT
	works nearby			
54	First time user of <i>Media-ICT</i> #3	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT
55	Frequent user of Media-ICT #2	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT
56	User-worker at <i>Media-ICT</i> #1	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT
57	User-worker at <i>Media-ICT</i> #2	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT
58	User-worker at <i>Media-ICT</i> #3	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT
59	Tourist visiting Media-ICT	Opposite the building	26-May-15 Media-ICT	
60	Tour-guide of BCN Activa, frequently visits	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT
	Media-ICT			
61	Frequent user of Media-ICT #3	Opposite the building	26-May-15	Media-ICT
62	User-worker for a start-up at Media-ICT	Opposite the building26-May-15Media-ICT		Media-ICT
63	User, receptionist at Media-ICT #1	Interviewee's desk	28-May-15	Media-ICT
		(Media-ICT ground floor)		
64	Receptionists at Media-ICT #2 & #3	Their desk at Cibernarium	28-May-15	Media-ICT
		(Media-ICT first floor)		
65	User-worker at a council library	His office at the library	30-Jun-15	City Council Library
66	User and maintenance manager of a council	Interviewee's office at the	30-Jun-15	City Council Library
	library	library		
67	President of a condominium at the <i>Efficient</i>	Phone call	30-Jun-15	Efficient Block
	Block #4			

CEU eTD Collection

5. List of initial codes

EMERGING THEMES- EMPIRICAL	Pol. Admin Financial Barriers	Prob. Health
Building award winning	Pol. Bureaucracy	Prob. Information
Building beauty	Pol. Capital coherence	Prob. Intrinsic value of technologies
Building benchmarking	Pol. Capital responsible for impacts	Prob. Knowledge
Building Climate	Pol. Coherence	Prob. Leadership
Building design	Pol. Coherence-time	Prob. Life cycle
Building automatism	Pol. Dec. making technocratic	Prob. Lim. Admin resources
Building E. Management	Pol. financing	Prob. EU Energy Performance Certs
Building envelopment	Pol. Implementation	Prob. Market effects sustainable actions
Building Experimental	Pol. lagging ES Politics	Prob. Market value efficiency certs.
Building function	Pol. Legitimacy	Prob. optimization
Building Lighting	Pol. Outsourcing, privatization, rental	Prob. Participation
Building Maintenance	Pol. Public investment	Prob. Private Financing
Building Materials	Pol. Regulation	Prob. Procurement
Building Monitoring & measure	Pol. Responsible administration	Prob. Productivity
Building Passive tech (not PassivHaus)	Pol. Transparency	Prob. Rational decision making
Building show	Pol. Trust by citizens	Prob. Rhythm
Building Reference	EMERGING THEMES- EMPIRICAL: PROBLEMS	Prob. top down space prod
Building systems: lighting, HVAC	Prob. Awareness	Prob. User (citizen or owner)
Building tractor project	Prob. Branding-Greenwash-Marketing	Prob. Vested interests
Building Use	Prob. Building Quality	Prob. Visibility
Building Vernacular	Prob. Comfort	Prob. Vocal citizens
Building public processes	Prob. Communication	Prob. responsible
Buildings Iconic	Prob. Complexity	EMERGING THEMES-EMPIRICAL: SOLUTIONS
Citizen alienation	Prob. Consumption-consumerism	Term Building energy sustainability
Citizen collaboration .5	Prob. Culture	Term Reference
Citizen cow	Prob. decision-benefits divide	Term. Bioconstruction
Citizen deception \Im	Prob. Econ. Decision-making	Term. Demonstration
Citizen freedom	Prob. Education	Term. Efficiency
Citizen knows/ responsible decision maker	Prob. Energy and environment	Term. Energy demand man.
Citizen limited resources	Prob. Energy dependence	Term. Energy retrofitting
Citizens engaged	Prob. Energy poverty	Term. energy saving

Pol Control capital	Prob. EU drive	
Polenterprise network	Prob. governance	
EMERGING THEMES-EMPIRICAL: SOLUTIONS	Theor. prob. Divide abstract-citizen	
Term Exemplary (+) explicit	Theor. prob. Divide life-profession	Citizen User rep by building expert
Term Exemplary (+) implicit	Theor. prob. Divide Pol- Physical	Citizen user rep by citizen
Term Exemplary as Identity building-organisation	Theor. prob. Divide Pol-abstraction	Expert b rep by pol expert
Term. En. Generation	Theor. prob. Divide Polcitizenship	Expert rep by Building expert
Term. Innovation	Theor. prob. belief: unity abstract pol	Expert rep by citizen
Term. Intl. certificates and standards	Theor. prob. Divide Building everydaylife?	Pol Capital Rep by Building expert
Term. Life cycle	Theor. prob. Divide Social-environment	Pol Capital rep by citizen
Term. modern	Theor. term belief: unity abstract pol	Pol Capital rep by civil soc./ sust. expert
Term. Network	PROCED. CODES WHO REPRESENTS WHAT?	Expert rep by citizen
Term. NZEB	Building corp. Rep by corp.	Term Exemplary (-) explicit
Term. Renewables	Building rep by civil soc./ sustainability expert	Term Exemplary (-) implicit
Term. Replicability	Building: other (not public)	Pol Capital rep P expert
Term. Self-sufficiency	Buildings corp. rep by building expert	Pol. Cap. Rep Corp
Term. Simulation	Buildings corp. rep by citizen	Pol. Capital Space production
Term. Smart	Buildings corp. rep by civil soc. /sust. expert	Pol. Rep by Civil soc./ Sust.expert
Term. Social benefit	Buildings corp. rep. by policy expert	Pol. Rep. By Building expert
Term. Super technology	Buildings offices rep by building expert	Pol. Rep. by Citizen
Term. Sustainability	Buildings Govt rep. by civil s/sust expert	Pol. Rep. by Citizen rep by expert
Term. Technology	Buildings Govt Rep by Building expert	Pol. Rep. by pol expert
Term. Transition	Buildings Govt Rep by citizen	Rep. by citizen
Term. Transp., recycling, water	Buildings Govt Rep. by P. expert	Rep. by expert
EMERGING THEMES- THEORETICAL CODES	Buildings Rep by Building expert.	BUILDING CASES
Building as Production of space	Buildings rep by citizen	Efficient block
Building phys. space divide	Buildings res rep b expert	Endesa
Building Space fracturing division	Buildings res. rep by civil society/sust expert	Fabrica del Sol
Building space production 5	Buildings res. rep by P. Expert	Media-ICT
Citizen/civil s. spatial prod	Buildings resid. rep by citizen	Building private: other
Two-level game discourse??	Citizen-user rep by corp.	Building government: other
Pol space abolishes civil	Citizen Rep by Building expert	PROCEDURAL CODES, ADDITIONAL
Pol. Abstract space fracture	Citizen rep by buildings	do not quote
Pol. Space (production)	Citizen rep by civil soc./ sust. expert	check quoting reservations
Pol. Space Fracture	Citizen rep. by Pol. Expert	Explicit question

6. Government periods in Spain, Catalonia and Barcelona (1983-2017)

		Central Government of Spain (Lead party and	Regional Government of Catalonia (Lead Party	Local Government of Barcelona (City Council)
		Prime Minister)	and President)	(Lead Party and Mayor)
1990		PSOE Felipe Gonzalez 1 Dec. 1982 – 4 May 1996	CiU Jordi Pujol Apr. 1980 – Dec. 2003	PSC, Pasqual Maragall 1 Dec. 1982 – 26 Sept. 1997
1995		PP Jose M. Aznar 4 May 1996 16 Apr		DCC Loss Clos
2000		2004		26 September 1997 – 8 Sept. 2006
2005		PSOE	PSC Pasqual Maragall	
		Jose L. Rodriguez- Zapatero 17 Apr. 2004 – 21 Dec. 2011	Dec. 2003 – Nov.2006 PSC José Montilla Nov. 2006 – Dec. 2010	PSC, Jordi Hereu 8 Sept. 2006 – 1 Jul. 2011
2010			CiU	
F r 2015 p	'ield- esearch eriod	PP Mariano Rajoy 21 Dec. 2011 – 1 Jun. 2018	Artur Mas Dec. 2010 – Jan. 2016	CiU Xavier Trias 2 July 2011 – 13 June 2015
				BCN en Comu Ada Colau 13 Jun. 2015- present
2016 2017			CiU Carles Puigdemont Jan. 2016 – Oct. 2017 ¹³⁷	

PSOE: Spanish Socialist Party and PSC: Catalan Socialist Party (part of PSOE)- members of the Party of European Socialists

Barcelona en Comú: Civil Society-based party, associated to Podemos-Podem, member of the European United Left–Nordic Green Left

CiU: Convergence and Union – Catalan Nationalist Christian Democrats, member of the Alliance of Liberals and Democrats for Europe

PP: Popular Party – Spanish Christian Democrat, members of the European People's Party

¹³⁷ CiU was refunded as PDeCAT in 2017 - Catalan European Democratic Party– and became an overtly independentist party after scission from Unionist party (UDC), with close ties with Endesa, including the presence of its founder and leader Roca i Junyent in the board of directors.

7. Composition of the Barcelona Council Government and major policies during the period 1991-2018

Source: Government composition timeline from Lozano and Manchobas (2017). List of

policies elaborated by the author.

Deputy mayors of each party and	Policies and practices
their attributions in environment ¹³⁸	
2 PSC	1985-2007 Program "Barcelona get pretty" building (energy) renovation
1 IC	1992 Olympic Games, Olympic pool with solar thermal supply
(1991-1995)	1994 Declaration of Heidelberg to reduce CO2 emissions in 2005 in 20%
3 PSC	1995 Signature of Aalborg Charter (to promote Agenda 21)
1 IC-V	1996-1999 Local action plan?
1 ERC	1997 Partner of Klima Bundis to reduce CO2 emissions by 2010 in 27%
(1995-1999)	(respect to 1997)
	A good 21
2 DSC	Agenda 21 1000 Estivitas dal Sal
J IC-V Comm of Sust & Urban	1999 Fubricu aei Soi 2000 Salar thermal hylaw for huildings enter into force: District 22@ plan
Feelow	2000 Solar inclinal bylaw for buildings chief into force, District 22(a) plan 2002-2003 "Barcelona get pretty" focus on environment and sustainability
1 FRC-FV	2002 2005 Datectona get pretty Toeds on environment and sustainability 2001 Government Measure on the Greening of Council Services: Green
(1999-2003)	Office Programme and Guide
(,	2002 Barcelona Energy Improvement Plan (BEIP) & Agenda 21 (Citizen
	Commitment towards Sustainability), Barcelona Energy Agency (2003):
3 PSC	2004 International Forum of Cultures & Photovoltaic Pergola; 2006 Design
1 ICV Council of Health & Env.,	of Media-ICT; Government Measure on the Greening of Local Authority
Comm. of Sust. Urban Services &	Contracts; + Sustainable City Council Programme; Revision of the Solar
Env., B. Energy Agency	thermal bylaw
1 ERC-EV (2002-2007)	
(2003-2007) 2 BSC	2008 Covenant of Meyora: Covernment Measure on Regnonsible
1 FRC	Contracting
1 ICV-EUiA- Environment	2009/2010 + Sustainable City Council Convention
(2007-2011)	Council Buildings Energy Improvement Plan 2009-2011 (CBEIP)
()	<i>Media-ICT</i> (2011), Plan for Energy, Climate Change and Air Quality of
	Barcelona 2011-2020 (PECQ March 2011)
5 CiU- Urban planning,	2011 Macro-department of Urban Habitat encompasses environment and
infrastructures, housing,	informatics; Basic guide for energy efficiency in Council buildings
environment and information and	2012 Citizen Commitment to Sustainability 2012-2022; Smart City
telecommunication systems	Strategy
(2011-2015)	2012. Endesa new HQ in Barcelona
	2013 Government Measure and Instruction by the Mayor's office for Bespensible Dublic Dreaurement with Social and Environmental Criteria
	2014 European Capital of Innovation Award: 2014-2015 Debates and
	renovation in <i>Fabrica del Sol</i> · 2015 <i>Efficient Rlock</i> Project · Technical
	instructions for the application of sustainability criteria
1 Proces C. (BCN en Comu)	2015 Dept. of Urban Ecology substitutes Urban Habitat
3 ICV (BCN en Comu)	Online map of photovoltaic production in Council buildings
2 Podem (BCN en Comu)	2017 Approval of new Sustainability and Building Guidelines
1 PSC (after May 2016)	

¹³⁸ PSC: Catalan Socialist Party (federal part of the Spanish Socialist Party); IC Iniciativa per Catalunya, and ICV Iniciativa per Catalunya-Verds (Eco-Socialists); ERC Esquerra Rep. de Catalunya, and ERC-EV Esquerra Rep. de Catalunya-Els Verds (ERC-EV); CiU: Convergence and Union (Catalan Christian Democrats); BCN en Comú (coalition of Leftist-Green).

CEU eTD Collection